1975

Jan Christian Rohde

Cyclic Coverings, Calabi-Yau Manifolds and Complex Multiplication





Lecture Notes in Mathematics

Editors:

J.-M. Morel, Cachan F. Takens, Groningen B. Teissier, Paris Jan Christian Rohde

Cyclic Coverings, Calabi-Yau Manifolds and Complex Multiplication



Jan Christian Rohde Institut fuer Algebraische Geometrie Leibniz Universität Hannover Welfengarten 1, GRK 1463 30167 Hannover Germany rohde@math.uni-hannover.de

ISSN 0075-8434 e-ISSN 1617-9692 ISBN 978-3-642-00638-8 e-ISBN 978-3-642-00639-5 DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-00639-5 Springer Dordrecht Heidelberg London New York

Library of Congress Control Number: PCN applied for

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 14D07, 14G35, 14J32

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilm or in any other way, and storage in data banks. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the German Copyright Law of September 9, 1965, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Violations are liable to prosecution under the German Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

Cover design: SPi Publisher Services

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Preface

Calabi-Yau manifolds have been an object of extensive research during the last two decades. One of the reasons is the importance of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds in modern physics - notably string theory. An interesting class of Calabi-Yau manifolds is given by those with complex multiplication (CM). Calabi-Yau manifolds with CM are also of interest in theoretical physics, e.g. in connection with mirror symmetry and black hole attractors.

It is the main aim of this book to construct families of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with dense sets of fibers with complex multiplication. Most examples in this book are constructed using families of curves with dense sets of fibers with CM. The contents of this book can roughly be divided into two parts. The first six chapters deal with families of curves with dense sets of CM fibers and introduce the necessary theoretical background. This includes among other things several aspects of Hodge theory and Shimura varieties. Using the first part, families of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with dense sets of fibers with CM are constructed in the remaining five chapters. In the appendix one finds examples of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with complex multiplication which are not necessarily fibers of a family with a dense set of CM fibers.

The author hopes to have succeeded in writing a readable book that can also be used by non-specialists. On the other hand the expert will find new results about variations of Hodge structures and new examples of families of curves and Calabi-Yau manifolds with dense sets of fibers with CM. The author believes that this book will also be interesting for physicists.

This book is based on the authors doctoral thesis at Universität Duisburg-Essen. The author wishes to thank his former adviser Eckart Viehweg for his excellent guidance and support. The text has been revised for publication at the Graduiertenkolleg "Analysis, Geometrie und String Theorie" at Leibniz Universität Hannover.

Hannover, February 2009

J. C. Rohde

Contents

Introduction				
1	An	introduction to Hodge structures and Shimura		
	vari	eties	11	
	1.1	The basic definitions	12	
	1.2	Jacobians, Polarizations and Riemann's Theorem	19	
	1.3	The definition of the Shimura datum	25	
	1.4	Hermitian symmetric domains	35	
	1.5	The construction of Shimura varieties	43	
	1.6	The definition of complex multiplication	45	
	1.7	Criteria and conjectures for complex multiplication	50	
2	Cvc	lic covers of the projective line	59	
	2.1	Description of a cyclic cover of the projective line	60	
	2.2	The local system corresponding to a cyclic cover	62	
	2.3	The cohomology of a cover	66	
	2.4	Cyclic covers with complex multiplication	67	
3	Son	ne preliminaries for families of cyclic covers	71	
	3.1	The generic Hodge group	71	
	3.2	Families of covers of the projective line	73	
	3.3	The homology and the monodromy representation	76	
4	The	Galois group decomposition of the Hodge structure	79	
	4.1	The Galois group representation on the first cohomology	79	
	4.2	Quotients of covers and Hodge group decomposition	84	
	4.3	Upper bounds for the Mumford-Tate groups		
		of the direct summands	85	
	4.4	A criterion for complex multiplication	88	

5	The	e computation of the Hodge group	. 91		
	5.1	The monodromy group of an eigenspace	92		
	5.2	The Hodge group of a general direct summand	99		
	5.3	A criterion for the reaching of the upper bound	102		
	5.4	The exceptional cases	106		
	5.5	The Hodge group of a universal family			
		of hyperelliptic curves	110		
	5.6	The complete generic Hodge group	115		
6	Examples of families with dense sets of complex				
	\mathbf{mul}	tiplication fibers	. 121		
	6.1	The necessary condition SINT	121		
	6.2	The application of <i>SINT</i> for the more complicated cases	129		
	6.3	The complete lists of examples	136		
	6.4	The derived variations of Hodge structures	137		
7	The	e construction of Calabi-Yau manifolds			
	wit	h complex multiplication	. 143		
	7.1	The basic construction and complex multiplication	143		
	7.2	The Borcea-Voisin tower	147		
	7.3	The Viehweg-Zuo tower	150		
	7.4	A new example	153		
8	The	e degree 3 case	. 157		
	8.1	Prelude	158		
	8.2	A modified version of the method of Viehweg and Zuo	162		
	8.3	The resulting family and its involutions	166		
9	Oth	er examples and variations	. 169		
	9.1	The degree 3 case	170		
	9.2	Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds obtained by quotients			
		of degree 3	172		
	9.3	The degree 4 case	178		
	9.4	Involutions on the quotients of the degree 4 example	180		
	9.5	The extended automorphism group of the degree 4 example	183		
	9.6	The automorphism group of the degree 5 example	105		
		by vienweg and Zuo	180		
10	Exa	mples of <i>CMCY</i> families of 3-manifolds			
	and	their invariants	. 187		
	10.1	The <i>length</i> of the Yukawa coupling	187		
	10.2	Examples obtained by degree 2 quotients	188		
	10.3	Examples obtained by degree 3 quotients	189		
	10.4	Outlook onto quotients by cyclic groups of high order	196		

11	Maximal families of CMCY type	199
	11.1 Facts about involutions and quotients of K3-surfaces	199
	11.2 The associated Shimura datum	201
	11.3 The examples	203
Α	Examples of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with complex	
	multiplication	209
	A.1 Construction by degree 2 coverings of a ruled surface	209
	A.2 Construction by degree 2 coverings of \mathbb{P}^2	214
	A.3 Construction by a degree 3 quotient	217
Re	eferences	223
Inc	dex	227

Introduction

These lecture notes deal with construction methods of Calabi-Yau manifolds with a special arithmetic property. In these methods we use curves with a similar arithmetic property, namely, complex multiplication. In the case of abelian varieties complex multiplication has been well studied by number theorists. The first six chapters describe how this theory for abelian varieties can be applied to the construction of curves with complex multiplication. The remaining five chapters and the appendix are devoted to the construction methods of Calabi-Yau manifolds with a similarly defined arithmetic property.

We give new examples of families of curves with dense sets of complex multiplication fibers and new examples of families of Calabi-Yau manifolds with a dense set of fibers with a similar arithmetic property. Moreover we will acquaint the reader with Mumford-Tate groups, which we use as a main tool for the study of Hodge structures and of variations of Hodge structures. The generic Mumford-Tate groups of families of cyclic covers of the projective line will be computed for a large class of examples.

Let us consider curves and Hodge structures on curves. In particular elliptic curves are both Calabi-Yau manifolds and abelian varieties. In general the points on a curve C of genus g generate a commutative group, which can be endowed with the structure of an abelian variety of dimension g, which is the Jacobian Jac(C) of C. The curve C can be obtained from Jac(C) and the principal polarization on Jac(C). In order to study the curve C and its properties one can also study Jac(C). Abelian varieties and their arithmetic properties have been well-studied by number theorists.

By Riemann's theorem, a polarized abelian variety with symplectic basis corresponds to a pure polarized integral Hodge structure of weight 1. Thus curves are determined by their Hodge structures. Therefore curves satisfy a Torelli Theorem. For Calabi-Yau manifolds one has also a local Torelli theorem. Thus one can study curves and Calabi-Yau manifolds in terms of their Hodge structures.

1

Let $\mathbb{Z} \subseteq R \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be a ring. Recall that an *R*-Hodge structure on an *R*-module *V* is given by a decomposition of $V_{\mathbb{C}}$ into subvector spaces $V^{p,q}$ with $\overline{V^{p,q}} = V^{q,p}$. We will see that each *R*-Hodge structure on *V* can also be given by a corresponding representation

$$h: \mathbb{S} \to \mathrm{GL}(V_{\mathbb{R}})$$

of the Deligne torus S, which is the algebraic subgroup of $\mathrm{GL}(\mathbb{R}^2)$ given by the matrices

$$M(x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ -y & x \end{pmatrix}.$$

If V and h yield a Q-Hodge structure, we use the representation h for the definition of the Mumford-Tate group MT(V, h). The Mumford-Tate group MT(V, h) is the smallest subgroup of $GL(V_{\mathbb{R}})$ defined over Q such that $h(\mathbb{S})$ is contained in MT(V, h). For a rational Hodge structure (V, h) of weight k one can replace S by its subgroup S^1 given by the matrices M(x, y) with

$$\det M(x, y) = 1.$$

In this case one can also replace MT(V, h) by the analogously defined Hodge group Hg(V, h). The Hodge group Hg(V, h) coincides with the Zariski connected component of the identity in $MT(V, h) \cap SL(V)$. For any field F with $\mathbb{Q} \subseteq F \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ one can also consider F-Hodge structures (V, h) and define $MT_F(V, h)$ and $Hg_F(V, h)$ in an analogous way.

Let us consider the information which can be obtained from MT(V, h): for example one says that an elliptic curve E has complex multiplication, if Ehas a non-trivial endomorphism. This name is motivated by the fact that in this case the endomorphism ring of E is a CM field. In general an abelian variety X of dimension g is of CM type, if its endomorphism algebra contains a commutative \mathbb{Q} -algebra of dimension 2g. The Mumford-Tate group of the Hodge structure on $H^1(X, \mathbb{Q})$ is a torus, if and only if X is of CM type. We say that a rational Hodge structure (V, h) has complex multiplication (CM), if MT(V, h) is a torus. For a curve C the Hodge structures on $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$ and $H^1(\text{Jac}(C), \mathbb{Q})$ are isomorphic. Hence we say that a curve has CM, if the Mumford-Tate group of the Hodge structure on $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$ is a torus algebraic group.

Remark 1. One can also study families of compact Kähler manifolds and their variations of Hodge structures in terms of Mumford-Tate groups. Let Dbe a connected complex manifold and \mathcal{V} be a polarized variation of \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structures of weight k over D. Then over a dense subset D^0 of D the Mumford-Tate groups of all Hodge structures coincide. Let $MT(\mathcal{V})$ denote the common Mumford-Tate group. The Hodge structures over the points of the complement of D^0 have a Mumford-Tate group contained in $MT(\mathcal{V})$. The group $MT(\mathcal{V})$ is called the generic Mumford-Tate group. Introduction

We will introduce Shimura data, which consist of a reductive \mathbb{Q} -algebraic group G and a representation $h : \mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfying certain conditions. Again consider an abelian variety X. For example the pair consisting of the Mumford-Tate group of the Hodge structure on $H^1(X, \mathbb{Q})$ and the representation h given by this Hodge structure yields a Shimura datum. By using the conditions which a Shimura datum has to satisfy we obtain:

Theorem 2. Let (G,h) be a Shimura datum and W be a finite dimensional real vector space. Then the conjugacy class of h in $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ can be endowed with the structure of a complex manifold D. Moreover each closed embedding $G_{\mathbb{R}} \to \operatorname{GL}(W)$ yields a variation of Hodge structures over D such that over a dense set of points $p \in D$ one has Hodge structures with complex multiplication.

Note that in the case of the Hodge structure on $H^1(X, \mathbb{Q})$ given by h and the closed embedding

$$\operatorname{id}: \operatorname{MT}(H^1(X, \mathbb{Q}), h) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(H^1(X, \mathbb{Q}))$$

the assumptions of the previous Theorem are satisfied, if X is an abelian variety.

We will give a definition of complex multiplication for arbitrary compact Kähler manifolds. Due to their application in theoretical physics we are especially interested in Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds. In theoretical physics one is also interested in complex multiplication (see [37], [38]).

Here a Calabi-Yau manifold X of dimension n is a compact Kähler manifold of dimension n such that $\Gamma(\Omega_X^i) = 0$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$ and $\omega_X \cong \mathcal{O}_X$.

For odd dimensional compact Kähler manifolds one has the intermediate Jacobians as a generalization of the Jacobians of curves. In general the intermediate Jacobian J is not an abelian variety, but only a complex torus. In the case of an arbitrary complex torus complex multiplication is defined as for an abelian variety. It can occur that the intermediate Jacobian J is constant for a family of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds (see Example 1.6.9). Hence one intermediate Jacobian is not sufficient for an accurate description of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds and their Hodge structures. Nevertheless the intermediate Jacobian of the manifold X of odd dimension k is of CM type, if $Hg(H^k(X, \mathbb{Q}), h)$ is a torus. Moreover the endomorphism algebra of a Hodge structure (V, h) contains a commutative subalgebra of dimension equal to $\dim V$, if MT(V, h) is a torus. Thus we say that a compact Kähler manifold X of dimension n has CM over a totally real number field F, if $Hg_F(H^n(X, F))$ is a torus. It would be very interesting to get mirror pairs of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with complex multiplication (see [23]).

One can also consider the Hodge groups of the Hodge structures $H^k(X, \mathbb{Q})$ for some $k \neq \dim X$. In the case of a Calabi-Yau manifold X of dimension n > 3, it may occur that the Hodge structure on $H^n(X, \mathbb{Q})$ has CM and the Hodge structure on $H^{n-1}(X, \mathbb{Q})$ has not CM for example. By considering the Hodge diamond of a Calabi-Yau manifold X of dimension $n \leq 3$, one concludes that this can not occur for dim $X \leq 3$. In this case the condition of complex multiplication is equivalent to the property that for all k the Hodge group of $H^k(X, \mathbb{C})$ is commutative. We will call any family of Calabi-Yau *n*-manifolds, which has a dense set of fibers X satisfying the property that for all k the Hodge group of the Hodge structure on $H^k(X, \mathbb{Q})$ is commutative, a *CMCY* family of *n*-manifolds. Here we will give some examples of *CMCY* families of 3-manifolds and explain how to construct *CMCY* families of *n*-manifolds in an arbitrarily high dimension. Moreover we will explicitly determine some fibers with complex multiplication (see Example 7.3.1, Section 7.4, Remark 8.3.6, Remark 9.4.1 and Remark 11.3.13).

Example 3. The first example of a CMCY family of 3-manifolds was given by C. Borcea [8]. This example uses the family \mathcal{E} of elliptic curves given by

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \supset V(y^2 x_0 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \lambda x_0)) \rightarrow \lambda \in \mathbb{A}^1 \setminus \{0, 1\}.$$

By $y \to -y$, one has a global involution ι on \mathcal{E} . Now let \mathcal{E}_i with involution ι_i be a copy of \mathcal{E} for i = 1, 2, 3. We construct the family

$$\mathcal{E}_1 \times \mathcal{E}_2 \times \mathcal{E}_3 / \langle (\iota_1, \iota_2), (\iota_2, \iota_3) \rangle \to (\mathbb{A}^1 \setminus \{0, 1\})^3$$

By blowing up the singular sections, we obtain a CMCY family of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds.

In a similar way one can use n copies of \mathcal{E} and construct a CMCY family of n-manifolds (see [56]). Similar to the previous example, we will use involutions on CMCY families to obtain new CMCY families of manifolds in higher dimension. The other main tool of construction which we use is motivated by the following example:

Example 4. Starting with a family of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 with a dense set of CM fibers, E. Viehweg and K. Zuo [58] have constructed a CMCY family of 3-manifolds. This construction is given by a tower of projective algebraic manifolds starting with a family \mathcal{F}_1 of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 given by

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \supset V(y_1^5 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \alpha x_0)(x_1 - \beta x_0)x_0) \to (\alpha, \beta) \in \mathcal{M}_{22}$$

which has a dense set of CM fibers. Since each of these covers given by the fibers of the family can be embedded into \mathbb{P}^2 , the fibers of \mathcal{F}_1 are the branch loci of the fibers of a family \mathcal{F}_2 of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^2 of degree 5. Moreover the fibers of \mathcal{F}_2 , which can be embedded into \mathbb{P}^3 , are the branch loci of the fibers of a family \mathcal{F}_3 of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^3 , which can be embedded into \mathbb{P}^4 . The family \mathcal{F}_3 is given by

$$\mathbb{P}^4 \supset V(y_3^5 + y_2^5 + y_1^5 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \alpha x_0)(x_1 - \beta x_0)x_0) \to (\alpha, \beta) \in \mathcal{M}_2.$$

By the adjunction formula, the fibers of \mathcal{F}_3 are Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds.

Let $q \in \mathcal{M}_2$. The fiber $(\mathcal{F}_3)_q$ has CM, if $(\mathcal{F}_2)_q$ has CM and $(\mathcal{F}_2)_q$ has CM, if $(\mathcal{F}_1)_q$ has CM. Because of this argument, the family \mathcal{F}_3 has a dense set of CM fibers which lie over the same points as the CM fibers of the family of curves we have started with.

The previous example contains a deformation of the Fermat quintic in \mathbb{P}^4 , which is a well-studied example of a Calabi-Yau manifold with complex multiplication (see [38]). In the appendix we will give some examples of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds which are not necessarily a fiber of a family with infinitely many CM fibers.

By the previous example, we are led to be interested in the examples of families of curves with a dense set of CM fibers for our search for CMCY families of *n*-manifolds. There is an other motivation given by an open question in the theory of curves, too. In [11] R. Coleman formulated the following conjecture:

Conjecture 5. Fix an integer $g \ge 4$. Then there are only finitely many complex algebraic curves C of genus g such that Jac(C) is of CM type.

Let \mathcal{P}_n denote the configuration space of n+3 points in \mathbb{P}^1 . One can endow these n+3 points in \mathbb{P}^1 with local monodromy data and use these data for the construction of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 (see Construction 3.2.1).

The action of $\mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ on \mathbb{P}^1 yields a quotient $\mathcal{M}_n = \mathcal{P}_n/\mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$. By fixing 3 points on \mathbb{P}^1 , the quotient \mathcal{M}_n can also be considered as a subspace of \mathcal{P}_n .

Remark 6. In [29] J. de Jong and R. Noot gave counterexamples for g = 4and g = 6 to the conjecture above. In [58] E. Viehweg and K. Zuo gave an additional counterexample for g = 6. The counterexamples are given by families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 with dense sets of CM fibers. Here we will find additional families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of cyclic genus 5 and genus 7 covers of \mathbb{P}^1 with dense sets of complex multiplication fibers, too.

All new examples $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of the preceding remark have a variation \mathcal{V} of Hodge structures similar to the examples of J. de Jong and R. Noot [29], and of E. Viehweg and K. Zuo [58], which we call pure (1, n) - VHS. Let $Hg(\mathcal{V})$ denote the generic Hodge group of \mathcal{V} and let K denote an arbitrary maximal compact subgroup of $Hg^{ad}(\mathcal{V})(\mathbb{R})$. In Section 4.4 we prove that a pure (1, n) - VHS induces an open (multivalued) period map to the symmetric domain associated with $Hg^{ad}(\mathcal{V})(\mathbb{R})/K$, which yields the dense sets of complex multiplication fibers. We obtain the following result in Chapter 6:

Theorem 7. There are exactly 19 families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 which have a pure (1, n) - VHS (including all known and new examples).

We will use the fact that the monodromy group $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V})$ is a subgroup of the derived group $\operatorname{Hg}^{\operatorname{der}}(\mathcal{V})$ and we will study $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V})$. Let ψ be a generator

of the Galois group of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ and $C(\psi)$ be the centralizer of ψ in the symplectic group with respect to the intersection pairing on an arbitrary fiber of \mathcal{C} . In Chapter 4 we obtain the result, which will be useful for our study of $\operatorname{Hg}^{\operatorname{der}}(\mathcal{V})$ and $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V})$:

Lemma 8. The monodromy group $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V})$ and the Hodge group $\operatorname{Hg}(\mathcal{V})$ are contained in $C(\psi)$.

We will not be able to determine $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V})$ for all families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 . But we will obtain for example the following results in Chapter 5:

Proposition 9. Let $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ be a family of cyclic covers of degree *m* onto \mathbb{P}^1 . Then one has:

- 1. If the degree m is a prime number ≥ 3 , the algebraic groups $C^{der}(\psi)$, $Mon^{0}(\mathcal{V})$ and $Hg^{der}(\mathcal{V})$ coincide.
- 2. If $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_{2g+2}$ is a family of hyperelliptic curves, one obtains

$$\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}) = \operatorname{Hg}(\mathcal{V}) \cong \operatorname{Sp}_{\mathbb{O}}(2g).$$

 In the case of a family of covers of P¹ with 4 branch points, we need a pure (1,1) − VHS to obtain an open period map to the symmetric domain associated with Hg^{ad}(V)(ℝ)/K.

By our new examples of Viehweg-Zuo towers, we will only obtain CMCY families of 2-manifolds. C. Voisin [60] has described a method to obtain Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds by using involutions on K3 surfaces. C. Borcea [9] has independently arrived at a more general version of the latter method, which allows to construct Calabi-Yau manifolds in arbitrary dimension. By using this method, we obtain in Section 7.2:

Proposition 10. For i = 1, 2 assume that $C^{(i)} \to V_i$ is a CMCY family of n_i -manifolds endowed with the V_i -involution ι_i such that for all $p \in V_i$ the ramification locus $(R_i)_p$ of $C_p^{(i)} \to C_p^{(i)}/\iota_i$ consists of smooth disjoint hypersurfaces. In addition assume that V_i has a dense set of points $p \in V_i$ such that for all k the Hodge groups $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(C_p^{(i)}, \mathbb{Q}))$ and $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k((R_i)_p, \mathbb{Q}))$ are commutative. By blowing up the singular locus of the family $C^{(1)} \times C^{(2)}/\langle (\iota_1, \iota_2) \rangle$, one obtains a CMCY family of $n_1 + n_2$ -manifolds over $V_1 \times V_2$ endowed with an involution satisfying the same assumptions as ι_1 and ι_2 .

Remark 11. By the preceding proposition, one can apply the construction of C. Borcea and C. Voisin for families to obtain an infinite tower of CMCY families of n-manifolds, which we call a Borcea-Voisin tower.

Example 12. The family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}_1$ given by

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \supset V(y_1^4 - x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \lambda x_0)x_0) \to \lambda \in \mathcal{M}_1$$

has a pure (1,1) - VHS. Hence by the construction of Viehweg and Zuo [58], one concludes that the family C_2 given by

$$\mathbb{P}^{3} \supset V(y_{2}^{4} + y_{1}^{4} - x_{1}(x_{1} - x_{0})(x_{1} - \lambda x_{0})x_{0}) \to \lambda \in \mathcal{M}_{1}$$
(1)

is a CMCY family of 2-manifolds.

This family has many \mathcal{M}_1 -automorphisms. The quotients by some of these automorphisms yield new examples of CMCY families of 2-manifolds. Moreover there are some involutions on \mathcal{C}_2 which make this family and its quotient families of K3-surfaces suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower (see Section 7.4 for the construction of \mathcal{C}_2 , and for the automorphism group and the quotient families of \mathcal{C}_2 see Section 9.3, Section 9.4 and Section 9.5).

Example 13. The family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ given by

 $\mathbb{P}(2,1,1) \supset V(y_1^3 - x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - ax_0)(x_1 - bx_0)(x_1 - cx_0)x_0) \rightarrow (a,b,c) \in \mathcal{M}_3$

has a pure (1,3) - VHS. The desingularization $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}(2,2,1,1)$ of the weighted projective space $\mathbb{P}(2,2,1,1)$ is given by blowing up the singular locus. By a modification of the construction of Viehweg and Zuo, the family \mathcal{W} given by

$$\tilde{\mathbb{P}}(2,2,1,1) \supset \tilde{V}(y_2^3 + y_1^3 - x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - ax_0)(x_1 - bx_0)(x_1 - cx_0)x_0) \rightarrow (a,b,c) \in \mathcal{M}_3$$
(2)

is a CMCY family of 2-manifolds. The family W has a degree 3 quotient, which yields a CMCY family of 2-manifolds. Moreover it has an involution, which makes it and its degree 3 quotient suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower (see Chapter 8 for the construction of W and Section 9.1 for its degree 3 quotient).

By using the preceding example, we will obtain (see Section 9.2 for the construction and Section 10.3 for the maximality):

Theorem 14. Let \mathbb{F}_3 be the Fermat curve of degree 3 and $\alpha_{\mathbb{F}_3}$ denote a generator of the Galois group of the degree 3 cover $\mathbb{F}_3 \to \mathbb{P}^1$. The family \mathcal{W} has two \mathcal{M}_3 -automorphism α' and α'' of order 3 such that the quotients $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3 / \langle (\alpha', \alpha_{\mathbb{F}_3}) \rangle$ and $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3 / \langle (\alpha'', \alpha_{\mathbb{F}_3}) \rangle$ have desingularizations, which are CMCY families of 3-manifolds. Moreover one of these families is maximal.

By using the V. V. Nikulins classification of involutions on K3 surfaces [51] and the construction of C. Voisin [60], we obtain in Chapter 11:

Theorem 15. For each integer $1 \le r \le 11$ there exists a maximal holomorphic CMCY family of algebraic 3-manifolds with Hodge number $h^{2,1} = r$.

This book is organized as follows. The first three chapters explain wellknown facts and yield an introduction of the notations. Chapter 1 is an introduction to Hodge Theory and Shimura varieties with a special view towards complex multiplication. We consider cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 in Chapter 2. Moreover Chapter 3 introduces the remaining facts, which we need for the description of families of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 and their variations of Hodge structures.

In Chapter 4 we consider the Galois group action of a cyclic cover of \mathbb{P}^1 and we state first results for the generic Hodge group of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$. Moreover we will give a sufficient criterion for the existence of a dense set of CMfibers given by the pure (1, n) - VHS. In Chapter 5 we compute $\mathrm{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V})$, which provides much information about $\mathrm{Hg}(\mathcal{V})$. We will see that $\mathrm{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V})$ coincides with $C^{\mathrm{der}}(\psi)$ in infinitely many cases. In Chapter 6 we classify the examples of families of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 providing a pure (1, n) - VHS.

The basic methods of the construction of CMCY-families in higher dimension are explained in Chapter 7. We introduce the Borcea-Voisin tower and the Viehweg-Zuo tower and realize that only a small number of families of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 are suitable to start the construction of a Viehweg-Zuo tower. We will also discuss some methods to find concrete CM fibers at the end of this chapter. In Chapter 8 we will give a modified version of the method of E. Viehweg and K. Zuo to construct the CMCY family of 2-manifolds given by (2). We consider the automorphism groups of our examples given by (1) and (2) in Chapter 9. This yields the further quotients of the families given by (1) and (2) which are CMCY families of 2-manifolds. We will see that these quotients are endowed with involutions, which make them suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower. Moreover we will construct the families \mathcal{O} and \mathcal{R} of Theorem 14 in Chapter 9. The next chapter is devoted to the *length* of the Yukawa coupling of our examples families (motivated by the question of rigidity) and the Hodge numbers of their fibers. We finish this chapter with an outlook onto the possibilities to construct CMCYfamilies of 3-manifolds by quotients of higher order. In Chapter 11 we use directly the mirror construction of C. Voisin to obtain maximal holomorphic CMCY families of 2-manifolds, which are suitable for the construction of a holomorphic Borcea-Voisin tower.

Throughout this book we use the conventions of Algebraic Geometry as in [26]. Most of the results and conventions about Hodge theory which we need can be found in [61].

Acknowledgments

The text of this book has been revised at the Graduiertenkolleg "Analysis, Geometrie und String Theorie" for publication. I am very grateful to Derek Harland for many comments and the careful reading of the introduction. Especially I would like to thank Klaus Hulek for several hints including his hint to the essay [13] and stimulating discussions. Moreover, I would like to thank Remke Kloosterman for fruitful discussions about complex multiplication. I am very grateful to my former PhD adviser Eckart Viehweg for many hints and discussions concerning the revision of this text.

The appendix is based on an article written at the beginning of 2008, which was financially supported by the funds of the Leibniz-Preis of Hélène Esnault and Eckart Viehweg.

This book is predicated on the authors doctoral thesis, which has been supported by the funds of the DFG ("Graduiertenkolleg mathematische und ingenieurswissenschaftliche Methoden für sichere Datenübertragung und Informationsvermittlung" and the Leibniz-Preis of Hélène Esnault and Eckart Viehweg). I am very grateful to Eckart Viehweg for giving me the subject of my thesis and his excellent guidance and support, not only during the work on this topic, but from the beginning of my mathematical studies. Moreover. I would like to thank especially Martin Möller for many fruitful and stimulating hints and discussions, and for reading the thesis and pointing out several mistakes. I want to thank Kang Zuo and Stefan Müller-Stach for the hint to the essay [60] of C. Voisin, which provided the main idea of the construction of many examples of CMCY families of 3-manifolds and finally of the construction of the Borcea-Voisin tower. Many thanks to Ulrich Görtz for his instructive course about Shimura varieties at Mainz and to Gebhard Böckle for his interesting reading course about Shimura curves. Moreover, I would like to thank Bernd Siebert and Claire Voisin for stimulating discussions about maximality and the Voisin mirror families in Oberwolfach during the conference "Komplexe Algebraische Geometrie" at the end of the summer 2007. I wish to thank Irene Bouw, Juan Cervino, Andre Chatzistamatiou. Jochen Heinloth, Stefan Kukulies and Kay Rülling for many fruitful discussions, and Pooja Singla for the careful reading of the introduction of the original thesis.

Finally, I want to thank my father very much for his support during the last years and making untroubled studies possible.

Chapter 1 An introduction to Hodge structures and Shimura varieties

In this chapter we recall the general facts about Hodge structures and Shimura varieties, which are needed in the sequel. We will explain that a Shimura datum consisting of a \mathbb{Q} -reductive group G and a homomorphism $h : \mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfying certain conditions allows the construction of a Hermitian symmetric domain D. We will also give a definition of complex multiplication (CM), give a criterion for complex multiplication and discuss some conjectures concerning complex multiplication.

Shimura varieties and complex multiplication are closely related. One can construct a variation of Hodge structures on a Hermitian symmetric domain obtained from a Shimura datum. This variation of Hodge structures yields Hodge structures with complex multiplication over a dense set of points. Due to the André-Oort conjecture, one assumes that every variation of Hodge structures which contains infinitely many Hodge structures with complex multiplication is of this kind.

In the first two sections we recall the basic definitions of Hodge theory and consider polarized integral Hodge structures of type (1,0), (0,1), which correspond to isomorphism classes of polarized abelian varieties with symplectic basis by Riemann's theorem. We define Shimura data and construct Hermitian symmetric domains by using Shimura data in Section 1.3 and Section 1.4 respectively. The construction of Shimura varieties from the Hermitian symmetric domains obtained by Shimura data is sketched in Section 1.5.

In Section 1.6 we motivate our definition of complex multiplication and write it down. Section 1.7 contains the theorem that a Shimura datum yields a Hermitian symmetric domain D and a VHS on D, which yields Hodge structures with CM over a dense set of points. In this Section we discuss some examples and conjectures about families with dense sets of complex multiplication fibers, too.

1.1 The basic definitions

Definition 1.1.1. Let R be a ring such that $\mathbb{Z} \subseteq R \subseteq \mathbb{R}$. An R-Hodge structure is given by an R-module V and a decomposition

$$V \otimes_R \mathbb{C} = \bigoplus_{p,q \in \mathbb{Z}} V^{p,q}$$

such that $\overline{V^{p,q}} = V^{q,p}$.

We will always assume that $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ has finite dimension.

1.1.2. Let the Deligne torus \mathbb{S} be the \mathbb{R} -algebraic group given by the matrices

$$M(x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} x & y \\ -y & x \end{pmatrix} \text{ with } x^2 + y^2 > 0, \ x, y \in \mathbb{R}.$$

We identify the complex number $z = x + iy \in \mathbb{C}^*$ with $M(x, y) \in \mathbb{S}(\mathbb{R})$. One checks easily that this yields an isomorphism between \mathbb{C}^* and $\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{R})$. Let $t := (\det M(x, y))^{-1}$. By using this identification, one sees easily that the Deligne torus \mathbb{S} is given by the affine variety

$$V(t(x^2+y^2)-1) \subset \mathbb{A}^3_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

The Deligne torus S is also given by the Weil restriction

$$\mathbb{S} = Res_{\mathbb{C}/\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{C}}.$$

Proposition 1.1.3. Let V be an \mathbb{R} -vector space. Each real Hodge structure on V defines by

$$z \cdot \alpha^{p,q} = z^p \bar{z}^q \alpha^{p,q} \quad (\forall \alpha^{p,q} \in V^{p,q}, z \in \mathbb{C}^* \cong \mathbb{S}(\mathbb{R}))$$

an action of S on $V \otimes \mathbb{C}$ such that one has an \mathbb{R} -algebraic homomorphism $h : S \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$. Moreover by the eigenspace decomposition of $V_{\mathbb{C}}$ with respect to the characters of S, any representation given by an algebraic homomorphism $h : S \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$ corresponds to a real Hodge structure on V.

Proof. (see [16], 1.1.1¹)

$$z \cdot \alpha^{p,q} = z^{-p} \overline{z}^{-q} \alpha^{p,q}$$
 instead of $z \cdot \alpha^{p,q} = z^p \overline{z}^q \alpha^{p,q}$

in [16]. But this is only a matter of the chosen conventions.

¹ Note that P. Deligne writes

From now on, unless stated otherwise, let V be a \mathbb{Q} -vector space and let

$$h: \mathbb{S} \to \mathrm{GL}(V_{\mathbb{R}})$$

be the algebraic homomorphism corresponding to a Hodge structure on V. The algebraic subgroup $S^1 \subset \mathbb{S}$ is given by

$$V(x^2 + y^2 - 1) \subset \mathbb{A}^2_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

This yields

$$S^1(\mathbb{R}) = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : z\overline{z} = 1 \} \subset \mathbb{C}^*.$$

We consider the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{R}^* \stackrel{\mathrm{id}}{\hookrightarrow} \mathbb{C}^* \stackrel{z \to z/\bar{z}}{\longrightarrow} S^1(\mathbb{R}) \to 0$$

which can be obtained by the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{R}} \stackrel{w}{\hookrightarrow} \mathbb{S} \to S^1 \to 0$$

of \mathbb{R} -algebraic groups.

Remark 1.1.4. The homomorphism given by $h \circ w$ is called weight homomorphism. There exists a $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ such that $V^{p,q} = 0$ for all $p + q \neq k$, if and only if $h \circ w$ is given by $r \to r^k$. In this case the Hodge structure (V, h) is of weight k.

Remark 1.1.5. By Proposition 1.1.3, any (real) Hodge structure on $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ of weight k determines a unique morphism $h_1: S^1 \to GL(V_{\mathbb{R}})$ given by

$$S^1 \hookrightarrow \mathbb{S} \xrightarrow{h} \mathrm{GL}(V_{\mathbb{R}}).$$

Since $\mathbb{S} = \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{R}} \cdot S^1$, one can reconstruct h from $h|_{S^1}$ and the weight homomorphism. By using Proposition 1.1.3 again, one can easily see that there is a correspondence between Hodge structures of weight k on $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ and representations $h_1: S^1 \to \operatorname{GL}(V_{\mathbb{R}})$ given by

$$z \cdot \alpha^{p,q} = z^p \bar{z}^q \alpha^{p,q}$$

for all $\alpha^{p,q} \in V^{p,q}$, which must satisfy p+q=k for all $V^{p,q} \neq 0$.

We call an *R*-Hodge structure (V, h) pure, if $V^{p,q} = 0$ for all p, q < 0.

Example 1.1.6. A pure integral Hodge structure of weight k is given by

$$H^k(X,\mathbb{C}) = H^k(X,\mathbb{Z}) \otimes \mathbb{C} = \bigoplus_{p+q=k} H^{p,q}(X) \text{ with } H^{p,q}(X) = H^q(X,\Omega^p_X)$$

for any compact Kähler manifold X.

1.1.7. Let X be a compact Kähler manifold. The Hodge numbers $h^{p,q} = \dim H^{p,q}(X)$ are often visualized by Hodge diamonds. For example assume that X is a Calabi-Yau manifold. We say that X is a Calabi-Yau manifold, if X is Kähler manifold of dimension n such that $\omega_X \cong \mathcal{O}_X$ and $h^{k,0} = 0$ for $k = 1, \ldots n - 1$.

By [6], **VIII**. Proposition 3.4, one has $h^{1,1} = 20$ for a K3 surface resp., a Calabi-Yau 2-manifold. Thus by Hodge symmetry and Serre duality, the Hodge diamond of a K3 surface is given by:

$$egin{array}{cccc} 1 & & & 0 & & 0 \\ 1 & 20 & & 1 & & 0 & & 0 \\ & & & & 1 & & & 1 \end{array}$$

Moreover by Hodge symmetry and Serre duality, the Hodge diamond of a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold is given by:



Definition 1.1.8. Let R be a ring such that $\mathbb{Z} \subseteq R \subseteq \mathbb{R}$. A polarized R-Hodge structure of weight k is given by an R-Hodge structure of weight k on an R-module V and a bilinear form $Q: V \times V \to R$, which is symmetric, if k is even, alternating otherwise, and whose extension on $V \otimes_R \mathbb{C}$ satisfies:

1. The Hodge decomposition is orthogonal for the Hermitian form $i^k Q(\cdot, \bar{\cdot})$. 2. For all $\alpha \in V^{p,q} \setminus \{0\}$ one has

$$i^{p-q}(-1)^{\frac{k(k-1)}{2}}Q(\alpha,\bar{\alpha}) > 0.$$

Example 1.1.9. Let X be a compact Kähler manifold. Recall that for $k \leq dim(X)$ the primitive cohomology $H^k(X, \mathbb{R})_{\text{prim}}$ is the kernel of the Lefschetz operator

$$L^{n-k+1}: H^k(X, \mathbb{R}) \to H^{2n-k+2}(X, \mathbb{R})$$

given by

$$\alpha \to \wedge^{n-k+1}(\omega) \wedge \alpha,$$

where $n := \dim(X)$, the chosen Kähler form is denoted by ω and $\alpha \in H^k(X, \mathbb{R})$. By

$$(\alpha,\beta) := \int_X \wedge^{n-k}(\omega) \wedge \alpha \wedge \beta,$$

one obtains a polarization on $H^k(X, \mathbb{Z})_{\text{prim}}$ and hence a polarized integral Hodge structure on $H^k(X, \mathbb{Z})_{\text{prim}}$, if $[\omega] \in H^2(X, \mathbb{Z})$ (see [61], 7.1.2)².

Definition 1.1.10. Let $\mathbb{Q} \subseteq F \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a field and V be a F-vector space. The Hodge group $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)$ of a F Hodge structure (V,h) is the smallest F-algebraic subgroup G of $\operatorname{GL}(V)$ such that

$$h(S^1) \subseteq G \times_F \mathbb{R}.$$

The Mumford-Tate group $MT_F(V, h)$ of a F Hodge structure (V, h) is the smallest F-algebraic subgroup G of GL(V) such that

$$h(\mathbb{S}) \subseteq G \times_F \mathbb{R}.$$

For simplicity we will write Hg(V, h) instead of $Hg_{\mathbb{Q}}(V, h)$ and MT(V, h) instead of $MT_{\mathbb{Q}}(V, h)$.³

We will mainly consider rational Hodge structures. Nevertheless we often take a view towards K Hodge structures, where $\mathbb{Q} \subseteq F \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ is a field. This case can also be interesting (for example see [2] and [42]).

Next we define variations of Hodge structures (VHS). Consider a smooth family $f : X \to Y$ of algebraic manifolds. We use the variation of Hodge structures of such a family for the motivation of the general definition of variations of Hodge structures. First we need to recall the definition of the higher direct image sheaf:

Definition 1.1.11. Let $f : A \to B$ be a continuous map of topological spaces and \mathcal{F} be a sheaf of abelian groups on A. The higher direct image sheaf is the sheaf associated to the presheaf given by

$$V \to H^1(f^{-1}(V), \mathcal{F}|_{f^{-1}(V)})$$

for all open subsets $V \subset B$.

Remark 1.1.12. The higher direct image sheaf $R^k f_*(\mathbb{C})$ is a local system i.e. a locally constant sheaf of stalk G, where G is an abelian group. In our case G is given by the complex numbers. This follows from the fact that the fibers are

² There is a more general definition of a polarized Hodge structure (see [16], 1.1.10). But here we will mainly consider Hodge structures given by the primitive cohomology on a Kähler manifold. Moreover we obtain $H^n(X, \mathbb{R})_{\text{prim}} = H^n(X, \mathbb{R})$, if X is a curve or if X is a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold. Hence in these two cases of interest $H^n(X, \mathbb{R}_{\text{prim}})$ is independent by the chosen Kähler form. Moreover by its definition, the corresponding polarization is independent of the Kähler form, if k = n. Thus in these two cases the integral polarized Hodge structure depends only on the isomorphism class of X.

 $^{^{3}}$ In [17], Section 3 one finds an alternative definition of the Mumford-Tate group.

diffeomorphic such that the corresponding family of differentiable manifolds is locally constant (see [61] 9.1.1). The variation of Hodge structures will be given by a filtration of

$$\mathcal{H}^k := R^k f_*(\mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_Y$$

by holomorphic subbundles. Thus let us first explain that a filtration can give the Hodge structure of a fiber:

1.1.13. Let $\mathbb{Z} \subseteq R \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be a ring and V be an R-module. Recall that we have two equivalent definitions of an R-Hodge structure on V. A Hodge structure can be defined by a certain direct sum decomposition of $V_{\mathbb{C}}$ into the subvector spaces $V^{p,q}$ (see Definition 1.1.1) or by a representation $h: \mathbb{S} \to \operatorname{GL}(V_{\mathbb{R}})$.

One needs a third equivalent definition of Hodge structures of weight k to understand how a filtration of subbundles yields Hodge structures on the fibers of \mathcal{H}^k , which will be the respective Hodge structures of weight k on the fibers of f. A pure Hodge structure of weight k on V can be given by a decreasing filtration F^{\bullet} on $V_{\mathbb{C}}$ such that

$$V_{\mathbb{C}} = F^0 V_{\mathbb{C}} \supset F^1 V_{\mathbb{C}} \supset \ldots \supset F^{k+1} V_{\mathbb{C}} = 0.$$

The filtration satisfies

$$V_{\mathbb{C}} = F^p V_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \overline{F^{k-p+1} V_{\mathbb{C}}}$$

for all p. The direct summand $V^{p,q}$ is given by

$$V^{p,q} = F^p V_{\mathbb{C}} \cap \overline{F^q V_{\mathbb{C}}}$$

It is an easy exercise to check that such a filtration yields a Hodge structure of weight k and a Hodge structure of weight k yields such a filtration.

Proposition 1.1.14. Let $X \to Y$ be a smooth morphism of algebraic manifolds and

$$\mathcal{H}^k := R^k f_*(\mathbb{C}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_Y.$$

One has a filtration F^{\bullet} of \mathcal{H}^k by holomorphic subbundles $F^p\mathcal{H}^k$ such that for all $y \in Y$ one has $F^pH^k(X_y, \mathbb{C}) = F^p_y\mathcal{H}^k$. Moreover one can define bundles $\mathcal{H}^{p,k-p} = F^p\mathcal{H}^k/F^{p+1}\mathcal{H}^k$ such that $\mathcal{H}^{p,k-p}_y = H^{p,k-p}(X_y)$.

Proof. (see [61], 10.2.1)

Remark 1.1.15. The $\mathcal{H}^{p,k-p}$ are <u>not</u> subbundles of \mathcal{H}^k . This motivates the definition of the variation of Hodge structures by a filtration.

Next we need to construct the Gauss-Manin connection:

Construction 1.1.16. We endow \mathcal{H}^k with a connection in the following way:

Let U be a simply connected open subset of Y. Over U the local system $R^k f_*(\mathbb{C})$ can be considered as a locally constant sheaf. Moreover let

$$\sigma = \sum \alpha_i \otimes \sigma_i \in \mathcal{H}^k(U),$$

where $\alpha_i \in R^k f_*(\mathbb{C})(U)$ and $\sigma_i \in \mathcal{O}(U)$. The Gauss-Manin connection $\nabla : \mathcal{H}^k \to \mathcal{H}^k \otimes \Omega_Y$ is locally defined by

$$\mathcal{H}^{k}(U) \ni \sigma = \sum \alpha_{i} \otimes \sigma_{i} \xrightarrow{\nabla} \sum \alpha_{i} \otimes d\sigma_{i} \in (\mathcal{H}^{k} \otimes \Omega_{Y})(U).$$

By gluing, the connection is defined for each open subset of Y. Thus the connection is globally defined.

Remark 1.1.17. The Gauss-Manin connection satisfies the Griffiths transversality condition. That is

$$\nabla(F^p\mathcal{H}^k)\subseteq F^{p-1}\mathcal{H}^k\otimes\Omega_Y$$
 and $\nabla(F^{p+1}\mathcal{H}^k)\subseteq F^p\mathcal{H}^k\otimes\Omega_Y$.

Thus by using quotients, we can define the map

$$\bar{\nabla}^{p,k-p}: \mathcal{H}^{p,k-p} \to \mathcal{H}^{p-1,k-p+1} \otimes \Omega_Y.$$

The Gauss-Manin connection is obviously not linear, but $\overline{\nabla}^{p,k-p}$ is a morphism of \mathcal{O}_Y -modules (see [61] 10.2.2).

For the motivation of the definition of a polarized variation of Hodge structures note one additional fact:

Remark 1.1.18. Let R be a ring such that $\mathbb{Z} \subseteq R \subseteq \mathbb{R}$. Recall that a family of algebraic manifolds provides a locally constant family in the category of differentiable manifolds. Thus the sheaf $R^k f_*(R)$ is locally constant. Therefore the polarization on $R^k f_*(R)$ obtained by the polarization of the Hodge structures of the fibers is locally constant, too.

Definition 1.1.19. Let D be a complex manifold and R be a ring such that $\mathbb{Z} \subseteq R \subseteq \mathbb{R}$. A variation \mathcal{V} of R-Hodge structures of weight k over D is given by a local system \mathcal{V}_R of R-modules of finite rank and a filtration \mathcal{F}^{\bullet} of $\mathcal{V}_{\mathcal{O}_D}$ by holomorphic subbundles such that:

- 1. Griffiths transversality condition holds.
- 2. $(\mathcal{V}_{R,p}, \mathcal{F}_p^{\bullet})$ is an *R*-Hodge structure of weight *k* for all $p \in D$.

The variation \mathcal{V} of Hodge structures is polarized, if there is a flat (i.e. locally constant) bilinear form Q on \mathcal{V}_R such that $(\mathcal{V}_{R,p}, \mathcal{F}_p^{\bullet}, Q_p)$ is a polarized R-Hodge structure of weight k for all $p \in D$.

Next we need to introduce and construct the parametrizing spaces of Hodge structures. We start by the construction of the Grassmannian:

Construction 1.1.20. Let W be a complex vector space of dimension N and 0 < k < N. The Grassmannian Grass(W, k) is the manifold, which parametrizes all complex subvector spaces of W of codimension k.⁴ Let $K \subset W$ be a subvector space of codimension k and $L \subset W$ be an other subvector space such that

$$K \oplus L = W$$

Moreover let

$$\pi_K: W \to K \text{ resp.}, \ \pi_L: W \to L$$

denote the respective projection onto K resp., L with kernel L resp., K. Now let $Z \subset W$ be an other vector space of codimension k such that $Z \cap L = \{0\}$. This vector space Z is identified with

$$h_Z = \pi_L \circ (\pi_K)|_Z^{-1} : K \to L.$$

By $Z \leftrightarrow h_Z$, an open neighborhood of the point $p_K \in \text{Grass}(W, k)$, which represents K, can be given by Hom(K, L). Since each subvector space $Z \subset W$ of codimension k corresponds to exactly one point $p_Z \in \text{Grass}(W, k)$, one obtains gluing isomorphisms between the open sets. Thus Grass(W, k) is a complex manifold of dimension k(N - k).

Moreover Grass(W, k) is projective and the tangent space $T_K Grass(W, k)$ is given by

$$T_K \text{Grass}(W, k) \cong \text{Hom}(K, W/K).$$

(see [61], 10.1).

1.1.21. Let (V, h) be an *R*-Hodge structure of weight *k*. For simplicity we assume that (V, h) is pure. The Hodge structure is given by the Hodge filtration

$$V_{\mathbb{C}} = F^0 V_{\mathbb{C}} \supset F^1 V_{\mathbb{C}} \supset \ldots \supset F^k V_{\mathbb{C}} \supset F^{k+1} V_{\mathbb{C}} = 0.$$

Moreover the flag space $\mathcal{F}_{h^{k,0},\ldots,h^{p,k-p},\ldots,h^{0,k}}$, which parametrizes the filtrations by subvector spaces of the respective codimensions, satisfies

$$\mathcal{F}_{h^{k,0},\ldots,h^{p,k-p},\ldots,h^{0,k}} \subset \prod_{p} \operatorname{Grass}(F^{p}V_{\mathbb{C}},h^{0,k}+h^{1,k-1}+\ldots+h^{p,k-p}).$$

⁴ Many authors define the Grassmannian Grass(W, k) as the manifold, which parametrizes all subvector spaces of W of dimension k and not of codimension k. We use this abbreviation, since it makes our notations below easier.

Recall that

$$V^{p,k-p} = F^p V_{\mathbb{C}}/F^{p+1}V_{\mathbb{C}}$$
 resp., $h^{p,k-p} = \operatorname{codim}_{F^p V_{\mathbb{C}}}(F^{p+1}V_{\mathbb{C}})$.

The pure Hodge structures of weight k with the Hodge numbers $h^{k,0} \ldots$, $h^{p,k-p} \ldots h^{0,k}$ are classified by an open subset \mathcal{D}' of the flag space. This open set \mathcal{D}' is defined by the condition

$$F^p V_{\mathbb{C}} \oplus \overline{F^{k-p+1}V_{\mathbb{C}}} = V_{\mathbb{C}}.$$

Now assume that (V, h, Q) is a polarized pure *R*-Hodge structure. Thus Q yields a fixed polarization. The set $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathcal{D}'$, which parametrizes the Hodge structures (V, h') such that (V, h', Q) is a polarized Hodge structure, is an open subset of an analytic subspace of \mathcal{D}' .

The space \mathcal{D} is called the period domain. Let $q \in D$ denote the point corresponding to our polarized Hodge structures (V, h, Q). The tangent space $T_q D$ is a subvector space of

$$T_q \mathcal{F}_{h^{k,0},\ldots,h^{p,k-p},\ldots,h^{0,k}}$$

given by

$$T_q \mathcal{F}_{h^{k,0},\dots,h^{p,k-p},\dots,h^{0,k}} = \bigoplus_p \operatorname{Hom}(F^{p+1}V_{\mathbb{C}}, F^p V_{\mathbb{C}}/F^{p+1}V_{\mathbb{C}}).$$

(see [61], 10.1).

Now one constructs easily the period map of a family:

1.1.22. A variation \mathcal{V} of pure polarized *R*-Hodge structures over a simply connected complex manifold *S* yields a holomorphic map $p: S \to \mathcal{D}$, where \mathcal{D} is a suitable period domain. This map depends on the choice of a trivialization of \mathcal{V} over the simply connected manifold *S*. Now assume that $f: X \to Y$ is a holomorphic family of Kähler manifolds and \mathcal{V} its variation of integral Hodge structures. In this case one can define a multivalued holomorphic map $p: Y \to \mathcal{D}$, which is called the period map.

1.2 Jacobians, Polarizations and Riemann's Theorem

Let X be a Kähler manifold. Consider the following exact sequence:

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathcal{O}_X^* \to 0$$

This yields the complex torus

$$\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X) = H^{1}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X})/H^{1}(X, \mathbb{Z}),$$

which parametrizes the line bundles of degree 0. For a curve one has the following construction of a complex torus:

Construction 1.2.1. Let C be a curve. Moreover let

$$Z = \sum_{i=1}^{m} n_i P_i \quad \text{with} \quad \sum_{i=1}^{m} n_i = 0$$

be a cycle of points $P_i \in C$. There exists a differentiable chain Γ such that $\partial \Gamma = Z$. Let ω be a holomorphic 1-form on C. The value of the integral $\int_{\Gamma} \omega$ depends on Z up to the homology $H_1(C, \mathbb{Z})$. Thus Z yields an unique point of the Jacobian

$$\operatorname{Jac}(C) = H^{1,0}(C)^* / H_1(C, \mathbb{Z}),$$

which is a complex torus. There exists a holomorphic map

$$C \to \operatorname{Jac}(C),$$

which is called the Abel-Jacobi map. We fix a point $p_0 \in C$ and send each $p \in C$ to the unique class in Jac(C) of the path integral over an arbitrary path from p_0 to p. (see any good book about Riemann surfaces)

We will see that $\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(C) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(C)$ for any curve C. Moreover we will check that $\operatorname{Jac}(C)$ is an abelian variety. The theory of abelian varieties, their Hodge structures and their parametrizing spaces contains several features and motivates the definition of Shimura data, which we will need in the sequel.

Let R be a ring such that $\mathbb{Z} \subseteq R \subseteq \mathbb{C}$ and C be a curve. The homology

$$H_1(C,R) := H_1(C,\mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R$$

and the cohomology $H^1(C, R)$ are canonical duals (see [61], Théorème 4.47). On $H_1(C, \mathbb{Z})$ one defines the dual Hodge structure of weight -1 of the Hodge structure on $H^1(C, \mathbb{Z})$ given by the Hodge filtration

$$0 \subset H^{0,-1}(C) \subset H_1(C,\mathbb{C})$$
 such that $H^{0,-1}(C) = H^{0,1}(C)^*$ and
 $H^{-1,0}(C) = H^{1,0}(C)^*.$

In the sequel we will also need the following relations between the Hodge structure of weight 1 on $H^1(C, \mathbb{Z})$ and the Hodge structure of weight -1 on the homology $H_1(C, \mathbb{Z})$:

1.2.2. For each ring $\mathbb{Z} \subset R \subset \mathbb{C}$ we have $H^1(C, R) \cong H_1(C, R)^*$. By integration over \mathbb{R} -valued paths, we obtain an isomorphism

$$\phi: H^1(C, \mathbb{R}) \to H_1(C, \mathbb{R})^* \to H^1_{\mathrm{DR}}(C, \mathbb{R}).$$

The integral classes in the de Rham cohomology $H^1_{\mathrm{DR}}(C,\mathbb{R})$ are given by $\phi(H^1(C,\mathbb{Z}))$.

On the homology $H_1(C, \mathbb{Z})$ of a curve C one can define an intersection pairing (\cdot, \cdot) , which is an alternating bilinear form. The intersection form on $H_1(C, \mathbb{Z})$ can be given by the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & E_g \\ -E_g & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

with respect to a fixed symplectic basis (for example see [7], 11.1). Thus the intersection form yields an isomorphism $\sigma_R : H_1(C, R) \to H_1(C, R)^*$ for all rings $\mathbb{Z} \subset R \subset \mathbb{C}$. In terms of the de Rham cohomology it assigns to each $\alpha \in H_1(C, R)$ the $\eta_\alpha \in H^1_{\mathrm{DR}}(C, \mathbb{C})$, which has the property that

$$(\gamma,\alpha) = \int_{\gamma} \eta_{\alpha}$$

for all $\gamma \in H_1(C, \mathbb{C})$. By this definition, one has $\eta_{\alpha} \in H_1(C, R)^* = H^1(C, R)$. In addition one has

$$(\gamma, \alpha) = \int_C \eta_\gamma \wedge \eta_\alpha$$

(compare [30], Section 5.1).⁵

Moreover one has

$$\sigma \circ h_{-1}(z) = h_1(z) \circ \sigma \text{ for all } z \in S^1(\mathbb{R}),$$

where h_{-1} and h_1 denote the corresponding embeddings

$$h_{-1}: S^1 \to \operatorname{GL}(H_1(C, \mathbb{R}))$$
 and $h_1: S^1 \to \operatorname{GL}(H^1(C, \mathbb{R}))$

of the respective Hodge structures. Thus the Hodge groups of these Hodge structures on $H_1(C,\mathbb{Z})$ and $H^1(C,\mathbb{Z})$ are isomorphic. Hence for a study of the Hodge structure on $H^1(C,\mathbb{Z})$, it is sufficient to consider the dual Hodge structure on $H_1(C,\mathbb{Z})$.

Recall that the Hodge decomposition of the Hodge structure on $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$ is orthogonal with respect to the Hermitian form

$$iQ(\cdot,\bar{\cdot}) = i\int_C \cdot \wedge \bar{\cdot}.$$

⁵ In [30] the last equation is written down only for $R = \mathbb{Z}$. By $H^1(C, R) = H^1(C, \mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R$ and by $H_1(C, R) = H_1(C, \mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} R$, one obtains the last equation for each ring $\mathbb{Z} \subseteq R \subseteq \mathbb{C}$.

Thus by the polarization, $H^{0,1}(C)$ is canonical isomorphic to $H^{1,0}(C)^*$. Since 1.2.2 yields a corresponding canonical isomorphism $\sigma : H_1(C, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(C, \mathbb{Z})$, one concludes:

Corollary 1.2.3. Let C be a curve. Then $\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(C)$ and $\operatorname{Jac}(C)$ are isomorphic.

Next we consider polarizations on abelian varieties:

Remark 1.2.4. Let A = W/L be a complex g-dimensional torus. There is a canonical isomorphism between $H^2(A, \mathbb{Z})$ and \mathbb{Z} -valued alternating forms on $L = H_1(A, \mathbb{Z})$. Moreover for an alternating integral form E on L, there is a line bundle \mathcal{L} on A with $c^1(\mathcal{L}) = E$, if and only if $E(i \cdot, i \cdot) = E(\cdot, \cdot)$. By

$$H(u, v) = E(iu, v) + iE(u, v),$$

we get the corresponding Hermitian form H from E and conversely, given H we obtain E by $E = \Im H$. (See [7], Proposition 2.1.6 and Lemma 2.1.7)

A polarization on an abelian variety is given by a line bundle \mathcal{L} , whose Hermitian form H, which corresponds to its first Chern class E, is positive definite. The alternating form E of the polarization can be given by the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & D_g \\ -D_g & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

with respect to a symplectic basis of L, where $D_g = \text{diag}(d_1, \ldots, d_g)$ with $d_i|d_{i+1}$ (see [7], 3.1). The matrix D_g depends on the polarization, and it is called the type of the polarization. The polarization E on A is principal, if $D_g = E_g$.

A positive definite Hermitian form H on W, which has the property that $\Im H$ is an integral alternating form on L, satisfies that $\Im H(i, i) = \Im H(\cdot, \cdot)$ resp., is a polarization. Since the Chern class of a line bundle \mathcal{L} is a polarization, if and only if \mathcal{L} is ample (see [7], Proposition 4.5.2.), H yields an ample line bundle. By the Theorem of Chow, A is algebraic in this case. Moreover if A is an abelian variety, there is a positive definite Hermitian form H on W such that $\Im H$ is integral on L (see [48], I. 3).

Example 1.2.5. Let X be a Kähler manifold. On

$$\operatorname{Pic}^{0}(X) = H^{1}(X, \mathcal{O}_{X})/H^{1}(X, \mathbb{Z})$$

one has a negative definite Hermitian form given by the polarization $iQ(\cdot,\overline{\cdot})$ of the weight one Hodge structure. Hence by $-iQ(\cdot,\overline{\cdot})$, one has a positive definite Hermitian form. Since $Q(\cdot,\cdot)$ is integral on $H^1(X,\mathbb{Z})$, the same holds true for the projection of $H^1(X,\mathbb{Z})$ to $H^1(X,\mathcal{O}_X)$ with respect to $\Im(-iQ(\cdot,\overline{\cdot}))$ as one can check easily. Hence $\operatorname{Pic}^0(X)$ has a polarization and it is an abelian variety. Assume that X is a curve C. The intersection form on $H_1(C, \mathbb{Z})$ can be given by the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & E_g \\ -E_g & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

with respect to a fixed symplectic basis (see 1.2.2). Hence the polarization on Jac(C) is principal.

We repeat the consideration of the preceding example in a more general setting, which will allow us to construct the moduli space \mathfrak{h}_g of abelian varieties of dimension g with extra structure explained below. This space will be our first motivating example to use Shimura data. A Shimura datum will endow \mathfrak{h}_g with the structure of a Hermitian symmetric domain such that the holomorphic universal family of abelian varieties has a dense set of fibers of CM type.

Now let V denote a \mathbb{Q} -vector space of dimension 2g, let Q be a rational alternating bilinear form on V, and let J be a complex structure on $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ (i.e. an automorphism J with $J^2 = -id$). Moreover a Hodge structure of type (1,0), (0,1) on V is given by a decomposition

$$V_{\mathbb{C}} = V^{1,0} \oplus V^{0,1}.$$

In an analogue way one defines the type of an arbitrary Hodge structure given by a decomposition of $V_{\mathbb{C}}$.

Remark 1.2.6. It is very easy to see that there is a correspondence between Hodge structures h on V of type (1,0), (0,1) and complex structures J on $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ via h(i) = J.

Lemma 1.2.7. The complex structure J on $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ corresponds to a polarized Hodge structure (V, h, Q) of type (1, 0), (0, 1), if and only if it satisfies

$$Q(J\cdot, J\cdot) = Q(\cdot, \cdot) \text{ and } Q(J\tilde{v}, \tilde{v}) > 0$$

for all $\tilde{v} \in V_{\mathbb{R}}$.

Proof. Let the complex structure J on $V_{\mathbb{R}}$ be given by a polarized Hodge structure of type (1,0), (0,1) on V. Any $\tilde{v}, \tilde{w} \in V_{\mathbb{R}}$ can be given by

$$\tilde{v} = v + \bar{v}$$
 and $\tilde{w} = w + \bar{w}$

for some $v, w \in H^{1,0}$, where $H^{1,0}$ and $H^{0,1}$ are totally isotropic with respect to Q. Hence:

$$Q(J\tilde{v}, J\tilde{w}) = Q(iv, -i\bar{w}) + Q(-i\bar{v}, iw) = Q(v, \bar{w}) + Q(\bar{v}, w) = Q(\tilde{v}, \tilde{w})$$

Since the Hermitian form given by $iQ(v, \bar{v})$ is positive definite on $H^{1,0}$, one concludes:

$$Q(J\tilde{v},\tilde{v}) = Q(iv - i\bar{v}, v + \bar{v}) = Q(iv, \bar{v}) + Q(-i\bar{v}, v) = 2iQ(v, \bar{v}) > 0 \quad (1.1)$$

Conversely assume that $Q(J, \cdot) > 0$ and $Q(\cdot, \cdot) = Q(J, \cdot, J)$. Thus one has

$$Q(v_1, v_2) = Q(Jv_1, Jv_2) = Q(iv_1, iv_2) = -Q(v_1, v_2)$$

resp., $Q(v_1, v_2) = Q(Jv_1, Jv_2) = Q(-iv_1, -iv_2) = -Q(v_1, v_2)$

for all $v_1, v_2 \in H^{1,0} := Eig(J, i)$ resp., for all $v_1, v_2 \in H^{0,1} := Eig(J, -i)$. Hence $H^{1,0}$ resp., $H^{0,1}$ is isotropic with respect to Q. The same calculation as in (1.1) implies that $iQ(\cdot, \bar{\cdot})$ is positive definite on $H^{1,0}$ and negative definite on $H^{0,1}$. Hence one gets a polarized Hodge structure of type (1,0), (0,1) by Remark 1.2.6.

By the preceding lemma and an easy calculation using that $z = a + ib \in S^1(\mathbb{R})$ implies $a^2 + b^2 = 1$,⁶ we obtain:

Proposition 1.2.8. A polarized Hodge structure (V, h, Q) of type (1, 0), (0, 1) induces a faithful symplectic representation

$$h: S^1 \to \operatorname{Sp}(V_{\mathbb{R}}, Q).$$

Corollary 1.2.9. Let (V, h, Q) be a polarized Hodge structure of type (1, 0), (0, 1). Then

$$\operatorname{Hg}(V,h) \subseteq \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q).$$

Theorem 1.2.10 (Riemann). There is a correspondence between polarized abelian varieties of dimension g and polarized Hodge structures (L, h, Q) of type (1, 0), (0, 1) on a torsion-free lattice L of rank 2g.

Proof. Let (L, h, Q) be a polarized Hodge structure on a torsion-free lattice L of rank 2g. By

$$L \otimes \mathbb{R} \hookrightarrow L \otimes \mathbb{C} \to H^{0,1},$$

one has an isomorphism f of \mathbb{R} -vector spaces. The complex structure of the Hodge structure turns $L_{\mathbb{R}}$ into a \mathbb{C} -vector space. One has $f(\lambda v) = \overline{\lambda} f(v)$ for all complex numbers λ . By f, the alternating form Q may be considered as (real) alternating form on $H^{0,1}$. But it satisfies Q(iv, v) < 0 for all $v \in H^{0,1}$. Hence let E = -Q. Lemma 1.2.7 implies that $E(i \cdot, i \cdot) = E(\cdot, \cdot)$ and E(iv, v) > 0 for

$$Q(zv, zw) = a^{2}Q(v, w) + b^{2}Q(v, w) + ab(Q(Jv, w) + Q(v, Jw)) =$$

=Q(v,w) + ab(Q(Jv,w) + Q(Jv,J(Jw))) = Q(v,w) + ab(Q(Jv,w) + Q(Jv,-w)) = Q(v,w)

⁶ Let $v, w \in V_{\mathbb{R}}$. The calculation is given by:

all $v \in H^{0,1}$. Thus the corresponding Hermitian form is positive definite (see Remark 1.2.4) and we have a polarization on the complex torus $H^{0,1}/L$ and hence an abelian variety.

Conversely take a polarized abelian variety (A, E), where A = W/L. Let Q := -E. By J = -i, one has similar to Lemma 1.2.7 a complex structure corresponding to a polarized Hodge structure of type (1, 0), (0, 1) on L. Thus we have obviously obtained the desired correspondence.

Since a polarized rational Hodge structure can be considered as polarized integral Hodge structure with respect to a fixed lattice, if the polarization on this lattice is integral, one concludes by Lemma 1.2.7 and Theorem 1.2.10:

Corollary 1.2.11. There is a bijection between the sets of polarized abelian varieties A = W/L and complex structures on $L \otimes \mathbb{R}$ satisfying

$$Q(J\cdot,J\cdot)=Q(\cdot,\cdot) \quad and \quad Q(Jv,v)>0$$

for all $v \in L \otimes \mathbb{R}$ with respect to an integral alternating form Q on L.

Remark 1.2.12. In order to obtain isomorphism classes of certain objects corresponding to the polarized integral Hodge structures (L, h, Q) one can fix a basis B of L. Usually this basis B is symplectic with respect to the polarization E of A. Hence a polarized abelian variety with symplectic basis consists of the triple (A, E, B). The conditions

$$Q(J, J) = Q(\cdot, \cdot)$$
 and $Q(Jv, v) > 0$

of the previous corollary are called Riemann conditions. Hence by Theorem 1.2.10, we have proved that a complex structure on $L \otimes \mathbb{R}$ corresponds to the isomorphism class of a polarized abelian variety with symplectic basis, if and only if it satisfies the Riemann conditions.

Remark 1.2.13. Two curves are isomorphic, if their Jacobians are isomorphic as principally polarized abelian varieties (see [7], Theorem 11.1.7). Since we have proved that polarized abelian varieties correspond to polarized integral Hodge structures, one concludes that two curves C and C' are isomorphic, if and only if there is an isomorphism between the polarized Hodge structures on $H^1(C,\mathbb{Z})$ and $H^1(C',\mathbb{Z})$. This yields the Torelli theorem for curves.

1.3 The definition of the Shimura datum

We will endow the set of principally polarized abelian varieties with symplectic basis with the structure of a Hermitian symmetric domain. Such a domain can be obtained from a Shimura datum. Let G be a \mathbb{Q} -algebraic

reductive group. A Shimura datum is given by a homomorphism $h: \mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$ of algebraic groups, which satisfies some conditions, which we explain here.

For the definition of the Shimura datum and the construction of Hermitian symmetric domains we need to recall some facts about algebraic groups. We can assume that our algebraic groups are defined over a field F of characteristic 0. Thus our groups are defined over perfect fields.

Remark 1.3.1. Let G be an algebraic group. The adjoint group G^{ad} is the quotient of G obtained by the adjoint representation of G on its Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} . It is a well-known fact that G has the following algebraic subgroups:

By G^0 , we denote the Zariski connected component of identity. The derived group G^{der} of G is the subgroup of G generated by its commutators. By Z(G), we denote the center of G. The Radical R(G) is the maximal connected normal solvable subgroup of G. The unipotent radical $R_u(G)$ of G is given by

$$R_u(G) := \{g \in R(G) | g \text{ is unipotent} \}.^7$$

Definition 1.3.2. Let G be an algebraic group. Then one says:

• The group G is a reductive, if

$$R_u(G) = \{e\}.$$

• The group G semisimple, if

$$R(G) = \{e\}.$$

• The group G is simple, if $\{G\}$ and $\{e\}$ are the only normal connected subgroups of G.

There exists an alternative description of semisimple groups. By the following proposition, one sees that a semisimple algebraic group G is isogeneous to the fiberproduct of simple groups.

Proposition 1.3.3. Let $\{e\} \neq G$ be a semisimple algebraic group. Then G is isogeneous to the fiberproduct of its minimal nontrivial normal subgroups.

Proof. (follows from [10], **IV**. Proposition 14.10) \Box

By comparing the definition of reductive algebraic groups and semisimple algebraic groups, one sees easily that semisimple groups are reductive. The following proposition yields an additional relation between reductive groups and semisimple groups.

⁷ Many authors (for example see [1], [10]) define R(G) and $R_u(G)$ only for groups over algebraically closed fields. However, these subgroups are defined over our field F of characteristic 0 (see [53], Subsection 2.1.9).

Proposition 1.3.4. Let G be a connected algebraic group. It is reductive, if and only if it is the almost direct product of a torus and a semisimple group. These groups can be given by $Z(G)^0$ and G^{der} .

Proof. (see [54], Chapter I. §3 for the first statement and [10], IV. 14.2 for the second statement) \Box

Example 1.3.5. For technical and historical reasons we need to introduce the general symplectic group GSp(V, Q). The general symplectic group GSp(V, Q) is given by the automorphisms of the Q-vector space V, which preserve alternating bilinear form Q up to a scalar. From this definition, it is clear that GSp(V, Q) is given by the almost direct product

$$\mathrm{GSp}(V,Q) = \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{Q}} \cdot \mathrm{Sp}(V,Q).$$

The complex symplectic group $\operatorname{Sp}(V, Q)(\mathbb{C})$ is given by one of the classical simple Lie groups. Therefore Sp(V, Q) is simple. The center of $\operatorname{GSp}(V, Q)$ is given by the torus $\mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{Q}}$ (see [40], page 66). Thus $\operatorname{GSp}(V, Q)$ is reductive by the previous proposition.

Remark 1.3.6. Let G be a reductive \mathbb{Q} -algebraic group with largest commutative quotient T. In this case we obtain (see [15], 1.1):

1. One has the exact sequences:

$$\begin{split} 1 &\to G^{\mathrm{der}} \to G \to T \to 1 \\ 1 &\to Z(G) \to G \to G^{\mathrm{ad}} \to 1 \\ 1 &\to Z(G^{\mathrm{der}}) \to Z(G) \to T \to 1 \end{split}$$

2. The exact sequences induce a natural isogeny $G^{der} \to G^{ad}$ with kernel $Z(G^{der})$.

Assume that G is reductive \mathbb{Q} -algebraic. From Proposition 1.3.4 and the fact that G^{der} and G^{ad} are isogeneous (see Remark 1.3.6), we conclude:

Corollary 1.3.7. Let G be a reductive \mathbb{Q} -algebraic group. Then G^{ad} is semisimple.

Assume that G be a reductive Q-algebraic group. By the previous Corollary and Remark 1.3.6, one concludes that G^{ad} is a semisimple group with trivial center. Moreover \mathbb{R} -algebraic groups can be considered in terms of Lie groups, since they yield Lie groups by their \mathbb{R} -rational points. The following lemma concerns in particular $G^{\text{ad}}(\mathbb{R})$.

Lemma 1.3.8. If G is a semisimple connected Lie group with trivial center, then it is isomorphic to a direct product of simple groups with trivial centers.

Proof. By [27], **II**. Corollary 5.2, the group G coincides with $G^{\mathrm{ad}} \cong G/Z(G)$. Since the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of G is the direct sum of simple Lie algebras, \mathfrak{g} is the Lie algebra of a certain direct product of simple groups, too. Without loss of generality one can assume that these simple Lie groups have trivial centers. Recall that the adjoint group depends only on the Lie algebra. Thus this product of simple groups is isomorphic to its adjoint, which is the adjoint of G coinciding with G.

In the definition of the Shimura datum one demands that the group G is reductive, since \mathbb{R} -algebraic reductive groups have Cartan involutions, which will be important:

Definition 1.3.9. Let G be a connected \mathbb{R} algebraic group. An involutive automorphism θ of G is a Cartan involution, if the Lie subgroup

$$G^{\theta}(\mathbb{R}) := \{ g \in G(\mathbb{C}) | g = \theta(\bar{g}) \}$$

of $G(\mathbb{C})$ is compact.

Proposition 1.3.10. A connected \mathbb{R} -algebraic group is reductive, if and only if it has a Cartan involution. Any two Cartan involutions are conjugate by an inner automorphism.

Proof. By [54], **I**. Corollary 4.3, each connected \mathbb{R} -algebraic reductive group has a Cartan involution and the Cartan involutions are conjugate. Let θ be a Cartan involution on the connected \mathbb{R} algebraic group G. Thus $G^{\theta}(\mathbb{R})$ is compact. By [54], **I**. Proposition 3.3, the group $G^{\theta}(\mathbb{R})$ is reductive. Thus one concludes that $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ and G are reductive as in the proof of [54], **I**. Theorem 4.2(*i*).

Note that $id^2 = id$. Hence it can be considered as an involutive automorphism. This leads to the following examples of reductive groups:

Example 1.3.11. Let K be a connected \mathbb{R} -algebraic group such that $K(\mathbb{R})$ is a compact Lie group. One has

$$G^{\mathrm{id}}(\mathbb{R}) := \{ g \in G(\mathbb{C}) | g = \bar{g} \} = G(\mathbb{R}),$$

which is compact by our assumption. Hence each compact \mathbb{R} -algebraic group $K \subset \operatorname{GL}(W)$ is reductive and has a Cartan involution given by id. Since any two Cartan involutions of K are conjugate and id is fixed by conjugation, the identity map id is the only Cartan involution of K.

Example 1.3.12. Let V be an \mathbb{R} -vector space of dimension N. The Group $\operatorname{GL}(V)$ has an involution given by $\theta: M \to (M^t)^{-1}$. On $\operatorname{GL}(V)(\mathbb{C})$ one has that $M = \theta(\overline{M})$, if and only if $M\overline{M}^t = E_{2g}$ resp., if and only if $M \in \operatorname{U}(N)$. It is a well-known fact that $\operatorname{U}(N)$ is compact. Thus θ is a Cartan involution.

Remark 1.3.13. Assume that G is an \mathbb{R} -algebraic reductive group with Cartan involution θ and $G' \subset G$ is a Zariski closed subgroup such that $\theta(G) = G$. Since a closed subgroup of a compact Lie group is a compact Lie group, one concludes easily that $\theta|_{G'}$ is a Cartan involution on G'.

From now on let (L, h, Q) be a polarized integral Hodge structure of type (1,0), (0,1) on a torsion-free lattice L of rank 2g and $V := L \otimes \mathbb{Q}$. For simplicity we assume that Q is given by

$$J_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & E_g \\ -E_g & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.2)

with respect to a symplectic basis of L.

We use the preceding remark to find a Cartan involution on Sp(V, Q):

Example 1.3.14. Let $M \in \text{Sp}(V, Q)(\mathbb{R})$. Then the matrix M is a $2g \times 2g$ matrix with

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} A & B \\ C & D \end{pmatrix}$$

where A, B, C, D are $g \times g$ matrices. Since $M \in \text{Sp}(V, Q)(\mathbb{R})$, one has

$$M^t J_0 M = J_0 \Leftrightarrow M^{-1} = J_0^{-1} M^t J_0.$$

Hence

$$M = J_0^{-1} (M^t)^{-1} J_0 \Leftrightarrow J_0 M J_0^{-1} = (M^t)^{-1}.$$

Recall that a Cartan involution of $GL(V_{\mathbb{R}})$ is given by $M \to (M^t)^{-1}$ (see Example 1.3.12). Thus the conjugation by J_0 coincides with the restriction of this Cartan involution to $\operatorname{Sp}(V, Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$. Hence by the preceding remark, this yields a proof for the reductivity of $\operatorname{Sp}(V, Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$, which implies that $\operatorname{Sp}(V, Q)$ is reductive, too.

Example 1.3.15. The Hodge group Hg(V, h) contains the complex structure J = h(i), which acts by the multiplication with z on $H^{1,0}$ and by the multiplication with \bar{z} on $H^{0,1}$.

Let $\{b_1, \ldots, b_q\}$ be a basis of $H^{1,0}$ and

$$\Re b_k = b_k + \overline{b}_k, \quad \Im b_k = i(b_k - \overline{b}_k).$$

One has that

$$\mathcal{B} = \{\Im b_1, \dots, \Im b_g, \Re b_1, \dots, \Re b_g | k = 1, \dots, g\}$$

is a basis of $V_{\mathbb{R}}$. From the fact that $J(\Re b_k) = \Im b_k$ and $J(\Im b_k) = -\Re b_k$, one concludes that J can be given by J_0 (see (1.2)) with respect to the basis \mathcal{B} . Hence by the same arguments as in Example 1.3.14 and the fact that $\operatorname{Hg}(V,h) \subset \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)$, the group $\operatorname{Hg}(V,h)_{\mathbb{R}}$ is reductive.
Note that $\mathbb{S} = \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{R}} \cdot S^1$ and the weight one Hodge structure (V, h) satisfies $h|_{\mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{R}}} = \mathrm{id}$. Thus from the fact that

$$h(S^1) \subset \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)$$
 and $\operatorname{GSp}(V,Q) = \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{Q}} \cdot \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)$

one concludes that

$$MT(V,h) \subset GSp(V,Q)$$

Later we will see that MT(V, h) is also reductive.

We see that the result of the previous example holds true in general:

Theorem 1.3.16. Let $\mathbb{Q} \subseteq F \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a field and (V, h, Q) be a polarized *F*-Hodge structure of weight *k*. Then

$$g \to h(i)gh^{-1}(i)$$

yields a Cartan involution of $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)$ is reductive.

Proof. Let C = h(i). Since h(-1) yields either id or -id, the inner automorphism θ of $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V, h)$ given by

$$g \to CgC$$

is an involution. Note that C acts by the multiplication with i^{p-q} on $V^{p,q}$. By the definition of the polarization of a Hodge structure of weight k,

$$H'_{(p,q)} := i^{p-q} (-1)^{\frac{k(k-1)}{2}} Q(\cdot, \bar{\cdot})$$

is a positive definite Hermitian form on $V^{p,q}$. Thus we define the Hermitian form

$$H_{(p,q)} := Q(\cdot, C \cdot)$$

on $V^{p,q}$. Since the Hodge decomposition is orthogonal for the Hermitian form $i^k Q(\cdot, \bar{\cdot})$, the different Hermitian forms $H_{(p,q)}$ give a Hermitian form H on $V_{\mathbb{C}}$, which is either positive definite or negative definite. Thus the unitary group $U(V_{\mathbb{C}}, H)(\mathbb{R})$ is a compact Lie group. We show that

$$\operatorname{Hg}_{F}(V,h)^{\theta}(\mathbb{R}) \subseteq \operatorname{Hg}_{F}(V,h)(\mathbb{C}) \cap \operatorname{U}(V_{\mathbb{C}},H)(\mathbb{R}),$$

which implies that $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)^{\theta}(\mathbb{R})$ is compact resp., θ is a Cartan involution. From this result one concludes that $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)$ is reductive.

Let $G(V,Q) = \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)$, if k is odd, and G(V,Q) = O(V,Q), if k is even. Note that for each polarized polarized F-Hodge structure of weight k one has

$$\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h) \subseteq G(V,Q).$$

This follows from the fact that the Hodge decomposition is orthogonal for $i^k Q(\cdot, \bar{\cdot})$. Assume that $g \in \text{Hg}_F(V, h)^{\theta}(\mathbb{R})$. Thus one has

$$Q(v, \overline{Cu}) = Q(gv, g\overline{Cu}) = Q(gv, \overline{CgC^{-1}Cu}) = Q(gv, \overline{Cgu}).$$

Hence g is contained in $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)(\mathbb{C}) \cap \operatorname{U}(V_{\mathbb{C}},H)(\mathbb{R})$.

We need to show that $\operatorname{MT}(V, h)$ is reductive, since $h : \mathbb{S} \to \operatorname{MT}(V, h)_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a Shimura datum instead of $h : S^1 \to \operatorname{Hg}(V, h)_{\mathbb{R}}$ in the case of a rational Hodge structure. The definition of the Shimura datum will demand that $\operatorname{MT}(V, h)$ is reductive. For the proof that $\operatorname{MT}(V, h)$ is reductive, we compare $\operatorname{Hg}(V, h)$ and $\operatorname{MT}(V, h)$:

Lemma 1.3.17. Let F be a field such that $\mathbb{Q} \subseteq F \subset \mathbb{R}$ and (V,h) be an F-Hodge structure. Then one has

$$\operatorname{Hg}_{F}(V,h) = (\operatorname{MT}_{F}(V,h) \cap \operatorname{SL}(V))^{0}.$$

Moreover $MT_F(V, H)$ is the almost direct product of $Hg_F(V, h)$ and $\mathbb{G}_{m,F}$.

Proof. Since $\overline{V^{p,q}} = V^{q,p}$, one concludes dim $V^{p,q} = \dim V^{q,p}$. By this fact and the fact that each $z \in S^1(\mathbb{R})$ acts by the multiplication with $z^p \overline{z}^q$ on $V^{p,q}$, one has $h(z) \in \mathrm{SL}(V)(\mathbb{R})$ for each $z \in S^1(\mathbb{R})$. Hence $\mathrm{Hg}_F(V,h) \subset \mathrm{SL}(V)$.

By the natural multiplication, we have a morphism

$$m: \operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h) \times \mathbb{G}_{m,F} \to \operatorname{MT}_F(V,h)$$

with finite kernel, since $\operatorname{Hg}_{F}(V,h) \subset \operatorname{SL}(V)$. Thus the Zariski closure Z of

$$m(\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h) \times \mathbb{G}_{m,F}) \subseteq \operatorname{MT}_F(V,h)$$

is an F-algebraic subgroup of $MT_F(V, h)$. Moreover one has that

$$h(\mathbb{S}) \subseteq Z_{\mathbb{R}} \subseteq \mathrm{MT}_F(V,h)_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

Hence $Z = MT_F(V, h)$.

Since all homomorphisms $\underline{f}: G \to G'$ of algebraic groups over algebraically closed fields satisfy $f(G) = \overline{f(G)}$ (see [1], Satz 2.1.8), we have the equality

$$\operatorname{Hg}_{F}(V,h)_{\bar{F}} \cdot \mathbb{G}_{m,\bar{F}} = Z_{\bar{F}} = \operatorname{MT}_{F}(V,h)_{\bar{F}}.$$

Now let $M \in MT_F(V,h)(\bar{F}) \cap SL(V)(\bar{F})$. It is given by a product $N \cdot M_1$ with $N \in \mathbb{G}_m(\bar{F})$ and $M_1 \in Hg_F(V,h)(\bar{F})$. Since $Hg_F(V,h)(\bar{F}) \subset SL(V)(\bar{F})$, one concludes

$$N \in \mathbb{G}_m(\bar{F}) \cap \mathrm{SL}(V)(\bar{F}) = \mu_n(\bar{F}),$$

where dim V = n. One has $M \in \text{Hg}_F(V,h)(\bar{K})$, if and only if $N \in Hg_F(V,h)(\bar{F})$. Hence by the fact that $\mu_n(\bar{F})$ is finite, one obtains the statement.

Remark 1.3.18. For the polarized Hodge structure of weight 1 of a curve of genus g, we have a natural embedding $\operatorname{Hg}(V,h) \subset \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)$. Since $\mu_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$ is not a subgroup of $\operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)$ for g > 1 and for g = 1 one has $\mu_2 \subset h(S^1)$, we obtain the equality

$$\operatorname{Hg}(V,h) = \operatorname{MT}(V,h) \cap \operatorname{SL}(V)$$

only in the case of a genus one curve.

We conclude by the previous lemma:

Corollary 1.3.19. Let $\mathbb{Q} \subseteq F \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a field and (V, h, Q) be a polarized *F*-Hodge structure of weight *k*. Then

$$\operatorname{MT}_{F}^{\operatorname{der}}(V,h) = \operatorname{Hg}_{F}^{\operatorname{der}}(V,h) \quad and \quad \operatorname{MT}_{F}^{\operatorname{ad}}(V,h) = \operatorname{Hg}_{F}^{\operatorname{ad}}(V,h).$$

Moreover one concludes by Lemma 1.3.17 that the center of $MT_F(V,h)$ is the almost direct product of $\mathbb{G}_{m,F}$ and the center of $Hg_F(V,h)$. Since $Hg_F(V,h)$ is reductive by Theorem 1.3.16, one concludes by Proposition 1.3.4 that $MT_F(V,h)$ is the almost direct product of its center and $Hg_F^{der}(V,h)$. Again we apply Proposition 1.3.4 and obtain:

Corollary 1.3.20. Let $\mathbb{Q} \subseteq F \subset \mathbb{R}$ be a field and (V, h, Q) be a polarized *F*-Hodge structure of weight *k*. Then the $MT_F(V, h)$ is reductive.

By Corollary 1.3.19, we will see later that the homomorphism $h: S^1 \to \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$ given by one of our polarized integral Hodge structures of type (1,0), (0,1) can be considered as a Shimura datum. In literature the Shimura datum is given by $h: \mathbb{S} \to \operatorname{GSp}(V,\mathbb{Q})_{\mathbb{R}}$, where h is the corresponding homomorphism of our Hodge structure in the sense of Proposition 1.1.3.

The Hermitian symmetric domains obtained from Shimura data (G, h) are given by homogeneous spaces $G^{\text{der}}(\mathbb{R})/K$, where K is the compact group fixed by the Cartan involution restricted to G^{der} . At present we can construct the homogeneous space in the case of our examples:

Construction 1.3.21. An embedding $h : S^1 \to \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$ obtained by a polarized integral Hodge structure (L,h,Q) of type (1,0), (0,1) corresponds to the complex structure J := h(i), which satisfies $Q(J \cdot, J \cdot) = Q(\cdot, \cdot)$ and Q(Jv,v) > 0. By the definition of $\operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$, one has $J \in \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$. Moreover one checks easily that gJg^{-1} satisfies the same conditions for all $g \in \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$.

The complex structure J can be given by the same matrix as J_0 with respect to a symplectic basis. Thus there exists a $g \in \operatorname{GL}(V)(\mathbb{R})$ such that $J = gJ_0g^{-1}$. Therefore J yields a Cartan involution of $\operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$. By Proposition 1.3.10, one can assume that $g \in \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)(\mathbb{R})$. Therefore $\operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)(\mathbb{R})$ acts by conjugation transitively on the set of complex structures $J \in \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)(\mathbb{R})$ satisfying Q(Jv,v) > 0.

Let K be the subgroup of $\operatorname{Sp}(V, Q)(\mathbb{R})$, which leaves a fixed $h(S^1)$ stable by conjugation. The set of points of the homogeneous space $\mathfrak{h}_g := \operatorname{Sp}(V, Q)(\mathbb{R})/K$ can be identified with the set of complex structures $J \in \operatorname{Sp}(V, Q)(\mathbb{R})$ satisfying Q(Jv, v) > 0. By the preceding section, the points of \mathfrak{h}_g can be identified with the polarized integral Hodge structures (L, h, Q) of type (1, 0), (0, 1) resp., principally polarized abelian varieties of dimension g with symplectic basis.

In the same way one can construct a homogeneous subspace of \mathfrak{h}_g using the Hodge group $\operatorname{Hg}(L_{\mathbb{Q}}, h')$ of a polarized integral Hodge structure (L, h', Q)instead of $\operatorname{Sp}(V, Q)$. This space parametrizes all polarized integral Hodge structures (L, h, Q) with a Hodge group contained in $\operatorname{Hg}(L_{\mathbb{Q}}, h')$

It is quite easy to see that a corresponding construction runs well in the case of a representation $h : \mathbb{S} \to \operatorname{GSp}(V, Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$ obtained by a polarized integral Hodge structure (L, h', Q) of type (1, 0), (0, 1). In this case we obtain a homogeneous space, which parametrizes all complex structures $J \in \operatorname{GSp}(V, Q)(\mathbb{R})$. In a similar way one obtains a subspace parametrizing all integral Hodge structures (L, h) with a Mumford-Tate group contained in $\operatorname{MT}(L_{\mathbb{Q}}, h')$.

Now let us define the Shimura datum:

Definition 1.3.22. A Shimura datum (G, h) is given by a reductive \mathbb{Q} -algebraic group G and a conjugacy class of homomorphisms $h : \mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$ of algebraic groups satisfying:

- 1. The restriction of the inner automorphism of h(i) on $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ to $G_{\mathbb{R}}^{\text{der}}$ is a Cartan involution.
- 2. The adjoint group G^{ad} does not have any direct \mathbb{Q} -factor H such that $H(\mathbb{R})$ is a compact Lie group.
- 3. The representation $(ad \circ h)(S)$ on $Lie(G)_{\mathbb{C}}$ corresponds to a Hodge structure of the type $(1, -1) \oplus (0, 0) \oplus (-1, 1)$.

In the cases of our examples we have already seen that Condition (1) in the definition of a Shimura datum allows the construction of a homogeneous space, which parametrizes the conjugacy class of homomorphisms $h: \mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$. In the next section we will see that Condition (2) and Condition (3) allow one to endow the connected components of this homogeneous space with the structure of a Hermitian symmetric domain.

We will also accept a pair (G, h) as Shimura datum, if the representation $(ad \circ h)(S)$ on $Lie(G)_{\mathbb{C}}$ is trivial resp., corresponds to a Hodge structure of the type (0, 0). In this case we obtain a homogeneous space consisting of only one point.

Remark 1.3.23. If one compares our definition of a Shimura datum with other definitions used in literature, one finds some different formulations (for example compare [16], [40]). This happens, since one can replace the Conditions (1) and (2) by equivalent conditions:

- 1. Since G^{der} and G^{ad} are isogeneous, the compact subgroups of $G^{\text{der}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $G^{\text{ad}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ correspond. Moreover the inner automorphism of $(\text{ad} \circ h)(i)$ on $G^{\text{ad}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ is well-defined. Thus the inner automorphism of $(\text{ad} \circ h)(i)$ on $G^{\text{ad}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a Cartan involution, if and only if the inner automorphism of h(i) on $G^{\text{ad}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ to $G^{\text{der}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a Cartan involution. Thus one can replace Condition (1) by the condition that the inner automorphism of $(\text{ad} \circ h)(i)$ on $G^{\text{ad}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ is a Cartan involution.
- 2. By Example 1.3.11, Condition (2) is equivalent to the condition that the adjoint group G^{ad} does not have any direct \mathbb{Q} -factor H, which satisfies $\theta|_H = \text{id}_H$ for a Cartan involution θ of G^{ad} . Usually one writes that G^{ad} does not have any direct \mathbb{Q} -factor H such that the inner automorphism of $(\text{ad} \circ h)(i)$ restricted to H is trivial. This is equivalent to the condition that G^{ad} does not have a direct \mathbb{Q} -factor H such that $\text{pr}_H \circ \text{ad} \circ h$ is trivial.

Now we give our first example of a Shimura datum:

Proposition 1.3.24. Assume that (V, h, Q) is a polarized rational Hodge structure of type (1,0), (0,1). Then (GSp(V,Q), h) is a Shimura datum.

Proof. We have seen that GSp(V, Q) is reductive.

By Construction 1.3.21, we have a conjugacy class of complex structures, which corresponds to a conjugacy class of homomorphisms $h : \mathbb{S} \to \operatorname{GSp}(V,Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$ satisfying the condition (1) in the definition of the Shimura datum.

Recall that $\operatorname{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{C})$ is a classical simple Lie group. Thus $\operatorname{GSp}(V,Q)^{\operatorname{ad}} = \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)^{\operatorname{ad}}$ has only one direct simple factor, which is not compact. Hence condition (2) of the Shimura datum is satisfied.

Since the center of $\operatorname{GSp}(V, Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$ is given by $\mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{R}}$ (see [40], page 66), the kernel of the adjoint representation on $Lie(\operatorname{GSp}(V, Q)_{\mathbb{R}})$ of any $h(\mathbb{S})$ in the conjugacy class is given by $\mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{R}}$. Since $h(a + ib) = aE_{2g} + bJ$, each $g \in$ $\operatorname{GSp}(V,Q)(\mathbb{R})$ commutes with J, if and only if it commutes with each element of $\mathbb{S}(\mathbb{R})$. Hence on the complexified eigenspace $(\mathfrak{p}_0)_{\mathbb{C}}$ with eigenvalue -1 with respect to the Cartan involution, \mathbb{S} acts by the characters z/\bar{z} and \bar{z}/z . This corresponds to a Hodge structure of the type $(1, -1) \oplus (0, 0) \oplus (-1, 1)$ on $Lie(\operatorname{GSp}(V,Q)_{\mathbb{R}})$. Hence condition (3) is satisfied. \Box

Definition 1.3.25. A Shimura datum (G, h) is of Hodge type, if there is a closed embedding $\rho : G \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GSp}(V, Q)$ such that one has the Shimura datum of Example 1.3.24 by

$$\mathbb{S} \stackrel{n}{\hookrightarrow} G_{\mathbb{R}} \stackrel{p_{\mathbb{R}}}{\hookrightarrow} \mathrm{GSp}(V,Q)_{\mathbb{R}}.$$

In the next section we use Shimura data to construct complex manifolds, which will be used for the construction of quasi-projective varieties, which are the Shimura varieties. A Shimura variety is of Hodge type, if it is obtained by a Shimura datum (G, h) of Hodge type. We will use the examples of Shimura data of Hodge type, which are given the following proposition:

Proposition 1.3.26. Let (V, h, Q) be a polarized \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structure of type (1, 0), (0, 1). Then (MT(V,h), h) is a Shimura datum.

Proof. By Corollary 1.3.20, the Mumford-Tate group MT(V, h) is reductive. The inner automorphism given by

$$g \to h(i)gh^{-1}(i)$$

descends to a Cartan involution θ on $MT^{ad}(V,h)_{\mathbb{R}} = Hg^{ad}(V,h)_{\mathbb{R}}$. Hence condition (1) in the definition of the Shimura datum, is satisfied.

Next we have to show that any direct \mathbb{Q} -factor with trivial Cartan involution is isomorphic to $\{e\}$. Let H be a simple direct \mathbb{Q} -factor of $\mathrm{MT}(V,h)^{\mathrm{ad}}$ with trivial Cartan involution. We have a surjection

$$s: \mathrm{MT}(V,h) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{ad}} \mathrm{MT}(V,h)^{\mathrm{ad}} \xrightarrow{pr_H} H,$$

which is obviously a homomorphism of \mathbb{Q} -algebraic groups. Hence the kernel \tilde{K} of s is a \mathbb{Q} -algebraic group. The complex structure J, which satisfies that the conjugation by $\operatorname{ad}(J)$ is the Cartan involution, satisfies that all elements of the adjoint group $H_{\mathbb{R}}$ commute with $\operatorname{ad}(J)$. Thus J is contained in $\tilde{K}_{\mathbb{R}}$. Hence $h(\mathbb{S}) \subset \tilde{K}_{\mathbb{R}}$, which implies $\tilde{K} = \operatorname{MT}(V, h)$ resp., $H = \{e\}$.

The conjugacy class of the representation $h : \mathbb{S} \to \operatorname{MT}_{\mathbb{R}}(V, h) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GSp}_{\mathbb{R}}(V, Q)$ is the Shimura datum of Proposition 1.3.24. Hence the adjoint representation of \mathbb{S} on $Lie(\operatorname{MT}(V, h))_{\mathbb{C}} \subset Lie(\operatorname{GSp}(V, Q))_{\mathbb{C}}$ induces a Hodge structure of the same type (or of the type (0, 0)).

1.4 Hermitian symmetric domains

In this section we construct Hermitian symmetric domains by using Shimura data. These domains will later be our restricted period domains, which parametrize Hodge structures (V, h) such that $h(\mathbb{S})$ is contained in a given reductive group. Siegel's upper half plane remains to be our illustrating example. In the preceding section we have constructed Siegel's upper half plane \mathfrak{h}_g as homogeneous space, which parametrizes polarized integral Hodge structures of type (1,0), (0,1). Here we see that Siegel's upper half plane can be endowed with the structure of a Hermitian symmetric domain.

Let G be an \mathbb{R} -algebraic group. Moreover let G^0 denote the Zariski connected component of identity and let $G^+(\mathbb{R})$ denote the connected component of identity for the Lie group $G(\mathbb{R})$. In general the Lie group $G^0(\mathbb{R})$ is not a connected manifold, which will be a reason to be careful in this section. For example $\mathbb{G}_m(\mathbb{R})$ is Zariski connected, but has two connected components given by the real numbers larger than 0 and the real numbers smaller than 0. Only the inclusion $G^0(\mathbb{R}) \supset G^+(\mathbb{R})$ holds true in general.

1.4.1. Let (G, h) be a Shimura datum. The elements of the conjugacy class of h are given by the points of the homogeneous space $D = G(\mathbb{R})/K$, where K is the isotropy group of h, i. e. the subgroup of $G(\mathbb{R})$ such that:

$$ghg^{-1} = h \ (\forall g \in K)$$

Since the multiplication by $g \in G(\mathbb{R})$ is a diffeomorphism of the Lie group $G(\mathbb{R})$, all connected components yield manifolds isomorphic to the space given by $G^+(\mathbb{R})$. Note that $G^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R})$ is a connected Lie group, since it can be obtained as the quotient

$$G^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R}) = G^+(\mathbb{R})/(Z \cap G^+(\mathbb{R})).$$

Assume that $G(\mathbb{R})$ has r connected components. Since the center Z of $G(\mathbb{R})$ fixes all representations h by conjugation, D can be considered as

$$D = \bigcup_{i=1,\dots,r}^{\bullet} G^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R})/\mathrm{ad}_{G(\mathbb{R})}(K).$$

Now we start to endow the connected components of the homogeneous space $D = G(\mathbb{R})/K$ obtained from a Shimura datum (G, h) with the structure of a Hermitian symmetric domain.

Let M be a \mathcal{C}^{∞} manifold. An almost complex structure on M is a smoothly varying family $(J_p)_{p \in M} : T_p M \to T_p M$ of automorphisms of the respective tangent spaces $T_p M$ for all $p \in M$, which satisfies the condition $J_p^2 = -1$ for all $p \in M$. Thus J_p is a complex structure on the vector space $T_p M$ for all $p \in M$. Such a pair (M, J) is called an almost complex manifold. For example the affine complex line given by \mathbb{C} with the almost complex structure

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \to \frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \quad \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \to -\frac{\partial}{\partial x}$$
 (1.3)

is an almost complex manifold.

As everyone should know, the complex line \mathbb{C} is not only an almost complex manifold, but a complex manifold. An almost complex structure J on a \mathcal{C}^{∞} manifold M is called integrable, if M is endowed with the structure of a complex manifold, which induces the almost complex structure J. Let

$$S_J(X,Y) = [X,Y] + J[JX,Y] + J[X,JY] - [JX,JY],$$

where X and Y are vector fields.

Theorem 1.4.2. An almost complex complex structure J is integrable, if and only if it satisfies

$$S_{J} = 0.$$

Proof. (see [50])

In order to get some sense for the criterion of Theorem 1.4.2, one can use it to verify that the almost complex structure on \mathbb{C} given by (1.3) is integrable.

For our construction of a Hermitian symmetric domain by a Shimura datum we need the following definition:

Definition 1.4.3. A smooth 2-tensor field g on a \mathcal{C}^{∞} manifold M is a family of bilinear maps $g_p: T_pM \times T_pM \to T_pM$ such that for all smooth vector fields X, Y the map $p \to g_p(X, Y)$ is smooth. The 2-tensor field g is a Riemannian structure, if for all $p \in M$ the bilinear form g_p is symmetric and positive definite.

Now we endow a homogeneous space obtained from a Shimura datum with a Riemannian structure:

Example 1.4.4. Let $h : \mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$ be a Shimura datum and $D = G(\mathbb{R})/K_h(\mathbb{R})$ be the homogeneous space parametrizing the elements of the conjugacy class of h. By [27], **II**. §4, the homogeneous space D is a \mathcal{C}^{∞} manifold and the elements of $G(\mathbb{R})$ act as diffeomorphisms on D. We construct a $G(\mathbb{R})$ invariant Riemannian form in the following way:

On the real vector space

$$T_h D = Lie(G(\mathbb{R}))/Lie(K_h(\mathbb{R}))$$

one finds easily a symmetric and positive definite bilinear form $(\cdot, \cdot)_h$. Let $u, v \in T_h D$. Moreover let for all $g \in K_h(\mathbb{R})$ the homomorphism $u \to dg(u)$ be given by the differential of the diffeomorphism obtained from g. Since $K_h(\mathbb{R})$ is compact, the function given by

$$K_h(\mathbb{R}) \ni g \to (dg(u), dg(v))_h \in \mathbb{R}$$

reaches a maximal value and a minimal value over $K_h(\mathbb{R})$. In addition the compactness of $K_h(\mathbb{R})$ implies that $K_h(\mathbb{R})$ has a finite Haar measure dx. Thus the bilinear form

$$(u,v)'_h = \int_{K_h(\mathbb{R})} (dg(u), dg(v)) dx$$

is well-defined. Since (\cdot, \cdot) is symmetric and positive definite, one concludes easily that $(\cdot, \cdot)'$ is symmetric and positive definite, too. Moreover it is fixed by the action of K_h .

Let $h' \in D$. There exists a $g \in G(\mathbb{R})$ with g(h') = h. Let dg denote the differential of the diffeomorphism on D obtained from g. On the tangent space of h' we define the positive definite and symmetric bilinear form $(\cdot, \cdot)'_{h'}$ given by

$$(\cdot, \cdot)'_{h'} = (dg(\cdot), dg(\cdot))'_h$$

Note that for all $g, g' \in G(\mathbb{R})$ with

$$g'(h') = g(h') = h$$

there exists a $k \in K_h(\mathbb{R})$ with $g' = k \circ g$. Since $(\cdot, \cdot)'_h$ is $K_h(\mathbb{R})$ -invariant, $(\cdot, \cdot)'_{h'}$ is independent of the choice of g. Thus the action of $G(\mathbb{R})$ on D as a transitive diffeomorphism group yields a well-defined $G(\mathbb{R})$ -invariant Riemannian structure on each connected component of D. (see also the proof of [27], **IV**. Proposition 3.4)

Definition 1.4.5. Let M be a connected \mathcal{C}^{∞} manifold with an almost complex structure J. A Riemannian structure g on M is a Hermitian structure, if

$$g(J\cdot, J\cdot) = g(\cdot, \cdot).$$

Example 1.4.6. From the definition of the Shimura datum, $Lie(G_{\mathbb{C}})$ has an eigenspace decomposition of the type

$$(1, -1), (0, 0), (-1, 1)$$

with respect to the action of $h(\mathbb{S})$. The intersection of the (0,0) eigenspace with $Lie(G_{\mathbb{R}})$ coincides with $Lie((K_h)_{\mathbb{R}})$. Thus on the vector space

$$T_h(D) = Lie(G(\mathbb{R}))/Lie(K_h(\mathbb{R}))$$

we have a complex structure J_h obtained from the eigenspace decomposition of $Lie(G_{\mathbb{C}})$. Note that $h(\mathbb{S})$ is contained in the center of $(K_h)_{\mathbb{R}}$ and the complex structure J_h is given by the differential of the map obtained from some root $h(\sqrt{i})$. Let $g \in G(\mathbb{R})$ and h = g(h'). Now let dg denote the differential of the diffeomorphism of D given by g. By

$$J_{h'} = dg^{-1} \circ J_h \circ dg,$$

one defines a complex structure on $T_{h'}D$. Note that for all $g, g' \in G(\mathbb{R})$ with

$$g'(h') = g(h') = h$$

there exists a $k \in K_h(\mathbb{R})$ with $g' = k \circ g$. Since $h(\sqrt{i})$ commutes with all $k \in K_h(\mathbb{R})$, one obtains

$$d(g')^{-1} \circ J_h \circ d(g') = dg^{-1} \circ dk^{-1} \circ J_h \circ dk \circ dg = dg^{-1} \circ J_h \circ dg.$$

Thus $J_{h'}$ is independent of the choice of g and we obtain a well-defined $G(\mathbb{R})$ invariant almost complex structure J on D.

In Example 1.4.4 we have constructed a $G(\mathbb{R})$ -invariant Riemannian structure on each connected component of D. By the construction of this Riemannian structure $(\cdot, \cdot)'_{h'}$, one sees easily that

$$(J_{h'}(\cdot), J_{h'}(\cdot))'_{h'} = (\cdot, \cdot)'_{h'}.$$

Thus we have a $G(\mathbb{R})$ -invariant Hermitian structure on each connected component of D.

Definition 1.4.7. A Hermitian symmetric space is a connected complex manifold M endowed with an Hermitian structure such that each point $p \in M$ is an isolated fixed point of an involutive holomorphic isometry of M.

We consider the Riemannian structure on each connected component of D, where D is the homogeneous space obtained from a Shimura datum (G, h). Since the almost complex structure J is $G(\mathbb{R})$ -invariant and D is a homogeneous space, it is sufficient to consider J at one arbitrary point $h \in D$. By using the criterion $S_J = 0$ of Theorem 1.4.2, one can show that the almost complex structure J on a homogeneous space D obtained from a Shimura datum is integrable (use the results of Example 1.4.4 and Example 1.4.6 and compare to [27], **VIII**. Proposition 4.2 and its proof).

Since the Hermitian structure is $G(\mathbb{R})$ -invariant, the Cartan involution obtained from h(i) acts on D as an involutive isometry with isolated fixed point representing h. By the fact that J is integrable, we conclude:

Proposition 1.4.8. Each connected component of the homogeneous space D obtained from a Shimura datum is a Hermitian symmetric space.

Let D^+ denote a connected component of D. Note that the group of holomorphic isometries $\operatorname{Hol}(D^+, g)$ of the Hermitian symmetric space (D^+, g) is endowed with the structure of a Lie group instead of the structure of an algebraic group. Thus one is not able to define a Cartan involution of $\operatorname{Hol}(D^+, g)$ as we have done for \mathbb{R} -algebraic groups. In this case one considers the complexified Lie algebra $Lie_{\mathbb{C}}(\operatorname{Hol}(D^+, g))$ and defines a Cartan involution for Lie algebras (for details see [27], **III**. §7).

In our case the Cartan involution on $G^{\mathrm{ad}}_{\mathbb{R}}$ induces a Cartan involution on the Lie algebra of $G^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R})$ in the sense of [27]. Condition (2) in the definition of the Shimura datum guarantees that G^{ad} is not compact. Moreover the action of $G(\mathbb{R})^+$ on a connected component D^+ of D descends to an action of $G^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R})$ on D^+ , since the center $Z(G)(\mathbb{R})$ acts trivial on the conjugacy class and $G^{\mathrm{ad}} \cong G/Z(G)$.

1.4.9. We will see that the quotient of $G^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R})$ by its direct compact factors is the connected component of the group of holomorphic isometries $(\mathrm{Hol}(D^+,g))^+$ of the Hermitian symmetric space D^+ obtained from a Shimura datum (G,h). By Condition (2) in the definition of the Shimura datum, one concludes that $\mathrm{Hol}(D^+,g)^+$ is a noncompact semisimple Lie group. This Lie group is endowed with an involution ι , which induces by its differential a Cartan involution on $Lie(\mathrm{Hol}(D^+,g))$. Let $K_{\iota} \subset \mathrm{Hol}(D^+,g)^+$ be the subgroup, on which ι acts as id. The isotropy group K of one point $p \in D^+$ satisfies $K_{\iota}^+ \subseteq K \subseteq K_{\iota}$. Such a Hermitian symmetric space D^+ is called a Hermitian symmetric domain.

1.4.10. Hermitian symmetric domains have the following properties:

• Each Hermitian symmetric domain D is biholomorphic to an open bounded connected complex submanifold D' of \mathbb{C}^N . Moreover each $p \in D'$ is

an isolated fixed point of an involutive holomorphic diffeomorphism $\phi: D' \to D'$, which is induced from a corresponding involutive isometry of D. Such a domain D' is called bounded symmetric domain. Conversely each bounded symmetric domain D' can be equipped with a Hermitian metric (called Bergman metric), which turns D' into a Hermitian symmetric domain (see [27], **VIII**. Theorem 7.1).

For example the upper half plane \mathfrak{h}_1 given by the complex numbers x + iywith y > 0 is biholomorphic to the ball $\mathbb{B}_1 = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < 1\}$, which is a bounded symmetric domain. The biholomorphic map $\phi : \mathfrak{h}_1 \to \mathbb{B}_1$ is given by

$$\phi(z) = \frac{z-1}{z+1}.$$

- Each holomorphic diffeomorphism between bounded symmetric domains is an isometry for the Bergman metrices (see [27], VIII. Proposition 3.5).
- Let Is(D, g) denote the group of C^{∞} -isometries of the Hermitian symmetric domain (D, g) and Hol(D) denote the group of holomorphic diffeomorphisms acting on D. Then one has

$$\operatorname{Is}(D,g)^+ = \operatorname{Hol}(D,g)^+ = \operatorname{Hol}(D)^+$$

(see [40], Proposition 1.6).

• A Hermitian symmetric domain D is irreducible, if $Hol(D, g)^+$ is simple. Each Hermitian symmetric domain D is a product

$$D = D_1 \times \ldots \times D_k$$

of irreducible Hermitian symmetric domains D_1, \ldots, D_k (follows from [27], **VIII**. Proposition 5.5). By the classification of simple Lie groups, one obtains a classification of irreducible Hermitian symmetric domains (use [27], **VIII**. Theorem 6.1 and [27], **X**. Table **V**).

Theorem 1.4.11. Let $h : \mathbb{S} \to G$ be a Shimura datum, W be a real vector space and K denote the centralizer of $h(\mathbb{S})$. Then each connected component D^+ of $D = G(\mathbb{R})/K(\mathbb{R})$ has a unique structure of a Hermitian symmetric domain. These domains are isomorphic, where the connected component of the group of holomorphic isometries is given by the quotient of $G^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R})$ by its direct compact factors. Each representation $\rho : G_{\mathbb{R}} \to \mathrm{GL}(W)$ yields a holomorphic variation $(W, \rho \circ h)_{h \in D}$ of Hodge structures on D.

Proof. (See [16], 2.1.1.)

By the preceding considerations of this section, we have already proved that the connected components D^+ of $D = G(\mathbb{R})/K(\mathbb{R})$ have a unique structure of a Hermitian symmetric space. The proof of the remaining statement about variations of Hodge structures can be found in the same essay [16] of P. Deligne in Proposition 1.1.14.(*i*).

Now let us consider our main example:

Example 1.4.12. The Lie group $\operatorname{GSp}(V, Q)(\mathbb{R})$ has two connected components. One component consists of matrices with positive determinant and the other consists of matrices with negative determinant. Hence the corresponding homogeneous space D parametrizing the elements of the conjugacy class of a Hodge structure of an abelian variety given by h has two connected components. Note that $\operatorname{GSp}(V,Q)(\mathbb{R})^+$ is a product of $\operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)(\mathbb{R})$ and $\mathbb{G}_m^+(\mathbb{R})$. Since $\mathbb{G}_m(\mathbb{R})^+$ is contained in the stabilizers of all points, the corresponding connected homogeneous space coincides with \mathfrak{h}_g such that the preceding Theorem endows \mathfrak{h}_g with the structure of a Hermitian symmetric domain. By the representation of $\operatorname{GSp}(V,Q)_{\mathbb{R}}$ given by the identical embedding $\operatorname{GSp}(V,Q)_{\mathbb{R}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(V)_{\mathbb{R}}$, the upper half plane \mathfrak{h}_g is endowed with the natural holomorphic variation of polarized integral Hodge structures of type (1,0), (0,1).

Assume that (V, h, Q) is a polarized Q-Hodge structure of type (1, 0), (0, 1). By Proposition 1.3.26, the pair (MT(V, h), h) is a Shimura datum. Lemma 1.3.17 ensures that the connected components of the conjugacy class of h: $S^1 \to \text{Hg}(V, h)$ are given by connected components of $MT(V, Q)(\mathbb{R})/K(\mathbb{R})$ contained in the upper half plane \mathfrak{h}_g . Thus we rather work with Hg(V, h) than with MT(V, h). By Corollary 1.3.19, the pair (Hg(V, h), h) can be considered as Shimura datum, too:

Remark 1.4.13. Assume that (V, h, Q) is a polarized integral Hodge structure of type (1,0), (0,1). By Corollary 1.3.19, one has that $MT^{ad}(V,h) =$ $Hg^{ad}(V,h)$. Thus one has that $MT^{ad}(V,h)(\mathbb{R}) = Hg^{ad}(V,h)(\mathbb{R})$. Hence by the preceding construction, $Hg(V,h)^{ad}(\mathbb{R})$ is the identity component of the holomorphic isometry group of the Hermitian symmetric domain D^+ , where D^+ is a connected component of the conjugacy class of h. The isotropy group of the point representing h is given by the compact subgroup of $Hg^{ad}(V,h)(\mathbb{R})$ fixed by the Cartan involution on $Hg^{ad}(V,h)_{\mathbb{R}}$ obtained from the inner automorphism of the complex structure J = h(i). Hence one can consider the pair consisting of V and $h|_{S^1}: S^1 \to Hg(V,h)_{\mathbb{R}}$ as Shimura datum, too.

Note that D. Mumford and J. Tate have originally constructed families of abelian varieties over Hermitian symmetric domains by using the Hodge group instead of the Mumford-Tate group (see [46] and [47]) as we will do in a similar way. The Mumford-Tate group was later introduced by number theorists, who work with Shimura varieties, for technical reasons.

Now we construct the holomorphic family of principally polarized abelian varieties over $\operatorname{Hg}(V,h)(\mathbb{R})/K$ corresponding to the *VHS* induced by the closed embedding

$$\operatorname{id}: \operatorname{Hg}(V, h) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Sp}(V, h),$$

where (V, h, Q) is a polarized rational Hodge structure of type (1, 0), (0, 1).

Construction 1.4.14. Let (L, h, Q) be a polarized \mathbb{Z} -Hodge structure of type (1, 0), (0, 1) with $V := L_{\mathbb{Q}}$ as before and $\{v_1, \ldots, v_g, w_1, \ldots, w_g\}$ be a symplectic basis of L with respect to Q. For example it may be given on $L := H^1(C, \mathbb{Z})$, where C is a curve of genus g. Moreover let $[v_i]$ resp., $[w_i]$ denote the image of v_i resp., w_i by the map

$$L \to L \otimes \mathbb{C} \to H^{0,1}.$$

One has that $\operatorname{Hg}(V,h) \subset \operatorname{Sp}(V,Q)$. Let $K \subset \operatorname{Hg}(V,h)^+(\mathbb{R})$ be the centralizer of $h(S^1(\mathbb{R}))$. Thus $\operatorname{Hg}(V,h)^+(\mathbb{R})/K$ is a Hermitian symmetric domain as we have seen. Consider the linearly independent set $B = \{[w_1], \ldots, [w_g]\} \subset H^{0,1}$, which generates the real subvector space W. Now iW is obviously generated by $\{[Jw_1], \ldots, [Jw_g]\}$. The principal polarization H of the abelian variety $A = H^{0,1}/L$ is given by the corresponding alternating form E = -Q as in the proof of Theorem 1.2.10. Since E vanishes on W, the principal polarization Hgiven by H = E(i, .) + iE(., .) vanishes on the complex vector space $W \cap iW$, too. Hence $W \cap iW = 0$. Thus the fact that $Span_{\mathbb{R}}(v, Jv)$ is mapped to $Span_{\mathbb{C}}([v])$ implies that B is a \mathbb{C} -basis of $H^{0,1}$. Hence the period matrix of the corresponding abelian variety may be given by (Z, E_g) , where the columns of Z are given by the $[v_i]$ in their coordinates with respect to B.

Thus the embedding $H^{1,0} \hookrightarrow V_{\mathbb{C}}$ is given by the matrix $(Z^t, -E_g)^t$. Since we have a holomorphic variation of Hodge structures, this matrix varies holomorphically. Thus the period matrices of the corresponding abelian varieties vary holomorphically, too. Hence the corresponding action of L on $H^{0,1} \times \text{Hg}(V,h)^+(\mathbb{R})/K$ is holomorphic and we obtain a holomorphic family of abelian varieties over $\text{Hg}(V,h)^+(\mathbb{R})/K$.

By the previous construction, the period matrices of the fibers of our holomorphic family of abelian varieties over $\operatorname{Hg}(V,h)^+(\mathbb{R})/K$ are given by (Z, E_g) . Recall that Siegel's upper half plane \mathfrak{h}_g parametrizes the principally polarized abelian varieties with symplectic basis. Hence for each $p \in \mathfrak{h}_g$ one finds exactly one matrix Z_p such that (Z_p, E_g) is the period matrix of the given principally polarized abelian variety with symplectic basis. Thus the mapping $\varphi: p \to Z_p$ is injective and well-defined. By the previous construction, φ is holomorphic, too.

Proposition 1.4.15. A matrix (Z, E_g) is the period matrix of a principally polarized abelian variety with respect to a symplectic basis, if and only if

$$Z^t = Z \quad and \quad \Im Z > 0.$$

Proof. (see [7], Proposition 8.1.1)

Since the set of matrices Z satisfying the conditions of the preceding Proposition has the structure of a smooth complex manifold, φ is a holomorphic diffeomorphism. By φ , one can endow the set of these matrices Z

with the structure of a Hermitian symmetric domain. Hence we obtain the often used description of the upper half plane:

Proposition 1.4.16.

$$\mathfrak{h}_q \cong \{ M \in M_q(\mathbb{C}) | Z^t = Z, \Im Z > 0 \}$$

Especially in the case g = 1 one obtains

$$\mathfrak{h}_1 = \{ x + iy \in \mathbb{C} | y > 0 \}.$$

1.5 The construction of Shimura varieties

In the preceding section we have seen that a Shimura datum yields a bounded symmetric domain. This is the first step of the construction of a Shimura variety. For completeness we sketch the construction of a Shimura variety in this section. Later we will only need to use the language of Shimura data and bounded symmetric domains obtained from these data.

Definition 1.5.1. Let G be a Q-algebraic group. An arithmetic subgroup Γ of $G(\mathbb{Q})$ is a group, which is commensurable with $G(\mathbb{Z})$.

A subgroup Γ of a connected Lie group H is arithmetic, if there is a \mathbb{Q} -algebraic group G, an arithmetic subgroup Γ_0 of $G(\mathbb{Q})$ and a surjective homomorphism $\eta : G(\mathbb{R})^+ \to H$ of Lie groups with compact kernel such that $\eta(\Gamma_0) = \Gamma$.

The second step of the construction of a Shimura variety is given by the following theorem:

Theorem 1.5.2 (of Baily and Borel). Let D be a bounded symmetric domain, and Γ be an arithmetic subgroup of $\operatorname{Hol}(D)^+$. Then the quotient $\Gamma \backslash D$ can be endowed with a structure of a complex quasi-projective variety. This structure is unique, if Γ is torsion-free.

Proof. (see [16], 2.1.2. and for the construction of the structure of a complex variety see [5])

Next one needs the ring of finite adèles,⁸ which is given by

$$\mathbb{A}^f = \mathbb{Q} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \prod_p \mathbb{Z}_p,$$

⁸ One reason for the introduction of adèle rings is given by the fact that one wants to have canonical models of Shimura varieties over number fields in number theory. We will not need canonical models of Shimura varieties over number fields. For completeness we write it down.

where p runs over all prime numbers. Hence \mathbb{A}^f is the subring of $\prod \mathbb{Q}_p$ consisting of the (a_p) such that $a_p \in \mathbb{Z}_p$ for almost all a_p . Now let (G, h) be a Shimura datum, which gives the bounded symmetric domain D^+ by a connected component of the conjugacy class D of h, and K be a compact open subgroup of $G(\mathbb{A}^f)$.

Definition 1.5.3. Let G be a \mathbb{Q} -algebraic group. A principal congruence subgroup of $G(\mathbb{Q})$ is

$$\Gamma(n) := \{g \in G(\mathbb{Z}) | g \equiv E_g \mod n\}$$

for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$. A congruence subgroup of $G(\mathbb{Q})$ is a subgroup Γ containing $\Gamma(n)$ such that $[\Gamma : \Gamma(n)] < \infty$ for some $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Lemma 1.5.4. Let K be a compact open subgroup of $G(\mathbb{A}^f)$. Then $\Gamma := K \cap G(\mathbb{Q})$ is a congruence subgroup of $G(\mathbb{Q})$.

Proof. (see [40], Proposition 4.1)

The Shimura variety $Sh_K(G, h)$ is given by the double quotient

$$\operatorname{Sh}_K(G,h) := G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus D \times G(\mathbb{A}^f) / K := G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus (D \times (G(\mathbb{A}^f) / K)).$$

Proposition 1.5.5. Let K be a compact open subgroup of $G(\mathbb{A}^f)$, $C := G(\mathbb{Q}) \setminus G(\mathbb{A}^f)/K$, and $\Gamma_{[g]} = gKg^{-1} \cap G(\mathbb{Q})^+$ for some $[g] \in C$. Then one has

$$\operatorname{Sh}_K(G,h) = \bigsqcup_{[g] \in C} \Gamma_{[g]} \backslash D^+.$$

Proof. (see [40], Lemma 5.13)

Hence the preceding proposition and the Theorem of Baily and Borel endow $\operatorname{Sh}_K(G, h)$ with the structure of an algebraic variety. By [40], Proposition 3.2, the surjection $G \to G^{\operatorname{ad}}$ maps a congruence subgroup of G onto an arithmetic subgroup of G^{ad} . Now we consider compact open subgroups with the property that the resulting arithmetic subgroups on

$$G^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{R}) = \mathrm{Hol}(D^+, g)^+ = \mathrm{Hol}(D^+)^+$$

are torsion-free. Recall that the structure of a complex quasi-projective variety on the quotient of a bounded symmetric domain by a torsion-free arithmetic group is unique. If $K' \subset K$, we have a natural morphism

$$\operatorname{Sh}_{K'}(G,h) \to \operatorname{Sh}_K(G,h).$$
 (1.4)

By the projective limit running over all compact open $K \subset G(\mathbb{A}^f)$ proving a torsion-free arithmetic group on $G^{ad}(\mathbb{R})$, which is given via (1.4), we obtain the Shimura variety⁹

$$\operatorname{Sh}(G,h) = \lim \operatorname{Sh}_K(G,h).$$

1.6 The definition of complex multiplication

One says that an elliptic curve has complex multiplication, if its endomorphism ring is a complex multiplication field (CM field), i.e. a totally imaginary quadratic extension of a totally real number field. For an arbitrary abelian variety we define:

Definition 1.6.1. An abelian variety A is of CM type, if it is isogeneous to a fiberproduct of simple abelian varieties X_i (i = 1, ..., n) such that there are fields $K_i \subset \text{End}(X_i) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$, which satisfy

$$[K_i:\mathbb{Q}] \ge 2 \cdot dim(X_i).$$

Proposition 1.6.2. If the abelian variety A is of CM type, the fields K_i are CM fields and satisfy

$$[K_i:\mathbb{Q}] = 2 \cdot dim(X_i).$$

Proof. (see [35], Chapter 1, Theorem 3.1 and see [35], Chapter 1, Lemma 3.2.) $\hfill \Box$

Many authors say that an abelian variety X has complex multiplication, if there exists a skew field F and an embedding $F \hookrightarrow \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(X)$ of \mathbb{Q} -algebras (see [7], [34]). This definition can be used in many applications.

However, we will use a much stronger definition of complex multiplication for arbitrary Kähler manifolds, which is motivated by the previous definition of abelian varieties of CM type. We consider complex multiplication as a property, which characterizes the Hodge group. Recall the following facts:

Remark 1.6.3. By a principal polarization on the abelian variety X, we have an isomorphism between X and its dual abelian variety \hat{X} given by

$$\hat{X} = H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) / H^1(X, \mathbb{Z}).$$

Thus for each curve C the Hodge structures on $H^1(C, \mathbb{Z})$ and $H^1(\operatorname{Jac}(C), \mathbb{Z})$ are isomorphic. Moreover each polarization yields an isogeny $X \to \hat{X}$ (compare [7], 2.4).

⁹ Some authors denote only Sh(G, h) as Shimura variety.

Proposition 1.6.4. An abelian variety A is of CM type, if and only if $\operatorname{Hg}(H^1(A, \mathbb{Q}))$ is a torus algebraic group.

Proof. (follows from [47])

By Remark 1.6.3 and Proposition 1.6.4, one concludes:

Corollary 1.6.5. Let C be a curve. Then $\operatorname{Hg}(H^1(C, \mathbb{Q}), h_C)$ is a torus, if and only if $\operatorname{Jac}(C)$ is of CM type.

Now let F denote a totally real number field, (V, h) be an F-Hodge structure and

$$\operatorname{End}_F(V,h) := \{M \in \operatorname{Hom}_F(V,V) | gh = hg\}$$

be its endomorphism algebra. Note that an abelian variety X is isogeneous to its dual abelian variety

$$\hat{X} \cong H^1(X, \mathcal{O}_X) / H^1(X, \mathbb{Z})$$

(see Remark 1.6.3). Thus the endomorphism algebra of X given by $\operatorname{End}(X) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Q}$ can be identified with $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(H^1(X,\mathbb{Q}),h_X)$. Proposition 1.6.4 tells us that an abelian variety X has a commutative endomorphism algebra of rank equal to dim $H^1(X,\mathbb{Q})$, if $\operatorname{Hg}(H^1(X,\mathbb{Q}),h_X)$ is a torus. Thus the endomorphism algebra $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}(H^1(X,\mathbb{Q}),h_X)$ of the Hodge structure contains a commutative endomorphism algebra of rank equal to dim $H^1(X,\mathbb{Q})$, if $\operatorname{Hg}(H^1(X,\mathbb{Q}),h_X)$ is a torus algebraic group. We give a generalization of this version of Proposition 1.6.4, which will motivate our definition of complex multiplication:

Proposition 1.6.6. Let F denote a totally real number field and (V,h) be an F-Hodge structure. The endomorphism algebra $\operatorname{End}_F(V,h)$ contains a commutative subalgebra of dimension $n = \dim V$, if the Mumford-Tate group $\operatorname{MT}_F(V,h)$ is a torus.

Proof. Assume that $MT_F(V, h)$ is a torus. Thus it is contained in a maximal torus T of GL(V). Up to conjugation $T_{\mathbb{C}}$ is given by the torus of diagonal matrices. Thus

$$\dim T = \dim V.$$

Now let W(T) denote the subvector space of $\operatorname{Hom}_F(V, V)$, which is generated by the elements of T(F). It is a Zariski closed subset of $\operatorname{Hom}_F(V, V)$ and a commutative subalgebra of $End_F(V, h)$. Moreover it contains the torus T of dimension n. Hence

$$\dim W(T) \ge n.$$

On the other hand, each conjugation by an invertible matrix is an automorphism of the algebra $End_{\mathbb{C}}(V,h)$. Thus each element of $W(T)_{\mathbb{C}}$ is up to conjugation a diagonal matrix, which implies

$$\dim W(T) = n.$$

Let us first consider intermediate Jacobians and afterwards discuss definitions of complex multiplication, which use one intermediate Jacobian. These definitions have some interesting applications as we will see. However, we will see that one intermediate Jacobian does not accurately describe the Hodge structure of a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold. Therefore we consider two intermediate Jacobians in the case of a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold:

1.6.7. Let X be a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold. The Hodge structure on $H^3(X, \mathbb{Z})$ is given by the decomposition

$$H^{3}(X,\mathbb{C}) = H^{3,0}(X) \oplus H^{2,1}(X) \oplus H^{1,2}(X) \oplus H^{0,3}(X).$$

The Calabi-Yau 3-manifold X has the following intermediate Jacobians:

• The Griffiths intermediate Jacobian $J_G(X)$ is the complex torus corresponding to the Hodge structure of type (1,0), (0,1) on $H^3(X,\mathbb{Z})$, which is given by the direct sum decomposition

$$H^{1,0} := H^{3,0}(X) \oplus H^{2,1}(X), \quad H^{0,1} := H^{1,2}(X) \oplus H^{0,3}(X).$$

• The Weil intermediate Jacobian $J_W(X)$ is the abelian variety corresponding to the Hodge structure of type (1,0), (0,1) on $H^3(X,\mathbb{Z})$, which is given by the direct sum decomposition

$$H^{1,0} := H^{2,1}(X) \oplus H^{0,3}(X), \quad H^{0,1} := H^{3,0}(X) \oplus H^{1,2}(X).$$

The Weil intermediate Jacobian is $J_W(X)$ is a principally polarized abelian variety. But it does not vary holomorphically in general.

The Griffiths intermediate Jacobian $J_G(X)$ varies holomorphically. But it is not algebraic in general. (see [8])

Remark 1.6.8. For each Kähler manifold X of dimension 2n - 1 we can define the intermediate Jacobian

$$\mathbf{J}(X) := H^{2n-1}(X, \mathbb{C}) / (F^n(H^{2n-1}(X, \mathbb{C})) \oplus H^{2n-1}(X, \mathbb{Z})),$$

which coincides with the Griffiths intermediate Jacobian J_G in the case of a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold.

Some possible definitions of complex multiplication for a Kähler manifold X of dimension 2n - 1 use the intermediate Jacobian J(X). Many authors say that X has complex multiplication, if J(X) is of CM type or $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{Q}}J(X)$ contains a skew field F. This leads to definitions, which are often used in many applications in mathematics and theoretical physics.

For example such a definition is used by S. Gukov and C. Vafa [23]. Mirror pairs of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with Griffiths intermediate Jacobians, which are respectively of CM-type over a number field F with $[F : \mathbb{Q}] = 2(h^{2,1}+1)$, correspond to rational conformal field theories.

However for an accurate description of the VHS the Griffiths intermediate Jacobian does not give enough information in general. Let us consider the following example. It uses methods, which will be explained later. Thus the reader is suggested to return to this example after he has read the rest of this book, if he does not understand it now.

Example 1.6.9. There exists a K3 surface S with an involution ι_S such that ι_S acts on $H^{1,1}(S)$ by the character 1 and on $H^{2,0}(S) \oplus H^{0,2}(S)$ by the character -1, which yields an eigenspace decomposition over \mathbb{Q} . This is the last example in the table of 11.3.11. Note that t is the rank of the sublattice $\operatorname{Pic}(S)_0$ of the Picard lattice, which is fixed by ι_S . In this case we have t = 20. This implies that

$$\operatorname{Pic}(S)_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C} = H^{1,1}(S)$$

such that ι_S acts on $H^{1,1}(S)$ by the character 1 as we have claimed.

The restricted Hodge structure (V_{-}, h_{-}) of the eigenspace with eigenvalue -1 satisfies

$$\operatorname{Hg}(V_{-}, h_{-})_{\mathbb{R}} \subseteq \operatorname{SO}(2)$$

(see Section 11.2). Since SO(2) is commutative, $Hg(V_-, h_-)$ is commutative, too.

Each elliptic curve E has an involution ι_E such that $E/\langle \iota_E \rangle \cong \mathbb{P}^1$. By the Borcea-Voisin construction, which we explain in Section 7.2, we obtain a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold X by blowing up the singularities of

$$S \times E / \langle (\iota_S, \iota_E) \rangle$$

The integral Hodge structure on the third cohomology of $S \times E$ is up to torsion given by

$$(H^3(S \times E, \mathbb{Z}), h) = (H^2(S, \mathbb{Z}), h_S) \otimes (H^1(E, \mathbb{Z}), h_E)$$

(follows from [61], Théorème 11.38). Since the points fixed by ι_S are given by rational curves, one concludes with respect to the blowing up of these rational curves

$$H^3(S \times E, \mathbb{Z}) = H^3(S \times E, \mathbb{Z}).$$

Due to [61], 7.3.2, one concludes that $(H^3(X,\mathbb{Z}), h_X)$ is the sub-hodge structure of $(H^3(S \times E, \mathbb{Z}), h)$ given by

$$(H^3(X,\mathbb{Z}),h_X) = (V_- \cap H^2(S,\mathbb{Z}),h_-) \otimes (H^1(E,\mathbb{Z}),h_E)^{.10}$$

$$H^{3}(X,\mathbb{Z}) \to H^{3}(X,\mathbb{Z}) \otimes \mathbb{Q} = H^{3}(X,\mathbb{Q})$$

 $^{^{10}}$ In this situation one may ask for torsion. Since the kernel of the natural homomorphism

is given by the torsion elements, the weight one Hodge structure corresponding to the Jacobian can be defined over the torsion-free lattice $H^3(X,\mathbb{Z})/torsion$. Thus we can disregard the torsion.

Due to the fact that

$$(V_{-})_{\mathbb{C}} = H^{2,0}(S) \oplus H^{0,2}(S),$$

the Griffiths intermediate Jacobian $J_G(X)$ of our Calabi-Yau manifold X has a corresponding integral Hodge structure given by

$$H^{1,0} = H^{2,0}(S) \otimes H^1(E,\mathbb{C}), \quad H^{0,1} = H^{0,2}(S) \otimes H^1(E,\mathbb{C}).$$
(1.5)

Note that for all elliptic curves the vector space $H^1(E, \mathbb{C})$ is given by

$$H^1(E,\mathbb{C}) = \Lambda \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{C},$$

where $\Lambda \cong \mathbb{Z}^2$ does not depend on the respective elliptic curve. Thus the Griffiths intermediate Jacobian $J_G(X)$ and its corresponding integral Hodge structure do not depend on the chosen elliptic curve. Therefore the different Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds obtained from different elliptic curves have the same Griffiths intermediate Jacobian. By the description of the corresponding weight one Hodge structure (1.5), the Hodge group of the intermediate Jacobian is isomorphic to $Hg(V_-, h_-)$. Therefore one concludes that the Hodge group of the intermediate Jacobian is a torus. Thus $J_G(X)$ is of CM type.

Thus we use a stronger term of complex multiplication:

Definition 1.6.10. Let F be a totally real number field. A compact Kähler manifold X of dimension n has complex multiplication (CM) over F, if the Hodge group of the F Hodge structure on $H^n(X, F)$ is a torus. We say that X has complex multiplication, if it has complex multiplication over \mathbb{Q} .

Proposition 1.6.11. A Calabi-Yau 3-manifold X has CM, if and only if its Griffiths intermediate Jacobian $J_G(X)$ is of CM type, its Weil intermediate Jacobian $J_W(X)$ is of CM type and the Hodge groups of the corresponding weight one Hodge structures commute.

Proof. ([8], Theorem 2.3)

Remark 1.6.12. Let X be the Calabi-Yau 3-manifold X of Example 1.6.9. The Hodge structure on $H^3(X, \mathbb{Q})$ is given by the tensor product of the Hodge structures (V_-, h_-) and $(H^1(E, \mathbb{Q}), h_E)$. By Proposition 7.1.4, the Hodge structure $(H^3(X, \mathbb{Q}), h_X)$ has a commutative Hodge group resp., X has CM, if and only if (V_-, h_-) and $(H^1(E, \mathbb{Q}), h_E)$ have CM. Recall that $J_G(X)$ is of CM type for all elliptic curves E. It follows that if E does not have complex multiplication, $J_G(X)$ is of CM type and X does not have CM. Hence the fact that the intermediate Jacobian $J_G(X)$ is of CM type does not imply that X has CM.

Now we note that a corresponding implication holds true in the case of every odd dimensional Kähler manifold:

Proposition 1.6.13. Let X be a Kähler manifold of dimension 2n - 1. The intermediate Jacobian

$$\mathbf{J}(X) := H^{2n-1}(X, \mathbb{C}) / (F^n(H^{2n-1}(X, \mathbb{C})) \oplus H^{2n-1}(X, \mathbb{Z}))$$

is of CM type, if X has CM.

Proof. Let

$$h_{\mathcal{J}(X)}: S^1 \to \mathrm{GL}(H^{2n-1}(X,\mathbb{R}))$$

denote the representation, which yields the weight one Hodge structure corresponding to J(X). Assume that X has CM. Thus $\operatorname{Hg}(H^{2n-1}(X,\mathbb{Q}),h_X)$ is a torus. It is contained in a maximal torus T of $\operatorname{GL}(H^{2n-1}(X,\mathbb{Q}))$. The fact that $h_X(\mathbb{S})(\mathbb{R})$ commutes with $T(\mathbb{R})$ is equivalent to the fact that for each $g \in T(\mathbb{R})$ one has

$$g(H^{k,2n-1-k}(X)) = H^{k,2n-1-k}(X)$$
 with $k = 0, 1, \dots 2n-1$.

From this fact one concludes that $h_{J(X)}(S^1)$ is contained in the centralizer of T. Since $GL(H^{2n-1}(X,\mathbb{Q}))$ is reductive, the maximal torus T is its own centralizer. This follows from the fact that the centralizers of the maximal tori (i. e. the Cartan subgroups) of a reductive group are the maximal tori (see [10], **IV**. 13.17). Hence one concludes that $h_{J(X)}(S^1) \subset T$, which implies that J(X) is of CM type. \Box

1.7 Criteria and conjectures for complex multiplication

We have introduced the theory of Shimura varieties, which we will use for the construction of families with a dense set of CM points defined below:

Definition 1.7.1. Let D be a complex manifold and \mathcal{V} be a holomorphic variation of rational Hodge structures on D. A point $p \in D$ is a CM point with respect to \mathcal{V} , if \mathcal{V}_p has CM.

Let $\mathcal{X} \to D$ be a holomorphic family of complex manifolds. A point $p \in D$ is a CM point with respect to \mathcal{X} , if \mathcal{X}_p is a CM fiber resp., \mathcal{X}_p has a complex multiplication.

By the next theorem, we give a criterion for dense sets of CM points, which implies that the family of abelian varieties over $\operatorname{Hg}(V,h)(\mathbb{R})/K$ of Construction 1.4.14 has a dense set of CM fibers. We only need to understand the definition of Shimura data and Hermitian symmetric domains. The construction of Shimura varieties by bounded symmetric domains has been written down for completeness. Recall that a Shimura datum (G, h) gives a Hermitian symmetric domain D and a representation of G gives a variation of Hodge structures over D. Now consider the following theorem:

Theorem 1.7.2. Let (G, h) denote a Shimura datum. The set of CM points with respect to the VHS induced by some closed embedding $G \to GL(W)$ for some \mathbb{Q} -vector space W is dense in $G(\mathbb{R})/K(\mathbb{R})$.

Proof. By the following lemma, we have only to show that there exists one CM point on $G(\mathbb{R})/K$. Since we have the closed embedding $G \to \operatorname{GL}(W)$, each \mathbb{Q} -algebraic torus of G can be identified with a \mathbb{Q} -algebraic torus of $\operatorname{GL}(W)$. Thus the existence of a CM point is equivalent to the statement that there is a

$$h: \mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}} \to \mathrm{GL}(W)$$

in this VHS, which factors through a Q-algebraic torus of G.

Now let T be a maximal (\mathbb{Q} -algebraic) torus of G. The centralizers of the maximal tori (i. e. the Cartan subgroups) of a reductive group are the maximal tori (see [10], IV. 13.17.). The torus $T_{\mathbb{R}}$ is contained in a maximal torus T_M of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$, which has the property that each point of T_M is contained in the centralizer of $T_{\mathbb{R}}$ resp., in the centralizer of T. Thus the torus $T_{\mathbb{R}}$ is in fact maximal in $G_{\mathbb{R}}$.

Recall that $K^0 \subset G_{\mathbb{R}}$ denotes the Zariski connected component of the centralizer of $h(\mathbb{S})$. It yields the compact Lie group $K^0(\mathbb{R})$. Hence Example 1.3.11 tells us that K^0 is reductive. Moreover $h(\mathbb{S})$ is contained in the center of K^0 and the center of K^0 is a torus (see Proposition 1.3.4). Thus there exists a maximal torus T_0 of $G_{\mathbb{R}}$ which contains $h(\mathbb{S})$. Recall that an element of G is regular, if its centralizer is a Cartan subgroup and that the regular elements in $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ resp., $(T_0)_{\mathbb{C}}$ contain a Zariski open dense subset of $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ resp. $(T_0)_{\mathbb{C}}$ (see [10], **IV**. 12.2 and [10], **IV**. Theorem 12.3). Let $t \in T_0(\mathbb{R})$ be regular. The centralizer of t is the maximal torus T_0 , since the Cartan subgroups coincide with the maximal tori in the case of a reductive group. The proof of the fact that the regular elements of G contain a Zariski open dense subset uses the fact that the morphism

$$G_{\mathbb{C}} \times T_{\mathbb{C}} \to G_{\mathbb{C}}$$
 via $(g, x) \to gxg^{-1}$

is dominant (see the proof of [10], **IV**. Theorem 12.3). Since this morphism is defined over \mathbb{R} , the differential over \mathbb{R} is also surjective at any point. By the Real Approximation Theorem, $G(\mathbb{Q})$ lies dense in the manifold $G(\mathbb{R})$. Hence there exists a regular \mathbb{Q} -rational element of G near to $t \in T_0(\mathbb{R})$, which is conjugate to t and whose centralizer is a maximal torus. This torus is defined over \mathbb{Q} and contains an element of the conjugacy class of $h(\mathbb{S})$.

Lemma 1.7.3. Let (G,h) denote a Shimura datum. Assume that $G(\mathbb{R})/K$ contains a CM point with respect to a VHS induced by some closed

embedding $G \to \operatorname{GL}(W)$ for some \mathbb{Q} -vector space W. Then the set of CM points of the same type with respect to the same VHS is dense in $G(\mathbb{R})/K$.

Proof. We have two cases. Assume that G is a \mathbb{Q} -algebraic torus. In this case $G(\mathbb{R})/K$ consists of one point. The fact that we have a closed embedding $G \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(W)$ implies that the Hodge group of the Hodge structure over this point is a subtorus of the torus G.

In the other case G is not a \mathbb{Q} -algebraic torus. By the assumptions, we have a CM point in $G(\mathbb{R})/K$ with respect to the VHS, which is induced by some closed embedding $G \to \operatorname{GL}(W)$. This implies that G contains a \mathbb{Q} -algebraic torus T such that the conjugacy class of $h : \mathbb{S} \to G_{\mathbb{R}}$ contains an element, which factors through $T_{\mathbb{R}}$. By our preceding construction, the stabilizer of the CM point $[s_0]_K \in G(\mathbb{R})/K$ is given by $s_0Ks_0^{-1}$. Thus one can replace Kby $s_0Ks_0^{-1}$. In this case the fact that the VHS is induced by an embedding $G \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(W)$ implies that the Hodge group of the Hodge structure over [e]is a subtorus of T. Hence [e] is a CM point with respect to this VHS, and any $s \in G(\mathbb{Q}) \subset G(\mathbb{R})$ has the property that it is mapped to a CM point, too. By the Real Approximation Theorem, $G(\mathbb{Q})$ lies dense in the manifold $G(\mathbb{R})$ for all connected affine \mathbb{Q} -algebraic groups G. Since the quotient map is continuous, the set of CM points in $G(\mathbb{R})/K$ is dense. \Box

Remark 1.7.4. Let F denote a totally real number field and (V, h, Q) be a pure polarized F-Hodge structure of weight k. Moreover let K denote the centralizer of h in $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V, h)(\mathbb{R})$. We can relax the assumptions of Theorem 1.7.2 and show that the conjugacy class of h in $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V, h)$ given by the homogeneous space $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V, h)(\mathbb{R})/K$ contains a dense set of F-Hodge structures with CM over F. The arguments are very similar:

A maximal torus of $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)$ yields also a maximal torus of $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)_{\mathbb{R}}$. Note that $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)(F)$ is dense in $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)(\mathbb{R})$ (see [53], Theorem 7.7). Since $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)$ is reductive, the same methods as above yield an *F*-rational maximal torus, which contains $h(\mathbb{S})$ up to conjugation. Due to the fact that $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)(F)$ is dense in $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)(\mathbb{R})$, one concludes that the set of points, which represent Hodge structures with *CM* over *F*, is dense in $\operatorname{Hg}_F(V,h)(\mathbb{R})/K$.

Now we apply Theorem 1.7.2 to the following example.

Example 1.7.5. Let X be a curve. We have the rational Hodge structure $(H^1(X, \mathbb{Q}), h_X)$ of weight 1. The Shimura datum $(MT(H^1(X, \mathbb{Q}), h_X), h_X)$ and the representation

$$\operatorname{id}: \operatorname{MT}(H^1(X, \mathbb{Q}), h_X) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(H^1(X, \mathbb{Q}))$$

give a variation of Hodge structures. This variation of Hodge structures contains exactly all Hodge structures $(H^1(X, \mathbb{Q}), h)$, which are conjugated to $(H^1(X, \mathbb{Q}), h_X)$ and have a Mumford-Tate group satisfying

$$MT(H^1(X, \mathbb{Q}), h) \subseteq MT(H^1(X, \mathbb{Q}), h_X).$$

Especially $(H^1(X, \mathbb{Q}), h_X)$ occurs in this variation of Hodge structures. By Theorem 1.7.2, over a dense set of points the occurring Hodge structures have CM.

1.7.6. Recall that we want to find infinitely many fibers in a family $f : \mathcal{X} \to Y$ of curves or Calabi-Yau manifolds, which have CM. Assume that f is a family of curves. Moreover recall that $p : Y \to \mathfrak{h}_g$ denotes the period map. In the case of curves we have a Torelli theorem, which implies that the isomorphism class of the curve X of genus g is determined by a point of \mathfrak{h}_g .

Let D denote the subdomain of the upper half plane \mathfrak{h}_g given by the Shimura datum of the preceding example. Assume that X does not have CM. Otherwise D would consist of only one point. If $(H^1(X,\mathbb{Q}),h_X) \in D$ has a neighborhood U in D such that $U \subset p(Y)$, the restricted holomorphic family $\mathcal{X}_{p^{-1}(U)} \to p^{-1}(U)$ contains infinitely many CM fibers. This follows from Theorem 1.7.2.

In Section 3.1 we will see that the family $f : \mathcal{X} \to Y$ has a generic Mumford-Tate group MT such that the Mumford-Tate groups $\mathrm{MT}(H^n(X, \mathbb{Q}), h_X)$ are contained in the generic Mumford-Tate group MT for all fibers X. Moreover assume that the period map is generically finite. Let D be bounded symmetric domain obtained from the Shimura datum (MT, h_X), where X is some fiber of f. If one can prove that the Hermitian symmetric domain Dsatisfies

 $\dim D \le \dim Y,$

one concludes from the generic finiteness of the period map that

$$\dim D = \dim Y$$

and the family has a dense set of CM fibers.

Next one can ask for a necessary condition for the existence of CM fibers of a family. The André-Oort conjecture (compare [3], [52]) concerns this question for a necessary condition.

Conjecture 1.7.7. Assume that S is a Shimura variety and $Z \subset S$ is an irreducible algebraic subvariety. Then Z contains a dense set of CM points, only if it is a Shimura subvariety of S.

Remark 1.7.8. Let (G, h) denote a Shimura datum obtained from the generic Mumford-Tate group of a family of curves and the Hodge structure of one fiber given by h, which satisfies the conditions of 1.7.6. In this case Theorem 1.7.2 yields only a discrete set of CM points. Due to the André-Oort conjecture, one can conject that any nonconstant family has at most a discrete set of CM fibers.

1.7.9. By Proposition 1.4.16, one concludes that

$$\dim \mathfrak{h}_g = \frac{g(g+1)}{2}.$$

Moreover by [14], the moduli space of curves of genus $g \ge 2$ is a quasiprojective variety of the dimension 3g - 3. For an introduction to moduli of curves we refer to [25]. Thus for $g \le 3$ the dimension of the moduli space of curves of genus g and dim \mathfrak{h}_g coincide. Hence the moduli space of curves of genus $g \le 3$ contains a dense set of points representing curves with CM.

By the same arguments as in 1.7.9, one can see that $\dim \mathfrak{h}_g$ is larger than the dimension of the moduli space of curves of dimension g for g > 3. In this case the subspace of \mathfrak{h}_g , whose points represent the Jacobians of the curves of genus g has a smaller dimension than \mathfrak{h}_g . Hence the existence of non-trivial families with dense sets of CM fibers and the André-Oort conjecture imply that there are subsets of this locus, which have the structure of a Hermitian symmetric domain. R. Coleman [11] thought that each of these domains would at most consist of one point. He formulated the following conjecture:

Conjecture 1.7.10. Fix an integer $g \ge 4$. Then there are only finitely many complex algebraic curves C of genus g such that Jac(C) is of CM type.

In [29] J. de Jong and R. Noot gave counterexamples to the previous conjecture for g = 4 and g = 6. In [58] E. Viehweg and K. Zuo gave an additional counterexample for g = 6. In Chapter 6 we will give counterexamples for g = 5 and g = 7, which occur in the lists of Section 6.3. All counterexamples are given by families of curves, which are parametrized over a Shimura variety, which is given by a ball quotient. Note that the complex *n*-ball \mathbb{B}_n is a bounded symmetric domain. A ball quotient is a quotient of \mathbb{B}_n by an arithmetic subgroup of the identity component of the group of holomorphic isometries of \mathbb{B}_n for some *n*. Let us consider the complex ball \mathbb{B}_n in detail:

1.7.11. The complex *n*-ball \mathbb{B}_n is the domain contained in \mathbb{P}^n given by the points

$$p = (p_0: p_1: \ldots : p_n),$$

which satisfy

$$|\frac{p_1}{p_0}|^2 + \ldots + |\frac{p_1}{p_0}|^2 < 1.$$

This is equivalent to the condition

$$0 < |p_0|^2 - |p_1|^2 - \ldots - |p_n|^2.$$

As one can easily see the Lie group $PU(1, n)(\mathbb{R})$ acts on \mathbb{B}_n and the stabilizer of the point

$$p = (1:0:\ldots:0)$$

is the subgroup $P(U(1) \times U(n))(\mathbb{R})$. The group PU(1, n) is not a \mathbb{C} -algebraic group, since complex conjugation is not \mathbb{C} -linear. Since one can consider \mathbb{C}^{n+1} as real vector space and the complex conjugation is \mathbb{R} -linear, U(1, n)and PU(1, n) are \mathbb{R} -algebraic. Due to the remarks below [27], **X**. Table **V**, the homogeneous space $PU(1, n)(\mathbb{R})/P(U(1) \times U(n))(\mathbb{R})$ is a Hermitian symmetric domain. By [31], Volume **II**. Example 10.7, one has

$$\mathbb{B}_n \cong \mathrm{PU}(1,n)(\mathbb{R})/\mathrm{P}(\mathrm{U}(1) \times \mathrm{U}(n))(\mathbb{R}).$$

Due to its counterexamples, the Coleman conjecture has to be reformulated in the following way:

Conjecture 1.7.12. There exists an integer g' > 7 such that for all fixed $g \ge g'$ there are only finitely many complex algebraic curves C with CM type of genus g.

The Coleman conjecture motivates similar conjectures for manifolds of other kinds. For example consider the weight one Hodge structures of the Weil intermediate Jacobian $J_W(X)$ of a Calabi Yau 3-manifold X with polarization Q. This intermediate Jacobian can be given by a point of the upper half plane

$$\mathfrak{h}_{1+h^{2,1}} \cong \operatorname{Sp}(H^3(X,\mathbb{R}),Q)/\mathrm{U}(1+h^{2,1}).$$

By 1.7.9, one has that

$$\dim \mathfrak{h}_{1+h^{2,1}} = \frac{(h^{2,1}+1)(h^{2,1}+2)}{2}.$$

On the other hand the universal deformation of a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold is a family over a basis of dimension $h^{2,1}$ (see [61] 10.3.2). Hence one can conject that for almost all fixed $h^{1,1}$ and $h^{2,1}$ there are only finitely many Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with CM, which have the Hodge numbers $h^{1,1}$ and $h^{2,1}$. This conjecture has been formulated by S. Gukov and C. Vafa [23].

Here we give some examples of families of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with dense sets of CM fibers. Thus for some fixed $h^{1,1}$ and $h^{2,1}$ there are infinitely many Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with CM, which have the Hodge numbers $h^{1,1}$ and $h^{2,1}$. There are known examples of families of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds, which contain a dense set of CM fibers, too:

Example 1.7.13. By C. Borcea [8], two examples of families with complex multiplication fibers have been constructed. The first example uses the family \mathcal{E} of elliptic curves given by

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \supset V(y^2 x_0 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \lambda x_0)) \to \lambda \in \mathbb{A}^1 \setminus \{0, 1\}$$

By $y \to -y$, one has a global involution ι on \mathcal{E} . Now let \mathcal{E}_i with involution ι_i be a copy of \mathcal{E} for i = 1, 2, 3. We obtain the family

$$\mathcal{E}_1 \times \mathcal{E}_2 \times \mathcal{E}_3 / \langle (\iota_1, \iota_2), (\iota_2, \iota_3) \rangle \to (\mathbb{A}^1 \setminus \{0, 1\})^3.$$

By blowing up the singular sections, we obtain a family of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with a dense set of complex multiplication fibers.

The other example of C. Borcea uses the family \mathcal{C} of degree 2 covers of \mathbb{P}^2 ramified over six lines in general position. By the Galois group action, one has an involution ι_C on \mathcal{C} . By blowing up the intersection loci of these lines, one obtains the family $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}$ of K3 surfaces. The involution ι_C acts on $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}$, too. By blowing up the singular locus of $\tilde{\mathcal{C}} \times \mathcal{E}/\langle (\iota_C, \iota_E) \rangle$, we obtain a family of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with a dense set of complex multiplication fibers.

Later E. Viehweg and K. Zuo [58] have constructed a deformation of the Fermat quintic in \mathbb{P}^4 , which is a well-studied Calabi-Yau 3-manifold with complex multiplication:

Example 1.7.14. We will later see that the VHS of the family \mathcal{F}_1 given by

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \supset V(y_1^5 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \alpha x_0)(x_1 - \beta x_0)x_0) \to (\alpha, \beta) \in \mathcal{M}_2$$

allows to consider its basis as ball quotient. Thus this family has a dense set of CM fibers. Since each of these covers given by the fibers of the family can be embedded into \mathbb{P}^2 , the fibers of \mathcal{F}_1 are the branch loci of the fibers of a family \mathcal{F}_2 of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^2 of degree 5. Moreover the fibers of \mathcal{F}_2 , which can be embedded into \mathbb{P}^3 , are the branch loci of the fibers of a family \mathcal{F}_3 of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^3 , which can be embedded into \mathbb{P}^4 . The family \mathcal{F}_3 is given by

$$\mathbb{P}^4 \supset V(y_3^5 + y_2^5 + y_1^5 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \alpha x_0)(x_1 - \beta x_0)x_0) \to (\alpha, \beta) \in \mathcal{M}_2.$$

By the adjunction formula, the fibers of \mathcal{F}_3 are Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds.

Let $q \in \mathcal{M}_2$. The fiber $(\mathcal{F}_3)_q$ has CM, if $(\mathcal{F}_2)_q$ has CM and $(\mathcal{F}_2)_q$ has CM, if $(\mathcal{F}_1)_q$ has CM. Because of this argument, the family \mathcal{F}_3 has a dense set of CM fibers, which lie over the same points as the CM fibers of the family of curves we have started with.

We will use, combine and modify the methods of the previous two examples in order to obtain new examples. It is our main topic to explain these methods.

An other method to obtain Calabi-Yau manifolds with complex multiplication was suggested by Y. Zhang. Due to the André-Oort conjecture, he conjects that the Basis of a family of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with a dense set of CM fibers has the structure of a Shimura (sub)variety (see [64], page 20).

A Shimura subvariety of a Shimura variety can be obtained from an embedding of Shimura data $(G_1, h_1) \rightarrow (G_2, h_2)$. An embedding of Shimura data is given by a closed embedding $j: G_1 \to G_2$ of Q-algebraic groups such that the conjugacy class of h_2 coincides with the conjugacy class of

$$\mathbb{S} \xrightarrow{h_1} (G_1)_{\mathbb{R}} \xrightarrow{j_{\mathbb{R}}} (G_2)_{\mathbb{R}}$$

Thus (G_1, h_1) yields a Hermitian symmetric subdomain D_1 of the Hermitian symmetric domain D_2 obtained by (G_2, h_2) . Note that not all Shimura subvarieties of $\operatorname{Sh}(G_2, h_2)$ are of that type (see [43], Remark 2.6). A complex submanifold M of D_2 is totally geodesic, if for all $p \in M$ each geodesic in D_2 , which is tangent to M at p is contained in M. Thus one says that an irreducible subvariety V of the Shimura variety $\operatorname{Sh}(G_2, h_2)$ is totally geodesic, if it is obtained from a totally geodesic submanifold M of D_2 .

In [43] B. Moonen has proved the following Theorem:

Theorem 1.7.15. An irreducible subvariety V of a Shimura variety Sh(G, h) is a Shimura subvariety, if and only if it contains a CM point and it is totally geodesic.

Chapter 2 Cyclic covers of the projective line

Recall that we will study variations of Hodge structures of families of cyclic coverings of the projective line. Moreover some families of such covers are suitable for the construction of families of Calabi-Yau manifolds with dense sets of complex multiplication fibers. In order to understand variations of Hodge structures of such families of cyclic coverings we need to understand the Hodge structure of a cyclic covering $C \to \mathbb{P}^1$.

A cyclic cover $\pi: C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is given by

$$y^{m} = (x - a_{1})^{d_{1}} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_{n})^{d_{n}}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where each d_k is an integer satisfying $1 \le d_k \le m - 1$. The numbers d_k are not uniquely determined by the isomorphism class of a cover. However, these numbers determine the isomorphism class of a cover and we will use them for the computation of the variation of Hodge structures in the following chapters.

In Section 2.1 we give a general description of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 and explain which tuples (d_1, \ldots, d_n) yield equivalent covers. We will see that the Galois group action of the cyclic covering yields an eigenspace decomposition of $\pi_*(\mathbb{C})$ over the complement of the branch points. In Section 2.2 we use the branch indices d_k for the description of the monodromy representations of these eigenspaces. We have also an eigenspace decomposition of $H^1(C, \mathbb{C})$ by the Galois group action, which can also be described by using the branch indices d_k , as we will do in Section 2.3. In the next chapter this eigenspace decomposition will be extended to an eigenspace decomposition of the VHSof our families of cyclic coverings of \mathbb{P}^1 . In Section 2.4 we cover certain curves C given by (2.1) by a Fermat curve, which implies that each of these certain curves C has CM.

J.C. Rohde, Cyclic Coverings, Calabi-Yau Manifolds and Complex Multiplication, 59
Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1975, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-00639-5_3,
© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009

2.1 Description of a cyclic cover of the projective line

Let us first repeat some known facts about Galois covers of \mathbb{P}^1 .

Definition 2.1.1. Let T_1 , T_2 , and S be topological spaces resp., complex manifolds resp., algebraic varieties. The coverings $f_1 : T_1 \to S$ and $f_2 : T_2 \to S$, which are morphisms in the respective category, are called equivalent, if there is an isomorphism $g : T_1 \to T_2$ in the respective category such that $f_1 = f_2 \circ g$.

Proposition 2.1.2. Let G be a finite group, and $S := \{a_1, \ldots, a_n\} \subset \mathbb{A}^1 \subset \mathbb{P}^1$. There is a correspondence between the following objects:

- 1. The isomorphism classes of Galois extensions of $\mathbb{C}(\mathbb{P}^1) = \mathbb{C}(x)$ with Galois group G and branch points contained in S.
- 2. The equivalence classes of (non-ramified) Galois coverings $f : R \to \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S$ of topological spaces with deck transformation group isomorphic to G.
- 3. The normal subgroups in the fundamental group $\pi_1(\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S)$ with quotient isomorphic to G.

Proof. (see [62], Theorem 5.14)

Remark 2.1.3. We will need to understand the correspondence of the preceding Proposition. The correspondence between (1) and (2) is given by the facts that a Galois covering $f : R \to \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S$ (of topological spaces) yields a covering $f : \overline{R} \to \mathbb{P}^1$ of compact Riemann surfaces, and any morphism of compact Riemann surfaces corresponds to an embedding of their function fields.

The correspondence between (2) and (3) is given by the path lifting properties of coverings of Hausdorff spaces. Take $b \in R$. Let p = f(b), and $\gamma \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S, p)$, and $f^*(\gamma(0)) = b$. Then $f^*(\gamma(1)) = g \cdot b$ for some $g \in G \cong \text{Deck}(R/(\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus P))$. This induces a homomorphism $\Phi_b : \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S, p) \to G$ and a kernel of this homomorphism, which is a normal subgroup G.

Remark 2.1.4. Let $f : R \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be a Galois covering with branch points a_1, \ldots, a_n . One can choose $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n \in \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus P)$ such that each γ_k is given by a loop running counterclockwise "around" exactly one a_k . Hence one has that

$$\gamma_n = \gamma_1^{-1} \dots \gamma_{n-1}^{-1}$$

and we conclude that

$$\Phi_b(\gamma_n) = \Phi_b(\gamma_1)^{-1} \dots \Phi_b(\gamma_{n-1})^{-1}.$$

From now on we consider only irreducible cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 . An irreducible cyclic cover can be given by a prime ideal

$$(y^m - (x - a_1)^{d_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_n)^{d_n}) \subset \mathbb{C}[x, y].$$

First this ideal defines only an affine curve in \mathbb{A}^2 , which has singularities, if there are some $d_k > 1$. But there exists a unique smooth projective curve C birationally equivalent to this affine curve. By the natural projection onto the x-axis, one obtains a cyclic cover of the smooth curve C onto \mathbb{P}^1 .

Remark 2.1.5. Let us consider the cover given by

$$y^m = (x - a_1)^{d_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_n)^{d_n},$$

and fix a $k_0 \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. By an automorphism of \mathbb{P}^1 , one can put a_{k_0} onto 0. Let $\mu_{k_0} = \frac{d_{k_0}}{m} \in \mathbb{Q}$, and D a small disc centered in 0, which does not contain any other a_k with $k \neq k_0$. Take any point $p \in \partial D$ and remove the segment [0, p]. The topological space $D \setminus [0, p]$ is simply connected. Hence one can define root functions $z \to z^{\mu_{k_0}}$ on this space, which are given by:

$$z^{\mu_{k_0}} = |z|^{\mu_{k_0}} \exp(\frac{2\pi i t d_{k_0}}{m} + 2\pi i \frac{\ell}{m}) \text{ (with } \ell = 0, 1, \dots, m-1 \text{ and } z = |z| \exp(2\pi i t))$$

Since the cover is given by $y^m = x^{d_{k_0}}$ resp., $y = x^{\mu_{k_0}}$ over a small disc around 0, we may lift a closed path around 0 to some path with starting point $(z, z^{\mu_{k_0}})$ and ending point $(z, e^{2\pi i \mu_{k_0}} z^{\mu_{k_0}})$.

Definition 2.1.6. Let $e^{2\pi i \mu_{k_0}}$ and d_{k_0} be given by Remark 2.1.5. Then $e^{2\pi i \mu_{k_0}}$ is the local monodromy datum of d_{k_0} .

Lemma 2.1.7. Assume that $d_1, \ldots, d_n < m$. Let the (non-singular projective) curve C be given by

$$y^m = (x - a_1)^{d_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_n)^{d_n}.$$

Then the Galois group G is $\mathbb{Z}/(m)$, and the covering $C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is given by the kernel of the homomorphism Φ given by $\gamma_k \to d_k \in \mathbb{Z}/(m)$. The point ∞ is a branch point and

$$\Phi(\gamma_{\infty}) = -\sum_{k=1}^{n} d_k \mod m,$$

if and only if m does not divide $\sum_{k=1}^{n} d_k$.

Proof. The last statement of the lemma follows by the preceding rest of the lemma and the Remark 2.1.4.

The Galois group and $\mathbb{Z}/(m)$ are obviously isomorphic. Let us remove the ramification points of C. Then we obtain a Riemann surface R. Now take a small loop γ_k around p_k , which starts and ends in $p \in \mathbb{P}^1$. Moreover take a point $b \in R$ with f(b) = p. The definition of R and Remark 2.1.5 imply that the lifting $f^*(\gamma_k)$ of the path γ_k starting in b ends in the point $d_k \cdot b$. Hence the statement follows from Proposition 2.1.2 and Remark 2.1.3.

Let $d \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $1 < m \in \mathbb{N}$. The residue class of d in $\mathbb{Z}/(m)$ is denoted by $[d]_m$.

Remark 2.1.8. Let $G = \mathbb{Z}/(m)$, and $[d]_m \in \mathbb{Z}/(m)^*$. We consider the kernels of the monodromy representations of the covers locally given by

$$y^m = (x - a_1)^{d_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_n)^{d_n}$$

and

$$y^m = (x - a_1)^{[dd_1]_m} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_n)^{[dd_n]_m}$$

By the preceding lemma, these kernels coincide. Hence we conclude that both covers are equivalent.

2.2 The local system corresponding to a cyclic cover

Now let us assume that our cover $\pi: C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is given by

$$y^m = (x - a_1)^{d_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_n)^{d_n},$$

where m divides $d_1 + \ldots + d_n$ and ∞ is not a branch point. Moreover let

$$S := \{a_1, \ldots, a_n\}.$$

First let us consider the construction of a cyclic cover of an arbitrary algebraic manifold:

Remark 2.2.1. Let X be a complex algebraic manifold, \mathcal{L} an invertible sheaf on X and

$$D = \sum b_k D_k$$

a normal crossing divisor on X, where $\mathcal{L}^m = \mathcal{O}(D)$ and $0 < b_k < m$ for each k. Then by \mathcal{L} and D, one can construct a cyclic cover of degree m onto X (see [20], §3).

Definition 2.2.2. Let b_k and D_k be given by the previous remark. The number b_k is called the branch index of D_k with respect to this cyclic cover.

Example 2.2.3. In the case of

$$X = \mathbb{P}^1, \quad D = \sum_{k=1}^n d_k a_k, \quad \mathcal{L} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(\frac{1}{m} \sum_{k=1}^n d_k),$$

the cyclic cover of Remark 2.2.1 is given by

$$y^m = (x - a_1)^{d_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_n)^{d_n}.$$

Next we describe the local system $\pi_*(\mathbb{C})|_{\mathbb{P}^1\setminus S}$ and its monodromy.

Lemma 2.2.4. Let V be a \mathbb{C} -vector space of dimension n, and X be an arcwise connected and locally simply connected topological space with $x \in X$. Then the monodromy representation provides a bijection between the set of isomorphism classes of local systems of stalk V on X and the set of representations

$$\pi_1(X, x) \to \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{C}),$$

modulo the action of $\operatorname{Aut}_{\mathbb{C}}(V)$ by conjugation.

Proof. (see [61], Remarque 15.12)

Since $GL_1(\mathbb{C}) \cong \mathbb{C}^*$ is commutative, we can conclude:

Corollary 2.2.5. The monodromy yields a bijection between the set of isomorphism classes of rank one local systems on $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S$ and the set of representations

$$\pi_1(\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S) \to \mathrm{GL}_1(\mathbb{C}).$$

The Galois group of our covering curve is isomorphic to $\mathbb{Z}/(m)$ and generated by a map ψ , which is given by $(x, y) \to (x, e^{2\pi i \frac{1}{m}} y)$ with respect to the above affine curve contained in \mathbb{A}^2 , which is birationally equivalent to the covering curve. Hence a character χ of this group is determined by $\chi(\psi)$ with $\chi(\psi) \in \{e^{2\pi i \frac{j}{m}} | j = 0, 1, \dots, m-1\}$. Thus the character group is isomorphic $\mathbb{Z}/(m)$ and we identify the character, which maps ψ to $e^{2\pi i \frac{j}{m}}$, with $j \in \mathbb{Z}/(m)$.¹

Let D be an arbitrary disc contained in $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S$. The preimage of D is given by the disjoint union of discs D_r with $r = 0, 1, \ldots, m-1$ such that $\psi(D_r) = D_{[r+1]_m}$. The vector space $\pi_* \mathbb{C}_C|_{\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S}(D)$ has the basis $\{v_j|j = 0, 1, \ldots, m-1\}$, where

$$v_j := (e^{\frac{2\pi j(m-1)}{m}}, \dots, e^{\frac{2\pi j}{m}}, 1),$$

and the r-th. coordinate denotes the value of the corresponding section of $\pi^{-1}(D)$ on D_r . By the push-forward action, each v_j is an eigenvector with respect to the character given by j. Since D is arbitrary, one can glue the local eigenspaces, and obtain an eigenspace decomposition

$$\pi_* \mathbb{C}_C|_{\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S} = \bigoplus_{j=0}^{m-1} \mathbb{L}_j$$

¹ These two identifications with $\mathbb{Z}/(m)$ are obviously not canonical, but useful for the description of $\pi_*\mathbb{C}_C|_{\mathbb{P}^1\setminus S}$ by using our explicit equation for $\pi: C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ as we will see a little bit later.

into rank 1 local systems, where \mathbb{L}_j is the eigenspace with respect to the character given by $j \in \mathbb{Z}/(m)$. Hence the monodromy representation $\rho: \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S) \to GL_m(\mathbb{C})$ has the corresponding decomposition

$$\rho = (\rho_0, \rho_1, \dots, \rho_{m-1}) : \pi_1(\mathcal{X}) \to \prod_{i=0}^{m-1} \operatorname{GL}_1(\mathbb{C}),$$

where

$$\rho_j: \pi_1(\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S) \to \mathrm{GL}_1(\mathbb{C})$$

is the monodromy representation of \mathbb{L}_j for all $j = 0, 1, \ldots, m-1$.

Let us recall that our cyclic cover C is given by

$$y^m = (x - a_1)^{d_1} \dots (x - a_n)^{d_n},$$

where ∞ is not a branch point. Now let $x \in \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S$, and $x \in D$, where D is a sufficiently small open disc as above. Take a counterclockwise loop γ_k around a_k and cover the loop with a finite number of (sufficiently) small discs. The continuation of \tilde{s} on the unification of these discs leads to a multisection. By Remark 2.1.5, the possible liftings $\gamma_k^{(r)}$ of the loop γ_k are paths with starting point $\gamma_k^{(r)}(0) = y_r$, where $y_r \in D_r$ and ending point $\gamma_k^{(r)}(1) = y_{\lfloor d_k + r \rfloor_m}$. This implies that the monodromy representation of \mathbb{L}_j maps γ_k to $e^{\frac{2\pi j d_k}{m}}$. Hence we conclude:

Theorem 2.2.6. Let the cyclic cover $\pi : C \to \mathbb{P}^1$, which is not branched over ∞ , be given by

$$y^{m} = (x - a_{1})^{d_{1}} \dots (x - a_{n})^{d_{n}}.$$
(2.2)

Then the local system $\pi_*\mathbb{C}|_{\mathbb{P}^1\setminus S}$ is given by the monodromy representation

$$\gamma_k \to \{(x_j)_{j=0,1...,m-1} \to (e^{\frac{2\pi i j d_k}{m}} x_j)_{j=0,1...,m-1}\}.$$

Remark 2.2.7. One can consider $\pi_*(\mathbb{Q}(e^{2\pi i \frac{1}{m}}))|_{\mathbb{P}\backslash S}$, too. Since a generator ψ of $\operatorname{Gal}(C; \mathbb{P}^1)$ satisfies $\psi^m = 1$, the minimal polynomial of its action on $\pi_*(\mathbb{Q}(e^{2\pi i \frac{1}{m}}))|_{\mathbb{P}\backslash S}$ decomposes into linear factors contained in $\mathbb{Q}(e^{2\pi i \frac{1}{m}})[x]$. Hence the eigenspace decomposition is defined over $\mathbb{Q}(e^{2\pi i \frac{1}{m}})$.

Each local system L of \mathbb{C} -vector spaces on any topological space X has a dual local system L^{\vee} given by the sheafification of the presheaf

$$U \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(L, \mathbb{C}).$$

Proposition 2.2.8. One has

$$\mathbb{L}_j^{\vee} = \bar{\mathbb{L}}_j.$$

Furthermore the monodromy representation $\mu_{\mathbb{L}_{j}^{\vee}}$ of \mathbb{L}_{j}^{\vee} is given by $\mu_{\mathbb{L}_{j}^{\vee}}(\gamma_{s}) = \overline{\mu_{\mathbb{L}_{j}}(\gamma_{s})}$ for all $s \in S$.

Proof. (see [19], Proposition 2)

Hence by the respective monodromy representations, we obtain for all j = 1, ..., m - 1:

Corollary 2.2.9.

$$\mathbb{L}_j^{\vee} = \mathbb{L}_{m-j}$$

Let r|m. We consider the \mathbb{C} -algebra endomorphism Φ_r of $\mathbb{C}[x, y]$ given by $x \to x$ and $y \to y^r$. The (non-singular) curve C is birationally equivalent to the affine variety given by $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C}[x, y]/I)$, where

$$I = (y^m - (x - a_1)^{d_1} \dots (x - a_n)^{d_n}).$$

By Φ_r , we obtain the prime ideal

$$\Phi_r^{-1}(I) = (y^{\frac{m}{r}} - (x - a_1)^{d_1} \dots (x - a_n)^{d_n}).$$

Let C_r be the irreducible projective non-singular curve birationally equivalent to the affine variety given by $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C}[x, y]/\Phi_r^{-1}(I))$.

Remark 2.2.10. By the equation above, we have a cover $\pi_r : C_r \to \mathbb{P}^1$ of degree $\frac{m}{r}$. The homomorphism Φ_r induces a cover $\phi_r : C \to C_r$ of degree r such that

$$\pi = \pi_r \circ \phi_r.$$

Proposition 2.2.11.

$$(\pi_r)_* \mathbb{C}_{C_r}|_{\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S} = \bigoplus_{j=0}^{\frac{m}{r}-1} \mathbb{L}_{r \cdot j} \subset \pi_* \mathbb{C}_C|_{\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S}.$$

Proof. Let $m_0 := \frac{m}{r}$. By Theorem 2.2.6, the monodromy representation of the local system $(\pi_r)_* \mathbb{C}_{C_r}|_{\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \{a_1, \dots, a_n\}}$ is given by

$$\gamma_k \to \{(x_j)_{j=0,1\dots,\frac{m}{r}-1} \to (e^{\frac{2\pi i j d_k}{m_0}} x_j)_{j=0,1\dots,\frac{m}{r}-1} = (e^{\frac{2\pi i j r d_k}{m}} x_j)_{j=0,1\dots,\frac{m}{r}-1}\}.$$

By the respective monodromy representations of the local systems \mathbb{L}_j , this yields the statement. \Box

2.3 The cohomology of a cover

In this section we discuss some known facts about the eigenspace decomposition of the Hodge structure of a curve C with respect to a cyclic cover $\pi : C \to \mathbb{P}^1$. The main reference for this section is given by §3 of the book [20] of H. Esnault and E. Viehweg. Section 2 of the essay [18] of P. Deligne and G. D. Mostow contains additional information about our case.

Let $\pi: C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be given by

$$y^m = (x - a_1)^{d_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_n)^{d_r}$$

such that ∞ is not a branch point,

$$S = \{a_1, \dots, a_n\}, \quad D = d_1 a_1 + \dots + d_n a_n \text{ and } \mathcal{L}^{(j)} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(j \frac{d_1 + \dots + d_n}{m} - \sum_{k=1}^{n+3} [\frac{j}{m} \cdot d_k]).$$

Moreover let the generator ψ of the Galois group of π be given by $(x, y) \to (x, e^{2\pi i \frac{1}{m}}y)$ with respect to the explicit equation above, which yields π .

We fix some new notation: Let $q \in \mathbb{Q}$ and [q] denote the largest integer, which is smaller than q. Then we define $[q]_1 := q - [q]$. Moreover we define

$$S_j := \{ a \in S | [j\mu_a]_1 \neq 0 \}.$$

Proposition 2.3.1. The sheaves $\pi_*(\mathcal{O})$ and $\pi_*(\omega)$ have a decomposition into eigenspaces with respect to the Galois group representation, which are given by the sheaves $\mathcal{L}^{(j)^{-1}}$ and

$$\omega_j := \omega_{\mathbb{P}^1}(\log D^{(j)}) \otimes \mathcal{L}^{(j)^{-1}} \quad with \quad D^{(j)} := \sum_{a \in S_j} a$$

for $j = 0, 1, \ldots, m-1$ such that ψ acts via pull-back by the character $e^{2\pi i \frac{j}{m}}$ on $\mathcal{L}^{(j)^{-1}}$ resp., ω_j .

Proof. The eigenspace decomposition of $\pi_*(\mathcal{O})$ follows by [20], Corollary 3.11. Moreover [20], Lemma 3.16, d) yields the decomposition of $\pi_*(\omega)$ into the claimed sheaves. Since $\mathcal{L}^{(j)^{-1}}$ is an eigenspace with respect to the Galois group representation, ω_j is an eigenspace of the same eigenvalue.

Remark 2.3.2. One has obviously $h^0(\omega_0) = 0$. By [20], 2.3, c), one concludes that

$$\omega_{\mathbb{P}^1}(\log D^{(j)}) = \omega_{\mathbb{P}^1}(D^{(j)})$$

for $j = 1, \ldots, m - 1$. Hence for $j = 1, \ldots, m - 1$ we obtain
$$h^{0}(\omega_{j}) = h^{0}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(-2 + deg(D^{(j)}) - j\frac{d_{1} + \ldots + d_{n+3}}{m} + \sum_{k=1}^{n+3} [\frac{j}{m} \cdot d_{k}]))$$

= $-1 + |S_{j}| + \sum_{a \in S_{j}} (-j\mu_{a} + [j\mu_{a}]) = -1 + \sum_{a \in S_{j}} (1 - [j\mu_{a}]_{1}).$

But here we want to determine our eigenspaces on $\pi_*(\omega_C)$ with respect to the push-forward action. Thus we put $\omega^{(j)} := \omega_{[m-j]_m}$, and we obtain

$$h_j^{1,0}(C) := h^0(\omega^{(j)}) = h^0(\omega_{[m-j]_m}) = -1 + \sum_{a \in S_j} (1 - [(m-j)\mu_a]_1) = -1 + \sum_{a \in S_j} [j\mu_a]_1.$$

Moreover let $H_j^{0,1}(C)$ denote the vector space of antiholomorphic 1-forms on C with respect to the corresponding character of the Galois group action. Since the push-forward action of the Galois group respects the alternating form of the polarization of the Hodge structure on $H^1(C,\mathbb{Z})$, one concludes that $H_{[m-j]_m}^{0,1}(C)$ is the dual of $H_j^{1,0}(C)$. Thus:

Proposition 2.3.3. We have the eigenspace decomposition

$$H^{1}(C,\mathbb{C}) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{m-1} H^{1}_{j}(C,\mathbb{C}) \quad with \quad H^{1,0}_{j}(C) \oplus H^{0,1}_{j}(C) = H^{1}_{j}(C,\mathbb{C}).$$

Moreover by $h_j^{0,1}(C)=h_{[m-j]_m}^{1,0}(C)$ and the preceding calculations, one concludes:

Proposition 2.3.4. We have

$$h_j^{1,0}(C) = \sum_{s \in S_j} [j\mu_s]_1 - 1, \text{ and } h_j^{0,1}(C) = \sum_{s \in S_j} (1 - [j\mu_s]_1) - 1.$$

The preceding two propositions imply:

Corollary 2.3.5.

$$h_i^1(C,\mathbb{C}) = |S_j| - 2$$

2.4 Cyclic covers with complex multiplication

Let us now search for examples of covers of \mathbb{P}^1 with complex multiplication. The family given by

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \supset V(y^m - x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - a_1x_0)\dots(x_1 - a_{m-3}x_0)) \rightarrow (a_1,\dots,a_{m-3}) \in (\mathbb{A}^1 \setminus \{0,1\})^{m-3} \setminus \{a_i = a_j | i \neq j\}$$

has obviously a fiber isomorphic to the Fermat curve \mathbb{F}_m , which is given by $V(y^m + x^m + 1)$ and has complex multiplication (see [22] and [32]). For another family with a fiber with complex multiplication, we must work a little bit.

Lemma 2.4.1. If (V, h_1) and (W, h_2) are two \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structures of weight k, then

$$\operatorname{Hg}(V \oplus W, h_1 \oplus h_2) \subset \operatorname{Hg}(V, h_1) \times \operatorname{Hg}(W, h_2) \subset \operatorname{GL}(V) \times \operatorname{GL}(W) \subset \operatorname{GL}(V \oplus W),$$

and the projections

$$\operatorname{Hg}(V \oplus W) \to \operatorname{Hg}(V), \text{ and } \operatorname{Hg}(V \oplus W) \to \operatorname{Hg}(W)$$

are surjective.

Proof. (see [58], Lemma 8.1)

Lemma 2.4.2. Let $V \subset W$ be a rational sub-Hodge structure of a polarized Hodge structure W. Then we have a direct sum decomposition

$$W = V \oplus V',$$

where V' is also a rational sub-Hodge structure of W.

Proof. (see [61], Lemme 7.26)

Lemma 2.4.3. A curve C, which is covered by the Fermat curve \mathbb{F}_m given by $V(x^m + y^m + z^m) \subset \mathbb{P}^2$ for some $1 \leq m \in \mathbb{N}$, has complex multiplication.

Proof. A covering $\mathbb{F}_m \to C$ yields an injective vector space homomorphism

$$H^1(C,\mathbb{Q}) \to H^1(\mathbb{F}_m,\mathbb{Q}),$$

which extends to an embedding of Hodge structures (see [61], 7.3.2 for more details). This embedding induces a direct sum decomposition into two rational sub-Hodge structures of $H^1(\mathbb{F}_m, \mathbb{Q})$ (see Lemma 2.4.2). Hence by Lemma 2.4.1 and the fact that \mathbb{F}_m has complex multiplication, one obtains the statement.

Theorem 2.4.4. Let $0 < d_1, d < m$, and ξ_k denote a primitive k-th. root of unity for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then the curve C, which is given by

$$y^m = x^{d_1} \prod_{i=1}^{n-2} (x - \xi_{n-2}^i)^d,$$

is covered by the Fermat curve $\mathbb{F}_{(n-2)m}$ given by $V(y^{(n-2)m} + x^{(n-2)m} + 1)$ and has complex multiplication.

2.4 Cyclic covers with complex multiplication

Proof. Let C be the curve, which is given by

$$y^m = x^{d_1} \prod_{i=1}^{n-2} (x - \xi_{n-2}^i)^d,$$

and $\phi : \mathbb{A}^2 \to \mathbb{A}^2$ be the morphism, which is given by $y \to yx^{d_1}$ and $x \to x^m$. By a little abuse of notation, we denote by $C \cap \mathbb{A}^2$ the singular affine curve given by the equation above, which is birationally equivalent to C. The corresponding homomorphism $\phi^* : \mathbb{C}[x, y] \to \mathbb{C}[x, y]$ sends the ideal, which defines $C \cap \mathbb{A}^2$, to the ideal generated by

$$y^m x^{m \cdot d_1} - x^{m \cdot d_1} \prod_{i=1}^{n-2} (x^m - \xi_{n-2}^i)^d$$

This is contained in the ideal generated by

$$y^m - \prod_{i=1}^{n-2} (x^m - \xi_{n-2}^i)^d.$$
(2.3)

Let $m_0 := \frac{m}{\gcd(m,d)}$, and $d_0 := \frac{d}{\gcd(m,d)}$. It is obvious that

$$y^{m} - \prod_{i=1}^{n-2} (x^{m} - \xi_{n-2}^{i})^{d} = \prod_{j=0}^{gcd(m,d)-1} (y^{m_{0}} - \xi_{gcd(m,d)}^{j} \prod_{i=1}^{n-2} (x^{m} - \xi_{n-2}^{i})^{d_{0}}).$$

Now we take the curve C_1 , which is given by

$$y^{m_0} = \prod_{i=1}^{n-2} (x^m - \xi_{n-2}^i)^{d_0}$$

By the definitions of m_0 and d_0 , and Remark 2.1.8, the curve C_1 is given by

$$y^{m_0} = \prod_{i=1}^{n-2} (x^m - \xi_{n-2}^i),$$

too. Hence this curve irreducible, and ϕ induces a cover $C_1 \to C$ resp., ϕ^* induces a \mathbb{C} -algebra homomorphism $\mathbb{C}[C \cap \mathbb{A}^2] \to \mathbb{C}[C_1 \cap \mathbb{A}^2]$. By $x \to x$ and $y \to y^{n-2\frac{m}{m_0}}$, we get a cover of the Fermat curve $\mathbb{F}_{(n-2)m}$ given by $V(y^{(n-2)m}+x^{(n-2)m}+1)$ onto C_1 . Now we use the composition of these covers $\mathbb{F}_{(n-2)m} \to C_1$ and $C_1 \to C$, and Lemma 2.4.3. This yields the statement. \Box

Chapter 3 Some preliminaries for families of cyclic covers

In this chapter we collect the remaining preparations for the computations concerning the VHS of our families $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of cyclic covering of \mathbb{P}^1 , which we construct in this chapter.

Let \mathcal{V} denote the VHS of the family $\mathcal{X} \to Y$ of curves and $\mathrm{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V})$ denote the identity component of the Zariski closure of the monodromy group of \mathcal{V} . In Section 3.1 we introduce the generic Hodge group $\mathrm{Hg}(\mathcal{V})$, which is the maximum of the Hodge groups of all occurring Hodge structures in \mathcal{V} . Moreover $\mathrm{Hg}(\mathcal{V})$ coincides with the Hodge groups of the Hodge structures in \mathcal{V} over the complement of a unification of countably many submanifolds of Y. Our families $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ are constructed in Section 3.2. We will also make some general remarks about the monodromy representation of \mathcal{V} including the fact that the Galois group action yields an eigenspace decomposition in Section 3.2. In Section 3.3 we make some explicit computations of the monodromy representations of these eigenspaces. These computations are motivated from the fact that $\mathrm{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V})$ is a normal subgroup of the derived group $\mathrm{Hg}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V})$ of the generic Hodge group! as we see in Section 3.1.

3.1 The generic Hodge group

We want to study the variations of Hodge structures (VHS) of the families of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 , which will be constructed in the next section. Hence let us first make some general observations about the relation between their monodromy groups and Hodge groups resp., Mumford-Tate groups. These observation lead to the definition of the generic Hodge group defined below.

Proposition 3.1.1. Let W be a connected complex manifold and \mathcal{V} be a polarized variation of rational Hodge structures of weight k over W. Then there is a countable union $W' \subset W$ of submanifolds such that all $MT(\mathcal{V}_p)$ coincide (up to conjugation by integral matrices) for all $p \in W \setminus W'$. Moreover one has $MT(\mathcal{V}_{p'}) \subset MT(\mathcal{V}_p)$ for all $p' \in W'$ and $p \in W \setminus W'$.

J.C. Rohde, Cyclic Coverings, Calabi-Yau Manifolds and Complex Multiplication, 71
Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1975, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-00639-5_4,
© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009

Proof. (see [43], Subsection 1.2)

Remark 3.1.2. There exist the following versions of the previous proposition:

If one replaces W by a connected complex algebraic manifold in the previous proposition, the submanifolds $W' \subset W$ of the previous proposition are algebraic, too (see also [43], Subsection 1.2).

Now let F be a totally real number field, W be a complex connected algebraic manifold, $\mathcal{A} \to W$ be a family of abelian varieties and \mathcal{V} be its polarized variation of F-Hodge structures of weight 1 over W. Then there is a countable union $W' \subset W$ of subvarieties such that all $MT(\mathcal{V}_p)$ coincide (up to conjugation by integral matrices) for all closed $p \in W \setminus W'$ (see [42], Subsection 1.2).

The previous remark motivates the definition of the generic Mumford-Tate group $\mathrm{MT}_F(\mathcal{V})$ of a polarized variation \mathcal{V} of F-Hodge structures of weight 1 of a family of abelian varieties over a connected complex algebraic manifold W. Moreover the preceding proposition motivates the definition of the generic Mumford-Tate group $\mathrm{MT}(\mathcal{V})$ of a polarized variation \mathcal{V} of \mathbb{Q} -Hodge structures of weight k on a connected complex manifold. The generic Mumford-Tate group is given by $\mathrm{MT}_F(\mathcal{V}) = \mathrm{MT}_F(\mathcal{V}_p)$ resp., $\mathrm{MT}(\mathcal{V}) = \mathrm{MT}(\mathcal{V}_p)$ for all closed $p \in W \setminus W'$.

Since the image of the embedding $\operatorname{SL}(\mathcal{V}_{F,p}) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(\mathcal{V}_{F,p})$ is independent with respect to the chosen coordinates on $\mathcal{V}_{F,p}$, Lemma 1.3.17 allows us to define the generic Hodge group $Hg_F(\mathcal{V}) := (\operatorname{MT}_F(\mathcal{V}) \cap \operatorname{SL}_F(\mathcal{V}))^0$ such that $\operatorname{Hg}_F(\mathcal{V}) = \operatorname{Hg}_F(\mathcal{V}_p)$ for all (closed) $p \in W \setminus W'$.

Definition 3.1.3. Let $\mathbb{Q} \subseteq K \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ be a field and $\mathcal{V} = (\mathcal{V}_K, \mathcal{F}^{\bullet}, Q)$ be a polarized variation of K Hodge structures on a connected complex manifold D. Then $\operatorname{Mon}^0_K(\mathcal{V})_p$ denotes the connected component of identity of the Zariski closure of the monodromy group in $\operatorname{GL}((\mathcal{V}_K)_p)$ for some $p \in D$. For simplicity we write $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V})_p$ instead of $\operatorname{Mon}^0_{\mathbb{Q}}(\mathcal{V})_p$.

Theorem 3.1.4. Keep the assumptions and notations of Proposition 3.1.1. One has that $\operatorname{Mon}_{F}^{0}(\mathcal{V})_{p}$ is a subgroup of $\operatorname{MT}_{F}^{\operatorname{der}}(\mathcal{V}_{p})$ for all $p \in W \setminus W'$. Moreover for a variation of \mathbb{Q} Hodge structures one has that $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V})_{p}$ is a normal subgroup of $\operatorname{MT}^{\operatorname{der}}(\mathcal{V}_{p})$ and

$$\mathrm{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V})_{p} = \mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V}_{p})$$

for all $p \in W \setminus W'$, if $\mathcal{V}_{\mathbb{O}}$ has a CM point.

Proof. (see [43], Theorem 1.4 for the statement about the variations of \mathbb{Q} Hodge structures and [42], Properties 7.14 for the statement about the variations of F Hodge structures)

Corollary 3.1.5. Keep the assumptions of Proposition 3.1.1. Then the group $Mon^{0}(\mathcal{V})$ is semisimple.

Proof. By Theorem 3.1.4, the Lie subalgebra $Lie(\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{0}(\mathcal{V})_{\mathbb{R}})$ of $Lie(\operatorname{MT}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\operatorname{der}}(\mathcal{V})_{\mathbb{R}})$ is an ideal. Recall that $\operatorname{MT}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\operatorname{der}}(\mathcal{V})_{\mathbb{R}}$ is semisimple. Hence the algebra $Lie(\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{0}(\mathcal{V})_{\mathbb{R}})$ consists of the direct sum of simple subalgebras of $Lie(\operatorname{MT}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{\operatorname{der}}(\mathcal{V})_{\mathbb{R}})$. Thus $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{Q}}^{0}(\mathcal{V})_{\mathbb{R}}$ and $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V})$ are semisimple. \Box

3.2 Families of covers of the projective line

Let S be some \mathbb{C} -scheme. Recall that the covers $c_1 : V_1 \to \mathbb{P}^1_S$ and $c_2 : V_2 \to \mathbb{P}^1_S$ are equivalent, if there is a S-isomorphism $j : V_1 \to V_2$ such that $c_1 = c_2 \circ j$.

In this section we construct a family of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 such that all equivalence classes of covers with a fixed number of branch points with fixed branch indices are represented by some of its fibers. For us it is sufficient to start with a space, which is not a moduli scheme, but whose closed points "hit" all equivalence classes of covers of \mathbb{P}^1 with Galois group $G = (\mathbb{Z}/m, +)$ and a fixed number of branch points with fixed branch indices.

We start with the space

$$(\mathbb{P}^1)^{n+3} \supset \mathcal{P}_n := (\mathbb{P}^1)^{n+3} \setminus \{z_i = z_j | i \neq j\},\$$

which parametrizes the injective maps $\phi : N \to \mathbb{P}^1$, where $N := \{s_1, \ldots, s_{n+3}\}$. Thus a point $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$ corresponds to an injective map $\phi_q : N \to \mathbb{P}^{1,1}$. One can consider \mathcal{P}_n as configuration space of n+3 ordered points, too.

We endow the points $s_k \in N$ with some local monodromy data $\alpha_k = e^{2\pi i \mu_k}$, where

$$\mu_k \in \mathbb{Q}, \quad 0 < \mu_k < 1 \quad \text{and} \quad \sum_{k=1}^{n+3} \mu_k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Now we construct a family of covers of \mathbb{P}^1 by these local monodromy data:

Construction 3.2.1. Let *m* be the smallest integer such that $m\mu_k \in \mathbb{N}$ for $k = 1, \ldots, n+3$, and $D_k \subset \mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{P}_n} := \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathcal{P}_n$ be the prime divisor given by

$$D_k = \{(a_k, a_1, \dots, a_k, \dots, a_{n+3})\}.$$

¹ The set N is some arbitrary finite set, where the set S of the preceding chapter is a concrete set $S \subset \mathbb{P}^1$ given by $S = \phi_q(N)$ for some $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$.

Let D be the divisor

$$D := \sum_{k=1}^{n+3} m \mu_k D_k \sim m D_0 \text{ with } D_0 := (\sum_{k=1}^{n+3} \mu_k) \cdot (\{0\} \times \mathcal{P}_n).$$

By the sheaf $\mathcal{L} := \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{P}_n}}(D_0)$ and the divisor D, we obtain an irreducible cyclic cover \mathcal{C} of degree m onto $\mathbb{P}_{\mathcal{P}_n}$ as in [20], §3 (where irreducible means that the covering variety is irreducible). By $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathcal{P}_n \xrightarrow{pr_2} \mathcal{P}_n$, this cyclic cover yields a family of irreducible cyclic covers of degree m onto \mathbb{P}^1 .

Suppose that r divides m. By taking the quotient of the subgroup of order r of the Galois group of the cyclic cover $\mathcal{C} \to \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathcal{P}_n$, one gets a family $\pi_r : \mathcal{C}_r \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of cyclic covers of degree $\frac{m}{r}$ onto \mathbb{P}^1 . Let $\phi_r : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C}_r$ denote the quotient map. One has

$$\pi = \pi_r \circ \phi_r.$$

Remark 3.2.2. Without loss of generality one may assume that $q := (a_1, \ldots, a_{n+3}) \in \mathcal{P}_n$ is contained in \mathbb{A}^{n+3} , too. Thus the fiber \mathcal{C}_q is given by the equation

$$y^m = (x - a_1)^{d_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_{n+3})^{d_{n+3}}$$

with $d_k = m\mu_k$. By Remark 2.1.5, the local monodromy datum α_k describes the lifting of a path γ_k around $a_k \in \mathbb{P}^{1,2}$ One checks easily that each equivalence class of cyclic covers of degree m with n + 3 branch points and fixed branch indexes d_1, \ldots, d_{n+3} is represented by some fibers of \mathcal{C} . Moreover for $C = \mathcal{C}_q$ the quotient C_r of Remark 2.2.10 is given by the fiber $(\mathcal{C}_r)_q$.

A family of smooth algebraic curves over \mathbb{C} determines a proper submersion $\tau: X \to Y$ in the category of differentiable manifolds ([61], Proposition 9.5). By the Ehresmann theorem, we obtain that over any contractible submanifold W of Y the family is diffeomorphic to $X_0 \times W$, where X_0 is the fiber of some point $0 \in W$. This fact has some consequences for the monodromy representation of the variation of integral Hodge structures.

Recall that $R^1\tau_*(\mathbb{Z})$ is the sheaf associated to the presheaf given by

$$V \to H^1(\tau^{-1}(V), \mathbb{Z}|_{\pi^{-1}(V)})$$

for all open subsets $V \subset \mathcal{P}_n$. Moreover we have

$$H^{1}(X_{0},\mathbb{Z}) = H^{1}(X_{W},\mathbb{Z}) = (R^{1}\tau_{*}(\mathbb{Z}))(W)$$

for some contractible $W \subset \mathcal{P}_n$ with $0 \in W$, which implies that $R^1\tau_*(\mathbb{Z})$ is a local system (see [61], 9.2.1).

² This circumstance explains the term "local monodromy datum".

By using these facts, one can easily ensure that the monodromy group of the VHS of a family of curves can be calculated over any arbitrary field $\mathbb{Q} \subseteq K \subseteq \mathbb{C}$:

Lemma 3.2.3. Let K be a field with char(K) = 0. Moreover let $\tau : X \to Y$ be a holomorphic family of curves. Then we obtain

$$R^1\tau_*(K) = R^1\tau_*(\mathbb{Z}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} K.$$

Proof. The sheaf $R^1\tau_*(K)$ is given by the sheafification of the presheaf

$$V \to H^1(\tau^{-1}(V), K|_{\tau^{-1}(V)}).$$

Hence by the description of the cohomology by Čech complexes, this presheaf is given by

$$V \to H^1(\tau^{-1}(V), \mathbb{Z}|_{\tau^{-1}(V)}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} K.$$

By the fact that a local section of \mathbb{Z} or K on a connected component of V resp., $\tau^{-1}(V)$ is constant, one does not need to differ between the locally constant sheaves given by \mathbb{Z} resp., K on X or Y for the computation of $R^1\tau_*(K)$. This yields the desired identification.

By the fact that the integral cohomology of a curve does not have torsion, one concludes:

Corollary 3.2.4. Keep the assumptions of Lemma 3.2.3. Then the monodromy representations of $R^1\tau_*(\mathbb{Z})$ and $R^1\tau_*(K)$ coincide.

Remark 3.2.5. Recall that we have an eigenspace decomposition of

$$H^1(\mathcal{C}_0,\mathbb{C}) = H^1(\mathcal{C}_0,\mathbb{Z})\otimes\mathbb{C}$$

with respect to the Galois group action. By $H^1(\mathcal{C}_0, \mathbb{C}) = (R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{C}))(W)$ for some contractible $W \subset \mathcal{P}_n$ with $0 \in W$, we obtain an eigenspace decomposition of $(R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{C}))(W)$. Since we have this decomposition over all contractible $W \subset \mathcal{P}_n$, we can glue these eigenspaces, which yields a decomposition of the whole sheaf $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{C})$ into eigenspaces with respect to the Galois group action.

Recall that we have an identification between the characters of the Galois group of some fiber and the elements $j \in \mathbb{Z}/(m)$. This identification allows a compatible identification between the characters of the Galois group of the family and the elements $j \in \mathbb{Z}/(m)$. Let \mathcal{L}_j denote the eigenspace of $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{C})$ with respect to the character j.

Remark 3.2.6. Let $0 \in \mathcal{P}_n$. We have a monodromy action $\rho_{\mathcal{C}}$ by diffeomorphisms on the fiber \mathcal{C}_0 , which is induced by the gluing diffeomorphisms of the

locally constant family of manifolds given by \mathcal{C} . Since these gluing diffeomorphisms induce the gluing homomorphisms of $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{Z})$ in the obvious natural way, the monodromy representation ρ of $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{Z})$ is given by

$$\rho(\gamma)(\eta) = (\rho_{\mathcal{C}}(\gamma))_*(\eta) \quad (\forall \ \eta \in H^1(\mathcal{C}_0, \mathbb{Z})).$$

Remark 3.2.7. Since each gluing diffeomorphism of the locally constant family of manifolds corresponding to \mathcal{C} respects intersection form, Remark 3.2.6 implies that the monodromy group of $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{C})$ respects the polarization of the Hodge structures. Assume that $H_j^1(\mathcal{C}_q, \mathbb{C}) = (\mathcal{L}_j)_q$ satisfies that $H_j^{1,0}(\mathcal{C}_q) = n_1$ and $H_j^{0,1}(\mathcal{C}_q)_2 = n_2$. This means that the polarized variation of integral Hodge structure endows $(\mathcal{L}_j)_q$ with an Hermitian form with signature (n_1, n_2) . Hence the monodromy group of this eigenspace is contained in $U(n_1, n_2)$. In this sense we say that \mathcal{L}_j is of type (n_1, n_2) .

3.3 The homology and the monodromy representation

In this section we study the monodromy representation of $\pi_1(\mathcal{P}_n)$ on the dual of $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{C})$ given by the complex homology. This will yield corresponding statements for the monodromy representation of $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{C})$.

In the case of the configuration space \mathcal{P}_n of n+3 points, we make a difference between these different points. One says that the points are "colored" by different "colors". Moreover one can identify its fundamental group with the subgroup of the braid group on n+3 strands in \mathbb{P}^1 , which is given by the braids leaving the strands invariant (see [24], Chapter I. 3.). This subgroup of the braid group is called the colored braid group. An element of this group is for example given by the Dehn twist T_{k_1,k_2} with $1 \leq k_1 < k_2 \leq n+3$. The Dehn twist T_{k_1,k_2} is given by leaving a_{k_2} "run" counterclockwise around a_{k_1} .

Now we consider a fiber $C = C_q$ of C. Recall that C is a cyclic cover of \mathbb{P}^1 described in Chapter 2. Let ψ denote the generator of the Galois group as in Section 2.2. We keep the notation of Chapter 2.

Consider the eigenspace \mathbb{L}_j , which can be extended from a local system on $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S$ to a local system on $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S_j$ with $S_j = \{a_1, \ldots, a_{n_j+3}\}$. For simplicity one may without loss of generality assume that $a_{n_j+3} = \infty$ and $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $a_k < a_{k+1}$ for all $k = 1, \ldots, n_{j+2}$. Here we assume that δ_k is the oriented path from a_k to a_{k+1} given by the straight line.

Construction 3.3.1. Let ζ be a path on \mathbb{P}^1 . Assume without loss of generality that $\zeta((0, 1))$ is contained in a simply connected open subset U of $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S$. Otherwise we decompose ζ into such paths. It has m liftings $\zeta^{(0)}, \ldots, \zeta^{(m-1)}$ to C such that $\psi(\zeta^{(\ell)}) = \zeta^{([\ell-1]_m)}$. By the tensorproduct of \mathbb{C} with the free abelian group generated by the paths on C, one obtains the vector space

of \mathbb{C} -valued paths on C. Now let $c \in \mathbb{C}$ and take the linear combination of \mathbb{C} -valued paths on C given by

$$\hat{\zeta} = c\zeta^{(0)} + \ldots + ce^{2\pi i \frac{jr}{m}} \zeta^{(r)} + \ldots + ce^{2\pi i \frac{j(m-1)}{m}} \zeta^{(m-1)}.$$

By the assumptions, one verifies easily that $\psi(\hat{\zeta}) = e^{2\pi i \frac{j}{m}} \hat{\zeta}$. Moreover by the local sections given by $c, \ldots, ce^{2\pi i \frac{jr}{m}}, \ldots, ce^{2\pi i \frac{j(m-1)}{m}}$ on the corresponding sheets over U containing the different $\zeta^{(\ell)}((0,1))$, one obtains a corresponding section $\tilde{c} \in \mathbb{L}_j(U)$. In this sense we have a \mathbb{L}_j -valued path $\tilde{c} \cdot \zeta$ on \mathbb{P}^1 .

Remark 3.3.2. Consider the (oriented) path δ_k from the branch point a_k to the branch point a_{k+1} . Let e_k be a non-zero local section of \mathbb{L}_j defined over an open set containing $\delta_k((0,1))$. The \mathbb{L}_j -valued path $e_k \cdot \delta_k$ yields an element $[e_k \cdot \delta_k]$ of the homology group of $H_1(C, \mathbb{C})$, which is represented by the corresponding linear combination of paths in C lying over δ_k . It has the character j with respect to the Galois group representation. Let $H_1(C, \mathbb{C})_j$ denote the corresponding eigenspace.

Definition 3.3.3. A partition of S_j into some disjoint sets $S^{(1)} \cup \ldots \cup S^{(\ell)} = S_j$ is stable with respect to the local monodromy data μ_k of \mathbb{L}_j , if

$$\sum_{a_k \in S^{(1)}} \mu_k \notin \mathbb{N}, \dots, \sum_{a_k \in S^{(\ell)}} \mu_k \notin \mathbb{N}.$$

Theorem 3.3.4. Assume that $S_j = \{a_i : i = 1, ..., n_j + 3\}$ has the stable partition $\{a_1, ..., a_{\ell+1}\}, \{a_{\ell+2}, ..., a_{n_j+3}\}$ for some $1 \le \ell \le n_j + 1$. Then the eigenspace $H_1(C, \mathbb{C})_j$ of the complex homology group of C has a basis given by

$$\mathcal{B} = \{ [e_k \delta_k] : k = 1, \dots, \ell \} \cup \{ [e_k \delta_k] : k = \ell + 2, \dots, n_j + 2 \}.$$

Proof. By [36], Lemma 4.5, one has that $\{[e_k \delta_k] : k = 1, \ldots, n_j + 1\}$ is a basis of $H_1(C, \mathbb{C})_j$. Hence $\{[e_k \delta_k] : k = 1, \ldots, n_j + 2\}$ is not linearly independent.

One can compute a non-trivial linear combination, which yields 0, in the following way: Choose a non-zero section of \mathbb{L}_j over

$$U = \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus (\bigcup_{k=1}^{n_j+2} \delta_k).$$

This yields a linear combination of the sheets over U, on which ψ acts by j. By the boundary operator ∂ , one gets the desired non-trivial linear combination of \mathbb{L}_j -valued paths, which is equal to 0. Now let α_k denote the local monodromy datum of \mathbb{L}_j around $a_k \in S_j$ for all $k = 1, \ldots, n_j + 3$. By the local monodromy data, one can easily compute this linear combination. This computation yields that $\{\delta_1, \ldots, \delta_\ell\} \cup \{\delta_{\ell+2}, \ldots, \delta_{n_j+2}\}$ is linearly independent, if and only if $\{a_1, \ldots, a_{\ell+1}\}, \{a_{\ell+2}, \ldots, a_{n_j+3}\}$ is a stable partition. \Box Let α_k denote the local monodromy datum of \mathbb{L}_j around $a_k \in S_j$ for all $k = 1, \ldots, n_j + 3$. One has up to a certain normalization of the basis vectors $[e_1\delta_1], \ldots [e_1\delta_{n_j+1}]$ the following description of the monodromy representation:

The Dehn twist $T_{k,k+1}$ leaves obviously δ_{ℓ} invariant for all $|k - \ell| > 1$. Moreover by following a path representing $T_{k,k+1}$, one sees that the monodromy action of $T_{k,k+1}$ on $H_1(C, \mathbb{C})_j$ (induced by push-forward) is given by

$$\begin{split} [e_{k-1}\delta_{k-1}] &\to [e_{k-1}\delta_{k-1}] + \alpha_k(1-\alpha_{k+1})[e_k\delta_k], \\ [e_k\delta_k] &\to \alpha_k\alpha_{k+1}[e_k\delta_k] \\ \text{and} \ [e_{k+1}\delta_{k+1}] \to [e_{k+1}\delta_{k+1}] + (1-\alpha_k)[e_k\delta_k]. \end{split}$$

Hence the monodromy representation is given by:

Proposition 3.3.5. The monodromy representation of $T_{\ell,\ell+1}$ on $H_1(C,\mathbb{C})_j$ is given with respect to the basis $\{[e_k\delta_k]|k=1,\ldots,n_j+1\}$ of $H_1(C,\mathbb{C})_j$ by the matrix with the entries:

$$M_{\ell,\ell+1}(a,b) = \begin{cases} 1 & : a = b \text{ and } a \neq \ell \\ \alpha_{\ell}\alpha_{\ell+1} & : a = b = \ell \\ \alpha_{\ell}(1 - \alpha_{\ell+1}) & : a = \ell \text{ and } b = \ell - 1 \\ 1 - \alpha_{\ell} & : a = \ell \text{ and } b = \ell + 1 \\ 0 & : elsewhere \end{cases}$$

Remark 3.3.6. The monodromy representation of Proposition 3.3.5 corresponds to an eigenspace in the local system given by the direct image of the complex homology. By integration over \mathbb{C} -valued paths, this eigenspace is the dual local system of \mathcal{L}_{m-j} . By the polarization, \mathcal{L}_j is the dual of \mathcal{L}_{m-j} , too. Hence Proposition 3.3.5 yields the monodromy representation of \mathcal{L}_j .

Chapter 4 The Galois group decomposition of the Hodge structure

In this chapter we make some general observations about the VHS of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ and its generic Hodge group. Moreover we will give an upper bound for the generic Hodge group and a sufficient criterion for dense sets of complex multiplication fibers.

Let ξ be a primitive *m*-th. root of unity and r < m be a divisor of *m*. Recall that a fiber *C* of one of our families $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ is given by

$$y^m = (x - a_1)^{d_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_{n+3})^{d_{n+3}}$$

By the Galois group action we have a decomposition of $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$ into subspaces $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ such that the Galois group action endows $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ with the structure of a $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ -vector space as we see in Section 4.1. In Section 4.2 we see that this decomposition is also a decomposition into sub-Hodge structures, which are closely related to the quotients C_r of C. By the centralizer of the Galois group action, we obtain an upper bound for the generic Hodge group in Section 4.3. The real valued points of the centralizer are given by the direct product of the unitary groups with respect to the Hermitian forms on the eigenspaces \mathcal{L}_j with $j \leq \frac{m}{2}$. By using this description of the centralizer, we define pure (1, n) variations of Hodge structures and show that a family \mathcal{C} with a pure (1, n) - VHS has a dense set of CM fibers in Section 4.4.

4.1 The Galois group representation on the first cohomology

Let $\pi: C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be a cyclic cover of degree m. The elements of $\operatorname{Gal}(\pi)$ act as \mathbb{Z} -module automorphisms on $H^1(C, \mathbb{Z})$. This induces a faithful representation

$$\rho^{1}: \operatorname{Gal}(\pi) \to \operatorname{GL}(H^{1}(C, \mathbb{Q})).$$
(4.1)

J.C. Rohde, Cyclic Coverings, Calabi-Yau Manifolds and Complex Multiplication, 79
Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1975, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-00639-5_5,
© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009

By the Galois group representation of a cyclic cover of degree m, we have the following eigenspace decomposition:

$$H^1(C,\mathbb{Q})\otimes\mathbb{Q}(\xi)=H^1(C,\mathbb{Q}(\xi))=\bigoplus_{i=1}^{m-1}H^1_j(C,\mathbb{Q}(\xi))$$

Recall that $\pi: C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is given by some fibers of a family $\pi: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$. The monodromy representation of $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{C})$ has a decomposition into subrepresentations on the different eigenspaces. In general there is no $\mathbb{Q}(\xi)$ structure on $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$, which turns $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$ into a $\mathbb{Q}(\xi)$ -vector space. But in this section we will see that $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$ has a direct sum decomposition into sub-vector spaces with different $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ structures, where r|m. Moreover we will see that the monodromy representation respects the different $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ structures, which we will study.

Let ψ denote a generator of $\operatorname{Gal}(\pi)$ as in Chapter 2. The characteristic polynomial of $\rho^1(\psi)$ decomposes into the product of the minimal polynomials of the different ξ^r , where r|m and ξ is a *m*-th. primitive root of unity. By [33], Satz 12.3.1., we have a decomposition of $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$ into subvector spaces $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ such that the \mathbb{Q} -vector space automorphism $\rho^1(\psi)|_{N^1(C_r,\mathbb{Q})}$ is (up to conjugation) given by a matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} M & & 0 \\ & \ddots & \\ 0 & & M \end{pmatrix},$$

where M is the $k \times k$ matrix given by

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \dots & 0 & -p_0 \\ 1 & 0 & \dots & 0 & -p_1 \\ 0 & 1 & \ddots & 0 & -p_2 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 1 & -p_{k-1} \end{pmatrix},$$

where $x^k + p_{k-1}x^{k-1} + \ldots + p_1x + p_0$ is the minimal polynomial of ξ^r .¹ We call a \mathbb{Q} -vector space with such an automorphism of the form diag (M, \ldots, M) a $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ -structure. By $\xi^r \cdot v := g(v)$, this defines a scalar multiplication of $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$, which turns $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ into a $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ -vector space. We obtain:

¹ In the next section we will see that there is a correspondence between the covers C_r and the subvector spaces $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$, which justifies this notation.

Proposition 4.1.1. The direct sum decomposition

$$H^1(C,\mathbb{Q}) = \bigoplus_{r|m} N^1(C_r,\mathbb{Q})$$

is a direct sum of $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ -structures.

Next we consider the trace map

$$\mathrm{tr}: H^1_j(C,\mathbb{Q}(\xi)) \to H^1(C,\mathbb{Q}) \text{ given by } v \to \sum_{\gamma \in \mathrm{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi);\mathbb{Q})} \gamma v,$$

which will be one of our main tools in this chapter. By the Galois group action, the vector space $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r))$ decomposes into eigenspaces $H^1_j(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)))$ such that

$$H_j^1(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi)) = H_j^1(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)} \mathbb{Q}(\xi).$$

Lemma 4.1.2. Let r|m and r = gcd(j,m). Then $\text{tr}|_{H^1_j(C,\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r))}$ is a monomorphism.

Proof. Let $f \in H_j^1(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)) \setminus \{0\}$. We need some Galois theory. By the fact that $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ is a Galois extension of \mathbb{Q} , the group $\Gamma_r := \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi); \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r))$ is a normal subgroup of $(\mathbb{Z}/(m))^* \cong \Gamma := \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi); \mathbb{Q})$, which is the kernel of the epimorphism $\Gamma \to \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r); \mathbb{Q})$ given by $\gamma \to \gamma|_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)}$ for all $\gamma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi); \mathbb{Q})$. Hence we obtain that

$$\mathrm{tr}(f) = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathrm{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi);\mathbb{Q})} \gamma f = \sum_{[\gamma] \in \Gamma/\Gamma_r} [\gamma] \sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma_r} \gamma f = \sum_{\gamma \in \mathrm{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r);\mathbb{Q})} \gamma |\Gamma_r| f.$$

Since ψ acts by an integral matrix, one has $\gamma \circ \psi = \psi \circ \gamma$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$. This implies that

$$\gamma(\xi^r)\gamma(f) = \gamma(\xi^r f) = (\gamma \circ \psi)(f) = \psi(\gamma f).$$
(4.2)

Thus $\gamma(f) \in H^1_{j_0j}(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi))$, where $j_0 \in (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$ corresponds to γ . By the fact that we have a direct sum of eigenspaces, we conclude that

$$\operatorname{tr}(f) = \sum_{\gamma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r);\mathbb{Q})} \gamma |\Gamma_r| f \neq 0.$$

Now we consider the restriction of the trace map to

$$R := \bigoplus_{r|m} H^1_r(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)).$$

Proposition 4.1.3. The trace map $tr|_R : R \to H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$ is an isomorphism of \mathbb{Q} -vector spaces.

Proof. Let

$$v := \sum_{r|m} v_r \in R$$

with $v_r \in H^1_r(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r))$. By the proof of the preceding lemma, we know that

$$\operatorname{tr}(v_r) = \sum_{\gamma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r);\mathbb{Q})} \gamma |\Gamma_r| v_r \in \bigoplus_{j \in (\mathbb{Z}/(\frac{m}{r}))^*} H_j^1(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi)).$$

These ξ^{jr} with $j \in (\mathbb{Z}/(\frac{m}{r}))^*$ are exactly the $\frac{m}{r}$ -th. primitive roots of unity. Thus they are the elements with order $\frac{m}{r}$ in the multiplicative group generated by ξ . Hence by the fact that we have a direct sum of eigenspaces, we conclude that $\operatorname{tr}(v) = 0$ implies that $\operatorname{tr}(v_r) = 0$ for all r with r|m. By the preceding lemma, this implies that $v_r = 0$ for all r with r|m. Hence v = 0. Thus the map $\operatorname{tr}_{|R}$ is injective, and we have only to verify that $\dim_{\mathbb{Q}}(R) = \dim_{\mathbb{Q}}(H^1(C, \mathbb{Q}))$:

$$\begin{split} \dim_{\mathbb{Q}} R &= \sum_{r|m} \dim_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi)} (H^{1}_{r}(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi))) \cdot [\mathbb{Q}(\xi^{r}); \mathbb{Q}] \\ &= \sum_{r|m} \dim_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi)} (H^{1}_{r}(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi))) \cdot \sharp \{ \text{primitive } \frac{m}{r} \text{-th. roots of unity} \} \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^{m-1} \dim_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi)} (H^{1}_{j}(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi))) = \dim_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi)} (H^{1}(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi))) = \dim_{\mathbb{Q}} (H^{1}(C, \mathbb{Q})) \end{split}$$

Remark 4.1.4. We know that the monodromy representation fixes $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$ and each $H^1_i(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi))$. By the fact that

$$N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q}) = N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q}(\xi)) \cap H^1(C, \mathbb{Q}),$$

we conclude that the monodromy representation fixes $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q}))$, too.

Proposition 4.1.5. The monodromy representation ρ on $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ is given by

$$\rho(\omega) = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_1 M_\omega & & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & \gamma_k M_\omega \end{pmatrix},$$

where M_{ω} denotes the image of ω in the monodromy of $H^1_r(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r))$, and

$$\{\gamma_1,\ldots,\gamma_k\} = \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r);\mathbb{Q}).$$

Proof. Since $\rho(\gamma)$ fixes the eigenspaces, it acts by diag (M_1, \ldots, M_k) , where each M_ℓ with $1 \leq \ell \leq k$ describes the action of $\rho(\omega)$ on $\gamma_\ell H^1_r(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r))$. Let $j_\gamma \in (\mathbb{Z}/(\frac{m}{r}))^*$ and γ correspond. The description of the M_1, \ldots, M_k follows from the facts that each $\rho(\omega)$ commutes with each $\gamma \in \text{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r); \mathbb{Q})$, and that $\gamma H^1_r(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)) = H^1_{rj_\gamma}(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r))$ (see (4.2)) for all $\gamma \in \text{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r); \mathbb{Q})$. \Box

Now let N_{ω} denote the restriction of $\rho(\omega)$ on $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ and $v \in N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ given by $v = \operatorname{tr}(w)$ for some $w \in H^1_r(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r))$. By the preceding proposition, we have:

$$N_{\omega}(v) = N_{\omega}([\mathbb{Q}(\xi); \mathbb{Q}(\xi^{r})] \sum_{\gamma \in \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi^{r}); \mathbb{Q})} \gamma w) = [\mathbb{Q}(\xi); \mathbb{Q}(\xi^{r})] \sum_{i=1}^{\kappa} \gamma_{i} M_{\omega}(\gamma_{i}(w))$$
$$= [\mathbb{Q}(\xi); \mathbb{Q}(\xi^{r})] \sum_{i=1}^{k} \gamma_{i}(M_{\omega}(w)) = tr(M_{\omega}(w))$$

The trace map $H^1_r(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)) \to N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ is an isomorphism of $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ -vector spaces with respect to the $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ structure on $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$. Thus one has:

Proposition 4.1.6. The monodromy representation on $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ is a representation on a $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ -vector space given by the $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ structure, which coincides up to the trace map with the monodromy representation on $H^1_r(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^r))$.

We will need a decomposition of $H^1(C, \mathbb{R})$ into a direct sum of certain subvector spaces fixed by the Galois group representation. This decomposition is defined over

$$\mathbb{Q}(\xi^j)^+ = \mathbb{Q}(\xi^j) \cap \mathbb{R}$$

and given by the sub-vector spaces

$$\Re \mathbb{V}(j) := (H^1_j(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi)) \oplus H^1_{m-j}(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi))) \cap H^1(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^j)^+).$$

Since the monodromy representation fixes

$$H_{j}^{1}(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi)), \quad H_{m-j}^{1}(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi)) \text{ and } H^{1}(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^{j})^{+}),$$

it fixes $\Re \mathbb{V}(j)$, too.

Remark 4.1.7. One has that $\text{tr} : H_j^1(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^j)) \to N^1(C_j, \mathbb{Q})$ coincides with the composition

$$H^1_i(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^j)) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{tr}} \Re \mathbb{V}(j) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{tr}} N^1(C_j, \mathbb{Q}).$$

Hence the latter trace map $\Re \mathbb{V}(j) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{tr}} N^1(C_j, \mathbb{Q})$ induces a $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^j)^+$ structure on $N^1(C_j, \mathbb{Q})$, which is compatible with the $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^j)$ -structure via

1

 $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^j)^+ \hookrightarrow \mathbb{Q}(\xi^j)$. Thus by the preceding results about the monodromy representation on $N^1(C_j, \mathbb{Q})$, the monodromy representation on $N^1(C_j, \mathbb{Q})$ is a $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^j)^+$ -vector space representation with respect to the $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^j)^+$ -structure.

Remark 4.1.8. In the case of $H_{\frac{m}{2}}^1(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^{\frac{m}{2}}))$ one gets that $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^{\frac{m}{2}}) = \mathbb{Q}(-1) = \mathbb{Q}$. In other terms: The monodromy group on $H_{\frac{m}{2}}^1(C, \mathbb{Q}(\xi^{\frac{m}{2}}))$ is the monodromy group on the rational vector space $N^1(C_{\frac{m}{2}}, \mathbb{Q})$.

4.2 Quotients of covers and Hodge group decomposition

In this section we consider our quotient families $\pi_r : \mathcal{C}_r \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of covers, and their Hodge groups. Moreover we will explain the notation $N^1(\mathcal{C}_r, \mathbb{Q})$ and show that the decomposition of $H^1(\mathcal{C}, \mathbb{Q})$ into these $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)$ structures is a decomposition into rational sub-Hodge structures. Recall that \mathcal{C}_r is given by a quotient of the subgroup of order r of the Galois group of \mathcal{C} (see Construction 3.2.1).

Let C and C_r denote a fiber of C and the corresponding fiber of C_r over the same point. The natural cover $\phi_r : C \to C_r$ induces an embedding of Hodge structures, which gives a direct sum decomposition of $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$ into two rational sub-Hodge structures (see [61], 7.3.2 and [61], Lemme 7.26).

The Hodge structure on $H^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ is the sub-Hodge structure of $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$ fixed by $\operatorname{Gal}(\phi_r)$. Hence the eigenspaces of $H^1(C_r, \mathbb{C})$ with respect to the Galois group π_r can be identified with the eigenspaces of $H^1(C, \mathbb{C})$, on which $\operatorname{Gal}(\phi_r)$ acts trivial. Thus one obtains

$$H^1(C_r, \mathbb{C}) = \bigoplus_{j=1}^{\frac{m}{r}-1} H^1_{jr}(C, \mathbb{C}) \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{j=1}^{m-1} H^1_j(C, \mathbb{C}) = H^1(C, \mathbb{C}).$$

Recall that every eigenspace \mathcal{L}_j of $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{C})$ is a local system. We consider the eigenspace $(\mathcal{L}_j)_{\mathcal{C}_r}$ of $R^1(\pi_r)_*(\mathbb{C})$ with the character j and the eigenspace \mathcal{L}_{jr} of $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{C})$. Proposition 2.2.11 tells us that the local monodromy data of $(\mathbb{L}_j)_{\mathcal{C}_r}$ and \mathbb{L}_{rj} coincide. By Proposition 3.3.5, these monodromy data determine the dual monodromy representations of the eigenspaces of the dual VHS given by the homology. Thus we obtain:

Proposition 4.2.1. The local systems $(\mathcal{L}_j)_{\mathcal{C}_r}$ and \mathcal{L}_{jr} coincide.

The following statements will explain the notation " $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ ". One has that

$$N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{C} = \bigoplus_{j \in (\mathbb{Z}/\frac{m}{r})^*} H^1_{jr}(C, \mathbb{C}).$$

Since each $H^1_{jr}(C,\mathbb{C})\subset N^1(C_r,\mathbb{C})$ has a decomposition into

$$H_j^{1,0}(C_r) \oplus H_j^{0,1}(C_r), \text{ where } \overline{H_j^1(C_r,\mathbb{C})} = H_{m-j}^1(C_r,\mathbb{C}) \subset N^1(C_r,\mathbb{C}),$$

each $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ is a rational sub-Hodge structure of $H^1(C, \mathbb{Q})$. Moreover each $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ is the maximal sub-Hodge structure of $H^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$, which is orthogonal (with respect to the polarization) to each sub-Hodge structure of $H^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ given by a quotient $H^1(C_{r'}, \mathbb{Q})$ with r < r' < m, r|r' and r'|m. By using Lemma 2.4.1, we have the result:

Proposition 4.2.2. We have a decomposition

$$H^1(C,\mathbb{Q}) = \bigoplus_{r|m} N^1(C_r,\mathbb{Q})$$

into rational Hodge structures and a natural embedding

$$\operatorname{Hg}(C) \hookrightarrow \prod_{r|m} \operatorname{Hg}(N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q}))$$

such that the natural projections

$$\operatorname{Hg}(C) \to \operatorname{Hg}(N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q}))$$

are surjective for all r.

Remark 4.2.3. Note that the preceding section yields a corresponding statement about the Zariski closures of the monodromy group of $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{Q})$ and the restricted representations monodromy representations on the different $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$. These two facts will play a very important role.

4.3 Upper bounds for the Mumford-Tate groups of the direct summands

The different $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ on the fibers induce a decomposition of $R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{Q})$ into a direct sum of local systems $\mathcal{N}^1(\mathcal{C}_r, \mathbb{Q})$. Now we consider the induced variations \mathcal{V}_r of rational Hodge structures on the local systems $\mathcal{N}^1(\mathcal{C}_r, \mathbb{Q})$. Let Q_r denote the alternating form on $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ obtained by the restriction of the intersection form Q of the curve C. One has that each element of $\rho(\pi_1(\mathcal{P}_n))$ commutes with the Galois group. The same holds true for the image of the homomorphism

$$h: \mathbb{S} \to \mathrm{GSp}(H^1(C, \mathbb{R}), Q)$$

corresponding to the Hodge structure of an arbitrary fiber. Since the Galois group respects the intersection form, its representation on $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ is contained in $\operatorname{Sp}(N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q}), Q_r)$. Let $C_r(\psi)$ denote the centralizer of the Galois group in $\operatorname{Sp}(N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q}), Q_r)$ and $GC_r(\psi)$ denote the centralizer of the Galois group in $\operatorname{GSp}(N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q}), Q_r)$. One concludes:

Proposition 4.3.1. The centralizer $GC_r(\psi)$ contains the generic Mumford-Tate group $MT(\mathcal{V}_r)$. Moreover the centralizer $C_r(\psi)$ contains the generic Hodge group $Hg(\mathcal{V}_r)$ and $Mon^0(\mathcal{V}_r)$.

We write

$$C(\psi) := \prod_{r|m} C_r(\psi).$$

Remark 4.3.2. If $r \neq \frac{m}{2}$, the preceding proposition yields some information. In the case $r = \frac{m}{2}$ the elements of the Galois group act as the multiplication with 1 or -1 on $N^1(C_{\frac{m}{2}}, \mathbb{Q})$. Since id resp., -id is contained in the center of $\operatorname{Sp}(N^1(C_{\frac{m}{2}}, \mathbb{Q}), Q_{\frac{m}{2}})$, this proposition does not give any new information in this case.

Now let us assume that $r \neq \frac{m}{2}$. We describe $C_r(\psi)$ by its \mathbb{R} -valued points. Let ξ^j be a $\frac{m}{r}$ -th. primitive root of unity such that $H^1_j(C, \mathbb{C}) \subset N^1(C_r, \mathbb{C})$, $v \in H^1_j(C, \mathbb{C})$ and $M \in C_r(\psi)(\mathbb{R})$. Then one gets

$$\psi M(v) = M(\psi v) = M(\xi^j v) = \xi^j M(v).$$

Thus M leaves each $H_i^1(C, \mathbb{C})$ invariant.

For our description of $C_r(\psi)$ we introduce the trace map

$$\operatorname{tr}: \operatorname{GL}(H^1_i(C,\mathbb{C})) \to \operatorname{GL}(\Re \mathbb{V}(j)_{\mathbb{R}})$$

given by

$$\operatorname{GL}(H_j^1(C,\mathbb{C})) \ni N \to N \times \overline{N} \in \operatorname{GL}(H_j^1(C,\mathbb{C})) \times \operatorname{GL}(H_{m-j}^1(C,\mathbb{C})), \quad (4.3)$$

where \overline{N} denotes the matrix, which satisfies that $\overline{N}\overline{v} = \overline{Nv}$ for all $v \in H_j^1(C, \mathbb{C})$. Recall that we have a fixed complex structure. Thus one checks easily that $N \times \overline{N}$ leaves $\Re \mathbb{V}(j)_{\mathbb{R}}$ invariant. Hence we consider it as a real matrix.

For the Hermitian form $H(\cdot, \cdot) := iE(\cdot, \overline{\cdot})$ and $v, w \in H^1_i(C, \mathbb{C})$ one obtains

$$H(v,w) = iE(v,\bar{w}) = iE(Mv,M\bar{w}) = iE(Mv,\overline{Mw}) = H(Mv,Mw).$$

Thus the matrix $M|_{\Re \mathbb{V}(j)_{\mathbb{R}}}$ is contained in $\operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{U}(H^1_j(C,\mathbb{C}),H|_{H^1_{m-i}(C,\mathbb{C})})).$

Assume conversely that $M \in GL(N^1(C_r, \mathbb{C}))$ satisfies that

$$M|_{\Re \mathbb{V}(j)_{\mathbb{R}}} \in \operatorname{tr}(\mathbb{U}(H_{j}^{1}(C,\mathbb{C}),H|_{H_{j}^{1}(C,\mathbb{C})}))$$

for each $\frac{m}{r}$ -th. primitive root of unity ξ^j . Since M fixes all $H_j^1(C, \mathbb{C}) \subset N^1(C_r, \mathbb{C})$, it commutes with the Galois group representation on $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{R})$. Now let $N \in \mathrm{GL}(H_j^1(C, \mathbb{C}))$ be the matrix with $\mathrm{tr}(N) = M|_{\Re \mathbb{V}(j)_{\mathbb{R}}}$. One has that

$$iE(v,\bar{w}) = iE(Nv,\overline{Nw}) \Leftrightarrow E(v,\bar{w}) = E(Nv,\overline{Nw})$$

for all $v, w \in H^1_i(C, \mathbb{C})$. By the fact that E is an alternating form, one gets

$$E(\bar{v}, w) = E(\overline{Nv}, Nw),$$

too. The elements of $\Re \mathbb{V}(j)_{\mathbb{C}}$ are given by $v_1 + \bar{v}_2$ and $w_1 + \bar{w}_2$ with

$$v_1, v_2, w_1, w_2 \in H^1_i(C, \mathbb{C}).$$

Thus one concludes that

$$E(v_1 + \bar{v}_2, w_1 + \bar{w}_2) = E(v_1, \bar{w}_2) + E(\bar{v}_2, w_1) = E(Nv_1, \overline{Nw_2}) + E(\overline{Nv_2}, Nw_1)$$

= $E(Mv_1, M\bar{w}_2) + E(M\bar{v}_2, Mw_1) = E(M(v_1 + \bar{v}_2), M(w_1 + \bar{w}_2)).$

Hence M is contained in the symplectic group. Altogether we conclude:

Theorem 4.3.3. If $r \neq \frac{m}{2}$, the group Lie $C_r(\psi)(\mathbb{R})$ is isomorphic to the direct product of the Lie groups given by the \mathbb{R} -valued points of the unitary groups over $\Re \mathbb{V}(j)_{\mathbb{R}} \subset N^1(C_r, \mathbb{R})$ induced by the trace maps and the unitary groups $\mathrm{U}(H_i^1(C, \mathbb{C}), H|_{H_i^1(C, \mathbb{C})})$.

Recall the definition of the type (a, b) of an eigenspace \mathcal{L}_j in Remark 3.2.5. If there is an eigenspace of $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{C})$ of type (a, b) with a > 0 and b > 0, we call $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ general. Otherwise we call it special. Now assume that $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ is special. In this case $h(\mathbb{S})$ is contained in the center of $GC_r(\psi)_{\mathbb{R}}$, and $h(S^1)$ is contained in the center of $C_r(\psi)_{\mathbb{R}}$. Thus one concludes:

Remark 4.3.4. Assume that $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ is special. Then the center $Z(GC_r(\psi))$ of $GC_r(\psi)$ contains $MT(\mathcal{V}_r)$. Moreover the center $Z(C_r(\psi))$ of $C_r(\psi)$ contains $Hg(\mathcal{V}_r)$.

Remark 4.3.5. One has that $C_r(\psi)_{\mathbb{R}}$ consists of $U(s)^t$ for some $s, t \in \mathbb{N}_0$, if $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ is special. Thus in this case the monodromy group is a discrete sub-group of the compact group $U(s)^t$. Hence it is finite and $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}_r)$ is trivial in this case.

4.4 A criterion for complex multiplication

In this short section we find a sufficient condition for the existence of a dense set of CM fibers of a family of cyclic covers. By technical reasons, we do not consider the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$, but a family over the space \mathcal{M}_n , which can be considered as the quotient

$$\mathcal{M}_n = \mathcal{P}_n / \mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C}).$$

One has an embedding $\iota_{a,b,c} : \mathcal{M}_n \to \mathcal{P}_n$, too. Its image is the subspace of \mathcal{P}_n , which parametrizes the maps $\phi : N \to \mathbb{P}^1$ satisfying $\phi(a) = 0$, $\phi(b) = 1$ and $\phi(c) = \infty$ for some fixed $a, b, c \in N$ (compare to [18], 3.7).

Remark 4.4.1. One can move 3 arbitrary branch points of a fiber of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ to 0, 1 and ∞ . Hence one has that all fibers of the geometric points of \mathcal{P}_n occur as fibers of the restricted family $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{M}_n} \to \mathcal{M}_n$, too. Hence the generic Hodge groups and the generic Mumford-Tate groups of the both families coincide.

4.4.2. Each curve C with g(C) > 1 has at most 84(g-1) automorphisms (see [26], **IV**. Exercise 2.5). Thus C can have only finitely many cyclic covering maps onto \mathbb{P}^1 with different Galois groups. Moreover, there is an automorphism α of \mathbb{P}^1 , if the Galois groups of the covers of \mathcal{C}_{p_1} and \mathcal{C}_{p_2} can be conjugate by an isomorphism ι such that the following diagram commutes:



Thus C occurs only as finitely many fibers of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{M}_n}$, if $g(C) \geq 2$.

Recall that we have defined the type of an eigenspace \mathcal{L}_j in Remark 3.2.5.

Definition 4.4.3. A family $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of cyclic covers has a pure (1, n) - VHS, if it has its VHS only one eigenspace \mathcal{L}_j of type (1, n) such that \mathcal{L}_{m-j} is of type (n, 1), and all other eigenspaces are of type (a, 0) or of type (0, b) for some $a, b \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Theorem 4.4.4. Let $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{M}_n} \to \mathcal{M}_n$ be a family of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 and C be a fiber with $g(C) \geq 2$ as before. Assume that C has a pure (1, n) - VHS. Then the family $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{M}_n} \to \mathcal{M}_n$ has a dense set of complex multiplication fibers.

Proof. We have to show that over an arbitrary open simply connected subset W of $\mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{C})$ there are infinitely many CM points of the VHS of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{M}_n}$. Let $q_0 \in W$ and \mathcal{L}_j be the eigenspace of type (1, n). We have a trivialization

$$R^1\pi_*(\mathbb{C})|_W = H^1(\mathcal{C}_{q_0},\mathbb{C}) \times W$$
 such that $\mathcal{L}_j|_W \cong H^1_j(\mathcal{C}_{q_0},\mathbb{C}) \times W$

Let $q \in W$ and $\varpi_q^{(j)} \in H_j^{1,0}(\mathcal{C}_q) \setminus \{0\}$. By the holomorphic *VHS* of the family, one obtains a holomorphic "fractional period" map

$$p: W \to \mathbb{P}(H^1_i(\mathcal{C}_{q_0}, \mathbb{C})) \text{ via } q \to [\varpi_q^{(j)}].$$

By the assumptions, the integral Hodge structure depends uniquely on the class $[\varpi_q^{(j)}] \in \mathbb{P}(H_j^1(\mathcal{C}_{q_0}, \mathbb{C}))$. Since for each fiber there are only finitely many isomorphic fibers (see 4.4.2) and two curves have isomorphic polarized integral Hodge structures, if and only if they are isomorphic, the fibers of p have the dimension 0. Thus [49], Chapter **VII**. Proposition 4 and the fact that

$$\dim W = \dim \mathbb{P}(H_j^1(\mathcal{C}_{q_0}, \mathbb{C}))$$

tell us that p is open.

The natural embedding $C(\psi) \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(H^1(\mathcal{C}_{q_0}, \mathbb{C}))$ induces a holomorphic variation of Hodge structures over the bounded symmetric domain associated with $C(\psi)(\mathbb{R})/K$ (see Theorem 1.4.11). This VHS depends uniquely on the fractional VHS on the eigenspace $H^1_j(\mathcal{C}_{q_0}, \mathbb{C})$ of type (1, n). Hence this VHS yields a holomorphic injection

$$\varphi: C(\psi)(\mathbb{R})/K \to \mathbb{P}(H^1_i(\mathcal{C}_{q_0},\mathbb{C})).$$

Recall that that homogeneous space $C(\psi)(\mathbb{R})/K$ parametrizes the integral Hodge structures of type (1,0), (0,1) on $H^1(\mathcal{C}_{q_0}, \mathbb{C})$, whose Hodge group is contained in $C(\psi)$. Hence altogether the map $\varphi^{-1} \circ p$, which assigns to each fiber \mathcal{C}_q its integral Hodge structure, is open. Since the set of CM points on $C(\psi)(\mathbb{R})/K$ is dense (see Theorem 1.7.2), this yields the desired statement.

Chapter 5 The computation of the Hodge group

Recall that \mathcal{P}_n is the configuration space of n + 3 points and $\mathcal{M}_n = \mathcal{P}_n/\mathrm{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})$. In this chapter we try to compute the derived group $\mathrm{Hg}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V})$ of the generic Hodge group of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ by using $\mathrm{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V})$. We will get many information and for infinitely many examples we will obtain

$$\mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V}) = \mathrm{Hg}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V}) = \mathrm{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}) = C^{\mathrm{der}}(\psi).$$

Our motivation is to try to prove that the criterion of Theorem 4.4.4 given by the existence of a pure (1, n) - VHS is also necessary under some additional assumptions. Finally we will see that a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}_1$ induces an open period map

$$p: \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathcal{V})/K,$$

if and only if it has a pure (1, 1) - VHS.

In Section 5.1 we show that for all eigenspaces \mathcal{L}_j of type (p, q) with p, q > 0the group $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{R}}^0(\Re V(j))$ is given by the unitary group of the Hermitian form on \mathcal{L}_j with respect to the polarization, if $j \neq \frac{m}{2}$ or \mathcal{L}_j is of type (1, 1). We make some general observations about $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}_r)$ in Section 5.2. Since $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}_r) \subset C_r^{\operatorname{der}}(\psi)$, the latter group is an upper bound of $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}_r)$. For $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}_r)$ we give a sufficient criterion of the reaching of this upper bound in Section 5.3. In Section 5.4 we consider the exceptional cases, which do not satisfy this sufficient criterion. We see that $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{R}}^0(\mathcal{V}_r)$ is a proper subgroup of $C_r^{\operatorname{der}}(\psi)_{\mathbb{R}}$ in some of these cases. For completeness we show that $\operatorname{Hg}(\mathcal{V}) \cong$ $\operatorname{Sp}_{\mathbb{Q}}(2g)$ in the case of an universal family of hyperelliptic curves of genus g in Section 5.5. In Section 5.6 we collect the previous results and consider $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V})$. W! e finish this section with the proof of the result that a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}_1$ induces an open period map

$$p: \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathcal{V})/K,$$

if and only if it has a pure (1, 1) - VHS.

J.C. Rohde, Cyclic Coverings, Calabi-Yau Manifolds and Complex Multiplication, 91
Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1975, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-00639-5_6,
© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009

5.1 The monodromy group of an eigenspace

Let $j \in \{1, \ldots, m-1\}$. Then we have an eigenspace \mathcal{L}_j in the variation of Hodge structures of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of cyclic degree m covers of \mathbb{P}^1 . There are $p, q \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that the eigenspace $H_j^1(C, \mathbb{C})$ of an arbitrary fiber C is of type (p, q), where (p, q) is the signature of the restricted polarization of the latter eigenspace. The type of \mathcal{L}_j is given by the type of $H_j^1(C, \mathbb{C})$. The embedding $\mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$ allows to consider $H_j^1(C, \mathbb{C})$ as \mathbb{R} -vector space. Let $\mathrm{Mon}^0(\mathcal{L}_j)$ denote the identity component of the Zariski closure of the monodromy group of \mathcal{L}_j in $\mathrm{GL}_{\mathbb{R}}(H_j^1(C, \mathbb{C}))$.

We show in this section:

Theorem 5.1.1. Let \mathcal{L}_j be of type (p,q) with $p,q \ge 1$. Moreover assume that $j \neq \frac{m}{2}$ or p = q = 1. Then

$$\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j}) = \operatorname{SU}(p, q).$$

If p = 0 or q = 0, the statement of the preceding theorem does not hold true in general as one can conclude by Remark 4.3.5.

We give a proof of Theorem 5.1.1 by induction over the integer given by p+q.

By the following lemma, we start the proof of Theorem 5.1.1:

Lemma 5.1.2. If \mathcal{L}_j is of type (1,1), its monodromy group contains infinitely many elements.

Proof. There are two cases: In the first case there are some local monodromy data α_1 and α_2 of the eigenspace \mathbb{L}_j in $(\pi_q)_*(\mathbb{C}_C)|_{\mathbb{P}^1\setminus S_j}$ for the fiber $C := \mathcal{C}_q$ of some arbitrary $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$ such that $\alpha_1 \alpha_2 = 1$. In this case the Dehn twist $T_{1,2}$ yields a unipotent triangular matrix (follows by Proposition 3.3.5) and we are done.

Otherwise each Dehn twist $T_{k,\ell}$ provides a semisimple matrix, where its eigenvalues are given by 1 and a *m*-th. root of unity. Note that the matrices induced by the Dehn twists $T_{1,2}$ and $T_{2,3}$ do not commute. In the considered case $\{a_1, a_2\}, \{a_3, a_4\}$ is a stable partition. Hence one can choose the basis $\mathcal{B} = \{[e_1\gamma_1], [e_3\gamma_3]\}$ of $H_1^j(C, \mathbb{C})$. By the fact that these two cycles do not intersect each other, this basis is orthogonal with respect to the Hermitian form induced by the intersection form. Hence by normalization, this basis is orthonormal with respect to the Hermitian form such that the Hermitian form is without loss of generality given by diag(1, -1) with respect to \mathcal{B} . The matrix induced by $T_{1,2}$ is given by diag $(\xi, 1)$ with respect to \mathcal{B} does not commute with diag $(\xi, 1)$, it is not a diagonal matrix. Now we compute the commutator

$$K = A \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\xi, 1) \cdot A^{-1} \cdot \operatorname{diag}(\overline{\xi}, 1).$$

Since the monodromy representation respects the Hermitian form on the eigenspace, one can replace A by a non-diagonal matrix in SU(1,1) and the matrix $diag(\xi, 1)$ by $diag(e, \bar{e}) \in SU(1, 1)$, where $e^2 = \xi$, for the computation of K. By [54], page 59, one has a description of the matrices in $SU(1, 1)(\mathbb{R})$ such that

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ \bar{b} & \bar{a} \end{pmatrix} \operatorname{diag}(e, \bar{e}) \begin{pmatrix} \bar{a} & -b \\ -\bar{b} & a \end{pmatrix} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{e}, e) = \begin{pmatrix} a\bar{a} - e^{-2}b\bar{b} & ab - e^{2}ab \\ \bar{a}\bar{b} - e^{-2}\bar{a}\bar{b} & a\bar{a} - e^{2}b\bar{b} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hence

$$tr(K) - 2 = 2a\bar{a} - 2\Re(e^2)b\bar{b} - 2 = 2a\bar{a} - 2\Re(e^2)b\bar{b} - a\bar{a} + b\bar{b} - 1$$

$$\geq (a\bar{a} - |\Re(e^2)|b\bar{b}) + (b\bar{b} - |\Re(e^2)|b\bar{b}) - 1 \geq a\bar{a} - |\Re(e^2)|b\bar{b} - 1 \geq 0.$$

If the eigenvalues of K would be roots of unity (if it is not unipotent), one would have |tr(K)| < 2. Hence by the fact that $tr(K) \ge 2$, one concludes that K is unipotent or has eigenvalues v with $|v| \ne 1$. In both cases K has infinite order.

For the proof of Theorem 5.1.1 we need to recall some facts about complex simple Lie algebras. The complex simple Lie algebra $\mathfrak{sl}_n(\mathbb{C})$ will be very important:

Remark 5.1.3. The Lie algebra $\mathfrak{sl}_n(\mathbb{C})$ is given by

$$\mathfrak{sl}_n(\mathbb{C}) = \{ M \in M_{n \times n}(\mathbb{C}) : \operatorname{tr}(M) = 0 \}.$$

The Cartan subalgebra of $\mathfrak{sl}_n(\mathbb{C})$ is given by

$$\mathfrak{h} = \{ \operatorname{diag}(a_1, \dots, a_n) : \sum_{i=1}^n a_i = 0 \}.$$

Each root space is given by the matrices $(a_{i,j})$, which have exactly one entry $a_{i_0,j_0} \neq 0$ for a fixed pair (i_0, j_0) with $i_0 \neq j_0$.

We want to show a statement about unitary groups, and not about special linear groups. The fact, which makes $\mathfrak{sl}_n(\mathbb{C})$ interesting for us, is given by the following remark:

Remark 5.1.4. We can obviously embed $\mathfrak{su}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R})$ into $\mathfrak{sl}_{p+q}(\mathbb{C})$, since $\mathrm{SU}(p,q)(\mathbb{R})$ is a Lie subgroup of $\mathrm{SL}_{p+q}(\mathbb{C})$. Moreover $i\mathfrak{su}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R})$ is a subvector space of $\mathfrak{sl}_{p+q}(\mathbb{C})$ (considered as real vector space). One has that

$$\mathfrak{su}_{p,q}(\mathbb{C}) = \mathfrak{su}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}) \oplus i\mathfrak{su}_{p,q}(\mathbb{R}) = \mathfrak{sl}_{p+q}(\mathbb{C}).$$

(see [21], page 433).

Moreover we need to compare the monodromy group of \mathcal{L}_j with the monodromy groups of some of its restrictions over certain subspaces of \mathcal{P}_n .

Remark 5.1.5. Consider some embedding $\iota_{a,b,c} : \mathcal{M}_n \hookrightarrow \mathcal{P}_n$. By the holomorphic diffeomorphism

$$\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C}) \times \iota_{a,b,c}(\mathcal{M}_n)(\mathbb{C}) \ni M \times q \to M(q) \in \mathcal{P}_n(\mathbb{C}),$$

we have that

$$\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C}) \times \mathcal{M}_n \cong \mathcal{P}_n \text{ and } \pi_1(\operatorname{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})) \times \pi_1(\mathcal{M}_n) \cong \pi_1(\mathcal{P}_n),$$

where $\pi_1(\text{PGL}_2(\mathbb{C})) \cong \mathbb{Z}/(2)$ (compare [18], 3.7 and [18], 3.15).

For technical reasons, we need to introduce an additional subspace of \mathcal{P}_n :

$$\mathcal{P}_n^{(a_k)} = \{ q \in \mathcal{P}_n | \phi_q(a_k) = \infty \}$$

Let G_T denote the group of triangular matrices given by

$$G_T = \{ \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ b & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in M_{2 \times 2}(\mathbb{C}) | a \neq 0 \}.$$

We have obviously an embedding $\iota_{a,b,c} : \mathcal{M}_n \hookrightarrow \mathcal{P}_n^{(a_{n+3})}$ such that we get a holomorphic diffeomorphism

$$G_T \times \iota_{a,b,c}(\mathcal{M}_n)(\mathbb{C}) \ni M \times q \to M(q) \in \mathcal{P}_n^{(a_{n+3})}(\mathbb{C}).$$

Hence we have that

$$G_T \times \mathcal{M}_n \cong \mathcal{P}_n^{(a_{n+3})}$$
 and $\pi_1(G_T) \times \pi_1(\mathcal{M}_n) \cong \pi_1(\mathcal{P}_n^{(a_{n+3})}),$

where $\pi_1(G_T) \cong \mathbb{Z}/(2)$.

The space $\mathcal{P}_n^{(a_{n+3})}$ has a natural interpretation as configuration space of n+2 points on \mathbb{R}^2 . Its fundamental group is the colored braid group on n+2 strands in \mathbb{R}^2 .

Lemma 5.1.6. The fundamental group of the configuration space of n + 2 points on \mathbb{R}^2 is generated by the Dehn twists T_{k_1,k_2} with $1 \le k_1 < k_2 \le n+2$.

Proof. (see [24], Chapter I. 4)

5.1.7. By the preceding results, the monodromy groups of \mathcal{L}_j , $(\mathcal{L}_j)_{\mathcal{M}_n}$ and $(\mathcal{L}_j)_{\mathcal{P}_n^{(a_{n+3})}}$ are commensurable. Therefore their \mathbb{R} -Zariski closures have the same connected component of identity. Thus we do not need to distinguish between them and we will call all of them simply $\mathrm{Mon}^0(\mathcal{L}_j)$.

Again assume that \mathcal{L}_j is of type (1, 1). By Lemma 5.1.6, the monodromy group $\rho_j(\pi_1(\mathcal{P}_1^{(a_4)}))$ of $(\mathcal{L}_j)_{\mathcal{P}_1^{(a_4)}}$ is generated by the matrices $\rho_j(T_{k,\ell})$ for $k, \ell \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. For each Dehn twist T one can choose a suitable numbering of the branch points such that $T = T_{1,2}$. Hence by Proposition 3.3.5, one concludes that the generators of the monodromy group are contained in the group given by

$$\{M \in GL_2(\mathbb{C}) | \det(M)^m = 1\}.$$

Since $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j})$ is contained in U(1,1), one concludes that $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j}) \subseteq$ SU(1,1). Thus the complexification of the Lie algebra of $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j})$ is contained in $\mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{C})$. Note that the real Zariski closure $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathfrak{RV}(j)_{\mathbb{R}})$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j})$ and $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathfrak{RV}(j)_{\mathbb{R}})$ is a quotient of the semisimple group $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_{r})$. Thus by the kernel, which is semisimple, we have an exact sequence of algebraic groups. This yields an exact sequence of semisimple Lie algebras such that $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j})$ must be semisimple. One has that $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathcal{L}_{j}) \subseteq \operatorname{SU}_{\mathbb{C}}(1,1)$. Since $\mathfrak{su}_{1,1}(\mathbb{C}) = \mathfrak{sl}_{2}(\mathbb{C})$ is the smallest semisimple non-trivial complex Lie algebra (see [21], §14.1, Step 3) and $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j})$ is infinite by Lemma 5.1.2, one concludes:

Proposition 5.1.8. If \mathcal{L}_j is of type (1,1), then $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{L}_j) = \operatorname{SU}(1,1)$.

Recall that we want to give a proof of Theorem 5.1.1 by induction. The following construction explains our method to compare the monodromy groups of eigenspaces of different type, which we will need for the induction:

Construction 5.1.9 (Collision of points). Let \mathbb{L}_j be an eigenspace in the cohomology of a fiber $C = C_q$ with the local monodromy data α_k on a_k . Now let

$$b := \{a_{n_i+2}, a_{n_i+3}\}$$
 and $P = \{\{a_1\}, \dots, \{a_{n_i+1}\}, b\}$

be a stable partition of $N = \{a_1, \ldots, a_{n_j+3}\}$. Let $\phi_P : P \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be some embedding and the local system $\mathbb{L}(P)_j$ on $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \phi_P(P)$ have the local monodromy data

 $\alpha_b = \alpha_{a_{n_i+2}} \alpha_{a_{n_i+3}}$ and otherwise $\alpha_{\{a_k\}} = \alpha_{a_k}$.

By Construction 3.2.1, these monodromy data allow the construction of a family of cyclic covers

$$\pi(P): \mathcal{C}(P) \to \mathcal{P}_{n_j-1}.$$

The higher direct image sheaf $R^1 \pi(P)_*(\mathbb{C})$ has an eigenspace with respect to the character given by 1, which we denote by $\mathcal{L}(P)_j$.¹ By the description of the respective monodromy representations in Proposition 3.3.5, we can

 $^{^1}$ This definition may seem to be a little bit odd. But it is motivated by some reasons, which should become clearer by Remark 5.1.10.

identify the monodromy group of $(\mathcal{L}(P)_j)_{\mathcal{P}_{n_j-1}^{(b)}}$ with the subgroup of the monodromy group of $(\mathcal{L}_j)_{\mathcal{P}_n^{(a_{n_3})}}$ generated by the Dehn twists $T_{a_{k_1},a_{k_2}}$ with $k_1, k_2 \leq n_j + 1$.

Remark 5.1.10. The local system $\mathcal{L}(P)_j$ is in general not the *j*-th. eigenspace of a family of irreducible covers of degree *m* obtained by a collision of two branch points of a family of irreducible covers of degree *m*. The problem is given by the irreducibility of the resulting family obtained by collision. Take for example the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_2$ with generic fibers given by

$$y^4 = (x - a_1)(x - a_2)(x - a_3)^2 \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_5)^2.$$

By the collision of a_1 and a_2 , one does not obtain an irreducible family of degree 4 covers. But the resulting local system $\mathcal{L}(P)_1$ is the eigenspace with respect to the character 1 on the higher direct image sheaf of the family $\mathcal{C}(P) \to \mathcal{P}_1$ with generic fibers given by

$$y^2 = (x - a_1) \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_4).$$

Now let \mathcal{L}_j be of type (p,q) with p,q > 0. By the collision of two points and Proposition 2.3.4, one gets an eigenspace of type (p,q-1) or of type (p-1,q), if there is a suitable corresponding stable partition. A little bit later we will see that this construction yields an induction step such that the statement of Theorem 5.1.1 for local systems of type (p,q-1) (if $p,q-1 \ge 1$) and of type (p-1,q) (if $p-1,q \ge 1$) implies the statement of Theorem 5.1.1 for local systems of type (p,q).

For the application of the step of induction we will need a pair of stable partitions such that the resulting two eigenspaces satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 5.1.1. Moreover one can assume that for each fiber S_j contains at least 5 different points. Otherwise \mathcal{L}_j is of type (1, 1) or unitary. By the following technical lemma, we start to show that there exists a suitable pair of stable partitions, if the assumptions of Theorem 5.1.1 are satisfied and if S_j contains at least 5 points:

Lemma 5.1.11. Assume that $j \neq \frac{m}{2}$. Then there is an $a_k \in S_j$ with $\mu_k \neq \frac{1}{2}$.

Proof. Assume that all $a_k \in S_j$ satisfy $\mu_k = \frac{1}{2}$ and $j \neq \frac{m}{2}$. One has that C_r (with $r = \gcd(m, j)$) is a family of irreducible cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 of degree $\frac{m}{r} > 2$ given by μ_1, \ldots, μ_{n+3} in the sense of Construction 3.2.1. By the assumption that all $a_k \in S_j$ satisfy $\mu_k = \frac{1}{2}$, each branch point has the same branch index $\frac{m}{2r}$, which divides the degree $\frac{m}{r}$. Since we assume that $j \neq \frac{m}{2}$, one concludes that the branch indices given by $\frac{m}{2r}$ are not 1. Thus C_r is not a family of irreducible cyclic covers. Contradiction!

Next we show that a $\mu_k \neq \frac{1}{2}$ yields two stable partitions:

Lemma 5.1.12. Assume that S_j contains at least 5 different points such that there is an $a_k \in S_j$ with $\mu_k \neq \frac{1}{2}$. Then there are some pairwise different $\mu_h, \mu_i, \mu_s, \mu_t \in S_j$ such that

$$\mu_h + \mu_i \neq 1$$
, and $\mu_s + \mu_t \neq 1$.

Proof. Assume that each pair $h, i' \in \{1, \ldots, n+3\}$ with $h \neq i'$ satisfies $\mu_h + \mu_{i'} = 1$. This implies that $\mu_h = \mu_{i'} = \frac{1}{2}$ for each pair h, i'. But this contradicts the assumptions of this lemma. Hence by the assumptions, there must be a pair (h, i') such that $\mu_h + \mu_{i'} \neq 1$.

Now consider $S'_j := S_j \setminus \{a_h, a_{i'}\}$. Let us assume that each pair $a_{s'}, a_{t'} \in S'_j$ with $s' \neq t'$ satisfies $\mu_{s'} + \mu_{t'} = 1$. Since $|S'_j| \geq 3$, one concludes that $\mu_{s'} = \mu_{t'} = \frac{1}{2}$. Since $\mu_h = \frac{1}{2}$ or $\mu_{i'} = \frac{1}{2}$ would contradict the assumptions in this case, one concludes that $\mu_h, \mu_{i'} \neq \frac{1}{2}$. Hence put i := s', s := i', t := t', and we are done in this case.

If there are $a_{s'}, a_{t'} \in S'_j$ with $s' \neq t'$ and $\mu_{s'} + \mu_{t'} \neq 1$, we put i := i', s := s', t := t', and we are done.

By Lemma 5.1.11 and Lemma 5.1.12, one concludes immediately:

Corollary 5.1.13. Assume that S_j contains at least 5 different points and $j \neq \frac{m}{2}$. Then there are some pairwise different $\mu_h, \mu_i, \mu_s, \mu_t \in S_j$ such that

$$\mu_h + \mu_i \neq 1$$
, and $\mu_s + \mu_t \neq 1$.

Remark 5.1.14. The condition that

$$\mu_h + \mu_i \neq 1$$
, and $\mu_s + \mu_t \neq 1$

implies that

$$(\mu_h \neq \frac{1}{2} \text{ or } \mu_i \neq \frac{1}{2}) \text{ and } (\mu_s \neq \frac{1}{2} \text{ or } \mu_t \neq \frac{1}{2}).$$

Therefore the resulting eigenspace obtained by the collision of a_h and a_i resp., a_s and a_t satisfies that there is a local monodromy datum $\mu_k \neq \frac{1}{2}$. Hence the resulting eigenspace is not a middle part $\mathcal{L}_{\frac{m}{2}}$ of the VHS of the family obtained by the respective collision of two points. It remains to ensure that the resulting eigenspaces are not of type (a, 0) resp., (0, b) in order to satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 5.1.1 in this case.

5.1.15. Assume that \mathcal{L}_j is of type (1, n) with n > 1. By Proposition 2.3.4, one calculates that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n+3} \mu_i = 2$$

in this case. One can choose the indices such that

$$\mu_1 \leq \ldots \leq \mu_{n+3}.$$

Hence one has

$$\mu_1 + \mu_3 \le \mu_2 + \mu_4 \le \mu_3 + \mu_5.$$

By the fact that

$$(\mu_2 + \mu_4) + (\mu_3 + \mu_5) < 2$$
 and $\mu_2 + \mu_4 \le \frac{1}{2}((\mu_2 + \mu_4) + (\mu_3 + \mu_5)),$

one has

$$\mu_1 + \mu_3 \le \mu_2 + \mu_4 < 1.$$

Since the local systems with respect to the corresponding stable partitions of the collision of a_1 and a_3 resp., the collision of a_2 and a_4 are of type (1, n-1) as one can calculate by Proposition 2.3.4, one can apply the induction hypothesis for these partitions.

Now let \mathcal{L}_j be of type (n, 1). Then the monodromy representation of \mathcal{L}_j is the complex conjugate of the monodromy representation of \mathcal{L}_{m-j} , which is of type (1, n) in this case. Hence first the induction step yields the statement for all \mathcal{L}_j of type (1, n). Then we have the statement for all \mathcal{L}_j of type (n, 1), too.

Assume that \mathcal{L}_j is of type (p, q) with $p, q \geq 2$ and satisfies the assumptions of Theorem 5.1.1. By Corollary 5.1.13, one has a pair of stable partitions. Remark 5.1.14 and the fact that $p, q \geq 2$ imply that the corresponding eigenspaces satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 5.1.1, too.

Now we must only prove and explain the step of induction:

One has without loss of generality the stable partitions

$$P_1 = \{\{a_1\}, \dots, \{a_{n+1}\}, \{a_{n+2}, a_{n+3}\}\}, \text{ and } P_2 = \{\{a_1, a_2\}, \{a_3\}, \dots, \{a_{n+3}\}\}.$$

Here we assume without loss of generality that $a_k \in \mathbb{R}$ and $a_k < a_{k+1}$ such that δ_k is the oriented path from a_k to a_{k+1} given by the straight line.

Let $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$. We consider the monodromy representation with respect to the basis \mathcal{B} of $(\mathcal{L}_j)_q$ given by

$$\mathcal{B} = \{ [e_1\delta_1], \dots, [e_n\delta_n], [e_{n+2}\delta_{n+2}] \}.$$

One has obviously that $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j}(P_{1}))$ leaves $\langle [e_{1}\delta_{1}], \ldots, [e_{n}\delta_{n}] \rangle$ invariant and fixes all vectors in $\langle [e_{n+2}\delta_{n+2}] \rangle$. Now let U_{1} be a small open neighborhood of the identity in $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j}(P_{1}))(\mathbb{R})$ such that the "inverse"

$$\log: U_1 \to Lie(\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{L}_j(P_1)))$$

of the exponential map is defined on U_1 . By Remark 5.1.4 and the induction hypothesis, $\log(U_1)$ generates a Lie algebra, whose complexification L_1 is with respect to \mathcal{B} given by the matrices

$$\begin{pmatrix} a_{1,1} & \dots & a_{1,n} & 0\\ \vdots & & \vdots & \vdots\\ a_{n,1} & \dots & a_{n,n} & 0\\ 0 & \dots & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ where } N := \begin{pmatrix} a_{1,1} & \dots & a_{1,n}\\ \vdots & & \vdots\\ a_{n,1} & \dots & a_{n,n} \end{pmatrix}$$

is an arbitrary $n \times n$ matrix with $\operatorname{tr}(N) = 0$. Note that $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{L}_j(P_2))$ fixes all vectors in $\langle [e_1\delta_1] \rangle$ and leaves $\langle [e_3\delta_3], \ldots, [e_{n+2}\delta_{n_2}] \rangle$ invariant. Hence in a similar way $\log(U_2)$ ($e \in U_2 \subset \operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{L}_j(P_2))(\mathbb{R})$) generates a Lie algebra. Its complexification L_2 is given by the matrices

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & v \\ 0 & N \end{pmatrix},$$

where N is again an arbitrary $n \times n$ matrix with tr(N) = 0 and

$$v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$$

is a vector depending on N. It is easy to see that L_1 and L_2 generate $\mathfrak{sl}_{n+1}(\mathbb{C})$.

Since $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j})$ is contained in $\operatorname{SU}(p,q)$ and $\mathfrak{su}_{p,q} \otimes \mathbb{C} \cong \mathfrak{sl}_{n+1}(\mathbb{C})$, the group $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j})$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{SU}(p,q)$.

5.2 The Hodge group of a general direct summand

The VHS of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ has a decomposition into rational subvariations \mathcal{V}_r of Hodge structures, which where introduced in Section 4.3. Recall that \mathcal{V}_r is general, if its monodromy group is infinite. Otherwise we call it special. Let $r \neq \frac{m}{2}$, \mathcal{V}_r be general and $\mathcal{L}_j \subset \mathcal{V}_r$ in this section. Moreover recall that $\operatorname{Mon}^0_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_r)_q$ denotes the connected component of identity of the Zariski closure of the monodromy group in $\operatorname{GL}(((\mathcal{V}_r)_{\mathbb{R}})_q)$ for some $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$. Since $\operatorname{Mon}^0_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_r)_{q_1}$ and $\operatorname{Mon}^0_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_r)_{q_2}$ are conjugated, we write $\operatorname{Mon}^0_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_r)$ instead of $\operatorname{Mon}^0_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_r)_q$ for simplicity.

Remark 5.2.1. The group $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_{r})$ does not need to be equal to $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r}) \times_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$. It satisfies only $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_{r}) \subseteq \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r}) \times_{\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{R}$. Hence $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_{r})$ yields a lower bound for $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r})$. Thus one obtains

$$C_r^{\operatorname{der}}(\psi) = \operatorname{Hg}^{\operatorname{der}}(\mathcal{V}) = \operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}_r),$$

if $C_r^{\operatorname{der}}(\psi)_{\mathbb{R}} = \operatorname{Mon}^0_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_r).$

By the preceding section, we know that $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_{r}) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j})$ can be considered as the projection onto some $\operatorname{SU}(a, b)$, if \mathcal{L}_{j} is of type (a, b) with a, b > 0. Otherwise one can use induction with the corresponding stable partitions again. We only consider the start of induction:

Assume that $S_j = 4$. hence one has without loss of generality $\mathcal{C}_r \to \mathcal{P}_1$. By our assumptions, there is an eigenspace \mathcal{L}_{j_2} in $\mathcal{N}^1(\mathcal{C}_r, \mathbb{C})$ of type (1, 1), whose monodromy group is infinite. Since the monodromy group of \mathcal{L}_j is conjugated to the monodromy of \mathcal{L}_{j_2} by some $\gamma \in Gal(\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r); \mathbb{Q})$, it is infinite, too. One concludes similarly to the preceding section that $\mathrm{Mon}^0(\mathcal{L}_j) = \mathrm{SU}(2)$ (since $\mathfrak{su}_2(\mathbb{C}) = \mathfrak{sl}_2(\mathbb{C})$ by [21], page 433, too). The rest of the proof is an induction analogue to the induction of the preceding section.

By the preceding considerations, one has:

Proposition 5.2.2. Assume that \mathcal{V}_r is general. Then the image of the natural projection $\operatorname{Mon}^0_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_r) \to \operatorname{GL}(\Re \mathbb{V}(j)_{\mathbb{R}})$ is given by the special unitary group induced by the trace map and the special unitary group $\operatorname{SU}(H^1_j(C,\mathbb{C}),$ $H|_{H^1(C,\mathbb{C})})$ described in Section 4.3.

Moreover we know that $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{R}}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r})$ is contained in $C_{r}^{\operatorname{der}}(\psi)_{\mathbb{R}}$, which is given by a direct product of certain groups $\operatorname{SU}(a, b)$. Either $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r}) = C_{r}^{\operatorname{der}}(\psi)$ or it is given by a proper subgroup. We want to examine the conditions of the case $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r}) \neq C_{r}^{\operatorname{der}}(\psi)$. This will yield information and some criteria for the structure of $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r})$.

First let us make a simple, but very useful observation:

Remark 5.2.3. Let G_1, \ldots, G_t be connected simple Lie groups and $N \subset G_1 \times \ldots \times G_t =: G$ be a normal connected subgroup. One has that Lie(G) is a direct sum of the simple ideals $Lie(G_1), \ldots, Lie(G_t)$, which implies that each ideal is a sum of certain $Lie(G_i)$ (see [27], **II**. Corollary 6.3). Since the normal connected subgroups of G and the ideals of Lie(G) correspond (follows by [21], Proposition 8.41 and [21], Exercise 9.2), one obtains that

$$N = G_1 \times \ldots \times G_{t_0} \times \{e\} \times \ldots \times \{e\}$$

for some $t_0 \leq t$ with respect to a suitable numbering.

The decomposition of the rational Hodge structure $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q})$ into the $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)^+$ -Hodge structures $\Re \mathbb{V}(j)$ yields a decomposition of the variation \mathcal{V}_r of rational Hodge structures into the variations $\Re \mathcal{V}(j)$ of $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)^+$ -Hodge structures.

By technical reasons, we consider the semisimple adjoint group $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V}_r)$ instead of $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{R}}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_r)$ first. By Remark 5.2.3, one concludes that $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V}_r)$ is isomorphic to the direct product of $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j)_{\mathbb{R}})$ and the kernel K_j of the natural projection $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V}_r) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j)_{\mathbb{R}})$. Moreover one has: **Lemma 5.2.4.** Let G_1, \ldots, G_t be simple adjoint Lie groups and G be a semisimple subgroup of $G_1 \times \ldots \times G_t$ such that each natural projection

$$G \hookrightarrow G_1 \times \ldots \times G_t \xrightarrow{pr_j} G_j$$

is surjective. One has $G \neq G_1 \times \ldots \times G_t$, if and only if there are some $j_1, j_2 \in \{1, \ldots, t\}$ with $j_1 \neq j_2$ such that G contains a simple subgroup G' isomorphically mapped onto G_{j_1} and G_{j_2} by the natural projections.

Proof. The "if" part is easy to see. The "only if" part follows by induction. \Box

Note that we have a natural embedding

$$\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_r) \hookrightarrow \prod_{j \in \mathbb{Z}/\frac{m}{r}, j \leq \frac{m}{2}} \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\Re \mathcal{V}(j)_{\mathbb{R}}).$$

Thus the preceding lemma and our assumption that $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r}) \neq C_{r}^{\operatorname{der}}(\psi)$ imply that there is a direct simple factor of $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V}_{r})$, which isomorphically mapped onto $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_{1})_{\mathbb{R}})$ and $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_{2})_{\mathbb{R}})$ for some j_{1} and j_{2} with $j_{2} \neq j_{1}$ and $m - j_{1}$. By Remark 5.2.3, $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V}_{r})$ is a direct product of the kernel of the both projections and this direct simple factor.

Thus the natural projections onto $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_1)_{\mathbb{R}})$ and $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_2)_{\mathbb{R}})$ yield an isomorphism

$$\alpha^{\mathrm{ad}} : \mathrm{Mon}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_1)_{\mathbb{R}}) \to \mathrm{Mon}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_2)_{\mathbb{R}}).$$

Moreover one concludes that the image $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_1, j_2)_{\mathbb{R}})$ of the projection

$$\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{R}}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathcal{V}_r) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_1)_{\mathbb{R}}) \times \operatorname{Mon}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_2)_{\mathbb{R}})$$

is given by the graph of $\alpha^{\rm ad}$.

5.2.5. For the image $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathfrak{RV}(j_1, j_2)_{\mathbb{R}})$ of the projection

$$\operatorname{Mon}^{0}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_{r}) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\Re \mathcal{V}(j_{1})_{\mathbb{R}}) \times \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\Re \mathcal{V}(j_{2})_{\mathbb{R}})$$

this implies that the natural projections

$$p_1: \operatorname{Mon}^0(\Re \mathcal{V}(j_1, j_2)_{\mathbb{R}}) \to \operatorname{Mon}^0(\Re \mathcal{V}(j_1)_{\mathbb{R}})$$

and

$$p_2: \operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathfrak{RV}(j_1, j_2)_{\mathbb{R}}) \to \operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathfrak{RV}(j_2)_{\mathbb{R}})$$

are isogenies. Since

$$\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathfrak{R}\mathcal{V}(j_{1})_{\mathbb{R}})(\mathbb{C}) = \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathfrak{R}\mathcal{V}(j_{2})_{\mathbb{R}})(\mathbb{C}) = \operatorname{SL}_{a+b}(\mathbb{C}),$$

where (a, b) is the type of \mathcal{L}_{j_1} , and the Lie group $\mathrm{SL}_{a+b}(\mathbb{C})$ is simply connected (see [21], Proposition 23.1), the induced isogenies of Lie groups of \mathbb{C} -valued points are isomorphisms. Hence the isogenies p_1 and p_2 are isomorphisms.

Hence our assumption implies the existence of an isomorphism

$$\alpha: \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\Re \mathcal{V}(j_{1})_{\mathbb{R}}) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\Re \mathcal{V}(j_{2})_{\mathbb{R}}),$$

which satisfies that $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_1, j_2)_{\mathbb{R}})$ is given by $\operatorname{Graph}(\alpha)$.

5.3 A criterion for the reaching of the upper bound

In this section we give a necessary criterion for the existence of an isomorphism α . This yields a sufficient condition that $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}_r)$ reaches the upper bound $C_r^{\operatorname{der}}(\psi)$. In addition we will see that $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}) = \operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}_1)$ reaches the upper bound, if the degree m of the covers given by the fibers of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ is a prime number $> 2.^2$

We say that a Dehn twist T is semisimple (with respect to \mathcal{V}_r), if the monodromy representation ρ_j of one (and hence of all) $\mathcal{L}_j \subset \mathcal{V}_r$ yields a semisimple matrix $\rho_j(T)$. By the trace map (see (4.3)), we can identify $\operatorname{Mon}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathfrak{RV}(j)_{\mathbb{R}})$ and $\operatorname{Mon}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_j)$. Thus $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathfrak{RV}(j_1, j_2)_{\mathbb{R}})$ is equal to $\operatorname{Graph}(\alpha)$, if and only if one has a corresponding isomorphism α^{ad} : $\operatorname{Mon}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_1) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_2)$ such that $\operatorname{Mon}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_1} \oplus \mathcal{L}_{j_2})$ is given by $\operatorname{Graph}(\alpha^{\mathrm{ad}})$. By an abuse of notation, we will write α instead of α^{ad} from now on.

First let us formulate a sufficient criterion for the non-existence of α in the case $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$:

Proposition 5.3.1. Let \mathcal{V}_r be general and $\mathcal{L}_{j_1}, \mathcal{L}_{j_2} \subset \mathcal{V}_r$ be of type (a, b), where a + b = 2. Moreover let z_i denote the non-trivial eigenvalue of $\rho_{j_i}(T)$ with respect to a semisimple Dehn twist T for i = 1, 2. Then there is not any isomorphism $\alpha : \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_1) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_2)$ such that $P\rho_{j_2} = \alpha \circ P\rho_{j_1}$, if there is a semisimple Dehn twist T such that the non-trivial eigenvalue z_2 of $\rho_{j_2}(T)$ is not contained in $\{z_1, \overline{z}_1\}$.

Proof. Assume that $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_1)$ and $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_2)$ are isomorphic and T satisfies the assumptions of this proposition. Thus $\rho_{j_1}(T)$ generates a finite commutative subgroup FT of $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_1})$. Our assumption that a+b=2 implies that $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_1}) \cong \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_2})$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{PU}(1,1)$ or $\operatorname{PU}(2)$. Note that the elements of $FT(\mathbb{R})$ are up to conjugation given by classes of diagonal matrices. The elements of $FT(\mathbb{R})$ commute exactly with the \mathbb{R} -rational elements of the maximal torus G of $\operatorname{PU}(1,1)$ resp., $\operatorname{PU}(2)$ which is (up to conjugation)

² For m = 2 we will later see that Mon⁰(\mathcal{V}) reaches the upper bound as well.

given by the classes of diagonal matrices in PU(1, 1) resp., PU(2). One checks easily that $G(\mathbb{R})$ is isomorphic to $S^1(\mathbb{R})$. Hence one can identify $FT(\mathbb{R})$ with some $\langle \xi^s \rangle \subset S^1(\mathbb{R})$. Now let $1 \neq \zeta \in \langle \xi^s \rangle$ satisfy the property that there is a closed interval on $S^1(\mathbb{R})$ with end points 1 and ζ , which does not contain any other element of $\langle \xi^s \rangle$. Hence there is a closed interval I on G with ending points [diag(1,1)] and $[\text{diag}(\zeta,1)] \in FT$, which does not contain any other element of FT.

Now assume such an isomorphism α exists. Note that we have an identification $\alpha(G)(\mathbb{R}) = S^1(\mathbb{R})$, too. But our assumptions imply that

 $\alpha(\operatorname{diag}(\zeta, 1)) \notin \{\operatorname{diag}(\zeta, 1), \operatorname{diag}(\overline{\zeta}, 1)\}.$

Hence by our identification $\alpha(G)(\mathbb{R}) = S^1(\mathbb{R})$, one obtains that

$$\alpha(\zeta) \notin \{\zeta, \bar{\zeta}\}.$$

Thus $\alpha(I) \subset \alpha(G)(\mathbb{R})$ is not a connected interval, which does not contain any other element of $\langle \xi^s \rangle$ except of 1 and $\alpha(\zeta)$. But α must be a homeomorphism on the \mathbb{R} -valued points. Contradiction!

By the preceding proposition, we can use certain semisimple Dehn twists for the study of the generic Hodge group. Hence we make some observations about the orders and the existence of semisimple Dehn twists:

Lemma 5.3.2. Let $j \neq \frac{m}{2}$ and $v \mid \frac{m}{r}$, where

$$1 \neq v$$
, $r := \gcd(m, j)$ and $1, 2 \neq \frac{m}{rv}$.

Then there exists a Dehn twist $T \in \pi_1(\mathcal{P}_n)$ such that $\rho_j(T) \in \operatorname{Mon}(\mathcal{L}_j)$ is semisimple and $|\langle \rho_j(T) \rangle|$ does not divide v.

Proof. One can replace \mathcal{C} by \mathcal{C}_r and choose a suitable collection of local monodromy data for \mathcal{C} such that j = 1. By an isomorphism $\langle \xi \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}/(m)$, the non-trivial eigenvalues of the semisimple Dehn twists T_{k_1,k_2} correspond to some elements $[b_{k_1,k_2}] \in \mathbb{Z}/(m)$, where $b_{k_1,k_2} := d_{k_1} + d_{k_2}$ and d_{k_1} and d_{k_2} denote the branch indices of a_{k_1} and a_{k_2} .

Assume that each semisimple Dehn twist satisfies that its order divides some v with v|m. This implies that $\frac{m}{v}|b_{k_1,k_2}$ for all b_{k_1,k_2} . Hence for all $k = 1, \ldots, n+3$ one has that $\frac{m}{v}$ divides

$$2d_k = (d_k + d_{k_1}) + (d_k + d_{k_2}) - (d_{k_1} + d_{k_2}) = b_{k,k_1} + b_{k,k_2} - b_{k_1,k_2}.$$

Since there does not exist any integer $N \neq 1$, which divides each d_k , one has that $\frac{m}{v}$ divides 2. This implies that $\frac{m}{v} = 1$ or $\frac{m}{v} = 2$.

For the formulation of our criterion in the higher dimensional case we need the following lemma:

Lemma 5.3.3. Let $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$. Assume that we have a stable partition

$$P := \{\{a_1\}, \{a_2\}, \{a_3\}, \{a_4, \dots, a_{n_j+3}\}\}$$

with respect to the local monodromy data of $(\mathcal{L}_j)_q$ such that we can define the eigenspace $\mathcal{L}_j(P)$ over \mathcal{P}_1 with $b = \{a_4, \ldots, a_{n_j+3}\}$ as in Construction 5.1.9. Then the monodromy group $\rho_j(P)(\pi_1(\mathcal{P}_1))$ of $\mathcal{L}_j(P)$ has a subgroup of finite index generated by $\rho_j(T_{1,2})$ and $\rho_j(T_{2,3})$.

Proof. The stability of the partition ensures that $\alpha_b = \alpha_{a_4} \dots \alpha_{n_j+3} \neq 1$. It is a well-known fact that $\pi_1(\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{C}))$ is generated by the two loops around 0 and 1, where we identify $\mathbb{A}^1 \setminus \{0, 1\} = \mathcal{M}_1$. By the embedding $\mathcal{M}_1 \to \mathcal{P}_1$ given by

$$a_1 = 0, \ a_3 = 1, \ a_4 = \infty,$$

we can identify the generators of $\pi_1(\mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{C}))$ with the Dehn twists $T_{1,2}$ and $T_{2,3}$. The statement follows from the fact that the monodromy group of $\mathcal{L}_j(P)|_{\mathcal{M}_1}$ has finite index in the monodromy group of $\mathcal{L}_j(P)$. \Box

Proposition 5.3.4. Let $\mathcal{L}_{j_1}, \mathcal{L}_{j_2} \subset (\mathcal{V}_1)_{\mathbb{C}}$ with $j_1 \neq j_2$ and $j_1 \neq m - j_2$. Assume that we have a stable partition

$$P := \{\{a_1\}, \{a_2\}, \{a_3\}, \{a_4, \dots, a_{n+3}\}\}$$

such that the monodromy group of $\mathcal{L}_{j_1}(P)$ or $\mathcal{L}_{j_2}(P)$ is infinite. Let $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{L}_{j_1}(P))$ and $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{L}_{j_2}(P))$ be not isomorphic or $T_{k,\ell}$ be a semisimple Dehn twist with $k, \ell \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ such that the non-trivial eigenvalue z_2 of $\rho_{j_2}(T_{k,\ell})$ is not contained in $\{z_1, \overline{z}_1\}$, where z_1 denotes the non-trivial eigenvalue of $\rho_{j_1}(T_{k,\ell})$. Then

$$\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathfrak{R}\mathcal{V}(j_{1}, j_{2})_{\mathbb{R}}) = \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathfrak{R}\mathcal{V}(j_{1})_{\mathbb{R}}) \times \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathfrak{R}\mathcal{V}(j_{2})_{\mathbb{R}}).$$

Proof. By Lemma 5.3.3 and the fact that the monodromy group of $\mathcal{L}_j|_{\mathcal{M}_n}$ has finite index in the monodromy group of \mathcal{L}_j , one concludes that the group generated by $\rho_{j_1}(T_{1,2})$ and $\rho_{j_1}(T_{2,3})$ resp., $\rho_{j_2}(T_{1,2})$ and $\rho_{j_2}(T_{2,3})$ has finite index in the monodromy representation of $\mathcal{L}_{j_1}(P)$ resp., $\mathcal{L}_{j_2}(P)$. Therefore an isomorphism

$$\alpha: \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_{1})_{\mathbb{R}}) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathfrak{RV}(j_{2})_{\mathbb{R}})$$

yields an isomorphism

$$\alpha(P): \operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{L}_{j_1}(P)) \to \operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{L}_{j_2}(P)).$$
Thus one only needs to apply Proposition 5.3.1.

Now let us first define the condition for the reaching of the upper bound and then write down the obvious theorem:

Definition 5.3.5. Assume that one has for each $\mathcal{L}_{j_1}, \mathcal{L}_{j_2} \subset \mathcal{V}_r$ with $j_1 \neq j_2, m - j_2$ and $\operatorname{Mon}^0_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_1}) \cong \operatorname{Mon}^0_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_1})$ a stable partition

$$P := \{\{a_1\}, \{a_2\}, \{a_3\}, \{a_4, \dots, a_{n_j+3}\}\}$$

(with respect to a suitable enumeration) such that the monodromy group of $\mathcal{L}_{j_1}(P)$ or $\mathcal{L}_{j_2}(P)$ is infinite and one of the following conditions is satisfied:

- 1. $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j_{1}}(P))$ and $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{L}_{j_{2}}(P))$ are not isomorphic.
- 2. There is a semisimple Dehn twist $T_{k,\ell}$ with $k, \ell \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ such that the non-trivial eigenvalue z_2 of $\rho_{j_2}(T_{k,\ell})$ is not contained in $\{z_1, \overline{z}_1\}$, where z_1 denotes the non-trivial eigenvalue of $\rho_{j_1}(T_{k,\ell})$.

We call \mathcal{V}_r very general in this case.

A direct summand \mathcal{V}_r is exceptional, if it is general, but not very general.

By Proposition 5.3.4, one concludes:

Theorem 5.3.6. If \mathcal{V}_r is very general, $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}_r)$ reaches the upper bound $C^{\operatorname{der}}(\psi)$.

Theorem 5.3.7. If the degree m of the covers given by the fibers of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ is a prime number m > 2, $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}) = \operatorname{Mon}(\mathcal{V}_1)$ reaches the upper bound.

Proof. By the preceding theorem, we have only to show that $Mon^{0}(\mathcal{V}) = Mon(\mathcal{V}_{1})$ is very general. Note that Lemma 5.3.2 implies that there is a semisimple Dehn twist for m > 2.

Assume that we are in the case of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$, and that $j_1 \neq j_2, m-j_2$. Since $\mathbb{Z}/(m)$ is a field in our case, one has that each semisimple Dehn twist satisfies that the non-trivial eigenvalue of $\rho_{j_2}(T)$ is not contained in $\{z_1, \bar{z}_1\}$, where z_1 denotes the non-trivial eigenvalue of $\rho_{j_2}(T)$. Thus in this case the statement follows from Proposition 5.3.1.

Otherwise we have to find a stable partition P as in Proposition 5.3.4. One has without loss of generality the semisimple Dehn twist $T_{1,2}$. Moreover assume without loss of generality that $d_1 + d_2 = m - 1$. One has two cases: Either there is some a_3 such that

$$P = \{\{a_1\}, \{a_2\}, \{a_3\}, \{a_4, \dots, a_{n+3}\}\}$$

is the desired stable partition or one has that

$$d_3=\ldots=d_{n+3}=1.$$

Since in the case m = 3 there is nothing to show, one can otherwise assume that m > 3 and take the stable partition

$$P = \{\{a_3\}, \{a_4\}, \{a_5\}, \{a_1, a_2, a_6, \dots, a_{n+3}\}\}.$$

5.4 The exceptional cases

At this time the author does not see a possibility to calculate the monodromy group of the VHS of an arbitrary family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$. Therefore we consider mainly a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$.

5.4.1. Let ρ_{j_1} and ρ_{j_2} denote the monodromy representations of $\mathcal{L}_{j_1}, \mathcal{L}_{j_2} \subset \mathcal{V}_r$. Proposition 3.3.5 yields a description of $\rho_{j_1}(T)$ and $\rho_{j_2}(T)$ for some Dehn twist T. By this description, the entries of the matrices $\rho_{j_1}(T)$ and $\rho_{j_2}(T)$ differ by some $\gamma \in \text{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r);\mathbb{Q})$. By its action on $\langle \xi^r \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}/(\frac{m}{r})$, each γ can be identified with some $[v] \in (\mathbb{Z}/(\frac{m}{r}))^*$ such that $[\frac{j_1}{r}v]_{\frac{m}{r}} = [\frac{j_2}{r}]_{\frac{m}{r}}^*$. One has a subgroup $H_1(\gamma)$ of $\langle \xi^r \rangle$ consisting of roots of unity fixed by γ and a subgroup $H_2(\gamma)$ of $\langle \xi^r \rangle$ consisting of roots of unity, on which γ acts by complex conjugation. Since $j_1 \neq j_2, m - j_2$, one has that γ is neither given by the complex conjugation nor by the identity. Thus $H_1(\gamma)$ resp., $H_2(\gamma)$ is given by $\{1\}$ or some proper subgroup of $\langle \xi^r \rangle$ generated by $\xi^{rt_1(\gamma)}$ resp., $\xi^{rt_2(\gamma)}$, where $1 \neq t_1(\gamma)$ and $1 \neq t_2(\gamma)$ divide $\frac{m}{r}$.

For the rest of this section we consider only families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ of degree m with an exceptional part \mathcal{V}_r . Assume without loss of generality that \mathcal{V}_1 is exceptional and $j_1 = 1$. Let γ correspond to v. For simplicity we write t_1 and t_2 instead of $t_1(\gamma)$ and $t_2(\gamma)$, and H_1 and H_2 instead of $H_1(\gamma)$ and $H_2(\gamma)$.

Lemma 5.4.2. Let $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ be a family of degree m covers such that \mathcal{V}_1 is exceptional. Then one is without loss of generality in one of the following cases:

- 1. (Complex case) $t_1|d_1 + d_2$, $t_1|d_2 + d_3$ and $t_2|d_1 + d_3$, where t_1 does not divide $d_1 + d_3$.
- 2. (Separated case) $t_1 = 2$ and 2 divides $d_1 + d_2$, $d_2 + d_3$ and $d_1 + d_3$.

Proof. If \mathcal{V}_1 is exceptional, then $d_1 + d_2$, $d_2 + d_3$ and $d_1 + d_3$ are divided by t_1 or t_2 . Assume that t_1 (resp., t_2) divides $d_1 + d_2$, $d_2 + d_3$ and $d_1 + d_3$. Hence one has $t_1 = 2$ (resp., $t_2 = 2$) as in the proof of Lemma 5.3.2. Otherwise one has only to choose a suitable enumeration such that one is in the complex case.

Remark 5.4.3. It can occur that one is in the complex case and the separated case with respect to the same eigenspaces (up to complex conjugation). Consider the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ of degree 12 covers given by

$$d_1 = 5, \quad d_2 = 1, \quad d_3 = 11, \quad d_4 = 7.$$

Let v = 5. Then one has $t_1 = 3$ and $t_2 = 2$ such that $3|d_1 + d_2, 3|d_2 + d_3$ and $2|d_1 + d_3$. Now let v = 7. In this case one has $t_1 = 2$ and 2 divides $d_1 + d_2$, $d_2 + d_3$ and $d_1 + d_3$. By 5.4.10, we will see that there is an isomorphism $\alpha : \operatorname{Mon}^0(\Re \mathcal{V}(1))_{\mathbb{R}} \to \operatorname{Mon}^0(\Re \mathcal{V}(5))_{\mathbb{R}}$.

On the other hand consider the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ of degree 12 covers given by

$$d_1 = 11, \ d_2 = 1, \ d_3 = 11, \ d_4 = 1.$$

Again by the same arguments, we are in the complex case and the separated case at the same time. But in this case the existence of a suitable isomorphism

$$\alpha: \operatorname{Mon}^{0}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathfrak{RV}(1)) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{0}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathfrak{RV}(5))$$

is not known to the author at this time.

5.4.4. Assume that the direct summand \mathcal{V}_1 is separated with respect to $[v]_m \in (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$ for a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ of degree m covers. One has [v2] = [2] in each separated case. This implies that [2][v-1] = [0]. Therefore one has $[v] = [\frac{m}{2} + 1] \in (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$ in each separated case. Hence $v \in (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$ is an involution. The fact that $[v] = [\frac{m}{2} + 1] \in (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$ implies that $\frac{m}{2} + 1$ is odd. Hence 4 divides m. In the separated case $r_1 = 2$ divides each $d_k + d_\ell$. Thus \mathcal{V}_1 is separated, if and only if 4|m and each d_k is odd.

Therefore there are infinitely many cases of families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ such that \mathcal{V}_1 is separated. At this time the author can not give an isomorphism

$$\alpha : \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_1) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{\frac{m}{2}+1})$$

for each separated example.

By the preceding point we have classified and described all examples $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ such that \mathcal{V}_1 is separated. Hence we consider only the case of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ such that \mathcal{V}_1 is complex for the rest of this section.

Lemma 5.4.5. Assume that \mathcal{V}_1 is complex. Then one has:

$$\ell := \operatorname{lcm}(t_1, t_2) = \begin{cases} m & : & m \text{ is odd} \\ \frac{m}{2} & : & m \text{ is even} \end{cases}$$

Proof. If m is odd, $H_1 \cap H_2 = \{1\} = \{\xi^m\}$. If m is even, $H_1 \cap H_2 = \{1, -1\} = \langle \xi^{\frac{m}{2}} \rangle$.

Lemma 5.4.6. Assume that \mathcal{V}_1 is complex. Then one has that $t_1t_2 = m$ or $t_1t_2 = \frac{m}{2}$. Moreover one has that $t_1t_2 = m$, if m is odd, and $t_1t_2 = \frac{m}{2}$, if 2|m, but 4 does not divide m.

Proof. If m is odd, one has $\ell = \operatorname{lcm}(t_1, t_2) = m$. Hence one obtains $t'_1 t'_2 g = m$ for $g := \operatorname{gcd}(t_1, t_2)$ and $t_i = gt'_i$. Hence $|H_1| = t'_2$ and $|H_2| = t'_1$. If g > 2, there is a semisimple Dehn twist, whose order does not divide $t'_1 t'_2$ (follows from Lemma 5.3.2). But this can not occur by our assumption that \mathcal{V}_1 is complex. Hence g = 1, since g = 2 is not possible for m odd.

If *m* is even, one has $\ell = \operatorname{lcm}(t_1, t_2) = \frac{m}{2}$. Hence one has $t'_1 t'_2 g = \frac{m}{2}$ for $g := \operatorname{gcd}(t_1, t_2)$ and $t_i = gt'_i$. If g > 2, there is a semisimple Dehn twist, whose order does not divide $t'_1 t'_2$. Hence one has g = 1 or g = 2. Thus $t_1 t_2 = m$ or $t_1 t_2 = \frac{m}{2}$.

Now assume that 2|m, but 4 does not divide m. Then one has that $\frac{m}{2} = \text{lcm}(t_1, t_2)$ is odd. Hence one can not have that g = 2 in this case. Thus g = 1 and $t_1 t_2 = \frac{m}{2}$.

Example 5.4.7. In the case 4|m both $t_1t_2 = m$ and $t_1t_2 = \frac{m}{2}$ can occur. Let m = 24 and take v = 5 for the corresponding automorphism of $\mathbb{Q}(\xi)$. In this case one has $t_1 = 6$ and $t_2 = 4$ such that $t_1t_2 = 24 = m$.

Now let m = 24 and take v = 7. In this case one has $t_1 = 4$ and $t_2 = 3$ such that $t_1t_2 = 12 = \frac{m}{2}$.

Proposition 5.4.8. Assume $\gamma \in Gal(\mathbb{Q}(\xi);\mathbb{Q})$ yields an example of a complex case. Then γ is an involution.

Proof. Let $[v] \in \mathbb{Z}/(m)^*$ correspond to γ . One has that $t_1t_2 = m$ or $t_1t_2 = \frac{m}{2}$. Since one has that $[vt_1]_m = [t_1]_m$ and $[vt_2]_m = -[t_2]_m$, one gets that

$$(v-1)t_1 \in (m)$$
 and $(v+1)t_2 \in (m)$.

This implies that $t_2|(v-1)$ and $t_1|(v+1)$ or (if $t_1t_2 = \frac{m}{2}$) that $2t_2|(v-1)$ and $2t_1|(v+1)$. Hence in each case one obtains that

$$v^{2} - 1 = (v - 1)(v + 1) \in (m).$$

Theorem 5.4.9. Let $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ be a family of degree m covers. Then \mathcal{V}_1 is complex, if and only if the fibers of \mathcal{C} have the branch indices d_1, \ldots, d_4 with $2m = d_1 + \ldots + d_4$ such that

$$[vd_2]_m = [d_1 + d_2 + d_3]_m, \quad [vd_1]_m = [-d_3]_m, \quad [vd_3]_m = [-d_1]_m$$

or

$$[vd_2]_m = [d_1 + d_2 + d_3 + \frac{m}{2}]_m, \quad [vd_1]_m = [-d_3 + \frac{m}{2}]_m, \quad [vd_3]_m = [-d_1 + \frac{m}{2}]_m$$

for some v with $[v^2]_m = [1]_m$ and $[v]_m \notin \{[1]_m, [m-1]_m\}$.

Proof. The condition $2m = d_1 + \ldots + d_4$ ensures that \mathcal{V}_1 is not special.

By an abuse of notation, each integer z denotes the residue class $[z]_m$ in this proof. Assume that \mathcal{V}_1 is complex. Hence by Lemma 5.4.2, one has that

$$2vd_2 = v((d_1 + d_2) - (d_1 + d_3) + (d_2 + d_3)) = (d_1 + d_2) + (d_1 + d_3) + (d_2 + d_3)$$

= 2(d_1 + d_2 + d_3),
$$2vd_1 = v((d_1 + d_2) + (d_1 + d_3) - (d_2 + d_3)) = (d_1 + d_2) - (d_1 + d_3) - (d_2 + d_3)) = -2d_3,$$

$$2vd_3 = v(-(d_1 + d_2) + (d_1 + d_3) + (d_2 + d_3)) = -(d_1 + d_2) - (d_1 + d_3) + (d_2 + d_3)) = -2d_4.$$

Hence one has two cases:

$$vd_2 = d_1 + d_2 + d_3$$
 or $vd_2 = d_1 + d_2 + d_3 + \frac{m}{2}$

In the first case (resp., the second case) the fact that $v(d_1 + d_2) = d_1 + d_2$ implies that $vd_1 = -d_3$ (resp., $vd_1 = -d_3 + \frac{m}{2}$). Moreover in the first case (resp., the second case) the fact that $v(d_2 + d_3) = d_2 + d_3$ implies that $vd_3 = -d_1$ (resp., $vd_3 = -d_1 + \frac{m}{2}$). Hence we have obtained the claimed equations.

Assume conversely that the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ satisfies one of the two systems of equations of this theorem. Then one can easily calculate that \mathcal{V}_1 is complex.

5.4.10. Let $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ be a family of degree *m* covers. Assume that d_1, d_2, d_3 satisfy the first system of equations of Theorem 5.4.9 with respect to some *v* with $[v^2] = [1]_m$, which satisfies that $[v]_m \notin \{[1]_m, [m-1]_m\}$. Moreover let $j \in (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$ such that $\mathcal{L}_j \subset \mathcal{V}_1$ with monodromy representation ρ_j . Now we calculate that $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi)^+}^0(\mathcal{V}_1)$ does not reach the upper bound $C_1^{\operatorname{der}}(g)_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi)^+}$ in this case.

Let $a_1 = 0$, $a_3 = 1$ and $a_4 = \infty$. The fundamental group of the corresponding copy of \mathcal{M}_1 is generated by $T_{1,2}$ and $T_{2,3}$. One obtains that

$$\rho_j(T_{1,2}) = \begin{pmatrix} \xi^{jd_1+jd_2} & 1-\xi^{jd_1} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \ \rho_j(T_{2,3}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \xi^{jd_2} - \xi^{jd_2+jd_3} & \xi^{jd_2+jd_3} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let $\gamma_v \in \text{Gal}(\mathbb{Q}(\xi);\mathbb{Q})$ denote the automorphism corresponding to [v]. The monodromy representation of \mathcal{L}_{jv} is given by

$$\rho_{jv}(T_{1,2}) = \begin{pmatrix} \xi^{jd_1+jd_2} & 1-\xi^{-jd_3} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \ \rho_{jv}(T_{2,3}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ \xi^{jd_1+jd_2+jd_3} & \xi^{jd_2+jd_3} \\ \xi^{jd_2+jd_3} & \xi^{jd_2+jd_3} \end{pmatrix}.$$

One calculates easily that

$$\frac{1-\xi^{jd_1}}{1-\xi^{-jd_3}}\cdot\frac{\xi^{jd_2}-\xi^{jd_2+jd_3}}{\xi^{jd_1+jd_2+jd_3}-\xi^{jd_2+jd_3}}=\frac{\xi^{jd_2}-\xi^{jd_2+jd_3}-\xi^{jd_1+jd_2}+\xi^{jd_1+jd_2+jd_3}}{\xi^{jd_1+jd_2+jd_3}-\xi^{jd_2+jd_3}-\xi^{jd_1+jd_2}+\xi^{jd_2}}=1.$$

Hence there is a $z \in \mathbb{Q}(\xi)$ such that $\gamma_v|_{<\rho_j(T_{1,2}),\rho_j(T_{2,3})>}$ coincides with $\alpha|_{<\rho_j(T_{1,2}),\rho_j(T_{2,3})>}$, where α is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \to \begin{pmatrix} a & zb \\ z^{-1}c & d \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus by Lemma 5.2.4, the group $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi)^+}^0(\mathcal{V}_1)$ does not attain its upper bound in this case. In addition one calculates easily that α is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \to \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{z} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{z^{-1}} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{z^{-1}} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{z} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus the monodromy representations of \mathcal{L}_j and \mathcal{L}_{jv} coincide up to conjugation such that \mathcal{L}_j and \mathcal{L}_{jv} are isomorphic for each $j \in (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$.

Corollary 5.4.11. There are infinitely many families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ such that \mathcal{V}_1 is complex and $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi)^+}^0(\mathcal{V}_1)$ does not reach its upper bound.

Proof. Let $p, q \in \mathbb{N}$ such that gcd(p,q) = 1 with $p, q \notin \{1,2\}$ and m := pq. Hence $\mathbb{Z}/(m) = \mathbb{Z}/(p) \times \mathbb{Z}/(q)$. Let v < m correspond to $(1,-1) \in \mathbb{Z}/(p) \times \mathbb{Z}/(q)$. Thus we get $[v^2] = [1]_m$ and $[v]_m \notin \{[1]_m, [m-1]_m\}$. One has that

$$d_1 = v, \ d_2 = 1, \ d_3 = m - 1$$

satisfies the first system of equations of Theorem 5.4.9, which guarantees by 5.4.10 that $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi)^+}^0(\mathcal{V}_1)$ does not reach its upper bound. Since there are infinitely many possible choices for $p, q \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\operatorname{gcd}(p,q) = 1$ with $p, q \notin \{1, 2\}$, one obtains infinitely many families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ such that $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{Q}(\xi)^+}^0(\mathcal{V}_1)$ does not reach its upper bound. \Box

5.5 The Hodge group of a universal family of hyperelliptic curves

If the middle part $\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}$ is of type (1,1), one obtains $\mathrm{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}) = \mathrm{Sp}_{\mathbb{Q}}(2)$, since $\mathrm{Sp}_{\mathbb{R}}(2) \cong \mathrm{SU}(1,1)$, and $\mathrm{Mon}_{\mathbb{R}}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}) = \mathrm{SU}(1,1)$ as one has by Theorem 5.1.1.

By using [63] Theorem 10.1 and Remark 10.2, one can conclude that the Hodge group $\text{Hg}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}})$ of an arbitrary middle part $\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}$ coincides with $\text{Sp}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}, Q_{\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}})$. For completeness we give an elementary proof. We use the the fact that

$$\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{\underline{m}}) \subseteq \operatorname{Hg}(\mathcal{V}_{\underline{m}}) \subseteq \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{V}_{\underline{m}}, Q_{\mathcal{V}_{\underline{m}}})$$

and show by explicit calculations that the dimensions of the Lie algebras of $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}})$ and $\operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}, Q_{\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}})$ coincide.

By Proposition 3.3.5, each Dehn twist $T_{\ell,\ell+1}$ yields a unipotent subgroup of $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}})$ isomorphic to \mathbb{G}_a . Its corresponding subvector space of the Lie algebra is generated by

$$A_{\ell,\ell+1}(a,b) = \begin{cases} -1 & : a = \ell \text{ and } b = \ell - 1\\ 1 & : a = \ell \text{ and } b = \ell + 1\\ 0 & : \text{ elsewhere } \end{cases}$$

Now we consider the middle part of type (2, 2). Hence we are in the case of the genus 2 curves. For $\ell = 1, \ldots, 4$ the matrices $A_{\ell,\ell+1}$ generate a 4 dimensional vector space. Moreover by $[A_{i,i+1}, A_{i+1,i+2}]$ for i = 1, 2, 3, we get the 3 additional linearly independent matrices

By

 $[A_{2,3}, [A_{3,4}, A_{4,5}]]$ resp., $[[A_{1,2}, A_{2,3}], A_{3,4}],$

we obtain the two further linearly independent matrices

(0	0	0	0)		0	-1	0	$1 \rangle$
0	0	-1	0	and	0	0	0	0
0	0	0	0	and	0	1	0	0
$\begin{pmatrix} -1 \end{pmatrix}$	0	1	0/		$\left(0 \right)$	0	0	0/

Thus the Lie algebra has at least dimension 9. Moreover one checks easily that (0, 0, -1, 0)

$$[[A_{1,2}, A_{2,3}], [A_{3,4}, A_{4,5}]] = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

is a tenth linearly independent matrix. Thus the well-known fact that $Sp_{\mathbb{Q}}(4)$ has dimension 10 implies:

Proposition 5.5.1. If $\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}$ is of type (2, 2), then $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}) \cong \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}, Q_{\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}})$.

Note that the quotient of $\text{Sp}_4(\mathbb{R})$ by its maximal compact subgroup is Siegel's upper half plane \mathfrak{h}_2 , which has dimension 3. Since \mathcal{M}_3 has dimension 3, one concludes for the restricted family $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{M}_3} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ of genus 2 curves:

Corollary 5.5.2. The family $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{M}_3} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ of genus 2 curves has a dense set of CM fibers.

Proof. One has (similarly to the proof of Theorem 4.4.4) that the holomorphic period map $p : \mathcal{M}_3 \to \mathfrak{h}_2$ has fibers of dimension 0. Since

 $\dim(\mathfrak{h}_2) = \dim(\mathcal{M}_3) = 3$, one concludes that p is open. Hence the statement follows from the fact that \mathfrak{h}_2 has a dense set of CM points.

We will use Proposition 5.5.1 and the calculations, which yield this proposition, to show the following theorem by induction:

Theorem 5.5.3. If $\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}$ is of type (g,g), then $\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}) \cong \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}, Q_{\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}})$. Corollary 5.5.4.

$$\operatorname{Hg}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}) = \operatorname{Sp}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}, Q_{\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}}) \quad and \quad \operatorname{MT}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}) = \operatorname{GSp}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}, Q_{\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}})$$

It is a well-known fact that $\dim(\operatorname{Sp}_{\mathbb{Q}}(2g)) = 2g^2 + g^3$ Hence one gets

 $\dim(\operatorname{Sp}_{\mathbb{Q}}(2g+1)) = 2(g+1)^2 + g + 1 = (2g^2 + g) + (4g+3).$

We will show by induction that for each $g \in \mathbb{N}$ the matrices $A_{\ell,\ell+1}$ generate a Lie algebra, which has at least the same dimension as $\mathfrak{sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$. This yields Theorem 5.5.3. Since we have shown the statement for g = 1, 2, we will only give the induction step:

Recall that we have defined \mathbb{L}_j -valued paths $[e_k \delta_k]$ in Section 3.3. We consider a middle part of type (g + 1, g + 1) with respect to the basis $\mathcal{B} = \{[e_1\delta_1], \ldots, [e_{2g+2}\delta_{2g+2}]\}$. The Dehn twists $T_{\ell,\ell+1}$ for $\ell = 1, \ldots, 2g$ yield the monodromy group G_1 of a middle part of type (g, g). Therefore by the induction hypothesis, they yield a group isomorphic to $\operatorname{Sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{Q})$.

Remark 5.5.5. One has the obvious embedding of $G_1 \hookrightarrow \operatorname{GL}(N^1(C_{\frac{m}{2}}, \mathbb{Q}))$ with respect to the basis $\mathcal{B}_1 := \{[e_1\delta_1], \ldots, [e_{2g}\delta_{2g}], [e_{2g+2}\delta_{2g+2}], [e_{2g+3}\delta_{2g+3}]\}$ such that

$$G_1 \ni A \to \begin{pmatrix} A & \\ & 1 & 0 \\ & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{GL}(N^1(C_{\frac{m}{2}}, \mathbb{Q})).$$

Moreover this embedding of G_1 into $\operatorname{GL}(N^1(C_{\frac{m}{2}},\mathbb{Q}))$ is given by

$$G_1 \ni A \to \begin{pmatrix} A & v \\ & 1 & 0 \\ & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \in \mathrm{GL}(N^1(C_{\frac{m}{2}}, \mathbb{Q})),$$

with respect to the basis \mathcal{B} , where $v^t = (v_1, \ldots, v_{2g})$ is a vector depending on A.

Since we consider the embedding with respect to the latter basis, we want to understand v, which is possible, if we understand the base change between the bases of the preceding remark.

³ Otherwise one has a description of $\mathfrak{sp}_{2g}(\mathbb{C})$ in [21], page 239. By this description, one can easily determine its dimension.

Lemma 5.5.6. Let $C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be a hyperelliptic curve of genus g + 1. One has (up to a suitable normalization)

$$\sum_{i=0}^{g+1} [e_{2i+1}\delta_{2i+1}] = 0.$$

Proof. Let $\zeta \in H_2(C, \mathbb{C})$ be a nontrivial linear combination of the closures of the sheets of $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S$, on which ψ acts via push-forward by the character $1 \in \mathbb{Z}/(2)$. One has that $\partial \zeta$ represents a linear combination of $[e_1\delta_1], \ldots, [e_{2g+1}\delta_{2g+3}] \in H_1(C, \mathbb{C})_1$, which is equal to zero. Recall that over $\delta_1 \cup \ldots \cup \delta_{2g+3}$ the gluing of these sheets depends on the local monodromy data determined by the branch indices of the branch points a_k . Since each a_k has the local monodromy datum -1, this linear combination is (up to a suitable normalization of $[e_1\delta_1], \ldots, [e_{2g+1}\delta_{2g+3}]$) given by

$$\sum_{i=0}^{g+1} [e_{2i+1}\delta_{2i+1}] = 0.$$

5.5.7. By the preceding lemma, the matrices of base change between the bases \mathcal{B} and \mathcal{B}_1 are given by

$$M_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{B}_{1}}(\mathrm{id}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & -1 \\ \ddots & & \vdots \\ & 1 & -1 \\ & & 1 & 0 \\ & & & 0 & -1 \\ & & & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{and} \quad M_{\mathcal{B}_{1}}^{\mathcal{B}}(\mathrm{id}) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & -1 \\ \ddots & & \vdots \\ & & 1 & -1 \\ & & & 1 & 0 \\ & & & 0 & 1 \\ & & & -1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

such that

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & v \\ 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} = M_{\mathcal{B}}^{\mathcal{B}_1}(\mathrm{id}) \cdot \begin{pmatrix} A & \\ 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \cdot M_{\mathcal{B}_1}^{\mathcal{B}}(\mathrm{id}).$$

Thus one calculates easily that $v_1 = 0$, if $a_{1,1} = 1$ and $a_{1,j} = 0$ for $2 \le j \le 2g$ and $A = (a_{i,j})$. The exponential map exp is a diffeomorphism on a neighborhood of 0. Hence by the definition

$$\exp(m) = 1 + m + \frac{m^2}{2} + \frac{m^3}{6} + \dots,$$

one concludes that each $(m_{i,j}) \in Lie(G_1)$ satisfies that $m_{1,2g+1} = 0$, if $m_{1,j} = 0$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, 2g$, which will play a very important role later. Otherwise exp would yield a matrix with $a_{1,1} = 1$, $a_{1,j} = 0$ for $2 \le j \le 2g$

and $v_1 \neq 0$ as one can calculate by the fact that each $(m_{i,j}) \in Lie(G_1)$ satisfies that $m_{i,j} = 0$ for i > 2g.

Lemma 5.5.8. Let $i_0 \leq 2g$ and $j_0 < 2g$ be integers such that $i_0 - j_0 > 0$. In the Lie algebra $Lie(G_1)$ one finds an element $(x_{i,j}^{(i_0,j_0)})$ with $x_{i_0,j_0}^{(i_0,j_0)} \neq 0$ and $x_{i,j}^{(i_0,j_0)} = 0$, if $i > i_0$ or $j < j_0$ or i = 1.

Proof. Let $k_0 := i_0 - j_0 > 0$. We show the statement by induction over k_0 . Each pair (i_0, j_0) with $i_0 - j_0 = k_0 = 1$ is given by $(i_0, i_0 - 1)$. By A_{i_0, i_0+1} , such an element is given for each $(i_0, i_0 - 1)$.

Now let (i_0, j_0) be a pair with $k_0 := i_0 - j_0 > 1$ and assume that the statement is satisfied for $k_0 - 1, \ldots, 1 > 0$. Hence one has $(x_{i,j}^{(i_0,j_0+1)}), A_{j_0+1,j_0+2} \in Lie(G_1)$. By

$$(x_{i,j}^{(i_0,j_0)}) := [(x_{i,j}^{(i_0,j_0+1)}), A_{j_0+1,j_0+2}]$$

one obtains the desired element of $Lie(G_1)$, since one has the entry

$$x_{i_0,j_0}^{(i_0,j_0)} = x_{i_0,j_0+1}^{(i_0,j_0+1)} \cdot (A_{j_0+1,j_0+2})_{j_0+1,j_0} \neq 0.$$

Moreover the Dehn twists $T_{2n-1,2n}, \ldots, T_{2g+2,2g+3}$ generate a group G_2 isomorphic to the monodromy group of a middle part of type (2,2), which has dimension 10. One can easily compare the matrices of $Lie(G_2)$ with the above explicitly given matrices of a middle part of type (2,2): "The restriction of the matrices of $Lie(G_2)$ to the lower right corner looks like the matrices of the Lie algebra of the monodromy group of a middle part of type (2,2)."

Since the vectors

$$A_{2g-1,2g}, A_{2g,2g+1}$$
 and $[A_{2g-1,2g}, A_{2g,2g+1}]$

are contained in $Lie(G_1) \cap Lie(G_2)$, both Lie algebras yield together a $2g^2 + g + 7$ -dimensional vector space of matrices $(x_{i,j})$, whose entries $x_{i,j}$ vanish for j < 2g - 3 and i > 2g. Hence by using

$$[A_{2g+1,2g+2}, (x_{i,j}^{(2g,j_0)})]$$
 and $[[A_{2g+1,2g+2}, A_{2g+2,2g+3}], x_{i,j}^{(2g,j_0)}]$

for $j_0 < 2g - 3$, one has 4g - 6 additional linearly independent vectors. Thus we have altogether $(2g^2 + g) + (4g + 1)$ linearly independent vectors. Hence 2 remaining linearly independent vectors are to find. Since $x_{i,j}^{(i_0,j_0)} = 0$ for i = 1, in the constructed vector space of matrices $(m_{i,j})$ the coordinate $m_{1,2g+1}$ depends uniquely on the vectors in $Lie(G_1)$ such that $m_{1,2g+1} = 0$, if $m_{1,j} = 0$ for all $j = 1, \ldots, 2g$ as we have seen in 5.5.7. Let

$$Lie(G_1) \ni (y_{i,j}) = [A_{1,2}, [A_{2,3}, [\dots [A_{2g-1,2g}, A_{2g,2g+1}] \dots]].$$

One checks easily that

$$y_{1,2g+1} \neq 0.$$

Now the matrix

$$(y'_{i,j}) = [(y_{i,j}), [A_{2g+1,2g+2}, A_{2g+2,2g+3}]]$$

satisfies $y'_{1,2g+1} \neq 0$, $y'_{i,j} = 0$ for $i, j \leq 2g$ and $y'_{1,2g+2} = 0$. Thus we have found a new vector not contained in the vector space, which we have constructed by $Lie(G_1)$, $Lie(G_2)$ and some Lie brackets at the present.

Note that all matrices $(x_{i,j})$, which we have found, satisfy $x_{1,2g+2} = 0$. But

$$(z_{i,j}) := [(y_{i,j}), A_{2g+1,2g+2}]$$

satisfies $z_{1,2q+2} \neq 0$. Therefore we are done.

5.6 The complete generic Hodge group

By this section, we finish our calculation (of the derived group) of the generic Hodge group and obtain the final result:

Theorem 5.6.1. One has

$$\operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}) = \prod_{r|m} \operatorname{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r})$$

in the following cases:

The degree m of the covers given by the fibers of C → P_n is odd.
 P_n = P₁ and 6 does not divide m.

Corollary 5.6.2. Assume that $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ satisfies one of the following conditions:

1. The degree m of the covers given by the fibers of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ is odd.

2. $\mathcal{P}_n = \mathcal{P}_1$ and 6 does not divide m.

Then one has

$$\mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V}) = \mathrm{Hg}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V}) \supseteq \prod_{r|m} \mathrm{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r}).$$

By Theorem 2.4.4, one has a CM-fiber, if the fibers of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ have n+1 branch points with the same branch index d. Thus by the fact that this implies the equality of $\mathrm{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V})$ and $\mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V})$ (see Theorem 3.1.4), one concludes:

Corollary 5.6.3. Let the fibers of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ have n+1 branch points with the same branch index d and $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ satisfy one of the following conditions:

1. The degree m of the covers given by the fibers of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ is odd. 2. $\mathcal{P}_n = \mathcal{P}_1$ and 6 does not divide m.

Then

$$\mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V}) = \mathrm{Hg}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V}) = \prod_{r|m} \mathrm{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r})$$

Since $C_r^{\text{der}}(g)$ is an upper bound for $\text{Hg}^{\text{der}}(\mathcal{V}_r)$, one concludes finally:

Corollary 5.6.4. Assume that $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ satisfies one of the following conditions:

1. The degree m of the covers given by the fibers of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ is odd. 2. $\mathcal{P}_n = \mathcal{P}_1$ and 6 does not divide m.

If all \mathcal{V}_r except of the middle part are very general or special, one has

$$\mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V}) = \mathrm{Hg}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V}) = \mathrm{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}) = \prod_{r|m} \mathrm{Mon}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r}).$$

Recall that we search for families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ with dense set of complex multiplication fibers. One obtains dense set of complex multiplication fibers, if one has an open (multivalued) period map

$$p: \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V})(\mathbb{R})/K$$

given by the VHS. Hence for our applications we need to know $\mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V})$ and the dimension of $\mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V})(\mathbb{R})/K$, but not $\mathrm{MT}(\mathcal{V})$ itself. Let us first prove Theorem 5.6.1. After this proof we will see that the (multivalued) period map of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}_1$ onto $\mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V})(\mathbb{R})/K$ is open, if and only if one has a (1,1) - VHS.

For the proof of Theorem 5.6.1 we use the same methods as before. One has that $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V})$ is the direct product of the kernel of the natural projection

$$p_1: \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V}) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V}_{r_1})$$

and an adjoint semisimple group G_{r_1} isomorphic to $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V}_{r_1})$. Moreover one has that

$$\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V}) = \prod_{r|m} \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V}_r),$$

if and only if each G_{r_1} is contained in the kernels of the natural projections onto all Mon^{ad} (\mathcal{V}_{r_2}) with $r_1 \neq r_2$.

We give a proof of Theorem 5.6.1 by contradiction. Thus we assume that

$$\operatorname{Mon}^{0}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}) \neq \prod_{r|m} \operatorname{Mon}^{0}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_{r}).$$
 This implies $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}) \neq \prod_{r|m} \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_{r}).$

Hence some G_{r_1} is not contained in the kernel of the projection onto $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{V}_{r_2})$ for some $r_2 \neq r_1$. Since all simple direct factors of G_{r_1} resp., G_{r_2} project isomorphically onto some $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_1})$ resp., $\operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_2})$, one gets an isomorphism

$$\alpha: \operatorname{Mon}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{i_1}) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{i_2}),$$

which respects the respective projective monodromy representations. But by the following proposition, the isomorphism α can not exist, if the assumptions of Theorem 5.6.1 are satisfied. This yields the proof of Theorem 5.6.1.

Proposition 5.6.5. Assume that $r_1 := \text{gcd}(m, j_1) \neq r_2 := \text{gcd}(m, j_2)$. Moreover assume that one of the following cases holds true:

1. m is odd. 2. $\mathcal{P}_n = \mathcal{P}_1$ and 6 does not divide m.

Then an isomorphism

$$\alpha: \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_1}) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_2}),$$

which respects the respective projective monodromy representations, can not exist.

Proof. Assume without loss of generality that $r_1 < r_2$. This implies $\frac{m}{r_1} > \frac{m}{r_2}$. There are two cases: Either $2r_1 \neq r_2$ or $2r_1 = r_2$.

If *m* is odd, one has $\frac{r_1}{2} \neq g := \gcd(\frac{m}{r_1}, \frac{m}{r_2})$. Hence by Lemma 5.3.2, one finds a Dehn twist *T* such that $P\rho_{j_1}(T)$ is semisimple and the order of $P\rho_{j_1}(T)$ does not divide *g*. One has that $P\rho_{j_2}(T)$ is either unipotent or semisimple. If $P\rho_{j_2}(T)$ is semisimple, its order divides $\frac{m}{r_2}$. But the order of $P\rho_{j_1}(T)$ does not divide $\frac{m}{r_2}$. If $P\rho_{j_2}(T)$ is unipotent, its order is infinite. But $P\rho_{j_1}(T)$ has finite order. However $P\rho_{j_1}(T)$ and $P\rho_{j_2}(T)$ do not have the same order. Hence such an isomorphism $\alpha : \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_1}) \to \operatorname{Mon}^{\operatorname{ad}}(\mathcal{L}_{j_2})$, which respects the respective projective monodromy representations, can not exist in this case.

Now assume that we are in the case of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$, where 6 does not divide m. There is a Dehn twist T such that $P\rho_{j_1}(T)$ is semisimple. If $P\rho_{j_1}(T)$ and $P\rho_{j_2}(T)$ do not have the same order, one can argue as above. Otherwise all semisimple Dehn twists have the same order. Hence one must have $2r_1 = r_2$. The nontrivial eigenvalue of $\rho_{j_2}(T)$ is given by the square of the nontrivial eigenvalue ξ of $\rho_{j_1}(T)$. Note that the corresponding maximal tori are isomorphic to S^1 , where $S^1_{\mathbb{C}} \cong \mathbb{G}_{m,\mathbb{C}}$. Thus its character group is isomorphic to \mathbb{Z} . Hence the induced map of the corresponding maximal tori can be an isomorphism, only if one has $\xi^2 = \xi^{-1} = \overline{\xi}$. In this case ξ would be a primitive cubic root of unity, which implies that 3 divides m. Since we have that $2r_1 = r_2$, 6 would divide m. But by the assumptions, this is not possible. \Box **Remark 5.6.6.** If $2r_1 = r_2$, there are many additional cases, in which α can not exist. These obvious cases are given, if for a Dehn twist T the order of the semisimple matrix $\rho_{r_1}(T)$ does not divide $\frac{m}{2r_1}$, if $\rho_{r_1}(T)$ is semisimple and $\rho_{j_2}(T)$ is unipotent or if \mathcal{L}_{j_1} and \mathcal{L}_{j_1} are of type (a_1, b_1) and (a_2, b_2) such that

$$(a_1, b_1) \neq (a_2, b_2)$$
 and $(a_1, b_1) \neq (b_2, a_2)$.

But in the case of the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ of degree 6 covers given by the local monodromy data

$$d_1 = d_2 = 1, \ d_3 = d_4 = 5$$

nothing of them holds true with respect to \mathcal{L}_1 and \mathcal{L}_4 . In this case the situation is not clear.

Now let us finish this chapter and state the final result about the period map:

Theorem 5.6.7. In the case of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}_1$ the period map

$$p: \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V})(\mathbb{R})/K$$

is open, if and only if one has a pure (1, 1) - VHS.

Proof. As we have seen in the proof Theorem 4.4.4, the period map is open, if one has a pure (1, 1) - VHS.

For the other direction assume that the period map is open and there are up to complex conjugation at least two different eigenspaces, which are not unitary.

Lemma 5.6.8. Assume that we have a family $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{M}_1} \to \mathcal{M}_1$. Only if all \mathcal{V}_r except for exactly one \mathcal{V}_{r_0} are special, the period map

$$p: \mathcal{M}_1(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V})(\mathbb{R})/K$$

can be open.

Proof. Assume that r_1 and r_2 divide m such that $r_1 \neq r_2$ and \mathcal{V}_{r_1} and \mathcal{V}_{r_2} are not special. If $2r_1 \neq r_2$ or if there is a Dehn twist, whose finite order with respect to \mathcal{V}_{r_1} does not divide $\frac{m}{r_2} = \frac{m}{2r_1}$, the same arguments as in the proof of Proposition 5.6.5 imply that

$$\dim(\mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V})(\mathbb{R})/K) > 1 = \dim(\mathcal{M}_1).$$

Therefore the period map can not be open.

Otherwise assume without loss of generality that $r_1 = 1$ and all semisimple Dehn twists have an order dividing $\frac{m}{2}$. This implies that all d_k are odd and the degree m is even. Hence $\operatorname{Mon}^0(\mathcal{V}_{\overline{m}})$ is isomorphic to $\operatorname{Sp}_{\mathbb{Q}}(2)$, where its monodromy representation sends all Dehn twists to unipotent matrices. Thus $\dim(\mathrm{MT}^{\mathrm{der}}(\mathcal{V})(\mathbb{R})/K) > 1.$

By Lemma 5.6.8, these two eigenspaces, which are not unitary, must be contained in the same \mathcal{V}_{r_0} , which must be exceptional. Hence assume without loss of generality that $\mathcal{V}_{r_0} = \mathcal{V}_1$.

In the separated case, the fact that all d_k are odd (compare to 5.4.4) implies that $\operatorname{Mon}^0_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{2}}) = \operatorname{Sp}_{\mathbb{R}}(2)$. Hence by Lemma 5.6.8, we have a contradiction.

In the complex case Lemma 5.4.2 implies without loss of generality that

$$t_1|d_1 + d_2, t_1|d_2 + d_3, t_1|d_1 + d_4, t_1|d_3 + d_4.$$

This implies that t_1 divides each d_k or that t_1 does not divide any d_k . Thus t_1 does not divide any d_k . Hence $C_{\frac{m}{t_1}}$ is a family of covers with 4 branch points, where $\rho_{\frac{m}{t_1}}(T_{1,2})$ and $\rho_{\frac{m}{t_1}}(T_{2,3})$ are unitary. Hence $\mathcal{V}_{\frac{m}{t_1}}$ has an infinite monodromy group resp., it is not special. Thus by Lemma 5.6.8, we have a contradiction.

Chapter 6 Examples of families with dense sets of complex multiplication fibers

In this chapter we classify all families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of covers with a pure (1, n) - VHS. Due to Theorem 4.4.4, all these families have a dense set of CM fibers. We say that a pure (1, n) - VHS is primitive, if the (1, n) eigenspace \mathcal{L}_j satisfies that $j \in (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$. Otherwise the pure (1, n) - VHS is derived.

In Section 6.1 we give an integral condition for the branch indices d_k of the family C with the fibers given by

$$y^m = (x - a_1)^{d_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot (x - a_n)^{d_n}.$$

This integral condition is stronger than the similar integral condition INT of P. Deligne and G. D. Mostow [18]. Thus we call this strong integral condition SINT. We show that this condition is necessary for the existence of a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS. By using this condition, we compute all examples of families $C \rightarrow \mathcal{P}_1$ of covers with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS in Section 6.2, which will be listed in Section 6.3. By using the list of examples satisfying INT for n > 1 in [18], we give in Section 6.3 the complete lists of families with a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS. In Section 6.3 we give also the complete list of examples with a derived pure (1, n) - VHS, which will be verified in Section 6.4.

6.1 The necessary condition SINT

By Theorem 4.4.4, one has a sufficient criterion for a dense set of CM fibers of a family $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{M}_n} \to \mathcal{M}_n$. This criterion is satisfied, if \mathcal{C} has a pure (1, n) - VHS(i.e. its VHS contains one eigenspace of type (1, n), a complex conjugate eigenspace of type (n, 1) and otherwise only eigenspaces of the type (a, 0)and (0, b) for some $a, b \in \mathbb{N}_0$).

Remark 6.1.1. Assume that the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of cyclic covers of degree *m* has a pure (1, n)-VHS and that \mathcal{L}_{j_0} is the eigenspace of type (1, n).

J.C. Rohde, Cyclic Coverings, Calabi-Yau Manifolds and Complex Multiplication, 121
Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1975, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-00639-5_7,
© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009

Let $j_0 \notin (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$. Then we have $1 < r_0 := gcd(j_0, m)$. By Section 4.2, the family \mathcal{C}_{r_0} has a pure (1, n)-VHS, too.

Definition 6.1.2. A pure (1, n) - VHS is primitive, if $j_0 \in (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$. Otherwise it is a derived pure (1, n) - VHS with the associated primitive pure (1, n) - VHS induced by C_{r_0} , where C_{r_0} is given by the preceding remark.

Hence first we search for families with a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS. Later we will look for families with a derived pure (1, n) - VHS. It is helpful to have a necessary condition to find the families with a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS. In [18] P. Deligne and G. D. Mostow have formulated the following integral condition INT:

Definition 6.1.3. A local system on $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus S$ of monodromy $(\alpha_s)_{s \in S}$ with $\alpha_s = exp(2\pi i\mu_s)$ and $\mu_s \in \mathbb{Q}$ for all $s \in S$ satisfies the condition *INT*, if:

1. $0 < \mu_s < 1$ for all $s \in S$.

2. We have for all $s, t \in S$: $(1-\mu_s-\mu_t)^{-1}$ is an integer, if $s \neq t$ and $\mu_s+\mu_t < 1$. 3. $\sum \mu_s = 2$.

Remark 6.1.4. By P. Deligne and G. D. Mostow [18], the monodromy of the fractional period map of an eigenspace \mathcal{L}_j of type (1, n) is discrete in the unitary group U(1, n) and has finite covolume, if one has that $H_1(\mathcal{C}_q, \mathbb{C})_j$ satisfies INT for some $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$. This sufficient condition can be replaced by a weaker condition ΣINT as G. D. Mostow [44] has shown. Later G. D. Mostow [45] has shown that ΣINT is necessary for the discreteness, if n > 3.

One can identify the local monodromy data, which yield the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ by Construction 3.2.1, with the local monodromy data of the eigenspace \mathbb{L}_1 of some fiber \mathcal{C}_q for an arbitrary $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$. Hence one can formulate the condition INT for the local monodromy data of the family. For the latter data we give a corresponding stronger integral condition SINT:

Definition 6.1.5. A family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 given by the local monodromy data given by $\mu_k \in \mathbb{Q}$ around $s_k \in N$ satisfies SINT, if we have:

1. $\mu_{k_1} + \mu_{k_2} = 1$ or $(1 - \mu_{k_1} - \mu_{k_2})^{-1} \in \mathbb{Z}$ for all $s_{k_1}, s_{k_2} \in N$ with $s_{k_1} \neq s_{k_2}$. 2. $\sum \mu_s = 2$.

Remark 6.1.6. The reader checks easily that for a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ the conditions *INT* and *SINT* are equivalent. Moreover by the list on [18], page 86, each family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ with $n \geq 2$, which satisfies *INT*, satisfies *SINT*, too.

At the present the author can not explain this fact. We use SINT instead of INT, since this is a stronger and hence a more helpful condition.

By the following theorem, we have our helpful necessary condition for families C, which have a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS:

Theorem 6.1.7. If the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ has a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS, its local monodromy data can be given rational numbers satisfying SINT.

For the proof of Theorem 6.1.7 we first reduce the situation to the case of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ of covers with only 4 branch points. That means we will consider a pair of branch points of a fiber of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$, where \mathcal{C} has a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS, as a pair of branch points with the same branch indices of a fiber of a family $\mathcal{C}(P) \to \mathcal{P}_1$, which has a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS. The following lemma will make it possible in almost all cases:

Lemma 6.1.8. Assume that C is given by local monodromy data on at least 5 points, where one does not have $\mu_3 = \ldots = \mu_{n+3} = \frac{1}{2}$. Then there exists a stable partition P with $\{a_1\}, \{a_2\} \in P$ such that |P| = 4.¹

Proof. One can without loss of generality assume that $\mu_1 + \mu_2 \leq 1$. Otherwise we take the local monodromy data of \mathcal{L}_{m-1} .

Now assume that such a stable partition P with $\{a_1\}, \{a_2\} \in P$ does not exist. Hence one must have $\mu_1 + \mu_2 + \mu_k = 1$ for all $3 \le k \le n+3$. Otherwise one obtains the stable partition

$$P = \{\{a_1\}, \{a_2\}, \{a_k\}, \{a_3, \dots, a_{k-1}, a_{k+1}, \dots, a_{n+3}\}\}$$

Thus one must have

$$\mu := \mu_3 = \ldots = \mu_{n_j+3}$$

Since

$$P = \{\{a_1\}, \{a_2\}, \{a_3, a_4\}, \{a_5, \dots, a_{n_j+3}\}\}$$

is not a stable partition by our assumption, too, one has

$$2\mu = \mu_3 + \mu_4 = 1$$
. Hence $\mu = \frac{1}{2}$.

6.1.9. The family of irreducible cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 given by the local monodromy data

$$\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \frac{1}{4}, \ \ \mu_3 = \mu_4 = \mu_5 = \frac{1}{2}$$

has a primitive pure (1, 2) - VHS. Moreover it is easy to calculate that this family satisfies SINT.

This is the only example of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ with a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS for n > 1, which does not satisfy the assumptions of Lemma 6.1.8: It is very easy to see that this is the only degree 4 example with a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS for n > 1, which contradicts the assumptions of Lemma 6.1.8. If m > 4, \mathcal{L}_3 must be unitary. But in this case the condition that

$$n+3>4$$
 and $[3\mu_3]_1 = \ldots = [3\mu_{n+3}]_1 = \frac{1}{2}$

¹Since the assumptions of this lemma are sufficient, we do not restrict to the interesting case of a family with a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS.

and Proposition 2.3.4 imply that

$$h_3^{1,0}(C) \ge (\sum_{k\ge 3} [3\mu_k]_1) - 1 = (\sum_{k\ge 3} \frac{1}{2}) - 1 > 0$$

and

$$h_3^{0,1}(C) \ge \sum_{k\ge 3} (1-[3\mu_k]_1) - 1 = (\sum_{k\ge 3} \frac{1}{2}) - 1 > 0.$$

Thus \mathcal{L}_3 is not unitary.

6.1.10. Assume that $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ has a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS. Hence \mathcal{L}_1 is without loss of generality the eigenspace of type (1, n). For our application of Lemma 6.1.8 we must check that the collision of Lemma 6.1.8 resp., its corresponding stable partition yields a family $\mathcal{C}(P) \to \mathcal{P}_1$, which has a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS. The family $\mathcal{C}(P)$ is given by N = P with the local monodromy data

$$\alpha_{\{a_k,\ldots,a_\ell\}} = \alpha_k \cdot \ldots \cdot \alpha_\ell \quad (\forall \ \{a_k,\ldots,a_\ell\} \in P)$$

as in Construction 3.2.1. The fibers of $\mathcal{C}(P)$ have degree m', where m' divides m. For $j = 1, \ldots, m' - 1$ and $q \in \mathcal{M}_1$, the eigenspace $\mathbb{L}_j(P)$ in the Hodge structure of $\mathcal{C}(P)_q$ with the character j is given by the local monodromy data

$$[j\mu_1]_1, \ [j\mu_2]_1, \ [j\mu_3 + \ldots + j\mu_k]_1, \ [j\mu_{k+1} + \ldots + j\mu_{n+3}]_1$$

If the eigenspace \mathcal{L}_j in the VHS of \mathcal{C} is of type (0, a), Proposition 2.3.4 implies that its local monodromy data satisfy

$$[j\mu_1]_1 + \ldots + [j\mu_{n+3}]_1 = 1.$$

Hence one has that

$$[j\mu_1]_1 + [j\mu_2]_1 + [j\mu_3 + \ldots + j\mu_k]_1 + [j\mu_{k+1} + \ldots + j\mu_{n+3}]_1 = 1,$$

too. Thus by Proposition 2.3.4, $\mathbb{L}_i(P)$ is of type (0, a').

If \mathcal{L}_j is of type (a, 0), \mathcal{L}_{m-j} is of type (0, a). The dual eigenspace $\mathbb{L}_j(P)^{\vee}$ of $\mathbb{L}_j(P)$ is given by

$$[(m-j)\mu_1]_1, \quad [(m-j)\mu_2]_1, \quad [(m-j)\mu_3 + \ldots + (m-j)\mu_k]_1, \\ [(m-j)\mu_{k+1} + \ldots + (m-j)\mu_{n+3}]_1.$$

The same arguments as above tell us that $\mathbb{L}_j(P)^{\vee}$ is of type (0, a'). Thus $\mathbb{L}_j(P)$ is of type (a', 0).

The restricted family $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{M}_1}(P) \to \mathcal{M}_1$ of cyclic covers with 4 different branch points has a non-trivial variation of Hodge structures. This follows from the fact that each fiber of $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{M}_n} \to \mathcal{M}_n$ is isomorphic to only finitely many other fibers (compare to 4.4.2). Therefore the eigenspaces $\mathbb{L}_1(P)$ and $\mathbb{L}_{m'-1}(P)$ are of type (1, 1). In addition one concludes that m' = 2 or m' = m.

Now we are without loss of generality in the case of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ with a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS. For the proof of Theorem 6.1.7 we need the following lemma:

Lemma 6.1.11. Let C and C' be curves and $\gamma : \operatorname{Jac}(C) \to \operatorname{Jac}(C')$ be an isomorphism of principally polarized abelian varieties. Then there exists a unique isomorphism $f : C \to C'$ such that

$$\pm \gamma \circ \alpha_p = \alpha_{f(p)} \circ f$$

for each $p \in C$, where α_p and $\alpha_{f(p)}$ denote the respective Abel-Jacobi maps.

Proof. By [39], Theorem 12.1, for each $p \in C$ and $p' \in C'$ there is a unique isomorphism $f: C \to C'$ and a unique $c \in \text{Jac}(C')$ such that

$$\pm \gamma \circ \alpha_p + c = \alpha_{p'} \circ f.$$

Since $(\gamma \circ \alpha_p)(p) = 0 \in \operatorname{Jac}(C')$ and $(\alpha_{p'} \circ f)(p) = [f(p) - p'] \in \operatorname{Jac}(C')$, one has c = 0 for p' = f(p).

By the next proposition, we will apply Lemma 6.1.11 for our proof of Theorem 6.1.7:

Proposition 6.1.12. Let $q_1, q_2 \in \mathcal{P}_n$ and $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ be a family of cyclic covers. Assume there is an isomorphism between the polarized integral Hodge structures of the fibers \mathcal{C}_{q_1} and \mathcal{C}_{q_2} , which respects the eigenspace decompositions of $H^1(\mathcal{C}_{q_1}, \mathbb{C})$ and $H^1(\mathcal{C}_{q_1}, \mathbb{C})$. Then there is an isomorphism $\iota : \mathcal{C}_{p_1} \to \mathcal{C}_{p_2}$ and an isomorphism $\alpha : \mathbb{P}^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$ such that the following diagram commutes:



Proof. Let γ be an isomorphism of polarized Hodge structures respecting the eigenspace decompositions of $H^1(\mathcal{C}_{q_1}\mathbb{C})$ and $H^1(\mathcal{C}_{q_1}\mathbb{C})$. Then there exists a suitable pair (ψ_1, ψ_2) of generators of the Galois groups of \mathcal{C}_{q_1} and \mathcal{C}_{q_1} such that

$$\gamma \circ (\psi_1)_* = (\psi_2)_* \circ \gamma.$$

For simplicity we write ψ instead of ψ_1 and ψ_2 .

By the exponential exact sequence, an isomorphism $\gamma : H^1(\mathcal{C}_{q_1}, \mathbb{Z}) \to H^1(\mathcal{C}_{q_2}, \mathbb{Z})$ of polarized Hodge structures commuting with the action of ψ

on these integral Hodge structures induces an isomorphism $\gamma' : \operatorname{Jac}(\mathcal{C}_{q_1}) \to \operatorname{Jac}(\mathcal{C}_{q_2})$ commuting with ψ_* . In other terms one has

$$\gamma' \circ \psi_* = \psi_* \circ \gamma'$$

for the Jacobians.

By Lemma 6.1.11, one obtains a unique isomorphism $\mathcal{C}_{p_1} \xrightarrow{\iota} \mathcal{C}_{p_2}$ such that

$$\iota \circ \psi = \psi \circ \iota.$$

Thus one obtains the desired automorphism α .

6.1.13. Now assume that $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ has a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS. Moreover one can without loss of generality assume that \mathcal{L}_1 is the eigenspace of type (1, n). Choose $s_1, s_2 \in N$.

If $\mu_1 + \mu_2 = 1$, there remains nothing to prove for these two points with respect to Theorem 6.1.7.

Otherwise we let the branch points collide as in Lemma 6.1.8, if we are not in the only exceptional case, which satisfies SINT as we have seen in 6.1.9. Thus we can restrict to the case $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$. Assume that all 4 branch points of a fiber of $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ have pairwise different branch indices. By Proposition 6.1.12, there will not be an isomorphism α between different fibers, which respects the action of the Galois group. Hence the fractional period map according to $\mathcal{L}_1|_{\mathcal{M}_1}$ is injective. Now choose the embedding $\mathcal{M}_1 \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1$ corresponding to

$$p_1 = 0, p_3 = 1, p_4 = \infty.$$

By [36], Section 4, one can identify the fractional period map concerning \mathcal{L}_1 with some multivalued map, which is called Schwarz map. The Schwarz map is the composition of the multivalued map studied by P. Deligne and G. D. Mostow in [18], which is defined by some integrals, with the natural map $\mathbb{C}^{n+1} \setminus \{0\} \to \mathbb{P}^n_{\mathbb{C}}$. By [18], 9.6 and the preceding description of the fractional period map, there exists a sufficiently small neighborhood U of $0 \in \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \mathcal{M}_1$ such that the fractional period map concerning \mathcal{L}_1 is (up to a biholomorphic map) given by $x \to x^{1-\mu_1-\mu_2}$ on $U \setminus \{0\}$. Hence the injectivity of the period map implies that $(1 - \mu_1 - \mu_2)^{-1} \in \mathbb{Z}$. This yields *SINT*.

6.1.14. Now we have the problem that we can not directly apply Proposition 6.1.12 as before, if we assume that there are 4 branch points, where exactly two of them have the same branch index: Let p_1 and p_4 have the same branch index and p_3 run around p_2 , where

$$p_1 = 0, p_2 = 1, p_4 = \infty.$$

The automorphism $x \to x^{-1}$ interchanges 0 and ∞ and leaves a basis of neighborhoods of $1 \in \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \mathcal{M}_1$ invariant. We have obviously the same problem,

if we let p_1 run around p_4 . But for all other pairs $k_1, k_2 \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ with $k_1 \neq k_2$ and the coordinates

$$k_1 = 0, \quad k_3 = 1, \quad k_4 = \infty,$$

Proposition 6.1.12 implies that the multivalued period map is injective on $U \setminus \{0\}$, where U is a sufficiently small neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \mathcal{M}_1$. Thus k_1 and k_2 satisfy the integral condition

$$1 - \mu_{k_1} - \mu_{k_2} = 0$$
 or $(1 - \mu_{k_1} - \mu_{k_2})^{-1} \in \mathbb{Z}$

Hence one must ensure that the remaining pairs satisfy this latter condition, in order to show that *SINT* is satisfied:

Let us change the enumeration and assume that $\mu_1 = \mu_2$. By Proposition 6.1.12, we can have

$$1 - \mu_1 - \mu_2 = \frac{1}{\ell}$$
 or $1 - \mu_1 - \mu_2 = \frac{2}{\ell}$ or $1 - \mu_1 - \mu_2 = 0$

for some odd $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$. Note that $1-\mu_1-\mu_2 = -(1-\mu_3-\mu_4)$, if $\mu_1+\ldots+\mu_4 = 2$. Hence we only have to exclude the second case

$$(1 - \mu_1 - \mu_2) = \frac{2}{\ell}.$$

First assume that m is odd. In this case $m - 2d_1$ is odd and the second case can not occur. Hence assume that m is even and let $m = 2^s r$, where $r = k \cdot \ell$ is odd. If the second case holds true, one has

$$\frac{2^{s}k\ell - 2d_1}{2^{s}k\ell} = \frac{2}{\ell} \Leftrightarrow 2^{s-1}k\ell - d_1 = 2^{s}k \Leftrightarrow d_1 = 2^{s-1}k(\ell - 2)$$

If $s \ge 2$, one has that $d_1 = d_2$ is even. Since C_2 must have a trivial VHS, one has without loss of generality that $d_3 = 2^{s-1}k\ell$. Since we have

$$2m = d_1 + \ldots + d_4,$$

which is even, where d_1, d_2, d_3 are even, too, d_4 must be even. But in this case the cover is not irreducible. Hence we must have s = 1. Since C_2 must have a trivial VHS, one has without loss of generality $d_3 = k\ell$. Since we have

$$2m = d_1 + \ldots + d_4,$$

which is even, where d_1, d_2, d_3 are odd, one must have that d_4 is odd, too. But in this case $C_{k\ell}$ is the family of elliptic curves and we do not have a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS. Therefore the second case is excluded. If we have 4 branch points and more than exactly two of them have the same branch index, one can have the additional simple cases

$$\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \mu_3$$
 or $\mu_1 = \mu_2$, $\mu_3 = \mu_4$.

For these very simple cases one can directly calculate all occurring examples of families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS. Then one can verify by their local monodromy data that Theorem 6.1.7 holds true in these cases as we will do now.

Remark 6.1.15. One must without loss of generality have

 $d_1 < d_4$ resp., $d_1 = d_2 = d_3 < d_4$ or $d_1 = d_2 < d_3 = d_4$

in the simple cases, if m > 2. Otherwise we would obtain

$$d_1 = d_2 = d_3 = d_4 = \frac{m}{2},$$

which implies that C is not irreducible, if m > 2.

Lemma 6.1.16. Assume that the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ with the branch indices $d_1 = d_2 = d_3 \neq d_4$ has a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS. Then the degree m is odd and satisfies $m \leq 9$. Moreover one has without loss of generality that $d_1 = d_2 = d_3 = 1$.

Proof. By the assumptions we have that $2m = 3d_1 + d_4$. Hence $g = \gcd(m, d_1) = 1$ divides d_4 , too, which implies by the irreducibility of the fibers of C that g = 1. Thus if m is even, we have that $d_1 = d_2 = d_3$ and d_4 are odd. But in this case $C_{\frac{m}{2}}$ would be the family of elliptic curves such that $\mathcal{L}_{\frac{m}{2}}$ is of type (1, 1). Contradiction! Hence m must be odd.

It remains to show that $m \leq 9$. Since $gcd(m, d_1) = 1$, the fibers are without loss of generality given by

$$y^m = x(x-1)(x-\lambda)$$

such that $\mathcal{L}_{[\frac{m}{2}]}$ is of type (1,1) as one can calculate by Proposition 2.3.4. By Proposition 2.3.4, one can calculate the type of $\mathcal{L}_{\frac{m-3}{2}}$ by its local monodromy data, too. For this local system one gets that

$$3\left[\frac{m-3}{2m}\right]_1 + \left[\frac{(m-3)(m-3)}{2m}\right]_1$$
$$3\frac{m-3}{2m} + (m-3)\frac{m-3}{2m} - \left[\frac{(m-3)(m-3)}{2m}\right] = \frac{m-3}{2} - \left[\frac{(m-3)(m-3)}{2m}\right].$$

=

Now let us assume that 9 < m. Since m must be odd, we obtain

$$3\left[\frac{m-3}{2m}\right]_1 + \left[\frac{(m-3)(m-3)}{2m}\right]_1 = \frac{m-3}{2} - \left[\frac{m-6}{2} + \frac{9}{2m}\right] = \frac{m-3}{2} - \frac{m-7}{2} = 2.$$

This result and Proposition 2.3.4 imply that $\mathcal{L}_{\frac{m-3}{2}}$ is of type (1,1) in this case, too. Hence we do not have a pure (1,1) - VHS, if 9 < m.

Remark 6.1.17. In the case of the preceding lemma one obtains all examples of families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ with a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS by m = 5, 7, 9, which satisfy SINT as one can calculate easily, too.

Remark 6.1.18. If we are in the second simple case $d_1 = d_2 \neq d_3 = d_4$, one obtains

$$d_1 + d_3 = d_2 + d_4 = m.$$

By the fact that $d_1 \neq d_3$, one concludes that $\mu_1, \mu_3 \neq \frac{1}{2}$. Hence the local monodromy data of \mathcal{L}_2 satisfy $[2\mu_i]_1 \neq 0$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, 4$. Moreover one has

$$[2\mu_1]_1 + [2\mu_3]_1 = [2\mu_2]_1 + [2\mu_4]_1 = 1.$$

Hence \mathcal{L}_2 is of type (1, 1) and \mathcal{C} can have a primitive (1, 1) – VHS, only if m = 3. Thus the only possible case is given by

$$\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \frac{1}{3}$$
 and $\mu_3 = \mu_4 = \frac{2}{3}$,

which satisfies SINT as one can easily verify.

6.2 The application of *SINT* for the more complicated cases

In the preceding section we have seen that SINT is a necessary condition for families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ with a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS. In addition we have given all examples of families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS, which do not satisfy that at most two branch points have the same branch index. Here we calculate all examples of families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS, which satisfy that at most two branch points have the same branch index.

By technical reasons, we will sometimes assume $m \ge 4$. Note that the only possible case of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ of degree 3 covers with a pure (1, 1) - VHS is given by Remark 6.1.18, where the only possible case of degree 2 covers is given by the elliptic curves. Thus this assumption does not provide any restriction for the more complicated cases.

Note that in the case of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ the condition *SINT* is equivalent to *INT*.

Remark 6.2.1. By [18], 14.3, one can describe all families of covers $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$, whose local monodromy data satisfy *INT*, such that there is not any pair $k_1, k_2 \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ with $k_1 \neq k_2$ satisfying $\mu_{k_1} + \mu_{k_2} = 1$, in the following way: Let $(p, q, r) \in \mathbb{N}^3$ with $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{r} < 1$ and 1 . Then in the case of 4 branch points these solutions of*INT*for covers can be given by:

$$\begin{split} \mu_1 &= \frac{1}{2}(1-\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}+\frac{1}{r}), \ \ \mu_2 &= \frac{1}{2}(1-\frac{1}{p}+\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{r}), \\ \mu_3 &= \frac{1}{2}(1+\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}-\frac{1}{r}), \ \ \mu_4 &= \frac{1}{2}(1+\frac{1}{p}+\frac{1}{q}+\frac{1}{r}) \end{split}$$

We have that

$$\mu_1 + \mu_2 = 1 - \frac{1}{p}, \quad \mu_1 + \mu_3 = 1 - \frac{1}{q}, \quad \mu_2 + \mu_3 = 1 - \frac{1}{r}.$$

Thus p, q, and r divide the degree m of the cover. This fact and the equations, which use p, q, and r for the definition of the different μ_i , imply that we have

$$m = \operatorname{lcm}(p, q, r)$$
 or $m = 2 \cdot \operatorname{lcm}(p, q, r)$.

If we are in the case of a family with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS such that all local monodromy data satisfy $\mu_{k_1} + \mu_{k_2} \neq 1$ and at most two branch points have the same index, we are in the case of Remark 6.2.1 with the additional condition p < r. Hence let us first consider this case. Later we will consider families with at most two branch points with the same branch index and some $\mu_{k_1} + \mu_{k_2} = 1$, which is the last remaining subcase.

Now let $\ell := \operatorname{lcm}(p, q, r)$.

Lemma 6.2.2. Let $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ be given by p, q, r as in Remark 6.2.1, where p < r, and have a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS. Then one has

$$\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{r}.$$

Proof. Since $p|\ell$ resp., p|m, we have the family C_p , which must have a trivial VHS. This implies that there is a d_{i_0} with $\frac{m}{p}|d_{i_0}$, which implies that $\frac{\ell}{p}|d_{i_0}$. Since

$$d_{i_0} = \ell \pm \frac{\ell}{p} \pm \frac{\ell}{q} \pm \frac{\ell}{r} \quad \text{or} \quad 2d_{i_0} = \ell \pm \frac{\ell}{p} \pm \frac{\ell}{q} \pm \frac{\ell}{r}$$

one concludes that $\frac{\ell}{p}|(\frac{\ell}{q}\pm\frac{\ell}{r})$. From the fact that $\frac{\ell}{p}\geq\frac{\ell}{q}$ and $\frac{\ell}{p}>\frac{\ell}{r}$, one obtains

$$\frac{\ell}{p} = \frac{\ell}{q} + \frac{\ell}{r}$$
. Hence $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{r}$.

130

r		1	

Lemma 6.2.3. Let $C \to \mathcal{P}_1$ be a family with a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS, which is given by p, q, r as in Remark 6.2.1, where p < r. Then the family C and the eigenspace \mathbb{L}_1 are given by the local monodromy data

$$\mu_1 = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q}, \quad \mu_2 = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{r}, \quad \mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}, \quad \mu_4 = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{p}$$

Proof. By Lemma 6.2.2, we have

$$\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{r}.$$

This equation and Remark 6.2.1, this imply that \mathcal{C} and \mathbb{L}_1 have the local monodromy data

$$\mu_1 = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q}, \quad \mu_2 = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{r}, \quad \mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}, \quad \mu_4 = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{p}.$$

Remark 6.2.4. Let $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ is a family of covers of degree $m \geq 4$ with a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS satisfying the assumptions of Lemma 6.2.3. Moreover assume that $3 \notin (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$. Hence the assumption that $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ has primitive pure (1,1) - VHS implies that the family \mathcal{C}_3 must have a trivial VHS. Thus all fibers of \mathcal{C}_3 must be isomorphic. Hence they are ramified over at most 3 points. By Lemma 6.2.3, one concludes that

$$0 = [\frac{1}{2} - \frac{3}{q}]_1, \quad 0 = [\frac{1}{2} - \frac{3}{r}]_1 \quad \text{or} \quad 0 = [\frac{1}{2} + \frac{3}{p}]_1.$$

Since $\mu_4 = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{p} < 1$, one concludes that 2 . Thus one has

$$p = 6, q = 6 \text{ or } r = 6.$$

Hence one can determine all examples of families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ with a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS in this case as we will do now:

6.2.5. Keep the assumptions of Remark 6.2.4. In the case p = 6 one has that $[3\mu_4]_1 = 0$. One can have q = 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, where q = 12 implies that

$$\frac{1}{6} = \frac{1}{p}, \quad \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{12},$$

which leads to a family with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS. Now we verify that q = 7, 8, 9, 10, 11 do not lead to a family with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS: One must have that \mathbb{L}_5 is unitary. It has the local monodromy data

$$\mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}$$
 and $\mu_4 = [\frac{1}{2} + \frac{5}{6}]_1 = \frac{1}{3}$.

Hence one must have that

$$\frac{1}{6} \ge \mu_1 = [\frac{1}{2} - \frac{5}{q}]_1,$$

which is satisfied for q = 10, 11, but not for q = 7, 8, 9. For q = 10 we have that

$$\frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{15}.$$

This leads to a family given by the local monodromy data

$$\mu_1 = \frac{4}{10}, \ \mu_2 = \frac{13}{30}, \ \mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}, \ \mu_4 = \frac{2}{3}$$

One calculates easily that the eigenspace \mathcal{L}_7 in the VHS of this family is given by

$$\mu_1 = \frac{4}{5}, \ \mu_2 = \frac{1}{30}, \ \mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}, \ \mu_4 = \frac{2}{3}$$

Hence this family has not a pure (1, 1) - VHS.

For q = 11 we have that

$$\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} = \frac{5}{66}.$$

Hence the equation of Lemma 6.2.2 can not be satisfied in this case.

6.2.6. Keep the assumptions of Remark 6.2.4. Moreover assume that q = 6. In this case we can have p = 3, 4, 5, where p = 3 implies

$$\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{3}, \quad \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{r} = \frac{1}{6},$$

which yields an example of a family with a primitive (1, 1) - VHS. For p = 4 resp., p = 5 Lemma 6.2.2 and Lemma 6.2.3 yield a family of covers given by the local monodromy data

$$\mu_1 = \frac{1}{3}, \ \ \mu_2 = \frac{5}{12}, \ \ \mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}, \ \ \mu_4 = \frac{3}{4}$$

resp.,

$$\mu_1 = \frac{1}{3}, \ \ \mu_2 = \frac{14}{30}, \ \ \mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}, \ \ \mu_4 = \frac{7}{10}$$

Hence one can easily verify that \mathcal{L}_5 is an eigenspace of type (1,1) in both cases. Thus p = 4, 5 do not lead to a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS.

6.2.7. Keep the assumptions of Remark 6.2.4. Moreover assume that r = 6. In this case Lemma 6.2.2 implies that

$$\frac{1}{p} \ge \frac{2}{r} = \frac{1}{3}.$$

Hence one has p = 2 or p = 3, where p = 2 would imply that $\mu_4 = 1$, and p = 3 yields the same example of a family with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS as in 6.2.6.

Now we have considered the subcase given by $3 \notin (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$. We start the consideration of the subcase given by $3 \in (\mathbb{Z}/(m))^*$ by the following lemma:

Lemma 6.2.8. Let $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ be a family with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS, which satisfies that each $\mu_{k_1} + \mu_{k_2} \neq 1$. Then one has m > 4.

Proof. We know that one must have $m \ge 4$ in the considered case. Thus we must only exclude m = 4. Since for a family C of degree 4 covers with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS the family C_2 must have a trivial VHS, one has without loss of generally $d_1 = 2$. By the assumption that each $\mu_{k_1} + \mu_{k_2} \ne 1$, one concludes that d_1, d_2, d_3 are not equal to 2. Hence d_1, d_2, d_3 are odd. But this contradicts our assumptions, which imply that we have the even sum

$$2m = d_1 + \ldots + d_4.$$

Remark 6.2.9. Keep the assumption of Lemma 6.2.3. If m > 4, the eigenspace \mathbb{L}_3 is not of type (1, 1). Assume that 3 is a unit in $\mathbb{Z}/(m)$. Thus Lemma 6.2.8 implies for the local monodromy data of \mathbb{L}_3 that $\sum \mu_i = 3$ or $\sum \mu_i = 1$. Recall that $\mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}$. Hence $\sum \mu_i = 3$ implies that

$$\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_4 > \frac{1}{2}.$$

By Lemma 6.2.3, one concludes that

$$\mu_1 = \frac{3}{2} - \frac{3}{q}$$
 and $\mu_2 = \frac{3}{2} - \frac{3}{r}$.

By Lemma 6.2.2, this implies that

$$\mu_4 = 3 - \mu_1 - \mu_2 - \mu_3 = 3 - \frac{3}{2} + \frac{3}{q} - \frac{3}{2} + \frac{3}{r} - \frac{1}{2} = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{3}{p} + \frac{3}{q} = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{3}{p}$$

in this case. This implies that p, q, r < 6.

In the case $\sum \mu_i = 1$ one gets $\mu_1, \mu_2, \mu_4 < \frac{1}{2}$. By Lemma 6.2.2 and Lemma 6.2.3, this implies that

$$\mu_1 = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{3}{q}, \quad \mu_2 = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{3}{r} \text{ and } \mu_4 = -\frac{1}{2} + \frac{3}{p}$$

such that p < 6 and q, r > 6.

Remark 6.2.10. The case p, q, r < 6 does not yield any example of a family with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS, since no triple $(p, q, r) \in \mathbb{N}^3$ with $2 \le p \le q \le r < 6$ satisfies both

$$\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{r}$$
 and $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} + \frac{1}{r} < 1$

as one can check by calculation for each example.

6.2.11. Assume that we are in the case p < 6 and q, r > 6. Since $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{r}$, one has $\frac{1}{p} \leq 2\frac{1}{q}$ such that $6 < q \leq 2p$ and 3 . Hence one has two cases: <math>p = 4 or p = 5. Thus by using that $\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{r}$, one calculates that only the examples given by

$$p = 4$$
, $q = r = 8$ and $p = 5$, $q = r = 10$

have a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS in this case.

Now we consider the last remaining case of a family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ with a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS. In this case there are at most 2 branch indices equal and one has some $\mu_{k_1} + \mu_{k_2} = 1$.

Lemma 6.2.12. Let $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ a family of cyclic covers. If there are $k_1, k_2 \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ such that $d_{k_1} + d_{k_2} = m$ with $d_1 \leq d_2 \leq d_3 \leq d_4$, then one has

$$d_1 + d_4 = m$$
 and $d_2 + d_3 = m$.

Proof. (quite easy to see)

Remark 6.2.13. By the preceding lemma, we have that $d_1 + d_4 = d_2 + d_3 = m$, if there are $k_1, k_2 \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ such that $d_{k_1} + d_{k_2} = m$ with $d_1 \leq d_2 \leq d_3 \leq d_4$. Hence if $d_1 + d_3 = m$ resp., $d_3 = d_4$, one gets $d_1 = d_2$, too. But this contradicts the assumption that at most 2 branch indexes are equal. Hence by SINT, one gets

$$\mu_1 + \mu_2 = 1 - \frac{1}{p} < 1, \quad \mu_1 + \mu_3 = 1 - \frac{1}{q} < 1, \quad \mu_2 + \mu_3 = 1$$

with $p, q \in \mathbb{N}$ and $p \leq q$. Hence one obtains similarly to Remark 6.2.1 with $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} < 1$:

$$\mu_1 = \frac{1}{2}(1 - \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}), \quad \mu_2 = \frac{1}{2}(1 - \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}),$$
$$\mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}), \quad \mu_4 = \frac{1}{2}(1 + \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q})$$

Lemma 6.2.14. Assume that the local monodromy data of Remark 6.2.13 yield a family of degree $m \ge 4$ with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS. Then one has p = q and m is even.

Proof. In the case of Remark 6.2.13 the eigenspace \mathbb{L}_2 is given by the local monodromy data

$$\mu_1 = 1 - \frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}, \ \ \mu_2 = [1 - \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}]_1, \ \ \mu_3 = [\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}]_1, \ \ \mu_4 = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q}$$

Thus in this case \mathcal{L}_2 is of type (1,1), if and only if p < q. Hence one can obtain a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS, only if p = q. Now p = q implies that $\mu_2 = \mu_3 = 0$ for the local monodromy data of \mathbb{L}_2 . Hence the family of covers has an even degree.

Proposition 6.2.15. Assume that the local monodromy data of Remark 6.2.13 yield a family of degree $m \ge 4$ with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS. Then $p = q \le 6$.

Proof. By the preceding lemma, the assumptions imply that p = q. Hence by Remark 6.2.13, we have:

$$\mu_1 = \frac{p-2}{2p}, \quad \mu_2 = \mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}, \quad \mu_4 = \frac{p+2}{2p}$$
(6.1)

If p > 6, then \mathbb{L}_3 has the local monodromy given by

$$\mu_1 = \frac{p-6}{2p}, \ \mu_2 = \mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}, \ \mu_4 = \frac{p+6}{2p}.$$

Hence Proposition 2.3.4 implies that \mathcal{L}_3 is of type (1,1) in this case.

Lemma 6.2.16. Assume that the local monodromy data of Remark 6.2.13 yield a family of degree $m \ge 4$ with a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS. Then p must be even.

Proof. Assume that p is odd. Since gcd(p-2, 2p) = 1 in this case, one gets a family of degree 2p with branch indices

$$d_1 = p - 2, \ d_2 = d_3 = p, \ d_4 = p + 2.$$

Thus all branch indices are odd, and C_p is a family of elliptic curves such that \mathcal{L}_p is of type (1,1). Contradiction!

Remark 6.2.17. Keep the assumptions of the preceding lemma. Since one must have $\mu_1 > 0$, the preceding proposition and (6.1) imply that

$$3 \le p \le 6$$

Since p = q must be even, one can only have p = 4 and p = 6.

1. For p = 4 one obtains the example of a family with a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS given by

$$\mu_1 = \frac{1}{4}, \ \mu_2 = \mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}, \ \mu_4 = \frac{3}{4}.$$

2. If p = 6 one has the example of a family with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS given by

$$\mu_1 = \frac{1}{3}, \quad \mu_2 = \mu_3 = \frac{1}{2}, \quad \mu_4 = \frac{2}{3}$$

6.3 The complete lists of examples

In this section we give the complete lists of examples of families $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ with primitive pure (1, n)-variations of Hodge structures and derived pure (1, n)-variations of Hodge structures.

By our preceding calculations, we get the following complete list of families of covers $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ with a primitive pure (1,1) - VHS, where "ref" denotes the number of the preceding remark, lemma, proposition or point yielding the respective example:

number	degree	branch points with branch index	genus	ref
1	2	1111	1	(known)
2	3	$1 \ 2 \ 2 \ 1$	2	6.1.18
3	4	$1\ 2\ 2\ 3$	2	6.2.17,(1)
4	5	$1\ 3\ 3\ 3$	4	6.1.17
5	6	$1 \ 4 \ 4 \ 3$	3	6.2.6, 6.2.7
6	6	$2\ 3\ 3\ 4$	2	6.2.17, (2)
7	7	$2\ 4\ 4\ 4$	6	6.1.17
8	8	$2\ 5\ 5\ 4$	5	6.2.11
9	9	$3\ 5\ 5\ 5$	7	6.1.17
10	10	$3\ 6\ 6\ 5$	6	6.2.11
11	12	4776	7	6.2.5

We will later see that each derived pure (1, n) - VHS is in fact a derived pure (1, 1) - VHS. In the next section we will verify that we get the following complete list of families of covers $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_1$ with a derived pure (1, 1) - VHS, where N_{r_0} means the number of \mathcal{C}_{r_0} in the preceding list, which has the corresponding primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS:

degree	branch points with branch index	genus	r_0	N_{r_0}
4	1111	3	2	1
6	1113	4	3	1
6	$1 \ 2 \ 2 \ 1$	4	2	2

Note that any family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n$ with a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS satisfies SINT, which implies INT. Hence by consulting the list of [18] on page 86, which contains all examples satisfying INT for $n \ge 2$, and the computation of the types of the eigenspaces of the corresponding covers), we have the following complete list of families of covers with a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS for n > 1:

degree	branch points with branch index	genus
3	$2\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 1$	3
4	$2\ 2\ 2\ 1\ 1$	3
5	$2\ 2\ 2\ 2\ 2$	6
6	$3\ 3\ 3\ 2\ 2$	4
3	$1\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 1\ 1$	4

In [11] R. Coleman formulated the following conjecture:

Conjecture 6.3.1. Fix an integer $g \ge 4$. Then there are only finitely many complex algebraic curves C of genus g such that Jac(C) is of CM type.

Remark 6.3.2. J. de Jong and R. Noot [29] resp., E. Viehweg and K. Zuo [58] have given counterexamples of families with infinitely many CM fibers for g = 4, 6. In our lists here we have counterexamples for g = 5, 7.

J. de Jong and R. Noot resp., E. Viehweg and K. Zuo needed to find a fiber with CM for the proofs that their examples of families have infinitely many CM fibers. In the proof of Theorem 4.4.4, which implies that the examples of this section have dense set of complex multiplication fibers, we did not need to find one CM fiber first.

By the fact that our examples $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}_n$ with a dense set of CM fibers satisfy that n + 1 branch points have the same branch index, Theorem 2.4.4 yields the CM-type of one CM fiber and hence by Lemma 1.7.3, the CMtype of a dense set of CM fibers.

6.4 The derived variations of Hodge structures

In this section we determine the families of cyclic covers with a derived pure (1, n) - VHS and verify that the list of examples in the preceding section is complete.

Remark 6.4.1. Assume that the family C of degree dm covers has a derived pure (1, n) - VHS induced by C_d . Let

$$d = p_1^{n_1} \cdot \ldots \cdot p_t^{n_t}$$

be the decomposition of d into its prime factors. Then there exists a family of covers of degree p_1m with a derived pure (1, n) - VHS. Hence there are two cases to consider first: d is a prime number and divides m, or d is a prime number and does not divide m.

Lemma 6.4.2. Let p be a prime number. Assume that d is a prime number such that gcd(d, p) = 1. Then a family C of covers of degree $p \cdot d$ with a derived pure (1, n) - VHS induced by C_d can not exist, if all Dehn twists yield semisimple matrices with respect to the monodromy representation of \mathcal{L}_d .

Proof. Since C_p must have a trivial VHS, there exists a d_2 such that d divides d_2 . Moreover there is a d_1 such that d does not divide d_1 . Hence $gcd(d, d_1 + d_2) = 1$. by the fact that C_d has the property that its local monodromy data satisfy $\mu_1 + \mu_2 \neq 1$, one concludes that $gcd(p, d_1 + d_2) = 1$, too. Hence $[d_1 + d_2]_{dp}$ is a unit in $\mathbb{Z}/(dp)$. Thus there exists a $d_0 \in (\mathbb{Z}/(dp))^*$ such that $d_0[d_1 + d_2]_{dp} = 1$. One obtains that the sum of the integers of $\{1, \ldots, p-1\}$ representing $[d_0d_1]_{dp}$ and $[d_0d_2]_{dp}$ is given by dm + 1. By Proposition 2.3.4, one concludes that \mathcal{L}_{d_0} is not of type (0, n + 1). Moreover the fact that the local monodromy data of \mathcal{L}_{d_0} satisfy

$$\mu_1 + \mu_2 = \frac{dp+1}{dp}, \quad \mu_3 \le \frac{dp-1}{dp}, \quad \mu_4 + \ldots + \mu_{n+3} < n$$

tells us that

$$\mu_1 + \ldots + \mu_{n+3} < n+2.$$

Hence one concludes by Proposition 2.3.4 that \mathcal{L}_{d_0} is not of type (n+1,0), too.

Lemma 6.4.3. Let $m = 2^t p$, where $p \neq 2$ is a prime number and $t \geq 1$. Assume that d is a prime number such that gcd(d,m) = 1. Then a family C of degree $m \cdot d$ covers with a derived pure (1, n) - VHS, which is induced by C_d , can not exist.

Proof. Since C_2 must have a trivial VHS, one has $d_1 = \ldots = d_n = 2^{t-1}dp$. By the fact that C_p must have a trivial VHS, we obtain that 2^td divides n different branch indices. Since there must be at least two different branch indices, which are not divided by d, d_{n+2} and d_{n+3} are not divided by d. By the fact that $d_1 = \ldots = d_n = 2^{t-1}dp$ is not divided by 2^td , one must have n = 1 and that 2^td divides d_2 . Moreover the facts that

$$d_1 + \ldots + d_4 \in (m) = (2^t p d)$$
 and $2|d_2$

imply without loss of generality that 2 does not divide d_3 . We have two cases: Either $p|d_3$ or this does not hold true. In the first case one has that 2, p and d do not divide $d_2 + d_3$. Hence $d_2 + d_3$ is a unit, and again we use the argument that there is a $d_0 \in (\mathbb{Z}/(dm))^*$ such that $[d_0d_2 + d_0d_3] = 1$. In the other case d_3 yields a unit of $\mathbb{Z}/(dm)$. Hence we have without loss of generality $d_3 = 1$. Thus $g := \gcd(dm, d_1 + d_3) \in \{1, 2\}$. If g = 1, we are done again. Otherwise we must have t = 1, if g = 2. Hence

$$[(pd-2)(d_1+d_3)]_{dm} = pd + pd - 2 = dm - 2$$

such that \mathcal{L}_{pd-2} is neither of type (0, n+1) nor of type (n+1, 0), since the fact that $2^t d$ divides d_2 implies that $[(pd-2)d_2]_{dm} \neq [1]_{dm}$.

Lemma 6.4.4. Let p be a prime number and $m = p^t$ with $t \ge 2$. Assume that d is a prime number such that gcd(d, p) = 1. Then there can not be a family C of degree $m \cdot d$ covers with a derived pure (1, n) - VHS, which is induced by C_d .

Proof. Since C_p must have a trivial VHS, one concludes without loss of generality that dp^{t-1} divides d_1, \ldots, d_n . Since d and p divide

$$dp^t = d_1 + \ldots + d_{n+3},$$

too, p resp., d does not divide at least two different elements of $\{d_{n+1}, d_{n+2}, d_{n+3}\}$. Hence there is an element of $\{d_{n+1}, d_{n+2}, d_{n+3}\}$, which is not divided by both d and p. Without loss of generality d_{n+1} is a unit in $\mathbb{Z}/(2^t d)$. Hence one has without loss of generality $[d_1 + d_{n+1}]_{dm} = [1]_{dm}$.

There are only few remaining examples, which do not satisfy the assumptions of the preceding lemmas. One of these examples is considered in the following lemma:

Lemma 6.4.5. Let $d \neq 3$ be a prime number. There can not be a family of covers of degree 3d with a derived pure (1,2) - VHS induced by C_d given by the local monodromy data

$$\mu_1 = \ldots = \mu_4 = \frac{1}{3}, \quad \mu_5 = \frac{2}{3}.$$

Proof. Let gcd(d, 3) = 1 and C be a family of degree 3d with a derived pure (1, 2) - VHS. Since C_3 should have a trivial VHS, one has with a new enumeration $d|d_1$ and $d|d_2$. Moreover one has without loss of generality that d_3 and d_4 are not divided by d. Hence d divides neither $d_1 + d_3$ nor $d_2 + d_4$. Moreover the local monodromy data of C_d tell us that 3 does not divide d_1+d_3 or $d_2 + d_4$. Hence without loss of generality $d_1 + d_3$ is a unit in $\mathbb{Z}/(3d)$ such there is a $d_0 \in (\mathbb{Z}/(3d))^*$ with the property that $[d_0d_1 + d_0d_3]_{3d} = 1$, which implies that \mathbb{L}_{d_0} is of type (1, 2) or of type (2, 1).

The reader checks easily that all examples of families with a primitive pure (1, n) - VHS satisfy with two exceptions the assumptions of one of the preceding lemmas. These two exceptions yield examples of families with a derived pure (1, n) - VHS as we will see now.

6.4.6. Now we consider the case of the elliptic curves. Let d be a prime number with gcd(d, 2) = 1 and C be a family of degree $d \cdot 2$ covers with a derived pure (1, 1) - VHS induced by C_d . Thus d_1, \ldots, d_4 must be odd. Without loss of generality we have $d_4 = d$, since C_2 must have a trivial VHS. Since $d_3 = d$ would imply that \mathbb{L}_1 is of type (1, 1), one has that $d_1, d_2, d_3 \in (\mathbb{Z}/(2d))^*$. We have two cases. Either $d_1 = d_2$ or this does not hold true. In the first case we put $d_1 = d_2 = d - 2$. One has

$$2d < d_1 + d_2 + d_4 < 2 \cdot 2d$$

such that \mathbb{L}_1 is of type (1, 1), if 4 < d. Thus one can have d = 3. In this case one has a family of degree 6 covers, where $d_4 = 3$. Hence one must have

$$\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \mu_3 = \frac{1}{6}, \quad \mu_4 = \frac{1}{2}.$$

In the second case, one puts $d_3 = d - 2$. This implies that $d_3 + d_4 = 2d - 2$. Since $d_1 \neq d_2$, one can not have $d_1 = d_2 = 1$ such that \mathbb{L}_1 is of type (1, 1) in this case.

6.4.7. Now we consider the case number 2 in the list of examples with a primitive pure (1, 1) - VHS. Let d be a prime number with gcd(d, 3) = 1 and C be a family of degree $d \cdot 3$ covers with a derived pure (1, 1) - VHS induced by C_d . Assume without loss of generality that d divides d_1 and $d_1 + \ldots + d_4 = 3d$. We have 2 cases: Either d divides d_2 , d_3 or d_4 , or d does not divide d_2 , d_3 and d_4 . In the first case one has without loss of generality that d divides d_1 and $d_1 + \ldots + d_4 = 3d$. Since d divides d_1 and $d_1 + \ldots + d_4 = 3d$, one concludes that $d_1 = d_2 = d$. This implies that \mathcal{L}_2 is of type (1, 1) such that d = 2. In addition one concludes that

$$d_1 = d_2 = 2, \ d_3 = d_4 = 1.$$

In the second case one has that 3 does not divide $d(d_1 + d_i)$ for exactly one $k \in \{2, 3, 4\}$, which follows by the branch indices in the case number 2. Hence 3 does not divide $d_1 + d_k$. Moreover d does not divide $d_1 + d_k$, too. Hence $d_1 + d_k \in (\mathbb{Z}/(3d))^*$.

Proposition 6.4.8. Let d be a prime number, which divides m and C be a family of covers of degree md. Assume a Dehn twist yields a semisimple matrix of maximal order m with respect to the monodromy representation of \mathcal{L}_d . Then C can not have a derived pure (1, n) - VHS induced by \mathcal{C}_d .

Proof. Assume without loss of generality that $\rho_d(T_{1,2})$ yields a matrix of order m. In this case $[d(d_1 + d_2)] \in \mathbb{Z}/(dm)$ has the order m. Hence the fact that d divides m implies that $d_1 + d_2 \in (\mathbb{Z}/(dm))^*$.

Remark 6.4.9. One can easily check that the assumptions of the preceding proposition are satisfied for all examples of families with a primitive pure

(1, n) - VHS except of the case of elliptic curves. In this case we have in fact an example of a family of degree 4 covers with a derived pure (1, 1) - VHS. Without loss of generality we have

$$d_1 + \ldots + d_4 = 4.$$

Hence the only possibility is given by

$$d_1 = \ldots = d_4 = 1.$$

6.4.10. In the case of the elliptic curves we have families of degree 6 and degree 4 covers with a derived pure (1, 1) - VHS. Hence one must check that there is not a family of degree 8, 12 or 18 covers with derived pure (1, 1) - VHS in this case.

First we check that there is not a family C of degree 8 covers with a derived pure (1,1) - VHS. Otherwise one has such a family C of degree 8 covers such that C_2 is the family of degree 4 covers with a derived pure (1,1) - VHS. This implies that each d_k satisfies $[d_k]_4 = [1]_4$ or each d_k satisfies $[d_k]_4 = [3]_4$. Moreover one has without loss of generality that $d_1 + \ldots + d_4 = 8$. Hence it is not possible that each d_k satisfies $[d_k]_4 = [3]_4$. Thus the only possibility is (up to the numbering) given by

$$d_1 = d_2 = d_3 = 1, \ d_4 = 5.$$

But in this case \mathcal{L}_3 is of type (1,1). Thus there can not exist a family of degree 8 covers with a derived pure (1,1) - VHS.

There can not be a family of degree 12 covers with a derived pure (1, 1) - VHS induced by C_6 . Otherwise one has that C_3 the example of degree 4 covers with a derived pure (1, 1) - VHS. Thus one concludes that

$$[d_1]_4 = \ldots = [d_4]_4 = [1]_4$$
 or $[d_1]_4 = \ldots = [d_4]_4 = [3]_4$.

Since one has without loss of generality that $d_1 + \ldots + d_4 = 12$, the only possibilities are given by

$$d_1 = d_2 = 5$$
, $d_3 = d_4 = 1$ and $d_1 = 9$, $d_2 = d_3 = d_4 = 1$.

In the first case \mathcal{L}_2 is of type (1, 1) and in the second case \mathcal{L}_5 is of type (1, 1).

There can not be a family of degree 18 covers with a derived (1, 1) - VHSinduced by C_9 . Otherwise one has that C_3 is the example of degree 6 covers with a derived pure (1, 1) - VHS induced by the elliptic curves. Thus one concludes that

$$[d_1]_6 = \ldots = [d_3]_6 = [1]_6$$
 and $[d_4]_6 = [3]_6$
or

$$[d_1]_6 = \ldots = [d_3]_6 = [5]_6$$
 and $[d_4]_6 = [3]_6$.

Since one has without loss of generality that $d_1 + \ldots + d_4 = 18$, the only possibilities are given by:

$$d_{1} = 13, \quad d_{2} = d_{3} = 1, \quad d_{4} = 3$$

$$d_{1} = d_{2} = 7, \quad d_{3} = 1, \quad d_{4} = 3$$

$$d_{1} = 7, \quad d_{2} = d_{3} = 1, \quad d_{4} = 9$$

$$d_{1} = d_{2} = d_{3} = 1, \quad d_{4} = 15$$

$$d_{1} = d_{2} = d_{3} = 5, \quad d_{4} = 3.$$

One has that \mathcal{L}_5 is of type (1,1) in case 1, \mathcal{L}_2 is of type (1,1) in case 2, \mathcal{L}_5 is of type (1,1) in case 3, \mathcal{L}_7 is of type (1,1) in case 4 and \mathcal{L}_2 is of type (1,1) in case 5.

6.4.11. It remains to show that there can not exist a degree 12 cover with a derived (1, 1) - VHS induced by the degree 3 cover given by

$$d_1 = d_2 = 1, \ d_3 = d_4 = 2.$$

Otherwise one has such a family C of degree 12 covers such that C_2 is the family of degree 6 covers with a derived pure (1,1) - VHS by the degree 3 example above. Thus one concludes that

 $[d_1]_6 = [d_2]_6 = [2]_6$ and $[d_3]_6 = [d_4]_6 = [1]_6$

or

$$[d_1]_6 = [d_2]_6 = [4]_6$$
 and $[d_3]_6 = [d_4]_6 = [5]_6$

Since one has without loss of generality that $d_1 + \ldots + d_4 = 12$, the only possibilities are given by

$$d_1 = 8$$
, $d_2 = 2$, $d_3 = d_4 = 1$ and $d_1 = d_2 = 2$, $d_3 = 7$, $d_4 = 1$.

One has that \mathcal{L}_5 is of type (1,1) in the first case and one has that \mathcal{L}_3 is of type (1,1) in the second case.

142

Chapter 7 The construction of Calabi-Yau manifolds with complex multiplication

In this chapter we explain the basic construction methods of Calabi-yau manifolds with complex multiplication and give a first new example. We call a family of Calabi-Yau n-manifolds, which contains a dense set of fibers X such that the Hodge group of the Hodge structure on $H^k(X, \mathbb{Q})$ is a torus for all k, a *CMCY* family of *n*-manifolds.

In Section 7.1 we explain the technical facts, which we will need for the construction of CMCY families. By using the mirror construction of C. Borcea [9] and C. Voisin [60], we give a method to construct an infinite tower of CMCY families in Section 7.2. In Section 7.3 we discuss the construction method of E. Viehweg and K. Zuo [58]. By using this method given by a tower of cyclic covers, E. Viehweg and K. Zuo [58] have constructed an example of a CMCY family of 3-manifolds. We finish this chapter with the example

$$\mathbb{P}^{3} \supset V(y_{2}^{4} + y_{1}^{4} + x_{1}(x_{1} - x_{0})(x_{1} - \lambda x_{0})x_{0}) \to \lambda \in \mathcal{M}_{1}$$

of a family of K3 surfaces with a dense set of CM fibers. This example is obtained from the Viehweg-Zuo tower, which starts with the family

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \supset V(y_1^4 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \lambda x_0)x_0) \to \lambda \in \mathcal{M}_1$$

of curves. This family has a dense set of CM fibers by the previous chapter. By some of its involutions the family of K3 surfaces above is suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

7.1 The basic construction and complex multiplication

Now we have finished our considerations on Hodge structures of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 . We start with the second part, which is devoted to the construction of families of Calabi-Yau manifolds with dense set of complex multiplication fibers.

J.C. Rohde, Cyclic Coverings, Calabi-Yau Manifolds and Complex Multiplication, 143
Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1975, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-00639-5_8,
© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009

In the works of C. Borcea [8], [9], of E. Viehweg and K. Zuo [58] and of C. Voisin [60] the methods to obtain higher dimensional Calabi-Yau manifolds contain one common basic construction. In this section we describe this construction and explain how it yields complex multiplication. For this construction we use Kummer coverings. Let A - B be a principal divisor with (f) = A - B for some $f \in \mathbb{C}(X)$. The Kummer covering given by $\mathbb{C}(X)(\sqrt[m]{\frac{A}{B}})$ is nothing but the normalization of X in $\mathbb{C}(X)(\sqrt[m]{\frac{F}{B}})$.

Let V_1 and V_2 be irreducible complex algebraic manifolds and \mathcal{A} resp., \mathcal{B} be a bundle of irreducible algebraic manifolds with universal fiber A resp., B over V_1 resp., V_2 . Moreover let \mathcal{Z} resp., Σ be a cyclic Galois cover of \mathcal{A} resp., a cyclic Galois cover of \mathcal{B} of degree m over V_1 resp., V_2 ramified over a smooth divisor. We assume that the irreducible components of these ramification divisors intersect each fiber of \mathcal{Z} resp., Σ transversally in smooth subvarieties of codimension 1. Thus we assume that \mathcal{Z} and Σ are given by Kummer coverings of the kind

$$\mathbb{C}(W) = \mathbb{C}(X)(\sqrt[m]{\frac{D_1 + \ldots + D_k}{D_0^m}}),$$

where D_1, \ldots, D_k are (reduced) smooth prime divisors, which do not intersect each other.

Example 7.1.1. By a cyclic degree 2 cover $S \to R$ of surfaces (or in general algebraic varieties), one has an involution on S. Let us assume that the surface S is a smooth K3 surface. Moreover assume that there exists an involution ι on S, which acts via pull-back by -1 on $\Gamma(\omega_S)$. It has the property that it fixes at most a divisor D, whose support consists of smooth curves, which do not intersect each other (see [60], 1.1). Moreover by [60], 1.1, to give an involution ι on S, which acts by -1 on $\Gamma(\omega_S)$, is the same as to give a cyclic degree 2 cover $S \to R$ of smooth surfaces. In this case R is rational, if and only if $D \neq 0$.

We consider the following commutative diagram, which yields the basic construction:



First we explain the upper line of this diagram: The cyclic covers \mathcal{Z} and Σ can locally be described by equations of the type

$$y^m = \prod_{i=1,\dots,k} f_i(x_1,\dots,x_j)$$

over any open affine set \mathbb{A} of \mathcal{A} resp., \mathcal{B} , where f_i is the (reduced) equation of D_i in \mathbb{A} . The Galois transformations are given by

$$(y, x_1, \ldots, x_j) \xrightarrow{g_k} (e^{2\pi\sqrt{-1}\frac{k}{m}}y, x_1, \ldots, x_j)$$

for some $k \in \mathbb{Z}/(m)$. Hence we have a natural identification between $\mathbb{Z}/(m)$ and the Galois groups given by $[k]_m \to g_k$. By the description of the covers above in terms of Kummer coverings, this identification is independent of the chosen open affine subset. Now γ is the quotient by

$$G := \langle (1,1) \rangle \subset G' := \operatorname{Gal}(\mathcal{Z}; \mathcal{A}) \times \operatorname{Gal}(\Sigma; \mathcal{B}),$$

and α is the quotient by G'/G. The morphism ζ is given by the blowing up of the fiber product of the supports of the branch divisors of \mathcal{Z} and Σ . Moreover δ is the blowing up along the singular points of \mathcal{Y}' , which is given by the intersection locus of the ramification divisors, and β is the blowing up with respect to the corresponding inverse image ideal sheaf. Hence $\tilde{\alpha}$ and $\tilde{\gamma}$ are the unique cyclic covers obtained by the universal property of the blowing up (compare to [26], **II**. Corollary 7.15). By the construction of α , one can easily check that $\tilde{\alpha}$ is not ramified over the exceptional divisor. Hence the branch locus of $\tilde{\alpha}$ is smooth. This implies that $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}$ is smooth, too. The ramification locus of $\tilde{\gamma}$ is given by the smooth exceptional divisor of β , since G leaves the generators of the inverse image ideal sheaf invariant as one can see by the following remark:

Remark 7.1.2. Now we describe $\mathbb{Z} \times \Sigma$. A neighborhood of the preimage point $p \in \mathbb{Z} \times \Sigma$ of a singular point can be identified with an open neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{C}^2 \times \mathbb{B}$, where \mathbb{B} is a ball of suitable dimension and the Galois group acts via $(x_1, x_2) \to (e^{\frac{2\pi i}{m}} x_1, e^{\frac{2\pi i}{m}} x_2)$ with respect to the coordinates on \mathbb{C}^2 . Due to [6], **III**. Proposition 5.3, each singular point of \mathcal{Y}' has an analytic neighborhood isomorphic to $V(x^m = y^{m-1}z) \times \mathbb{B}$. Hence locally we have the product of a cover of surfaces with \mathbb{B} . One should have \mathbb{B} in mind. But for the description of $\mathbb{Z} \times \Sigma$, it is sufficient to consider only covers of surfaces. The inverse image ideal sheaf with respect to this cover is generated by $\{x_1^{m-i}x_2^i: i = 0, 1, \ldots, m\}$. By the Veronese embedding for relative projective manifolds, one can easily identify the blowing up with respect to this ideal with the blowing up with respect to the ideal generated by $\{x_1, x_2\}$. But this is the blowing up of the origin resp., the preimage point of the singular point. Hence $\mathbb{Z} \times \Sigma$ is given by the blowing up of the reduced preimage $\gamma^{-1}(S)$, where S is the singular locus of \mathcal{Y}' .

Now we have described the basic construction. Next we see that this construction yields complex multiplication. We use following fact:

Proposition 7.1.3. For all $\tilde{a} \in A$, and $b \in B$, we have the following tensor product of rational Hodge structures on the fibers:

7 The construction of Calabi-Yau manifolds with complex multiplication

$$H^{n}(\mathcal{Z}_{\tilde{a}} \times \Sigma_{\tilde{b}}, \mathbb{Q}) = \bigoplus_{a+b=n} H^{a}(\mathcal{Z}_{\tilde{a}}, \mathbb{Q}) \otimes H^{b}(\Sigma_{\tilde{b}}, \mathbb{Q})$$

such that

$$H^{r,s}(\mathcal{Z}_{\tilde{a}} \times \Sigma_{\tilde{b}}) = \bigoplus_{p+p'=r,q+q'=s} H^{p,q}(\mathcal{Z}_{\tilde{a}}) \otimes H^{p',q'}(\Sigma_{\tilde{b}})$$

Proof. (follows from [61], Théorème 11.38)

We want to construct higher dimensional varieties with complex multiplication. The first main tool is:

Proposition 7.1.4. Let h_1 and h_2 be rational polarized Hodge structures. Then

$$h_3 = h_1 \otimes h_2$$

is of CM type, if and only if h_1 and h_2 are of CM type.

Proof. (see [8], Proposition 1.2)

By the fact that \mathcal{Y}' is not smooth, but the blowing up $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}$ is smooth, $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}$ will be our candidate for a family of Calabi-Yau manifolds with dense set of complex multiplication fibers. Hence we must consider the behavior of the Hodge structures under blowing up:

Lemma 7.1.5. Let X be an algebraic manifold of dimension n and \tilde{X} be the blowing up X with respect to some submanifold $Z \supset X$ of codimension 2. Then $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(\tilde{X},\mathbb{Z}))$ is commutative, if and only if $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(X,\mathbb{Z}))$ and $\operatorname{Hg}(H^{k-2}(Z,\mathbb{Z}))$ are commutative, too.

Proof. By [61], Théorème 7.31, we have an isomorphism

$$H^{k}(X,\mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^{k-2}(Z,\mathbb{Z}) \cong H^{k}(\tilde{X},\mathbb{Z})$$

of Hodge structures, where $H^{k-2}(Z,\mathbb{Z})$ is shifted by (1,1) in bi-degree. Since

$$\operatorname{Hg}(H^{k}(\tilde{X},\mathbb{Z})) = \operatorname{Hg}(H^{k}(X,\mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^{k-2}(Z,\mathbb{Z})) \subset \operatorname{Hg}(H^{k}(X,\mathbb{Z})) \times \operatorname{Hg}(H^{k-2}(Z,\mathbb{Z}))$$

such that the natural projections

$$\operatorname{Hg}(H^{k}(\tilde{X},\mathbb{Z})) \to \operatorname{Hg}(H^{k}(X,\mathbb{Z})) \text{ and } \operatorname{Hg}(H^{k}(\tilde{X},\mathbb{Z})) \to \operatorname{Hg}(H^{k-2}(Z,\mathbb{Z}))$$

are surjective (see Lemma 2.4.1), we obtain the result.

Corollary 7.1.6. Let X be a smooth surface and X be the blowing up of some point $p \in X$. Then X has complex multiplication, if and only if \tilde{X} has complex multiplication, too. Moreover we obtain that

$$\operatorname{Hg}(H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})) \cong \operatorname{Hg}(H^2(X,\mathbb{Z})).$$

146

П

Now we want to consider the behavior of the fibers. Hence for simplicity we assume now that $V_1 = V_2 = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C})$ in diagram (7.1). By the fact that $\mathcal{\tilde{Y}}$ has the Hodge structure given by the Hodge sub-structure of $\mathcal{Z} \times \Sigma$ invariant under the Galois group, one concludes:

Theorem 7.1.7. If for all k the groups $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(\mathcal{Z}, \mathbb{Q}))$, $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(\Sigma, \mathbb{Q}))$ and $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(Z_i, \mathbb{Q}))$ are commutative,¹ then $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}, \mathbb{Q}))$ is commutative for all k, too.

Remark 7.1.8. At first sight the condition that for all k the groups $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(\mathcal{Z},\mathbb{Q}))$, $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(\Sigma,\mathbb{Q}))$ and $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(Z_i,\mathbb{Q}))$ have to be commutative may seem to be a little bit restrictive. But by the Hodge diamond of a Calabi-Yau *n*-manifold with $n \leq 3$ or the Hodge diamond of a Calabi-Yau *n*-manifold given by a projective hypersurface, one sees that the condition that all its Hodge groups are commutative is equivalent to the condition that it has complex multiplication. Moreover we will need this condition for an inductive construction of families of Calabi-Yau manifolds with dense set of complex multiplication fibers in arbitrary high dimension in the next section.

7.2 The Borcea-Voisin tower

Recall that we want to construct families of Calabi-Yau manifolds with a dense set of CM fibers. Hence let us now define Calabi-Yau manifolds:

Definition 7.2.1. A Calabi-Yau manifold X of dimension n is a compact Kähler manifold of dimension n such that $\Gamma(\Omega_X^i) = 0$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n-1$ and $\omega_X \cong \mathcal{O}_X$.

By the construction of the preceding section, which we will use, we need more and we get more than only complex multiplication. Hence let us define, which we will get:

Definition 7.2.2. A *CMCY* family $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{B}$ of *n*-manifolds is a (smooth) family of Calabi-Yau manifolds of dimension *n*, which has a dense set of fibers \mathcal{X}_b satisfying the property that $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(\mathcal{X}_b, \mathbb{Q}))$ is commutative for all *k*.

In this section the degree m of all cyclic covers, which will occur, is equal to 2. We apply the construction of a Calabi-Yau manifold with an involution by two Calabi-Yau manifolds with involutions by C. Borcea [9]. This yields an

¹ One needs in fact the condition that each $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(Z_i, \mathbb{Q}))$ is commutative. The argument is similar to the argument in the proof of Proposition 10.3.2.

iterative construction of CMCY families with involutions in arbitrary high dimension by CMCY families in lower dimension.²

Construction 7.2.3. Let $\mathcal{Z}_1 \to \mathcal{M}$ be a *CMCY* family of *n*-manifolds covering the *A* bundle \mathcal{A} with ramification locus R_1 , which satisfies the assumptions for \mathcal{Z} in diagram (7.1). Moreover let Σ_i be a *CMCY* family $\Sigma_i \to \mathcal{M}^{(i)}$ of n_i -manifolds covering the B_i bundle \mathcal{B}_i over $\mathcal{M}^{(i)}$ with ramification locus $R^{(i)}$, which satisfies the assumptions for Σ in diagram (7.1), for all $1 < i \in \mathbb{N}$.

Let us assume that there is a dense subset of points $m^{(i)} \in \mathcal{M}^{(i)}$ resp., $p \in \mathcal{M}$, which have the property that each $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k((\Sigma_i)_{m^{(i)}}, \mathbb{Q}))$ and each $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(R_{m^{(i)}}^{(i)}, \mathbb{Q}))$ resp., each $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k((\mathcal{Z}_1)_p, \mathbb{Q}))$ and each $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k((R_1)_p, \mathbb{Q}))$ is commutative.

We define an iterative tower of covers

$$\mathcal{Z}_i \to V^{(i)} := \mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}^{(2)} \times \ldots \times \mathcal{M}^{(i)}$$

given by

$$\mathcal{Z}_i = \mathcal{Y}_i,$$

where $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}_i$ is obtained from $\tilde{\mathcal{Y}}$ in the diagram (7.1) with $V_1 = V^{(i-1)}$, $V_2 = \mathcal{M}^{(i)}$, $\Sigma = \Sigma_i$ and $\mathcal{Z} = \mathcal{Z}_{i-1}$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$. Let us call such a construction Borcea-Voisin tower.

The assumption that we have ramification in codimension 1 on the fibers of a family of Calabi-Yau manifolds leads to the important property that the corresponding involutions act by -1 on the global sections of their canonical sheaves, as we see by the following Lemma:

Lemma 7.2.4. Let C be a Calabi-Yau manifold and ι be an involution on it. Assume that the points fixed by ι are given by a non-trivial smooth divisor D. Then ι acts by -1 on $H^0(C, \omega_C)$.

Proof. By our assumptions, the induced natural cyclic cover $\gamma: C \to C/\iota$ is ramified over a smooth non-trivial divisor D such that C/ι is smooth. Hence one has a cyclic cover of manifolds and one can apply the Hurwitz formula (compare [6], **I**. 16). Since C has a trivial canonical divisor, the Hurwitz formula implies that $\mathcal{O}_C(-D) \cong \gamma^*(\omega_{C/\iota})$. This implies that $\omega_{C/\iota}$ does not contain any global section. Since $\omega_{C/\iota}$ yields the eigenspace for the character 1 of $\gamma_*(\omega_C)$ (see [20], §3), the character of the action of ι on $H^0(C, \omega_C)$ is not given by 1. Thus it is given by -1.

 $^{^2}$ The construction of C. Borcea is repeated in Proposition 7.2.5. By C. Voisin [60], the same construction was used to construct Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds by K3-surfaces with involutions and elliptic curves. This is the reason that our construction here is called "Borcea-Voisin tower". Here this construction is introduced as a systematic method to construct Calabi-Yau manifolds with complex multiplication in an arbitrary dimension which has never been done by C. Borcea or C. Voisin in this way.

Proposition 7.2.5. Assume that $\gamma_1 : C_1 \to M_1$ and $\gamma_2 : C_2 \to M_2$ are cyclic covers of degree 2 with the involutions ι_1 and ι_2 and ramification divisors $D_1 \subset C_1$ and $D_2 \subset C_2$, which are not trivial and consist of disjoint smooth hypersurfaces. Moreover assume that C_1 and C_2 are Calabi-Yau manifolds of dimension n_1 and n_2 . Let $C_1 \times C_2$ denote the blowing up of $C_1 \times C_2$ with respect to $D_1 \times D_2$. Then by the involution on $C_1 \times C_2$ given by (ι_1, ι_2) , one obtains a cyclic cover $\gamma : C_1 \times C_2 \to C$ such that C is a Calabi-Yau manifold.

Proof. We assume that each C_i is a Calabi-Yau manifold such that $h^{t,0}(C_i) = 0$ for all $t = 1, ..., n_i - 1$. By the assumption that one has the ramification divisors D_1 and D_2 and Lemma 7.2.4, the corresponding involution of each γ_i acts by -1 on each ω_{C_i} . Thus one concludes that $h^{j,0}(C) = 0$ for all $j = 1, ..., (n_1 + n_2) - 1$.

The canonical divisor $K_{\widetilde{C_1 \times C_2}}$ of $\widetilde{C_1 \times C_2}$ is given by the exceptional divisor E of the blowing up $\widetilde{C_1 \times C_2} \to C_1 \times C_2$. Moreover the ramification divisor R of γ coincides with E. Hence by the Hurwitz formula ([6], **I**.16), we have

$$\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{C_1 \times C_2}}(R) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{C_1 \times C_2}}(K_{\widetilde{C_1 \times C_2}}) = \omega_{\widetilde{C_1 \times C_2}} \cong \gamma^*(\omega_C) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{C_1 \times C_2}}(R)$$

Thus one concludes that $\gamma^*(\omega_C) \cong \mathcal{O}$.

Since ι_1 and ι_2 act by the character -1, the involution (ι_1, ι_2) on $C_1 \times C_2$ leaves the global sections of $\omega_{C_1 \times C_2}$ invariant. Now recall that $\gamma_*(\omega_{C_1 \times C_2})$ consists of a direct sum of invertible sheaves, which are the eigenspaces with respect to the characters of the Galois group action. By [20], §3, the eigenspace for the character 1 is given by ω_C . Thus ω_C has a non-trivial global section. Hence the canonical divisor of C satisfies (up to linear equivalence) $K_C \geq 0$. Thus by the fact that $\gamma^*(\omega_C) \cong \mathcal{O}$, we have the desired result $K_C \sim 0$.

Altogether one has the following result:

Theorem 7.2.6. Each family $\mathcal{Z}_i \to \mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}^{(2)} \times \ldots \times \mathcal{M}^{(i)}$ obtained by the Borcea-Voisin tower is a CMCY family of $n + n_2 + \ldots + n_i$ -manifolds.

Proof. The statement that each $(\mathcal{Z}_i)_p$ is a Calabi-Yau manifold follows fiberwise by induction. By the assumptions, we have the result for n = 1. First by induction, one can show that the ramification loci are given by smooth divisors. By using this fact and the induction hypothesis, one can apply Lemma 7.2.4 such that each involution acts by the character -1 on each $\Gamma(\omega)$. Hence the assumptions of Proposition 7.2.5 are satisfied, which provides the induction step.

Next we show the statement about the commutativity of all Hodge groups over a dense subset of the basis. Due to the situation described in diagram (7.1) the connected components of the ramification locus $(R_{i+1})_{p \times m^{(i+1)}}$ of $(\mathcal{Z}_{i+1})_{p \times m^{(i+1)}}$ over $p \times m^{(i+1)} \in V^{(i)} \times \mathcal{M}^{(i+1)}$ are given by the connected components of $(\mathcal{Z}_i)_p \times R_{m^{(i+1)}}^{(i+1)}$ and by the connected components of $(R_i)_p \times (\Sigma_{i+1})_j$, where $(R_i)_p$ is the ramification locus of $(\mathcal{Z}_i)_p$.

Hence it is sufficient to use an inductive argument and to show the following Claim: $\hfill \Box$

Claim 7.2.7. Assume that for all k the Hodge group $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k((\mathbb{Z}_i)_p, \mathbb{Z}))$ is commutative and each connected component Z of the ramification locus $(R_i)_p$ satisfies that each $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(Z,\mathbb{Z}))$ is commutative. In addition we assume that for all k the Hodge group $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(\Sigma_{i+1})_{m^{(i+1)}},\mathbb{Z}))$ is commutative and each connected component Z_{i+1} of $R_{m^{(i+1)}}^{(i+1)}$ satisfies that each $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(Z_{i+1},\mathbb{Z}))$ is commutative. Then for all k each connected component \widetilde{Z} of $(R_{i+1})_{p\times m^{(i+1)}}$ satisfies that each $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(\widetilde{Z},\mathbb{Z}))$ is commutative and for all k $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k((\mathbb{Z}_{i+1})_{p\times m^{(i+1)}},\mathbb{Z})))$ is commutative.

Proof. By the assumptions of this claim and the description of R_{i+1} above, one obtains obviously that the connected components \tilde{Z} of $(R_{i+1})_{p \times m^{(i+1)}}$ satisfy that each $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(\tilde{Z},\mathbb{Z}))$ is commutative. Then one must simply use Theorem 7.1.7 and one obtains that each $\operatorname{Hg}(H^k(\mathcal{Z}_{i+1})_{p \times m^{(i+1)}},\mathbb{Z}))$ is commutative, too.

7.3 The Viehweg-Zuo tower

By the Borcea-Voisin tower, one can construct CMCY families of manifolds in arbitrary high dimension. But one needs CMCY families of manifolds (in low dimension) with a suitable involution, which can be used to be \mathcal{Z}_1 or some Σ_i . One way to obtain some suitable CMCY families of *n*-manifolds (in low dimension) is given by the Viehweg-Zuo tower, which we introduce now.

E. Viehweg and K. Zuo [58] have constructed a tower of projective algebraic manifolds starting with a family \mathcal{F}_1 of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 given by

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \supset V(y_1^5 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \alpha x_0)(x_1 - \beta x_0)x_0) \to (\alpha, \beta) \in \mathcal{M}_{2},$$

which has a dense set of CM fibers. This is one example of a family of cyclic covers, which has a primitive pure (1, 2) - VHS as one can easily verify by using Proposition 2.3.4. Since each of these covers given by the fibers of the family can be embedded into \mathbb{P}^2 , the fibers of \mathcal{F}_1 are the branch loci of the fibers of a family \mathcal{F}_2 of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^2 of degree 5. Moreover the fibers of \mathcal{F}_2 , which can be embedded into \mathbb{P}^3 , are the branch loci of the fibers of a family \mathcal{F}_3 of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^3 , which can be embedded into \mathbb{P}^4 . The family \mathcal{F}_3 is given by

$$\mathbb{P}^4 \supset V(y_3^5 + y_2^5 + y_1^5 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \alpha x_0)(x_1 - \beta x_0)x_0) \to (\alpha, \beta) \in \mathcal{M}_2.$$

The fibers of \mathcal{F}_3 are Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds. By an inductive argument, this latter family has a dense set of CM points on the basis given by the dense set of the CM points of the family of curves we have started with (see [58]). Since only the Hodge group of the Hodge structure on $H^3(X, \mathbb{Q})$ of a projective hypersurface $X \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ can be non-trivial, the family \mathcal{F}_3 is a CMCY family of 3-manifolds.

Example 7.3.1. By Theorem 2.4.4, the fibers of \mathcal{F}_1 isomorphic to

$$V(y_1^5 + x_1^5 + x_0^5), \quad V(y_1^5 + x_1(x_1^4 + x_0^4)), \quad V(y_1^5 + x_1(x_1^3 + x_0^3)x_0) \subset \mathbb{P}^2$$

have CM. Thus the fibers of \mathcal{F}_3 isomorphic to

$$V(y_3^5+y_2^5+y_1^5+x_1^5+x_0^5), \ V(y_3^5+y_2^5+y_1^5+x_1(x_1^4+x_0^4)), \ V(y_3^5+y_2^5+y_1^5+x_1(x_1^3+x_0^3)x_0) \subset \mathbb{P}^4$$

have CM, too.

Example 7.3.2. We consider the *CMCY* family \mathcal{F}_3

$$\mathbb{P}^4 \supset V(y_3^5 + y_2^5 + y_1^5 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \alpha x_0)(x_1 - \beta x_0)x_0) \to (\alpha, \beta) \in \mathcal{M}_2$$

constructed by E. Viehweg and K. Zuo. On each fiber $(\mathcal{F}_3)_p$ the involution ι given by

$$\iota(y_3:y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (y_2:y_3:y_1:x_1:x_0)$$

leaves the smooth divisor \mathcal{D}_p given by the equation $y_3 = y_2$ invariant. Moreover one has that $\mathcal{D}_p \cong (\mathcal{F}_2)_p$. Therefore there is a dense set of points $p \in \mathcal{M}_2$, which have the property that for all k the Hodge groups of $H^k(\mathcal{D}_p, \mathbb{Q})$ and $H^k((\mathcal{F}_3)_p, \mathbb{Q})$ are commutative. Hence one can use \mathcal{F}_3 to be \mathcal{Z}_1 or some Σ_i for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower of CMCY families of n-manifolds.

Example 7.3.3. Let \mathbb{F}_d denote the Fermat curve of degree d > 2. The curve \mathbb{F}_d has complex multiplication (see [22] and [32]). By the construction of E. Viehweg and K. Zuo in [58], one concludes that the Calabi-Yau manifold H_d given by

$$V(\sum_{i=0}^{d-1} x_i^d) \subset \mathbb{P}^{d-1}$$

has complex multiplication. Since H_d is a projective hypersurface, this implies that H_d has only commutative Hodge groups. We have the involution ι_a given by

$$(x_{d-1}:\ldots:x_2:x_1:x_0) \to (x_{d-1}:\ldots;x_2:x_0:x_1)$$

on H_d . If d is even, one has the additional involution ι_b given by

$$(x_{d-1}:\ldots:x_1:x_0) \to (x_{d-1}:\ldots:x_1:-x_0).$$

The involution ι_a resp., ι_b (if it is given on H_d) fixes the points of a smooth divisor on H_d , which is isomorphic to

$$V(\sum_{i=0}^{d-2} x_i^d) \subset \mathbb{P}^{d-2}.$$

Therefore by the same arguments as in Example 7.3.2, one can use H_d to be \mathcal{Z}_1 or some Σ_i with $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C})$, resp., $\mathcal{M}^{(i)} = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{C})$ for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower of CMCY families of *n*-manifolds.

We want to start the construction of a Viehweg-Zuo tower (of projective hypersurfaces as in [58] or the construction of a modified version) with a family of cyclic covers $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}_n$ of \mathbb{P}^1 with a dense set of CM fibers. For the smoothness of the higher dimensional fibers of the resulting families, we will use the assumption that the fibers of \mathcal{C} are given by

$$V(y^{m} + x(x-1)(x-a_{1})\dots(x-a_{n})) \subset \mathbb{A}^{2},$$
(7.2)

where m divides n + 3 such that all branch indices coincide.

By our preceding results, we have only the following examples of families of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 with a dense set of CM fibers, which satisfy this assumption:

degree m	number of ramification points of the fibers
2	4
2	6
3	6
4	4
5	5

Remark 7.3.4. The case with m = 2 and 4 ramification points is the case of elliptic curves, which has been considered by C. Borcea in [8]. The case with m = 5 yields the example by E. Viehweg and K. Zuo in [58].

The case with m = 3 is one of the examples of a family of covers of \mathbb{P}^1 with a dense set of CM fibers by J. de Jong and R. Noot [29]. We must a bit work to give a suitable modified construction of a Viehweg-Zuo tower for this example. The next chapter is devoted to this modified construction of a Viehweg-Zuo tower.

In the case of the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ of genus 2 curves the author does not see a possibility for the construction of a Viehweg-Zuo tower.³

³ One natural choice for an embedding of the fibers of the family of genus 2 curves is given by the weighted projective space $\mathbb{P}(3, 1, 1)$. But the canonical divisor of the desingularization of $\mathbb{P}(3, 1, 1)$ does not allow a natural construction of a Viehweg-Zuo tower as in the case of $\mathbb{P}(2, 1, 1)$, which we will see in the next chapter for the degree 3 case.

The case with m = 4 yields the Shimura- and Teichmüller curve of M. Möller [41], which provides the example of the next section.

7.4 A new example

Here we see that the Shimura- and Teichmüller curve of M. Möller yields an example of a Viehweg-Zuo tower. Moreover we will see that the resulting CMCY family of 2-manifolds is endowed with some involutions, which make it suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower. In addition we give some explicit CM fibers and try to decide, which involutions provide isomorphic quotients resp., isomorphic CMCY families by the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

Proposition 7.4.1. The family $C_2 \rightarrow \mathcal{M}_1$ given by

$$\mathbb{P}^{3} \supset V(y_{2}^{4} + y_{1}^{4} + x_{1}(x_{1} - x_{0})(x_{1} - \lambda x_{0})x_{0}) \to \lambda \in \mathcal{M}_{1}$$

is a CMCY family of 2-manifolds.

Proof. It is well-known that a hypersurface of \mathbb{P}^3 of degree 4 is a K3-surface.

By [58], Notation 2.2, and Corollary 8.5, we have that λ_0 is a *CM*-point of \mathcal{C}_2 , if λ_0 is a *CM*-point of the family $\mathcal{C}_1 \to \mathcal{M}_1$ given by

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \supset V(y_1^4 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \lambda x_0)x_0) \to \lambda \in \mathcal{M}_1.$$

Note that C_1 has in fact a dense set of CM fibers, since it has a derived pure (1,1) - VHS as we have seen. Since only the Hodge group of the Hodge structure on $H^2(X, \mathbb{Q})$ can be non-trivial for a K3-surface X (follows by definition resp., by the Hodge diamond of a K3-surface), the family C_2 is a CMCY family of 2-manifolds.

Now we give some examples of CM fibers of C_2 :

Remark 7.4.2. Consider the family $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{M}_1$ of elliptic curves given by

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \supset V(y^2 x_0 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \lambda x_0)) \to \lambda \in \mathcal{M}_1.$$

Note that C_1 has a derived pure (1,1) - VHS, where \mathcal{E} has the associated primitive pure (1,1) - VHS. Thus the Hodge structure decomposition of Proposition 4.2.2 tells us that the fiber $(C_1)_{\lambda}$ has CM, if the fiber \mathcal{E}_{λ} has CM. In the proof of Proposition 7.4.1 we have seen that $(C_2)_{\lambda}$ has CM, if $(C_1)_{\lambda}$ has CM. Thus by the CM fibers of \mathcal{E} , we can determine CM fibers of C_2 . **Example 7.4.3.** By Remark 7.4.2, the well-known CM curves with j invariant 0 and 1728 yield CM fibers of C_2 isomorphic to

$$V(y_2^4 + y_1^4 + (x_1^3 - x_0^3)x_0), \quad V(y_2^4 + y_1^4 + x_1^4 + x_0^4) \subset \mathbb{P}^3.$$

Theorem 2.4.4 yields the same examples.

Example 7.4.4. By [26], **IV**. Proposition 4.18, one concludes that an elliptic curve has complex multiplication, if it has a non-trivial isogeny with itself. The elliptic curve with j invariant 8000 resp., -3375 is given by

$$y^{2}x_{0} = x_{1}(x_{1}-x_{0})(x_{1}-(1+\sqrt{2})^{2}x_{0})$$
 resp., $y^{2}x_{0} = x_{1}(x_{1}-x_{0})(x_{1}-\frac{1}{4}(3+i\sqrt{7})^{2}x_{0})$

and has an isogeny of degree 2 with itself. Moreover the elliptic curve with j invariant 1728 has an isogeny of degree 2 with itself. This follows from the solution of [26], **IV**. Exercise 4.5, which we will partially sketch. Thus the K3 surfaces given by

$$y_2^4 + y_1^4 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - (1 + \sqrt{2})^2 x_0)x_0$$
 and $y_2^4 + y_1^4 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \frac{1}{4}(3 + i\sqrt{7})^2 x_0)x_0$

have complex multiplication.

We sketch how we obtain the given examples: First note that each degree 2 cover $u : \mathbb{P}^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is up to a changement of coordinates given by $x \to x^2$. This follows from the fact that u has two ramification points by the Hurwitz formula. Without loss of generality the elliptic curve E is endowed with a degree two cover $i : E \to \mathbb{P}^1$ such that there exists a λ such i is ramified over $0, 1, \lambda, \infty$ resp., E is locally given by

$$V(y^2 - x(x-1)(x-\lambda)) \subset \mathbb{A}^2.$$
(7.3)

Since an isogeny $f: E \to E$ is a morphism of abelian varieties, one concludes that for each $(x, y) = f(P) \in E$ one has f(-P) = -(x, y) = (x, -y). Hence one concludes that there exist the degree 2 covers $u_f : \mathbb{P}^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$ and $h_f : E \to \mathbb{P}^1$ such that

$$i \circ f = u_f \circ h_f.$$

It is a very easy exercise to check that u_f can be given by $x \to x^2$ in this case for some suitable λ , which yields E. Thus one concludes that h_f is ramified over

$$1, -1, \sqrt{\lambda}, -\sqrt{\lambda},$$

which follows from considering the ramification indices. By a changement of coordinates, E is given by

$$0, 1, \frac{(\sqrt{\lambda}+1)^2}{(\sqrt{\lambda}-1)^2}, \infty,$$

too. Note that λ and $1 - \lambda$ yield the same elliptic curve. We substitute $t = \sqrt{\lambda}$ and resolve the equations

$$t^2 = \frac{(t+1)^2}{(t-1)^2}$$
 and $t^2 = 1 - \frac{(t+1)^2}{(t-1)^2}$

by using the computer algebra program MATHEMATICA in the case of the ground field \mathbb{C} . This yields the stated elliptic curves E with an isogeny $f: E \to E$ of degree 2. It remains to prove the completeness of the given examples, which is a well-known fact.

Example 7.4.5. Elliptic curves with CM has been well studied by number theorists. In [55], Appendix C, §3 there is a list of 13 isomorphy classes of elliptic curves with complex multiplication containing all classes represented by the preceding 4 examples. Two examples of the list, which have the j invariants 54000 and 16581375, are given by the equations

$$y^2 = x^3 - 15x + 22, \quad y^2 = x^3 - 595x + 5586.$$

The equations allow an explicit determination of involutions on these examples. The given equations for the 7 remaining isomorphy classes of elliptic curves do not allow an immediate description of involutions.

As we will see, the family C_2 has some involutions, which make it suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower. The following lemma is obvious:

Lemma 7.4.6. Over the basis \mathcal{M}_1 the family \mathcal{C}_2 has three involutions given by

$$\iota_1(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (-y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0), \quad \iota_2(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (y_2:-y_1:x_1:x_0),$$
$$\iota_3(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (-y_2:-y_1:x_1:x_0),$$

which constitute with the identity map a subgroup of the \mathcal{M}_1 -automorphism group of \mathcal{C}_2 isomorphic to the Kleinsche Vierergruppe.

Remark 7.4.7. Over \mathcal{M}_1 there are at least the 4 following additional involutions on \mathcal{C}_2 :

$$\iota_4(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (y_1:y_2:x_1:x_0), \quad \iota_5(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (iy_1:-iy_2:x_1:x_0),$$

 $\iota_6(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (-y_1:-y_2:x_1:x_0), \ \iota_7(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (-iy_1:iy_2:x_1:x_0)$

Theorem 7.4.8. By the involutions ι_1 and ι_4 , the family C_2 can be used to be Z_1 or some Σ_i for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower of CMCY families of n-manifolds.

Proof. The divisor of the fiber $(\mathcal{C}_2)_{\lambda}$, which is fixed by ι_1 resp., ι_4 is given by $y_2 = 0$ resp., $y_2 = y_1$. Hence both divisors are smooth and isomorphic to the fiber $(\mathcal{C}_1)_{\lambda}$ given by

$$\mathbb{P}^2 \supset V(y_1^4 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \lambda x_0)x_0) \to \lambda \in \mathcal{M}_1.$$

We use the same arguments as in the proof of Proposition 7.4.1: If $(C_1)_{\lambda}$ has complex multiplication, then $(C_2)_{\lambda}$ and the divisor fixed by ι_1 resp., ι_4 have complex multiplication, too. Hence by the fact that C_1 has a dense set of complex multiplication fibers, C_2 and ι_1 resp., C_2 and ι_4 satisfy the assumptions of Construction 7.2.3.

Remark 7.4.9. By the fact that

$$\iota_2 = \iota_4 \circ \iota_1 \circ \iota_4,$$

the involution ι_2 is suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower, too. But according to the construction of C. Voisin [60], this implies that ι_2 yields a *CMCY* family of 3-manifolds over $\mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_1$, which is isomorphic to the corresponding family obtained by ι_1 .

Let α denote the \mathcal{M}_1 -automorphism of \mathcal{C}_2 given by

$$(y_2: y_1: x_1: x_0) \to (iy_2: y_1: x_1: x_0).$$

One calculates easily that

$$\iota_5 = \alpha \circ \iota_4 \circ \alpha^{-1}, \quad \iota_6 = \alpha^2 \circ \iota_4 \circ \alpha^{-2}, \quad \iota_7 = \alpha^{-1} \circ \iota_4 \circ \alpha.$$

Hence one has that $C_2/\iota_4, \ldots, C_2/\iota_7$ resp., the resulting *CMCY* families of 3-manifolds obtained by the method of C. Voisin [60] are isomorphic as \mathcal{M}_1 -schemes resp., as $\mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_1$ -schemes.

Since

 $\iota_3 = \iota_1 \iota_2,$

the involution ι_3 acts by id on each $\Gamma(\omega_{(\mathcal{C}_2)_{\lambda}})$ such that it can not be used for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

Remark 7.4.10. By Example 7.4.3, Example 7.4.4 and Example 7.4.5, one has 6 explicitly given elliptic curves with CM and explicitly given involutions, which yields 6 K3 surfaces with CM. By using the method of C. Voisin [60], these examples yield 36 explicitly given fibers with CM for each of our resulting CMCY family of 3-manifolds.

Remark 7.4.11. The author does not see a way to conjugate ι_1 into ι_4 . Moreover we will see that the fibers of the resulting *CMCY* families of 3manifolds constructed with ι_1 and ι_4 according to C. Voisin [60] have the same Hodge numbers. This means that the question for isomorphisms between these two families remains open.

Chapter 8 The degree 3 case

In this chapter we give a modified construction of a Viehweg-Zuo tower, which yields a CMCY family of 2-manifolds suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

Let R^1 the desingularization of the weighted projective space $\mathbb{P}(2, 1, 1)$, which is obtained from blowing up the singular point. We start with the family \mathcal{C} of curves given by

$$R^{1} \supset V(y^{3} - x_{1}(x_{1} - x_{0})(x_{1} - a_{1}x_{0})(x_{1} - a_{2}x_{0})(x_{1} - a_{3}x_{0})x_{0}) \rightarrow (a_{1}, a_{2}, a_{3}) \in \mathcal{M}_{3}.$$

This family has a dense set of CM fibers. Since the degree of these covers of \mathbb{P}^1 does not coincide with the sum of their branch indices, it is not possible to work with usual projective spaces. Thus we work with weighted projective spaces $\mathbb{P}(2, \ldots, 2, 1, 1)$ resp., their desingularizations to obtain Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces and a tower of cyclic coverings similar to the construction of E. Viehweg and K. Zuo [58]. For this construction we have to recall some facts and to make some preparations in Section 8.1. In Section 8.2 we give our modified version of the construction of Viehweg and Zuo, which yields a CMCY family of Calabi-Yau 2-manifolds. Let R^2 be the desingularization of the weighted projective space $\mathbb{P}(2, 2, 1, 1)$, which is obtained from blowing up the singular locus. The CMCY family of Calabi-Yau 2-manifolds is given by

$$R^2 \supset \tilde{V}(y_2^3 + y_1^3 - x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - a_1x_0)(x_1 - a_2x_0)(x_1 - a_3x_0)x_0) \rightarrow (a_1, a_2, a_3) \in \mathcal{M}_3.$$

We indicate some involutions of this family, which make it suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower, in Section 8.3.

J.C. Rohde, Cyclic Coverings, Calabi-Yau Manifolds and Complex Multiplication, 157
Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1975, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-00639-5_9,
© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009

8.1 Prelude

Recall that the usual projective space \mathbb{P}^n is given by $\operatorname{Proj}(\mathbb{C}[z_n, \ldots, z_1, z_0])$, where each z_j (with $j = 0, \ldots, n$) has the weight 1. Our weighted projective space Q^n is given by $\operatorname{Proj}(\mathbb{C}[y_n, \ldots, y_1, x_1, x_0])$, where each y_j (with $j = 1, \ldots, n$) has the weight 2, and x_0 and x_1 have the weight 1.

First we investigate and describe the projective space Q^n . The following well-known Lemma will be very useful here:

Lemma 8.1.1. (Veronese embedding) Let R be a graded ring. Then we have

$$\operatorname{Proj}(R) \cong \operatorname{Proj}(R^{[d]}).$$

Proposition 8.1.2. The weighted projective space Q^n is isomorphic to the irreducible singular hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^{n+2} given by the equation $z_1z_3 = z_2^2$. The singular locus of Q^n is given by $V(z_1, z_2, z_3)$.

Proof. By the Veronese embedding, we have

$$Q^n \cong \operatorname{Proj}(k[x_0^2, x_0x_1, x_1^2, y_1, \dots, y_n])$$

Therefore we obtain a closed embedding of Q^n into \mathbb{P}^{n+2} given by

$$x_0^2 \to z_1, \ x_0 x_1 \to z_2, \ x_1^2 \to z_3, \ y_1 \to z_4, \ \dots, \ y_n \to z_{n+3}.$$

We have that $Q^n \setminus V(x_0^2)$ is isomorphic to \mathbb{A}^{n+1} . Hence dim $(Q^n) = n+1$, which implies that its projective cone, which is contained in \mathbb{A}^{n+3} , has the dimension n+2. By [26], **I**. Proposition 1.13, each irreducible component of dimension n+2 of this cone is given by an ideal generated by one irreducible polynomial. The corresponding polynomial of the unique irreducible component of Q^n is

$$f(z_1, z_2, z_3) = z_1 z_3 - z_2^2,$$

since each point $p \in Q^n \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+2}$ satisfies f(p) = 0 and f is irreducible. The last statement about the singular locus follows from calculating the partial derivatives of f.

Let $a_1, \ldots, a_{2m} \in \mathbb{C}$, and $m \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{1\}$. Then $C_{(n)} \subset Q^n$ is the subvariety, which is given by the homogeneous polynomial

$$y_n^m + \ldots + y_1^m + (x_1 - a_1 x_0) \ldots (x_1 - a_{2m} x_0).$$

It is a very easy exercise to check that this polynomial is irreducible.

Proposition 8.1.3. There exists a homogeneous polynomial $G \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, z_2, z_3]$ of degree m such that $C_{(n)} \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+2}$ is given by the ideal generated by h and f, where

$$h = z_{n+3}^m + \dots z_4^m + G$$

Proof. We can obviously choose a polynomial G such that

$$G(x_0^2, x_0 x_1, x_0^2) = (x_1 - a_1 x_0) \dots (x_1 - a_{2m} x_0).$$

Now let $h = z_{n+3}^m + ... z_4^m + G$, and

$$\phi : \mathbb{C}[z_1, \dots, z_{n+3}] \to \mathbb{C}[x_0^2, x_0 x_1, x_1^2, y_1, \dots, y_n]$$

be the homomorphism associated to the closed embedding $Q^n \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^{n+2}$, which has the kernel (f). We obtain

$$\phi(h) = y_n^m + \ldots + y_1^m + (x_1 - a_1 x_0) \ldots (x_1 - a_{2m} x_0).$$

Hence $C_{(n)} \subset \mathbb{P}^{n+2}$ is given by the prime ideal

$$\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{I}(C_{(n)})) = (h, f).$$

Proposition 8.1.4. The singular locus of $C_{(n)}$ is given by $C_{(n)} \cap V(z_1, z_2, z_3)$.

Proof. On $Q^n \setminus V(x_0) \cong \text{Spec}(\mathbb{C}[x_1, y_1, \dots, y_n])$ the hypersurface $C_{(n)}$ is given by the equation

$$0 = y_n^m + \ldots + y_1^m + (x_1 - a_1) \ldots (x_1 - a_{2m}).$$

By the partial derivatives of the polynomial on the right hand, one can easily check that there are no singularities of $C_{(n)}$ in this affine subset. The same arguments give the same statement for $Q^n \setminus V(x_1)$. Hence all singularities of $C_{(n)}$ are contained in $V = V(z_1, z_2, z_3)$. For all $P \in C_{(n)} \cap V$, the Jacobian matrix of $C_{(n)}$ at P does not have the maximal rank 2, where this is obtained by explicit calculation of the partial derivatives of f and h.

8.1.5. The variety Q^n has a natural interpretation as degree 2 cover of the variety given by $\{z_2 = 0\}$ ramified over $\{z_1 = z_2 = 0\}$ and $\{z_2 = z_3 = 0\}$. Hence by blowing up $V = V(z_1, z_2, z_3)$, the proper transform $R^n := \tilde{Q}_V^n$ is the natural degree 2 cover of the proper transform of $\{z_2 = 0\}$ ramified over the disjoint proper transforms of $\{z_1 = z_2 = 0\}$ and $\{z_2 = z_3 = 0\}$. Thus R^n is non-singular.

Note that the general construction of the blowing up yields a natural embedding of an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n into $\mathbb{A}^{n+2} \times \mathbb{P}^2$. Hence the Jacobian matrix at each point of \mathbb{R}^n has the maximal rank 3 with respect to this local embedding. The Jacobian matrix of the proper transform \tilde{C}_n of $C_{(n)}$ is given by adding the line of the partial derivatives of h to the Jacobian matrix

of \mathbb{R}^n . Without loss of generality we are on the open subset $\{y_1 = 1\}$. On the exceptional divisor E the polynomial G vanishes. Thus all points of $\tilde{C}_n \cap E$ satisfy

$$y_n^m + \ldots + y_2^n + 1 = 0.$$

Hence for each $p \in \tilde{C}_n \cap E$ there is a partial derivative $\partial h/\partial y_i(P) \neq 0$. Since all partial derivatives of the equations defining \mathbb{R}^n with respect to y_i vanish, the Jacobian matrix of \tilde{C}_n has the maximal rank 4 at each point on the exceptional divisor. Thus \tilde{C}_n is smooth.

Remark 8.1.6. Note that Q^1 has a natural interpretation as projective closure of the affine cone of a rational curve of degree 2 in \mathbb{P}^2 . By [26], **V**. Example 2.11.4, one has that R^1 , which is the blowing up of the unique singular point given by the vertex of the cone, is a rational ruled surface isomorphic to $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1} + \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(2))$, where the exceptional divisor has the selfintersection number -2.

By [26], II. Proposition 8.20, one has for $n \ge 1$:

$$\omega_{Q^n \setminus V(z_1, z_2, z_3)} = \omega_{\mathbb{P}^{n+2} \setminus V(z_1, z_2, z_3)} \otimes \mathcal{I}(Q^n \setminus V(z_1, z_2, z_3)) \otimes \mathcal{O}_{Q^n \setminus V(z_1, z_2, z_3)}$$
$$= \mathcal{O}_{Q^n \setminus V(z_1, z_2, z_3)}(-(n+1)V(z_4))$$

By [4], Theorem 2.7 and the fact that the self-intersection number of the exceptional divisor is -2, the pull-back of the canonical divisor of Q^1 with respect to the blowing up morphism is the canonical divisor of R^1 . Note that the canonical divisor of Q^1 yields the canonical divisor of $Q^1 \setminus \{s\}$, where s denotes the singular point. Thus:

Corollary 8.1.7. The canonical divisor of R^1 is given by $-2V(z_4)$.

The following lemma describes the construction of this section. One has the following commutative diagram of closed embeddings:



The ideal sheaf of each blowing up $\tilde{C}_n \to C_{(n)}$ and $R^n \to Q^n$ is generated by z_1, z_2, z_3 . Moreover this ideal sheaf is obviously the inverse image ideal sheaf of the ideal sheaf generated by z_1, z_2, z_3 with respect to all embeddings. Hence we obtain by [26], II. Corollary 7.15 for $V := V(z_1, z_2, z_3)$:

Lemma 8.1.8. We have the commutative diagram



of closed embeddings.

Remark 8.1.9. Note that $C_{(0)} = \tilde{C}_0$, $C_{(1)} = \tilde{C}_1$ and $Q^0 = R^0$.

Theorem 8.1.10. The canonical divisor of \mathbb{R}^n is given by $-(n+1)\tilde{V}(z_4)$ for $n \geq 1$.

Proof. By Corollary 8.1.7, we have the statement for n = 1.

We use induction for higher n. Let E_n denote exceptional divisor of the blowing up $\mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{Q}^n$. The open subset $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus E_n$ is isomorphic to $\mathbb{Q}^n \setminus V(z_1, z_2, z_3)$. We know that $-(n+1)\tilde{V}(z_4)$ is the canonical divisor of $\mathbb{Q}^n \setminus V(z_1, z_2, z_3)$. Hence we conclude that

$$K_{R^{n+1}} = -(n+2)V(z_4) + zE_{n+1}$$

for some $z \in \mathbb{Z}$. We have that $\mathbb{R}^n \sim \tilde{V}(z_4)$ in $Cl(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$. By the induction hypothesis, we have

$$\mathcal{O}_{R^n}(-(n+1)\tilde{V}(z_4)) \cong \omega_{R^n} \cong \mathcal{O}_{R^{n+1}}(\tilde{V}(z_4)) \otimes \omega_{R^{n+1}} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{R^n}$$

such that z = 0 and $-(n+2)\tilde{V}(z_4)$ is the canonical divisor of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} .

Since we want to construct a family of Calabi-Yau manifolds, we note:

Theorem 8.1.11. The hypersurface $\tilde{C}_{m-1} \subset \mathbb{R}^{m-1}$ is a Calabi-Yau manifold.

Proof. By Theorem 8.1.10, $-m\tilde{V}(z_4)$ is the canonical divisor of R^{m-1} . Hence [26], **II**. Proposition 8.20 and $\tilde{C}_{m-1} \sim m\tilde{V}(z_4)$ imply that

$$\omega_{\tilde{C}_{m-1}} = \mathcal{O}_{\tilde{C}_{m-1}}.$$

By the fact that $h^{q,0}$ is a birational invariant of non-singular projective varieties (see [26], page 190), and R^{m-1} is birationally equivalent to \mathbb{P}^m , we obtain

 \square

that $h^{q,0}(\mathbb{R}^{m-1}) = 0$ for all $1 \leq q \leq m$. By Hodge symmetry and Serre duality, we obtain that $h^q(\mathbb{R}^{m-1}, \mathcal{O}) = 0$ for all $1 \leq q \leq m$ and $h^q(\mathbb{R}^{m-1}, \omega) = 0$ for all $0 \leq q \leq m-1$. Since the canonical divisor of \mathbb{R}^{m-1} is linearly equivalent to $-\tilde{C}_{m-1}$, we obtain the exact sequence

$$0 \to \omega_{R^{m-1}} \to \mathcal{O}_{R^{m-1}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\tilde{C}_{m-1}} \to 0.$$

This implies that $h^i(\tilde{C}_{m-1}, \mathcal{O}) = 0$ for $1 \leq i < m-1 = \dim(\tilde{C}_{m-1})$. Hence \tilde{C}_{m-1} is a Calabi-Yau manifold.

8.1.12. The projection $\mathbb{P}^{n+2} \setminus \{(1:0:\ldots:0)\} \to \mathbb{P}^{n+1}$ given by

$$(z_{n+3}:\ldots:z_1)\to(z_{n+2}:\ldots:z_1)$$

induces a cyclic cover $C_{(n+1)}\to Q^n$ of degree m ramified over $C_{(n)}.$ The Galois group is generated by

$$(z_{n+3}: z_{n+2}: \ldots: z_1) \to (\xi z_{n+3}: z_{n+2}: \ldots: z_1),$$

where ξ is a primitive *m*-th. root of unity.

Recall the commutative diagram of Lemma 8.1.8. Let \mathbb{A}^4 be given by $\{z_4 = 1\} \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ and \mathbb{A}^3 be given by $\{z_4 = 1\} \subset \mathbb{P}^3$. Then the projection above yields a morphism

$$f: \mathbb{A}^4 \times \mathbb{P}^2 \to \mathbb{A}^3 \times \mathbb{P}^2. \tag{8.1}$$

Since the blowing up yields natural embeddings of open subsets of \tilde{C}_2 and R^1 into the varieties of (8.1), f induces a rational map $\tilde{C}_2 \to R^1$. Now this rational map $\tilde{C}_2 \to R^1$ is again a cyclic cover of degree m with the Galois group as above (on the open locus of definition). On the complements of the exceptional divisors it coincides with the cyclic cover $C_{(2)} \to Q^1$ above. Hence by gluing, one has a cyclic cover $\tilde{C}_2 \to R^1$ ramified over $C_{(1)}$.

8.2 A modified version of the method of Viehweg and Zuo

The following construction is a modified version of the construction in [58], Section 5. Here we show that \tilde{C}_2 has CM, if $C_{(1)}$ has CM. In the next section we will use the construction of the preceding section to define a family of K3surfaces. In this section we give the argument that this family of K3-surfaces is a CMCY family of 2-manifolds.

For our application, it is sufficient to consider the situation fiberwise and to work with \mathbb{P}^1 -bundles over \mathbb{P}^1 resp., with rational ruled surfaces. Let π_n :

 $\mathbb{P}_n \to \mathbb{P}^1$ denote the rational ruled surface given by $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(n))$ and σ denote a non-trivial global section of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(6)$, which has the six different zero points represented by a point $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$. The sections E_{σ} , E_0 and E_{∞} of $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(6))$ are induced by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{id} \oplus \sigma : \mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(6), \quad \mathrm{id} \oplus 0 : \mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(6) \\ \\ \mathrm{and} \quad 0 \oplus \mathrm{id} : \mathcal{O}(6) \to \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(6) \end{aligned}$$

resp., by the corresponding surjections onto the cokernels of these embeddings as described in [26], **II**. Proposition 7.12.

Remark 8.2.1. The divisors E_{σ} and E_0 intersect each other transversally over the 6 zero points of σ . Recall that $\operatorname{Pic}(\mathbb{P}_6)$ has a basis given by a fiber and an arbitrary section. Hence by the fact that E_{σ} and E_0 do not intersect E_{∞} , one concludes that they are linearly equivalent with self-intersection number 6. Since E_{∞} is a section, it intersects each fiber transversally. Thus one has that $E_{\infty} \sim E_0 - (E_0.E_0)F$, where F denotes a fiber. Therefore one concludes

$$E_{\infty} \cdot E_{\infty} = E_{\infty} \cdot (E_0 - (E_0 \cdot E_0)F) = -(E_0 \cdot E_0) = -6$$

Next we establish a morphism $\mu : \mathbb{P}_2 \to \mathbb{P}_6$ over \mathbb{P}^1 . By [26], **II**. Proposition 7.12., this is the same as to give a surjection $\pi_2^*(\mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(6)) \to \mathcal{L}$, where \mathcal{L} is an invertible sheaf on \mathbb{P}_2 . By the composition

$$\pi_2^*(\mathcal{O}\oplus\mathcal{O}(6)) = \pi_2^*(\mathcal{O})\oplus\pi_2^*\mathcal{O}(6) \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{i=0}^3 \pi_2^*\mathcal{O}(2i) = Sym^3(\pi_2^*(\mathcal{O}\oplus\mathcal{O}(6))) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_2}(3),$$

where the last morphism is induced by the natural surjection $\pi_2^*(\mathcal{O}\oplus\mathcal{O}(2)) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_2}(1)$ (see [26], **II**. Proposition 7.11), we obtain a morphism μ^* of sheaves. This morphism μ^* is not a surjection onto $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_2}(3)$, but onto its image $\mathcal{L} \subset \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_2}(3)$. Locally over $\mathbb{A}^1 \subset \mathbb{P}^1$ all rational ruled surfaces are given by $\operatorname{Proj}(\mathbb{C}[x])[y_1, y_2]$, where x has the weight 0. Hence we have locally that $\pi_2^*(\mathcal{O}\oplus\mathcal{O}(6)) = \mathcal{O}e_1 \oplus \mathcal{O}e_2$. Over \mathbb{A}^1 the morphism μ^* is given by

$$e_1 \to y_1^3, e_2 \to y_2^3$$

such that the sheaf $\mathcal{L} = im(\mu^*) \subset \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_2}(3)$ is invertible. Thus the morphism $\mu : \mathbb{P}_2 \to \mathbb{P}_6$ corresponding to μ^* is locally given by the ring homomorphism

$$(\mathbb{C}[x])[y_1, y_2] \to (\mathbb{C}[x])[y_1, y_2]$$
 via $y_1 \to y_1^3$ and $y_2 \to y_2^3$



Construction 8.2.2. One has a commutative diagram

of morphisms between normal varieties with:

- (a) δ , δ_2 , δ_6 , ρ , ρ_2 and ρ_6 are birational.
- (b) π is a family of curves, π_2 and π_d are \mathbb{P}^1 -bundles.
- (c) All the horizontal arrows (except for the ones in the bottom line) are Kummer coverings of degree 3.

Proof. One must only explain δ_6 and ρ_6 . Recall that E_{σ} is a section of $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(6))$, which intersects E_0 transversally in exactly 6 points. The morphism ρ_6 is the blowing up of the six intersection points of $E_0 \cap E_{\sigma}$. The preimage of the six points given by $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$ with respect to $\pi_6 \circ \rho_6$ consists of the exceptional divisor \hat{D}_1 and the proper transform \tilde{D}_2 of the preimage of these six points with respect to ρ_6 given by 6 rational curves with self-intersection number -1. The morphism δ_6 is obtained by blowing down \tilde{D}_2 .

Remark 8.2.3. The section σ has the zero divisor given by some $q \in \mathcal{P}_3$. Hence one obtains $\mu^*(E_{\sigma}) \cong \mathcal{C}_q$, where $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_3$ denotes the family of cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 with a pure (1,3) - VHS of degree 3. Since τ is the unique cyclic degree 3 covering of $\mathbb{P}_2 \cong \mathbb{R}^1$ ramified over $\mu^*(E_{\sigma}) \cong \mathcal{C}_q$, the surface \mathcal{Y} is isomorphic to some K3-surface $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_2$ of the preceding section.

Recall that \mathbb{F}_n denotes the Fermat curve of degree n.

Proposition 8.2.4. The surface \mathcal{Y} is birationally equivalent to $C_q \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,1) \rangle$.¹

Proof. Let E_{\bullet} denote the proper transform of the section E_{\bullet} with respect to ρ_6 . Then $\hat{\mu}$ is the Kummer covering given by

¹Similarly to [58], Construction 5.2, we show that \mathcal{Y}' is birationally equivalent to $\mathcal{C}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,1) \rangle$.

$$\sqrt[3]{\frac{\tilde{E}_{\infty}+6\cdot F}{\tilde{E}_{0}+\hat{D}_{1}}},$$

where \hat{D}_1 denotes the exceptional divisor of ρ_6 . Thus the morphism μ' is the Kummer covering

$$\sqrt[3]{\frac{(\delta_{6})_{*}\tilde{E}_{\infty}+6\cdot(\delta_{6})_{*}F}{(\delta_{6})_{*}\tilde{E}_{0}+(\delta_{6})_{*}\hat{D}_{1}}} = \sqrt[3]{\frac{\mathbb{P}^{1}\times\{\infty\}+6\cdot(P\times\mathbb{P}^{1})}{\mathbb{P}^{1}\times\{0\}+\Delta\times\mathbb{P}^{1}}},$$

where Δ is the divisor of the 6 different points in \mathbb{P}^1 given by $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$ and $P \in \mathbb{P}^1$ is the point with the fiber F. Since $E_0 + E_{\sigma}$ is a normal crossing divisor, \tilde{E}_{σ} neither meets \tilde{E}_0 nor \tilde{D}_2 , where \tilde{D}_2 is the proper transform of $\pi_6^*(\Delta)$. Therefore $(\delta_6)_*\tilde{E}_{\sigma}$ neither meets

$$(\delta_6)_* \tilde{E}_0 = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \{0\} \text{ nor } (\delta_6)_* \tilde{E}_\infty = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \{\infty\}.$$

Hence one can choose coordinates in \mathbb{P}^1 such that $(\delta_6)_* \tilde{E}_\sigma = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \{1\}$.

By the definition of τ , we obtain that $\hat{\tau}$ is given by

$$\sqrt[3]{\frac{\rho_2^*\mu^*(E_{\sigma})}{\rho_2^*\mu^*(E_0)}} = \sqrt[3]{\frac{\hat{\mu}^*(\tilde{E}_{\sigma})}{\hat{\mu}^*(\tilde{E}_0)}},$$

and τ' is given by

$$\sqrt[3]{\frac{\mu'^*(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{1\})}{\mu'^*(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{0\})}}.$$

By the fact that the last function is the third root of the pullback of a function on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ with respect to μ' , it is possible to reverse the order of the field extensions corresponding to τ' and μ' such that the resulting varieties obtained by Kummer coverings are birationally equivalent. Hence we have the composition of $\beta : \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ given by

$$\sqrt[3]{\frac{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{1\}}{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{0\}}}$$

with

$$\sqrt[3]{\frac{\beta^*(\mathbb{P}^1\times\{\infty\})+6\cdot(P\times\mathbb{P}^1)}{\beta^*(\mathbb{P}^1\times\{0\})+(\Delta\times\mathbb{P}^1)}},$$

which yields the covering variety isomorphic to $\mathbb{F}_3 \times C_q/\langle (1,1) \rangle$.

Hence $\tilde{C}_2 \cong \mathcal{Y}$ is birationally equivalent to the algebraic manifold $\hat{\mathcal{Y}}$ in the diagram (7.1) with $\mathcal{Z} = C_{(1)}$ and $\Sigma = \mathbb{F}_3$. Therefore by Corollary 7.1.6, we obtain:

Corollary 8.2.5. If the curve $\mu^*(E_{\sigma})$ has complex multiplication, then the K3-surface \mathcal{Y} has complex multiplication, too.

8.3 The resulting family and its involutions

8.3.1. Let us summarize the things we have done. By using the Veronese embedding, the weighted projective space $Q^2 = \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{C}}(2,2,1,1)$ is given by $V(z_1z_3 = z_2^2) \subset \mathbb{P}^4$. Moreover there exists a homogeneous polynomial $G_{(a_1,a_2,a_3)} \in \mathbb{C}[z_1, z_2, z_3]$ of degree 3 such that

$$G_{(a_1,a_2,a_3)}(x^2,x,1) = x(x-1)(x-a_1)(x-a_2)(x-a_3)$$

for each $(a_1, a_2, a_3) \in \mathcal{M}_3$. Let $W \hookrightarrow Q^2 \times \mathcal{M}_3 \xrightarrow{pr_2} \mathcal{M}_3$ be the family with the fibers given by $W_q = V(z_1z_3 - z_2^2, z_5^3 + z_4^3 + G_q)$ for all $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$. Moreover let $\mathcal{W} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathcal{M}_3 \to \mathcal{M}_3$ be the smooth family obtained by the proper transform of W with respect to the blowing up of $V(z_1, z_2, z_3) \times \mathcal{M}_3$. Since the family $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ given by

$$R^{1} \supset V(y^{3} - x_{1}(x_{1} - x_{0})(x_{1} - a_{1}x_{0})(x_{1} - a_{2}x_{0})(x_{1} - a_{3}x_{0})x_{0}) \rightarrow (a_{1}, a_{2}, a_{3}) \in \mathcal{M}_{3}$$

has dense set of complex multiplication fibers, Corollary 8.2.5 implies that \mathcal{W} is a CMCY family of 2-manifolds.

Next we will find and study involutions on \mathcal{W} over \mathcal{M}_3 satisfying the assumptions for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

Remark 8.3.2. We have the involutions on W over \mathcal{M}_3 given by

$$\gamma^{(1)}(z_5:z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1) = (z_4:z_5:z_3:z_2:z_1),$$

$$\gamma^{(2)}(z_5:z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1) = (\xi z_4:\xi^2 z_5:z_3:z_2:z_1),$$

$$\gamma^{(3)}(z_5:z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1) = (\xi^2 z_4:\xi z_5:z_3:z_2:z_1),$$

where ξ is a fixed primitive cubic root of unity. For simplicity we write γ instead of $\gamma^{(1)}$, too. Since the ideal sheaf of $V(z_1, z_2, z_3) \cap W$ coincides with its inverse image ideal sheaf with respect to $\gamma^{(i)}$ (for all i = 1, 2, 3), each $\gamma^{(i)}$ induces an involution on \mathcal{W} over the basis \mathcal{M}_3 denoted by $\gamma^{(i)}$, too.

Remark 8.3.3. We have the \mathcal{M}_3 -automorphism κ of W given by

$$\kappa(z_5:z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1) = (\xi z_5:z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1) \text{ with}$$

$$\kappa^{-1}(z_5:z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1) = (\xi^2 z_5:z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1)$$

such that by the same argument as in Remark 8.3.2, we obtain an automorphism of \mathcal{W} over \mathcal{M}_3 denoted by κ , too. On W and hence on \mathcal{W} one has

$$\gamma^{(2)} = \kappa \circ \gamma \circ \kappa^{-1}$$
 and $\gamma^{(3)} = \kappa^{-1} \circ \gamma \circ \kappa$.

Hence these involutions act by the same character on the global differential forms of the fibers of \mathcal{W} , and all quotients $\mathcal{W}/\gamma^{(i)}$ are isomorphic. Therefore it is sufficient to consider the quotient by γ .

Proposition 8.3.4. On each fiber of W the involution γ fixes exactly the points on the divisor given by $V(z_4 = z_5)$ and one exceptional line over one singular point of the corresponding fiber of W.

Proof. Let $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$ and let S denote the singular locus of W_q . On $W_q \setminus S$ the points fixed by γ are given by the divisor $V(z_4 = z_5)$. Now let us consider the exceptional divisors of the blowing up, which turns W into the family \mathcal{W} of smooth K3-surfaces. There are exactly 3 points of S given by $z_1 = z_2 = z_3 = 0$ and $z_4^3 + z_5^3 = 0$. The involution γ fixes (1: -1: 0: 0: 0) and interchanges the other two singular points. Since the generators of the ideal of the blowing up are invariant under γ , one concludes that each point on the exceptional line over (1: -1: 0: 0: 0) is fixed by γ .

Since the divisor on W_q given by $V(z_4 = z_5)$ is isomorphic to C_q and the projective line providing the fixed exceptional divisor has CM, one has by Corollary 8.2.5:

Theorem 8.3.5. By the involution γ , the family W can be used to be some \mathcal{Z}_1 or Σ_i in the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

Remark 8.3.6. By Example 7.4.3, Example 7.4.4 and Example 7.4.5, one has 6 explicitly given elliptic curves with CM and explicitly given involutions. Theorem 2.4.4 yields the K3 surfaces isomorphic to

$$V(y_2^3+y_1^3+x_1^6+x_0^6), \ V(y_2^3+y_1^3+x_1(x_1^5+x_0^5)), \ V(y_2^3+y_1^3+x_1(x_1^4+x_0^4)x_0) \subset R^2$$

with complex multiplication. Thus by using the method of C. Voisin [60], one obtains 18 explicitly given fibers with CM for the resulting CMCY family of 3-manifolds.

Chapter 9 Other examples and variations

In this chapter we consider the automorphism groups of our examples of CMCY families. We want to find some new examples of CMCY families of n-manifolds as quotients by cyclic subgroups of these automorphism groups. By using [20], Lemma 3.16, d), one can easily determine the character of the action of these cyclic groups on the global sections of the canonical sheaves of the fibers. In this chapter we state this character with respect to the pull-back action.

In Section 9.1 we see that the CMCY family W of 2-manifolds given by

$$R^2 \supset \tilde{V}(y_2^3 + y_1^3 = x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - a_1x_0)(x_1 - a_2x_0)(x_1 - a_3x_0)x_0) \rightarrow (a_1, a_2, a_3) \in \mathcal{M}_3$$

has a degree 3 quotient, which is birationally equivalent to a CMCY family of 2-manifolds. This quotient is also suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower. By using degree 3 automorphisms of $\mathcal{W} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ and the Fermat curve \mathbb{F}_3 of degree 3, we construct the CMCY families $\mathcal{Q} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ and $\mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ of 3-manifolds in Section 9.2.

In Section 9.3 we consider a subgroup of the automorphism group of the CMCY family $\mathcal{C}_2 \to \mathcal{M}_1$ given by

$$\mathbb{P}^{3} \supset V(y_{2}^{4} + y_{1}^{4} + x_{1}(x_{1} - x_{0})(x_{1} - \lambda x_{0})x_{0}) \to \lambda \in \mathcal{M}_{1}.$$

We find some degree 2 quotients of this family, which are birationally equivalent to CMCY families of 2-manifolds. In Section 9.4 we see that these families have involutions suitable for the construction of Borcea-Voisin towers. We consider a larger subgroup of the automorphism group of C_2 in Section 9.5.

In Section 9.6 we study the automorphism group of the CMCY family of 3-manifolds

$$\mathbb{P}^4 \supset V(y_3^5 + y_2^5 + y_1^5 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - ax_0)(x_1 - bx_0)x_0) \to (a, b) \in \mathcal{M}_2$$

constructed by E. Viehweg and K. Zuo [58].

J.C. Rohde, Cyclic Coverings, Calabi-Yau Manifolds and Complex Multiplication, 169
Lecture Notes in Mathematics 1975, DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-00639-5_10,
© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2009

9.1 The degree 3 case

Let ξ denote a fixed primitive cubic root of unity. In 8.3.1 we have constructed the *CMCY* family $\mathcal{W} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ given by

$$R^{2} := \tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\mathbb{C}}(2,2,1,1) \supset \tilde{V}(y_{2}^{3} + y_{1}^{3} + x_{1}(x_{1} - 1)(x_{1} - a_{1}x_{0})(x_{1} - a_{2}x_{0})(x_{1} - a_{3}x_{0})x_{0})$$
$$\rightarrow (a_{1}, a_{2}, a_{3}) \in \mathcal{M}_{3}.$$

First we introduce an \mathcal{M}_3 -automorphism group \mathbb{G}_3 of the family \mathcal{W} . The elements $g \in \mathbb{G}_3$ can be uniquely written as a product g = abc with $a \in \langle \alpha \rangle$, $b \in \langle \beta \rangle$ and $c \in \langle \gamma \rangle$, where:

$$\begin{aligned} &\alpha(z_5:z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1) = (\xi z_5:z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1), \\ &\beta(z_5:z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1) = (z_5:\xi z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1), \\ &\gamma(z_5:z_4:z_3:z_2:z_1) = (z_4:z_5:z_3:z_2:z_1) \end{aligned}$$

The group \mathbb{G}_3 contains exactly 18 elements. The action of \mathbb{G}_3 on the global sections of the canonical sheaves of the fibers induces a surjection of \mathbb{G}_3 onto the multiplicative group of the 6-th. roots of unity. Its kernel is the cyclic group of order 3 generated by $\alpha\beta^{-1}$.

Remark 9.1.1. Since $\alpha\beta^{-1}$ is an \mathcal{M}_3 -automorphism, one obtains the quotient family $\mathcal{W}/\langle \alpha\beta^{-1}\rangle \to \mathcal{M}_3$. One checks easily that $\alpha\beta^{-1}$ leaves exactly the sections given by $z_5 = z_4 = 0$ invariant. Let $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$. The fiber $(\mathcal{W}/\langle \alpha\beta^{-1}\rangle)_q$ of $\mathcal{W}/\langle \alpha\beta^{-1}\rangle$ has quotient singularities of the type $A_{3,2}$ (see [6], **III.** Proposition 5.3). We blow up the sections of fixed points on \mathcal{W} and call the resulting exceptional divisor E_1 . On each connected component of E_1 one has two disjoint sections of fixed points again. But on a fiber the quotient map sends any fixed point onto a singularity of the type $A_{3,1}$.¹ Hence let us blow up these latter sections of fixed points with exceptional divisor E_2 . The canonical divisor of the resulting fibers \mathcal{W}_q is given by

$$K_{\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_q} = (\tilde{E}_1)_q + 2(E_2)_q,$$

where quotient map φ induced by $\alpha\beta^{-1}$ has ramification on E_2 . Thus by the Hurwitz formula, one calculates that $\varphi^*(\omega_q) = \mathcal{O}((\tilde{E}_1)_q)$. Note that the irreducible components of the exceptional curve $(E_1)_q$ have selfintersectionnumber -1. Since $(E_2)_q$ is the exceptional divisor of the blowing up of two points of each irreducible component of $(E_1)_q$, each irreducible component of $(\tilde{E}_1)_q$ has selfintersection-number -3. By the fact that the quotient map

¹ For this description consider the corresponding action of the cyclic group on an analytic open neighborhood of a fixed point.

 $\varphi : \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_q \to (\tilde{\mathcal{W}}/\langle \alpha \beta^{-1} \rangle)_q$ is not ramified over $\varphi((\tilde{E}_1)_q)$, the irreducible components of $\varphi((\tilde{E}_1)_q)$ have selfintersection-number -1.

From now on let $\mathcal{X} := \tilde{\mathcal{W}} / \langle \alpha \beta^{-1} \rangle$.

Proposition 9.1.2. One can blow down $\varphi(\tilde{E}_1)$ such that the blowing down morphism $\phi : \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ yields a CMCY family $\mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ of 2-manifolds.

Proof. By the construction of the projective family, one has an invertible relatively very ample sheaf $\mathcal{A} := \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{X}}(D)$ on \mathcal{X} . Let P denote some connected component of $\varphi(\tilde{E}_1)$. Note that $\varphi(\tilde{E}_1)$ consists of different copies of $\mathbb{P}^1_{\operatorname{Spec}(R)}$ with $\operatorname{Spec}(R) = \mathcal{P}_n$ such that each invertible sheaf on P is uniquely determined by its degree. Thus the intersection number $\mu_P := D_q.P_q$ is independent of $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$. As in the proof of the Castelnuovo Theorem in [26], **V**. Theorem 5.7 the invertible sheaf

$$\mathcal{L} := \mathcal{A}(\sum_{P \subset \varphi(\tilde{E}_1)} \mu_P P)$$

yields the blowing down morphism on the fibers. Since this \mathcal{P}_n -morphism is globally defined, one obtains a global blowing down morphism f such that the resulting family $\mathcal{Y} = f(\mathcal{X})$ is smooth.

By the fact that $\alpha\beta$ acts by the character 1 on $\Gamma(\omega_{\mathcal{W}_q})$, one concludes easily that $\mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ is a family of K3 surfaces. Since \mathcal{W} has a dense set of CM fibers, one concludes that $\mathcal{X} = \tilde{\mathcal{W}}/\langle \alpha\beta \rangle$ and \mathcal{Y} have dense sets of CMfibers, too.

By the blowing down of $\varphi(\tilde{E}_1)$, we get the following situation:



Proposition 9.1.3. The \mathcal{M}_3 -automorphism γ of \mathcal{W} yields an involution on \mathcal{Y} , which makes it suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

Proof. One has the following commutative diagram:



Thus γ yields an involution on $\mathcal{X} = \tilde{\mathcal{W}}/\langle \alpha \beta^{-1} \rangle$. By the fact that $\gamma(E_1) = E_1$, it induces an involution on the complement of the sections of \mathcal{Y} obtained by blowing down $\varphi(\tilde{E}_1)$. Since these sections have codimension 2, the involution extends to a holomorphic involution on \mathcal{Y} (by Hartog's Extension Theorem [61], Théorème 1.25). By the fact that γ acts by -1 on $\Gamma(\omega_{\mathcal{W}_q})$, the same holds true for \mathcal{X}_q and \mathcal{Y}_q .

Let $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ denote the family of degree 3 covers with a pure (1,3)-VHS. We have seen that \mathcal{W}_q has CM, if \mathcal{C}_q has CM. Therefore $H^k(\mathcal{Y}_q, \mathbb{Q})$ has a commutative Hodge group for all k, if \mathcal{C}_q has CM. Thus the following point describes the ramification divisor of γ_q on \mathcal{Y}_q and ensures that there is a dense set of CM fibers \mathcal{Y}_q such that the ramification divisor of γ_q has CM, too.

9.1.4. Now we describe the divisor of points of \mathcal{Y}_q fixed by γ for some $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$. Each point of $\mathcal{Y}_q \setminus (\phi \circ \varphi(E_2))$ can be given by the image [p] of a point $p \in \mathcal{W}_q$ with respect to the quotient map according to $\langle \alpha \beta^{-1} \rangle$. One has that a point $[p] \in \mathcal{Y}_q \setminus (\phi \circ \varphi(E_2))$ is fixed by γ , if and only if $\gamma(p) \in \langle \alpha \beta^2 \rangle \cdot p$. These points $p \in \mathcal{W}_q$ are exactly given by $\langle \alpha \beta^2 \rangle \cdot V(y_2 = y_1)$ and the exceptional divisor of $\mathcal{W}_q \to W_q$.

By the fact that $\langle \alpha \beta^2 \rangle \cdot V(y_2 = y_1)$ interchanges all 3 irreducible components of $\langle \alpha \beta^2 \rangle \cdot V(y_2 = y_1)$ and all 3 irreducible components of the exceptional divisor of $\mathcal{W} \to \mathcal{W}$, one obtains a divisor of fixed points on \mathcal{Y}_q given by \mathcal{C}_q and one copy of \mathbb{P}^1 . Since γ is given by $(y_2 : y_1) \to (y_1 : y_2)$ on E_1 and $\alpha \beta^2$ is given by $(y_2 : y_1) \to (y_2 : \xi y_1)$ on E_1 , γ interchanges each two irreducible components of E_2 , which intersect the same irreducible component of \tilde{E}_1 . Thus the ramification divisor of $\mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{Y}/\gamma$ given by a family of rational curves and \mathcal{C} , where \mathcal{C} denotes the example of a family of degree 3 covers with a pure (1,3) - VHS.

9.2 Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds obtained by quotients of degree 3

We have seen that the family \mathcal{W} of K3-surfaces given by

$$R^{2} := \tilde{\mathbb{P}}_{\mathbb{C}}(2,2,1,1) \supset \tilde{V}(y_{2}^{3} + y_{1}^{3} + x_{1}(x_{1} - 1)(x_{1} - a_{1}x_{0})(x_{1} - a_{2}x_{0})(x_{1} - a_{3}x_{0})x_{0})$$
$$\rightarrow (a_{1}, a_{2}, a_{3}) \in \mathcal{M}_{3}$$

has a dense set of fibers \mathcal{W}_q such that $H^k(\mathcal{W}_q, \mathbb{Q})$ has a commutative Hodge group for all k.

Recall that the canonical divisor of $R^1 \cong \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(2))$ is given by $-2\tilde{V}(z_4)$. Now we consider the up to isomorphisms unique cyclic cover of degree 3 given by $\mathcal{W}_q \to R^1$ ramified over \mathcal{C}_q , whose Galois group is generated by α . Moreover consider the cyclic degree 3 cover $\mathbb{F}_3 \to \mathbb{P}^1$, where $\mathbb{F}_3 = V(x^3 + y^3 + z^3) \subset \mathbb{P}^2$ denotes the Fermat curve of degree 3 and $\alpha_{\mathbb{F}_3}$ given by

$$(x:y:z) = (x:y:\xi z),$$

is a generator of the Galois group, which acts by the character ξ on $\Gamma(\omega_{\mathbb{F}_3})$.

Let X be a singular variety of dimension n such that each irreducible component of its singular locus S has at least the codimension 2. Then we call X a singular Calabi-Yau n-manifold, if $h^0(X \setminus S, \Omega_{X \setminus S}^k) = 0$ for all k = 1, ..., n - 1 and $\omega_{X \setminus S} \cong \mathcal{O}_{X \setminus S}$. With the notation of diagram (7.1) one gets:

Proposition 9.2.1. The quotient of $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3$ by $\langle (1,2) \rangle$ yields a family of singular Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with a dense set of CM fibers.

Proof. Note that the VHS of the family $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2) \rangle$ is the sub-VHS fixed by $\langle (1,2) \rangle$.² Since \mathbb{F}_3 has complex multiplication, a CM fiber of \mathcal{W} yields a corresponding CM fiber of $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2) \rangle$.

Let φ denote the quotient map

$$\varphi: \mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3 \to \mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3 / \langle (1,2) \rangle$$

and S denote the singular locus of $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2) \rangle$. Over each point, which lies not in the singular locus given by 3 copies of \mathcal{C} , one does not have ramification. Hence by the Hurwitz formula, $\varphi^*(\omega_{(\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2) \rangle) \setminus S})$ is given by the structure sheaf. Since $\langle (1,2) \rangle$ acts on $\Gamma(\omega_{\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3})$ by the character 1, the sheaf $\omega_{(\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2) \rangle) \setminus S}$ has global sections. Hence

$$\omega_{(\mathcal{W}\times\mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2)\rangle)\setminus S} = \mathcal{O}_{(\mathcal{W}\times\mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2)\rangle)\setminus S}.$$

In addition the reader checks easily that $\langle (1,2) \rangle$ does not act by the character 1 on a non-trivial sub-vector space of $H^{1,0}(\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3)$ or $H^{2,0}(\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3)$. Thus $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2) \rangle$ is a family of singular Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds. \Box

Now consider a fiber \mathcal{W}_q , which is a family of curves given by

$$\mathcal{W}_q \to R^2 \to \mathbb{P}^1.$$

Thus

$$\mathcal{W}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3 \to R^2 \to \mathbb{P}^1$$

is a family of surfaces. The singular locus given by 3 copies of C_q does not consist of sections.

 $^{^{2}}$ For a short introduction to such orbifolds and their Hodge theory see [12], Appendix A.3.

Here we do not blow up sections of $W_q \times \mathbb{F}_3 \to \mathbb{P}^1$. Hence here one can not formulate a relative version of the Castelnuovo Theorem as in Proposition 9.1.2. Thus we use complex analytic methods:

9.2.2. Let X be a non-compact complex analytic surface. Note that selfintersection numbers are also defined for compact complex curves on noncompact complex analytic surfaces X. On X one can blow down a compact rational curve with self-intersection number -1 such that one obtains a smooth complex analytic surface. Moreover for the blowing up $\phi : \tilde{X} \to X$ of the point $p \in X$ with exceptional divisor E, one has

$$\omega_{\tilde{X}} = \phi^*(\omega_{\tilde{X}})(E).$$

We have also the adjunction formula for X and \tilde{X} such that $E^2 = -1$. Moreover one has for each compact curve C on X

$$\phi^*(C)^2 = C^2.$$

(see [6], **I**. - **III**.)

Hence we can repeat the procedure of the previous section for small open analytic subsets and glue. We will locally blow down a divisor to a codimension 2 submanifold Z. Note that we have for the complement of Z gluing morphisms, since the blowing down morphism φ yields an obvious isomorphism between the complements of Z and $\varphi^{-1}(Z)$. Hence the gluing of our local blowing down morphisms follows from Hartog's extension theorem and the uniqueness of this extension, which follows from the continuity of holomorphic maps:

Theorem 9.2.3 (Hartog). Assume that U is an open subset of \mathbb{C}^N and f is a holomorphic function on $U \setminus \{u_1 = u_2 = 0\}$. Then f extends to a holomorphic function on U.

Proof. (see [61], Théorème 1.25)

9.2.4. Now consider a fiber $(\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2) \rangle)_q$ of $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2) \rangle$ and its singularities in the complex analytic setting. For the construction of the blowing up of a complex submanifold we refer to [61], 3.3.3. As in [61], 3.3.3 described, one constructs the blowing up over open sets first. The global blowing up is given by gluing the local blowing ups. Here we consider the situation on sufficiently small complex open submanifolds.

The \mathcal{M}_3 -automorphism α acts on y_2 by ξ . On each fiber \mathcal{W}_q the curve \mathcal{C}_q defines the ramification locus of $\mathcal{W}_q \to R^2$, which is fixed by α . A local parameter $p_{\mathcal{C}_q}$ on \mathcal{C}_q yields a local parameter on \mathcal{W}_q fixed by α . By z, we denote a local parameter for the neighborhoods of the ramification points of \mathbb{F}_3 . On a small open subset, which intersects the ramification locus of

$$\varphi_q : (\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3)_q \to (\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3 / \langle (1,2) \rangle)_q$$

one has the three local parameters given by y_2 , $p_{\mathcal{C}_q}$ and z.

By the action of $\langle (1,2) \rangle$ on the local parameters, the singular loci of the family $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2) \rangle$ are locally given by the product of the 4-ball \mathbb{B}_4 with a surface, which has a singularity of the type $A_{3,2}$ (with the notation in [6], **III**. Section 5). Let us blow up the family of fixed curves on $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3$ with respect to $\langle (1,2) \rangle$ and let E_1 denote the exceptional divisor. On each connected component of E_1 one has two disjoint families of fixed curves with respect to the action of $\langle (1,2) \rangle$ again. Again this follows from the consideration of the action of $\langle (1,2) \rangle$ on local parameters of a small open subset. On a fiber the quotient map sends any neighborhood of a point on these latter curves onto the product of the 1-ball \mathbb{B}_1 with a surface with a singularity of the type $A_{3,1}$. Hence let us blow up these latter two families of curves with exceptional divisor E_2 . The canonical divisor of the resulting fibers $(\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3)_q$ is given by

$$K_{(\widetilde{\mathcal{W}\times\mathbb{F}_3})_q} = (\tilde{E}_1)_q + 2(E_2)_q,$$

where quotient map φ by $\langle (1,2) \rangle$ is ramified over E_2 . Thus by the Hurwitz formula, one calculates that

$$\varphi^*(\omega_q) = \mathcal{O}((E_1)_q). \tag{9.1}$$

By 9.2.2 and our blowing up construction, one concludes that E_1 is locally given the product of a rational -3 curve with \mathbb{B}_4 . Thus the divisor $D = \varphi(\tilde{E}_1)$ is covered by open analytic subsets U on $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle (1,2) \rangle$ such that U is of the type $X \times \mathbb{B}_4$, where X is a complex analytic surface containing a -1curve E' and D is given by $E' \times \mathbb{B}_4$. By 9.2.2, we can blow down E'. This yields a local blowing down of D. We have explained that we can glue these blowing down maps. Thus we obtain a family

$$\mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{M}_3$$
.

By (9.1), one concludes easily that the fibers have a trivial canonical bundle. Moreover one sees quite easily that the fibers are Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds.

At present it is not clear to the author that the family $\mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ is algebraic, since we have used analytic methods. Note that this construction is a relative version of a construction by S. Cynk and K. Hulek [13], which yields a result written down in Proposition 10.4.3. Thus the fibers are algebraic.

Note we have blown up copies of the family \mathcal{C} of degree 3 covers. Moreover note that \mathbb{F}_3 has CM and that for all $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$ the fiber \mathcal{W}_q has CM, if the fiber \mathcal{C}_q has CM. Since \mathcal{C} has a dense set of CM fibers, we conclude:

Proposition 9.2.5. The family $\mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ is a (holomorphic) CMCY family of 3-manifolds.

Let us construct an other example: $\alpha\beta$ acts by the character ξ^2 on $\Gamma(\omega_{\mathcal{W}_q})$ for all $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$. Moreover we have a Galois cover $\mathbb{F}_3 \to \mathbb{P}^1$ of degree 3 with a generator $\alpha_{\mathbb{F}_3}$ given by

$$(x:y:z) = (x:y:\xi z),$$

which acts by the character ξ on $\gamma(\omega_{\mathbb{F}_3})$. Hence $\alpha_2 := (\alpha\beta, \alpha_{\mathbb{F}_3})$ leaves $\Gamma(\omega_{\mathcal{W}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3})$ invariant.

The automorphism α_2 fixes a finite number of points on $\mathcal{W}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3$ given by

$$\{z_5 = z_4 = 0\} \times \{z = 0\},\$$

and α_2 fixes in addition the points on the curves given by the fiber product of $\{z = 0\}$ with the exceptional divisor of the blowing up $\mathcal{W}_q \to \mathcal{W}_q$. The latter statement about the exceptional divisor of $\mathcal{W}_q \to \mathcal{W}_q$ follows from the fact that $\alpha\beta$ fixes the generators of the corresponding ideal sheaf of the blowing up and the singular points of \mathcal{W}_q given by

$$(1:-1:0:0:0), (1:-\xi:0:0:0)$$
 and $(1:-\xi^2:0:0:0).$

9.2.6. Now we determine the action of $\alpha\beta$ on the local parameters, whose zero-loci are given by the exceptional divisor $E_{\mathcal{W}_q}$ of $\mathcal{W}_q \to \mathcal{W}_q$. The action of $\alpha\beta$ on $\mathcal{W}_q \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ is given by

$$(z_5: z_4: z_3: z_2: z_1) \to (\xi z_5: \xi z_4: z_3: z_2: z_1) \text{ resp.},$$
$$(z_5: z_4: z_3: z_2: z_1) \to (z_5: z_4: \xi^{-1} z_3: \xi^{-1} z_2: \xi^{-1} z_1).$$

By using the explicit equations for W_q in 8.3.1, one can very easily calculate that $\alpha\beta$ acts by ξ^{-1} on these local parameters.³

Hence the singularities of $\mathcal{W}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle \alpha_2 \rangle$, which result by the exceptional divisor of $\mathcal{W}_q \to \mathcal{W}_q$, are locally given by the product of \mathbb{B}_1 with a singularity of the type $A_{3,2}$.

Now we construct a desingularization of $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\langle \alpha_2 \rangle$, which is a CMCY family of 3-manifolds. Let $E_{\mathcal{W}}$ denote the exceptional divisor of $\mathcal{W} \to \mathcal{W}$. We start with the blowing up of the family of rational curves given by the fiberproduct of $E_{\mathcal{W}}$ with the points on \mathbb{F}_3 fixed by $\alpha_{\mathbb{F}_3}$. This yields the exceptional divisor E_C consisting of 9 rational ruled surfaces. By the same arguments as in 9.2.4, each connected component of E_C contains two families of rational

³ The singular locus of W_q is contained in $W_q \cap \{z_5 = 1\}$. Thus one can calculate the desingularization with the usual equations $z_i t_j = z_j t_i$ for i, j = 1, 2, 3. On $\{t_i = 1\}$ the zero locus of the local parameter z_i yields the exceptional divisor. The local parameter fixed by $\alpha\beta$ can be given by t_1/t_i or t_3/t_i .

curves of fixed points. The blowing up $\widetilde{\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3}$ of these latter families has a quotient

$$\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3/\alpha_2$$

with quotient map given by φ such that on the complement of the isolated sections fixed by φ

$$\varphi^* \omega_q = \mathcal{O}((E_C)_q).$$

9.2.7. Recall that R^1 is a rational ruled surface, where the exceptional divisor E_{R^1} of the blowing up $R^1 \to Q^1$ is a section of $R^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$ (see Remark 8.1.6). A fiber \mathcal{W}_q can be considered as a family

$$\mathcal{W}_a \xrightarrow{f} R^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$$

of curves, where f is constructed in 8.1.12. By 8.3.1 and the projection $\mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^1$, the morphism f extends to a morphism $f: \mathcal{W} \to \mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathcal{M}_3$ such that the exceptional divisor $E_{\mathcal{W}}$ of the blowing up $\mathcal{W} \to \mathcal{W}$ is send to the exceptional divisor $E_{\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathcal{M}_3} = E_{\mathbb{R}^1} \times \mathcal{M}_3$ of the blowing up $\mathbb{R}^1 \times \mathcal{M}_3 \to \mathbb{Q}^1 \times \mathcal{M}_3$. The following commutative diagram describes the situation:



9.2.8. Thus

$$g: \mathcal{W} \xrightarrow{f} R^1 \times \mathcal{M}_3 \to \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathcal{M}_3$$

is a family of curves, which has 3 distinguished sections given by the exceptional divisor $E_{\mathcal{W}}$ of $\mathcal{W} \to \mathcal{W}$. Moreover by the description of $f : \mathcal{W}_q \to R^1$ as degree 3 cover, one can easily see that the fibers of g are given by the Fermat curve of degree 3 or consist of 3 smooth rational curves intersecting each other in exactly one point, which does not lie on $(E_{\mathcal{W}})_q$. Over $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \{\infty\} \times \mathcal{M}_3$ and $\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \{0\} \times \mathcal{M}_3$ one can embed the restricted family into some copy of $\mathbb{P}^2_{\mathbb{A}^1 \times \mathcal{M}_3}$.

Therefore we obtain the family

$$\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3 \to \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathcal{M}_3$$

of surfaces, which has sections given by the fiberproduct of the exceptional divisors of $\mathcal{W} \to \mathcal{W}$ with the points fixed by $\alpha_{\mathbb{F}_3}$, which do not meet any singular point of a fiber. In addition α_2 is a $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathcal{M}_3$ -automorphism of this

family. Hence by the same arguments as in the proof of Proposition 9.1.2, we can blow down $\varphi(\tilde{E}_C)$ over $(\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \{\infty\}) \times \mathcal{M}_3$ and $(\mathbb{P}^1 \setminus \{0\}) \times \mathcal{M}_3$. By gluing, we obtain the family $\hat{\mathcal{Q}}$. Note that the singular fibers of $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3 \to \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathcal{M}_3$ are given by 3 copies of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{F}_3$. Hence by the restriction of the sheaf, which yields the blowing down morphism, to the corresponding copies of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{F}_3 / \langle \alpha_2 \rangle$, one obtains smooth blowing down morphisms on these copies.

Construction 9.2.9. But $\hat{\mathcal{Q}}$ has 18 sections of singular points given by the 18 isolated sections fixed by α_2 on $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3$. Recall that these sections are given by

$$\{z_5 = z_4 = 0\} \times \{z = 0\}.$$

Let $\mathcal{Q} \to \hat{\mathcal{Q}}$ denote the blowing up of the singular sections of $\hat{\mathcal{Q}}$ and

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{W}\times\mathbb{F}_3}\to\widetilde{\mathcal{W}\times\mathbb{F}_3}$$

denote the blowing up of these 18 sections. By the same arguments as in Remark 7.1.2, we obtain the following commutative diagram:



Note that $\tilde{\varphi}$ is a cyclic cover on the complement of \tilde{E}_C . Thus by the Hurwitz formula and the fact that α_2 acts by the character 1 on $\Gamma(\omega_{\mathcal{W}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3})$ for each $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$, one concludes that \mathcal{Q} is a family of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds.

Proposition 9.2.10. The family $\mathcal{Q} \rightarrow \mathcal{M}_3$ is a CMCY family of 3-manifolds.

Proof. Note that on each fiber we blow up some points and several copies of \mathbb{P}^1 , which have CM. Hence by Theorem 7.1.7, we must only apply the facts that \mathbb{F}_3 has CM and \mathcal{W} has a dense set of fibers \mathcal{W}_q such that $\mathrm{Hg}(H^k(\mathcal{W}_q, \mathbb{Q}))$ is commutative for all k. \Box

9.3 The degree 4 case

Consider the CMCY family $\mathcal{C}_2 \to \mathcal{M}_1$ of 2-manifolds given by

$$\mathbb{P}^3 \supset V(y_2^4 + y_1^4 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - \lambda x_0)x_0) \rightarrow \lambda \in \mathcal{M}_1$$

which we have constructed in Section 7.4. In this section we construct quotients of C_2 by cyclic subgroups of its group of \mathcal{M}_1 -automorphisms, which
will be suitable to obtain new CMCY families of 2-manifolds. In the next section we will see that these new examples are endowed with involutions, which make them suitable for the construction of the Borcea-Voisin tower. Hence by the Hurwitz formula and some other obvious reasons, one has:

Claim 9.3.1. Let C be a K3 surface and α be an involution on C, which admits a finite set S of fixed points on C. Then the quotient \tilde{C}/α , where \tilde{C} denotes the blowing up of C with respect to the subvariety given by S, is a K3 surface, too. Moreover \tilde{C}/α has complex multiplication, if C has complex multiplication.

Now we introduce a group \mathbb{G}_4 of \mathcal{M}_1 -automorphisms of the CMCY family $\mathcal{C}_2 \to \mathcal{M}_1$. The elements $g \in \mathbb{G}_4$ can be uniquely written as a product g = abc with $a \in \langle \alpha \rangle, b \in \langle \beta \rangle$, and $c \in \langle \iota_4 \rangle$, where:

$$\alpha(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (iy_2:y_1:x_1:x_0), \ \beta(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (y_2:iy_1:x_1:x_0),$$
$$\iota_4(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (y_1:y_2:x_1:x_0)$$

Therefore the group \mathbb{G}_4 contains exactly 32 elements. The action of \mathbb{G}_4 on the global sections of the canonical sheaves of the fibers induces a surjection of \mathbb{G}_4 onto the multiplicative group of the 4-th. roots of unity.

Its kernel \mathbb{K}_4 is a normal subgroup of order 8. It contains the following automorphisms of order 4:

$$\begin{split} \delta(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (-y_1:y_2:x_1:x_0), \ \ \epsilon(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (iy_2:-iy_1:x_1:x_0), \\ \eta(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (iy_1:iy_2:x_1:x_0) \end{split}$$

One has that

$$\iota_3 = \delta^2 = \epsilon^2 = \eta^2 = (\alpha\beta)^2.$$

Moreover one checks easily that \mathbb{K}_4 is isomorphic to the quaternion group and has the generators δ , ϵ and η . Thus one has

$$\mathbb{K}_4/\langle \iota_3 \rangle = (\mathbb{Z}/2)^2. \tag{9.2}$$

One can easily calculate that

$$\alpha \langle \delta \rangle \alpha^{-1} = \langle \eta \rangle.$$

By the fact that \mathbb{K}_4 has 2 residue classes with respect to $\langle \delta \rangle$ resp., $\langle \epsilon \rangle$ resp., $\langle \eta \rangle$, one concludes that $\langle \delta \rangle$ resp., $\langle \epsilon \rangle$ resp., $\langle \eta \rangle$ is a normal subgroup of \mathbb{K}_4 . Since $[\alpha]_{\mathbb{K}_4}$ generates $\mathbb{G}_4/\mathbb{K}_4$ and

$$\alpha \langle \epsilon \rangle \alpha^{-1} = \langle \epsilon \rangle,$$

 $\langle \epsilon \rangle$ is a normal subgroup of \mathbb{G}_4 .

9.3.2. Recall that ι_3 denotes the involution given by

$$\iota_3(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (-y_2:-y_1:x_1:x_0).$$

Let $C_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$ be the *CMCY* family of 2-manifolds given by the quotient $\tilde{C}_2/\langle \iota_3 \rangle$, where \tilde{C}_2 denotes the blowing up of C_2 with respect to the 8 sections fixed by ι_3 . Four sections fixed by ι_3 are given by $(1 : \zeta : 0 : 0)$, where ζ runs through the primitive 8-th. roots of unity. The other 4 sections are given by

 $(0:0:0:1), (0:0:1:1), (0:0:\lambda:1)$ and (0:0:1:0).

Since the generators α , β and ι_4 of \mathbb{G}_4 leave the ideal sheaf corresponding to these 8 sections invariant, all automorphisms of \mathbb{G}_4 induce automorphisms on $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_2$. Note that ι_3 commutes with each $\tau \in \mathbb{G}_4$. For each $\tau \in \mathbb{G}_4$ one finds open affine subsets invariant under $\langle \tau, \iota_3 \rangle$. On these affine sets the global sections of the structure sheaf invariant under $\langle \tau, \iota_3 \rangle$ are contained in $\mathcal{O}^{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$, where τ leaves $\mathcal{O}^{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$ invariant. Therefore τ induces an automorphism on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$. One checks easily that δ , η and ϵ yield involutions on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$ leaving only finitely many sections fixed. Thus by using Claim 9.3.1, these involutions yield the CMCY families of 2-manifolds

$$\mathcal{C}_{\langle \delta \rangle} \cong \mathcal{C}_{\alpha \langle \delta \rangle \alpha^{-1}} = \mathcal{C}_{\langle \eta \rangle} \text{ and } \mathcal{C}_{\langle \epsilon \rangle}.$$

9.4 Involutions on the quotients of the degree 4 example

In Section 7.4 we introduced several \mathcal{M}_1 -involutions ι_1, \ldots, ι_7 of \mathcal{C}_2 . We have seen that ι_3 acts by the character 1 on the global sections of the canonical sheaves of the fibers. Moreover $\iota_1, \iota_2, \iota_4, \ldots, \iota_7$ act by the character -1 on the global sections of the canonical sheaves of the fibers. Here we show that each for each $i = 1, 2, 4, \ldots, 7$ the involution ι_i induces \mathcal{M}_1 -involutions on the quotient families of 9.3.2, which make them suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

Remark 9.4.1. One can use Example 7.4.3, Example 7.4.4 and Example 7.4.5 and determine some explicitly given CM fibers of the new quotient families. By using the method of C. Voisin [60], these new K3 surfaces with complex multiplication and our explicit examples of elliptic curves with complex multiplication yield new Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with complex multiplication

We fix some new notation. Let C_2 be an arbitrary fiber of C_2 , $p \in C_2$, where p is not fixed by ι_3 , and F_i denote the curve of fixed points on C_2 with respect to ι_i for all i = 1, 2, 4, ..., 7. **9.4.2.** The involutions ι_1 and ι_2 induce the same involution on $C_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$. One has that $\iota_1([p]_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}) = [p]_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$, if and only if $p \in F_1 \cup F_2$. The involution ι_3 induces an involution on the curve F_1 and on the curve F_2 . Each of the covers induced by these involutions has 4 ramification points. Hence by the Hurwitz formula, ι_1 induces an involution on $C_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$, which has a divisor of fixed points containing two families of elliptic curves. By [60], 1.1, the ramification divisor of our involution on a fiber of $C_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$ has at most one irreducible component of genus g > 0 or consists of two elliptic curves. Thus it consists of two elliptic curves. It is quite easy to check that by this involution ι_1 , the family $C_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$ is suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

9.4.3. The involutions ι_4 and ι_6 induce the same involution on $C_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$. One has that $\iota_4([p]_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}) = [p]_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$, if and only if $p \in F_4 \cup F_6$. The involution ι_3 induces an involution on the curve F_4 and on the curve F_6 . Each of the covers induced by these involutions have 4 ramification points. Hence by the same arguments as in 9.4.2, the involution ι_4 induces an involution on $C_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$, which has a divisor of fixed points consisting of two families of elliptic curves. It is quite easy to check that by this involution ι_1 , the family $C_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$ is suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

Since $\alpha \iota_4 \alpha^{-1} = \iota_5$ and $\alpha \iota_6 \alpha^{-1} = \iota_7$, the involutions ι_5 and ι_7 induce up isomorphisms the same involution as ι_4 and ι_6 on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$.

Recall the \mathcal{M}_1 -automorphisms

$$\delta(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (-y_1:y_2:x_1:x_0), \ \epsilon(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (iy_2:-iy_1:x_1:x_0)$$

of \mathcal{C}_2 of order 4.

Remark 9.4.4. Now we consider the quotient families $C_{\langle \delta \rangle}$ and $C_{\langle \epsilon \rangle}$ in 9.3.2. Moreover one has that δ and ϵ act as involutions on the 4 sections given by $(1 : \zeta : 0 : 0)$, where ζ runs through the primitive 8-th. roots of unity, and leave the sections given by

 $(0:0:0:1), (0:0:1:1), (0:0:\lambda:1), (0:0:1:0)$

invariant.

One can easily verify there does not exist a point $p \in C_2$ on the complement of these eight sections such that $\delta(p) = \iota_3(p)$ or $\epsilon(p) = \iota_3(p)$.

Therefore either p is contained in one of the 8 sections fixed by ι_3 or $\langle \delta \rangle \cdot p$ and $\langle \epsilon \rangle \cdot p$ contain 4 different elements. For our notation we will assume that p is not fixed by ι_3 as above.

9.4.5. The involutions ι_1 and ι_2 commute with ϵ . Thus the same holds true with respect to the involutions on $C_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$ induced by ι_1 , ι_2 and ϵ . Hence one concludes that ι_1 and ι_2 induce an involution an $C_{\langle \epsilon \rangle}$. Since ι_1 and ι_2 induce the same involution on $C_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$, the involutions ι_1 and ι_2 induce the same involution on $C_{\langle \epsilon \rangle}$.

A point [p] on the fiber $C_{\langle \epsilon \rangle}$ of $C_{\langle \epsilon \rangle}$ is fixed by ι_1 , if $\iota_1(p) = \epsilon^i(p)$ for $i = 0, \ldots, 3$. This is exactly satisfied on F_1 and F_2 for i = 0 or i = 2. The automorphism ϵ yields a quotient of F_1 resp., F_2 of degree 4 fully ramified over 4 points. Hence by the Hurwitz formula, $F_1/\langle \epsilon \rangle$ and $F_2/\langle \epsilon \rangle$ are rational curves.

By the definitions of ι_1 and ϵ , one checks easily that their actions coincide on the exceptional divisor on $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_2$ over the four sections given by $V(y_2, y_1)$. Moreover by the definitions of ι_1 and ϵ , one checks easily that for each primitive 8-th. root ζ of unity

$$\iota_1(1:\zeta:0:0) = \epsilon(1:\zeta:0:0) = (1:-\zeta:0:0).$$

Both \mathcal{M}_1 -automorphisms fix the local parameters x_1 and x_0 .

Thus altogether the involution ι_1 induces an involution on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \epsilon \rangle}$, which has a divisor of fixed points consisting of 8 disjoint families of rational curves. It is quite easy to check that $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \epsilon \rangle}$ is suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower by this involution.

9.4.6. The involutions ι_4, \ldots, ι_7 do not commute with ϵ . But one has $\epsilon \iota_i = \iota_i \epsilon^3$ for all $i = 4, \ldots, 7$. Hence ι_i $(i = 4, \ldots, 7)$ induces an involution on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$. Since $\iota_5 = \epsilon \iota_4$, $\iota_6 = \epsilon^2 \iota_4$ and $\iota_7 = \epsilon^3 \iota_4$, these involutions induce the same involution on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \epsilon \rangle}$.

A point $[p] \in C_{\langle \epsilon \rangle}$ is invariant under ι_4 , if $\iota_4(p) = \epsilon^i(p)$ for $i = 0, \ldots, 3$. One has that $\iota_4(p) = (p)$ on F_4 , $\iota_4(p) = \epsilon^1(p)$ on F_7 , $\iota_4(p) = \epsilon^2(p)$ on F_6 and $\iota_4(p) = \epsilon^3(p)$ on F_5 . Note that $\epsilon(F_4) = F_6$, $\epsilon(F_6) = F_4$, $\epsilon^2(F_4) = F_4$ and $\epsilon^2(F_6) = F_6$. Moreover one has $\epsilon(F_5) = F_7$, $\epsilon(F_7) = F_7$, $\epsilon^2(F_5) = F_5$ and $\epsilon^2(F_5) = F_5$. The automorphism $\epsilon^2 = \iota_3$ yields a quotient of F_4 , F_5 , F_6 resp., F_7 of degree 2 ramified over 4 points, where F_4 and F_6 resp., F_5 and F_7 are mapped onto the same quotient by ϵ . Hence by the Hurwitz formula, the quotient consists of two families of elliptic curves.

By [60], 1.1, the ramification divisor of our involution on $C_{\langle\epsilon\rangle}$ has at most one irreducible component of genus g > 0 or consists of two elliptic curves. Thus ι_4 induces an involution on $C_{\langle\epsilon\rangle}$, which has a divisor of fixed points consisting of 2 families of elliptic curves. It is quite easy to check that this involution makes $C_{\langle\epsilon\rangle}$ suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

9.4.7. The involutions ι_4 and ι_6 do not commute with δ . But one has $\delta \iota_4 = \iota_4 \delta^3$ and $\delta \iota_6 = \iota_6 \delta^3$. Moreover one has

$$\iota_1 = \delta \circ \iota_4, \ \iota_6 = \delta^2 \circ \iota_4, \text{ and } \iota_2 = \delta^3 \circ \iota_4.$$

Hence ι_1 , ι_2 , ι_4 and ι_6 induce the same involution on $\mathcal{C}_{<\delta>}$.

A point $[p] \in C_{\langle \delta \rangle}$ is invariant under ι_4 , if $\iota_4(p) = \delta^i(p)$. This occurs, if and only if

$$p \in F_1 \cup F_2 \cup F_4 \cup F_6.$$

Note that $\delta(F_4) = F_6$ and $\delta(F_1) = F_2$. Moreover δ yields a degree 4 quotient of $F_4 \cup F_6$, and a degree 4 quotient of $F_1 \cup F_2$. Thus the divisor of fixed points contains two families of elliptic curves.

By the same arguments as in 9.4.6, the involution ι_4 induces an involution on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle\delta\rangle}$, which has a divisor of fixed points consisting of 2 families of elliptic curves and makes $\mathcal{C}_{\langle\delta\rangle}$ suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

9.4.8. The involution ι_5 commutes with δ . One has that $p = \iota_5(p)$, if $p \in F_5$ and $\delta^2(p) = \iota_5(p)$, if $p \in F_7$. Note that δ acts as degree 4 automorphism on F_5 resp., F_7 . Each of the corresponding quotient maps is fully ramified over 4 points. By the same arguments as in 9.4.5, the \mathcal{M}_1 -automorphisms ι_5 and δ act in the same way on the exceptional divisor of $\tilde{\mathcal{C}}_2$. Thus ι_5 induces an involution on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \delta \rangle}$, which fixes a divisor consisting of 8 families of rational curves. Moreover it is quite easy to check that this involution makes $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \delta \rangle}$ suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

9.4.9. Since $\alpha \iota_1 \alpha^{-1} = \iota_1$ and $\alpha \delta \alpha^{-1} = \eta$, one concludes that the involution induced by ι_1 on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \eta \rangle}$ coincides up to an isomorphism with the involution induced by ι_1 on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \delta \rangle}$.

Since $\alpha \iota_5 \alpha^{-1} \stackrel{(\circ)}{=} \iota_6$ and $\alpha \delta \alpha^{-1} = \eta$, one concludes that the involution induced by ι_6 on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \eta \rangle}$ coincides up to an isomorphism with the involution induced by ι_5 on $\mathcal{C}_{\langle \delta \rangle}$.

9.5 The extended automorphism group of the degree 4 example

The group \mathbb{G}_4 of \mathcal{M}_1 -automorphisms of \mathcal{C}_2 does not contain all \mathcal{M}_1 automorphisms of \mathcal{C}_2 . In this section we give an additional group \mathbb{E}_4 of \mathcal{M}_1 -automorphisms such that \mathbb{G}_4 and \mathbb{E}_4 generate an extended \mathcal{M}_1 automorphism group $\overline{\mathbb{G}}_4$. Moreover we will make some remarks about $\overline{\mathbb{G}}_4$ and \mathbb{E}_4 .

We obtain due to [28], Proposition 9 and the notations of [28], Section 2:

Proposition 9.5.1. The family C_2 has a group \mathbb{E}_4 of \mathcal{M}_1 -automorphisms consisting of 16 different automorphisms given by $(\alpha\beta)^{\nu}$ with $\nu = 0, \ldots, 3$ and:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_{\zeta}(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) &= (\zeta y_2:\zeta y_1:x_1 - \lambda x_0:x_1 - x_0), \quad \zeta^4 = (1-\lambda)^2 \\ \beta_{\zeta}(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) &= (\zeta y_2:\zeta y_1:x_1 - x_0:\frac{1}{\lambda}x_1 - x_0), \quad \zeta^4 = (1-\frac{1}{\lambda})^2 \\ \gamma_{\kappa}(y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) &= (\kappa y_2:\kappa y_1:\lambda x_0:x_1), \quad \kappa^4 = \lambda^2 \end{aligned}$$

The involutions of \mathbb{E}_4 are given by $(\alpha\beta)^{\nu}$, α_{ζ} , β_{ς} and γ_{κ} for $\nu = 2$, $\zeta^2 = 1 - \lambda$, $\zeta^2 = 1 - \frac{1}{\lambda}$ and $\kappa^2 = \lambda$. The group \mathbb{E}_4 has a subgroup isomorphic to the

quaternion group given by $(\alpha\beta)^{\nu}$, α_{ζ} , β_{ς} and γ_{κ} for $\nu = 0, 2, \ \zeta^2 = -1 + \lambda$, $\varsigma^2 = -1 + \frac{1}{\lambda}$ and $\kappa^2 = -\lambda$.

One can ask for the character of the action of the involutions of \mathbb{E}_4 on $\Gamma(\omega_{(\mathcal{C}_2)_q})$ for each $q \in \mathcal{M}_1$ and the possibilities to use these involutions for the construction of Borcea-Voisin towers. For example one has:

Example 9.5.2. One checks easily that $\gamma_{\sqrt{\lambda}}$ resp., $\gamma_{-\sqrt{\lambda}}$ fixes the family curves on C_2 given by

$$x_1 = \sqrt{\lambda} x_0$$
 resp., $x_1 = -\sqrt{\lambda} x_0$.

This family of curves is isomorphic to the constant family with universal fiber given by the Fermat curve \mathbb{F}_4 of degree 4, which has the genus 3. Thus it acts by the character -1 on $\Gamma(\omega_{(\mathcal{C}_2)_q})$ for each $q \in \mathcal{M}_1$. Since \mathbb{F}_4 has complex multiplication, $\gamma_{\sqrt{\lambda}}$ and $\gamma_{-\sqrt{\lambda}}$ make \mathcal{C}_2 suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

The following claim implies that $\gamma_{\sqrt{\lambda}}$ and $\gamma_{-\sqrt{\lambda}}$ yield isomorphic families by the Borcea-Voisin tower:

Claim 9.5.3. One can conjugate $\gamma_{\sqrt{\lambda}}$ and $\gamma_{-\sqrt{\lambda}}$ in \mathbb{E}_4 .

Proof. There exists some g of order 4 contained in the quaternion subgroup of \mathbb{E}_4 such that

$$\gamma_{\sqrt{\lambda}} = (\alpha\beta)g \ \, \text{and} \ \, \gamma_{-\sqrt{\lambda}} = (\alpha\beta)^3g = (\alpha\beta)(\alpha\beta)^2g = (\alpha\beta)g^{-1}.$$

It is a well-known fact that there is a g_2 contained in the quaternion group such that

$$g^{-1} = g_2 \circ g \circ g_2^{-1}$$

Since $(\alpha\beta)$ is contained in the center of \mathbb{E}_4 , one obtains the result.

Finally the question for isomorphy between C_2/ι_1 and C_2/ι_4 resp., the corresponding CMCY families of 3-manifolds constructed by the method of C. Voisin [60] remains open, since we have:

Remark 9.5.4. By the description of \mathbb{E}_4 in Proposition 9.5.1, one checks easily that the generators α, β, ι_4 of \mathbb{G}_4 commute with each element of \mathbb{E}_4 . Hence each element of $\overline{\mathbb{G}}_4$, which is the group generated by \mathbb{G}_4 and \mathbb{E}_4 , can be written as $\kappa \tau$ with $\kappa \in \mathbb{E}_4$ and $\tau \in \mathbb{G}_4$. Thus for each $\sigma \in \mathbb{G}_4$ one obtains

$$(\kappa\tau)^{-1}\sigma(\kappa\tau) = \tau^{-1}\sigma\tau. \tag{9.3}$$

Hence the fact that ι_1 and ι_4 are not conjugate in \mathbb{G}_4 implies that ι_1 and ι_4 are not conjugate in $\overline{\mathbb{G}}_4$.

Moreover (9.3) implies that $\gamma_{\sqrt{\lambda}}$ is not conjugate to ι_1 or ι_4 in $\overline{\mathbb{G}}_4$.

Remark 9.5.5. One may search for additional involutions in \mathbb{G}_4 and try to determine the character of the actions of all involutions on $\Gamma(\omega_{(\mathcal{C}_2)_q})$ for each $q \in \mathcal{M}_1$. In addition one can try to determine the involutions, which are suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower and try to repeat the construction of the preceding section for arbitrary induced involutions on suitable quotients by cyclic subgroups of $\overline{\mathbb{G}}_4$.

9.6 The automorphism group of the degree 5 example by Viehweg and Zuo

We consider the CMCY family \mathcal{F}_3

$$\mathbb{P}^4 \supset V(y_3^5 + y_2^5 + y_1^5 + x_1(x_1 - x_0)(x_1 - a_1x_0)(x_1 - a_2x_0)x_0) \to (a_1, a_2) \in \mathcal{M}_2$$

of 3-manifolds constructed by E. Viehweg and K. Zuo. Let ξ denote a fixed primitive 5-th. root of unity. We introduce an \mathcal{M}_2 -automorphism group \mathbb{G}_5 of the family $\mathcal{F}_3 \to \mathcal{M}_2$. The elements $g \in \mathbb{G}_5$ can be uniquely written as a product g = abcd with $a \in \langle \alpha \rangle, b \in \langle \beta \rangle, c \in \langle \gamma \rangle$ and $d \in S_3$, where:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(y_3:y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) &= (\xi y_3:y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0),\\ \beta(y_3:y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) &= (y_3:\xi y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0),\\ \gamma(y_3:y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) &= (y_3:y_2:\xi y_1:x_1:x_0),\\ d(y_3:y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) &= (y_{d(3)}:y_{d(2)}:y_{d(1)}:x_1:x_0) \end{aligned}$$

Therefore the group \mathbb{G}_5 contains exactly $5 \cdot 5 \cdot 5 \cdot 6 = 750$ elements. The action of \mathbb{G}_5 on the global sections of the canonical sheaves of the fibers induces a surjection of \mathbb{G}_5 onto the multiplicative group of the 10-th. roots of unity.⁴

Its kernel \mathbb{K}_5 is a normal subgroup of order 75. It contains the subgroup $\langle \alpha \beta^{-1}, \beta \gamma^{-1} \rangle$ of automorphisms of order 5. This group has 25 elements. Moreover it contains the cyclic group given by the permutations of A_3 of order 3. Therefore all elements of \mathbb{K}_5 are determined.

9.6.1. Let us consider all cyclic groups $\langle g \rangle \subset \mathbb{K}_5$ with $g = abc \neq e$ as above. If a = e or b = e or c = e, the group $\langle g \rangle$ is given by $\langle \alpha \beta^{-1} \rangle$, $\langle \beta \gamma^{-1} \rangle$ or $\langle \alpha \gamma^{-1} \rangle$. These groups are conjugate by $(1, 2), (1, 3), (2, 3) \in S_3$.

Now consider the cyclic group $\langle g \rangle \subset \mathbb{K}_5$ with g = abc and $a, b, c \neq e$. One has that $\langle g \rangle$ contains an element $\alpha \beta^b \gamma^{4-b}$ with $b \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. Hence by $e \in S_3$ or $(2,3) \in S_3$, it is conjugate to $\langle \alpha \beta \gamma^3 \rangle$ or $\langle \alpha \beta^2 \gamma^2 \rangle$. By the cycle $(1,3) \in S_3$, these both groups are conjugate. By the fact that $\langle \alpha \beta \gamma^3 \rangle$ leaves only finitely

⁴ Note that S_3 is generated by the involutions given by the cycles (1, 2) and (2, 3), which act by the character -1 on the global sections of the canonical sheaves of the fibers.

many points invariant on each fiber, but $\langle \alpha \beta^{-1} \rangle$ leaves a curve invariant on each fiber, both groups can not be conjugate.

Therefore we have two conjugacy classes of cyclic subgroups $\langle g \rangle \subset \mathbb{K}_5$ with $g = abc \neq e$ represented by $\langle \alpha \beta^{-1} \rangle$ and $\langle \alpha \beta \gamma^3 \rangle$.

Claim 9.6.2. Any automorphism $\tau \in \mathbb{K}_5$, which is not given by

$$\tau(y_3:y_2:y_1:x_1:x_0) = (\xi^s y_3:\xi^t y_2:\xi^{5-s-t} y_1:x_1:x_0)$$

for some $s, t \in \mathbb{Z}$, satisfies $\tau^3 = id$.

Proof. If τ satisfies the assumptions of the Claim, then τ or τ^{-1} is given by

$$(y_3: y_2: y_1: x_1: x_0) \to (\xi^s y_1: \xi^t y_3: \xi^{5-s-t} y_2: x_1: x_0)$$
 (9.4)

for some $s, t \in \mathbb{Z}$. Hence we assume without loss of generality that τ is given by (9.4) and verify the statement by calculation:

$$\tau^{3}(y_{3}:y_{2}:y_{1}:x_{1}:x_{0}) = \tau^{2}(\xi^{s}y_{1}:\xi^{t}y_{3}:\xi^{-s-t}y_{2}:x_{1}:x_{0})$$
$$= \tau(\xi^{-t}y_{2}:\xi^{s+t}y_{1}:\xi^{-s}y_{3}:x_{1}:x_{0}) = (y_{3}:y_{2}:y_{1}:x_{1}:x_{0})$$

For each τ as in (9.4) one can easily calculate that $\alpha^{-s}\beta^{-s-t} \circ \tau \circ \alpha^s\beta^{s+t}$ is given by

$$(y_3: y_2: y_1: x_1: x_0) \to (y_1: y_3: y_2: x_1: x_0)$$

Therefore all cyclic subgroups of \mathbb{K}_5 are up to conjugation determined. Hence:

Proposition 9.6.3. The family \mathcal{F}_3 has up to isomorphisms the following quotient families of Calabi-Yau orbifolds with dense sets of CM fibers:

$$\mathcal{F}_3/\langle \alpha \beta^4 \rangle, \quad \mathcal{F}_3/\langle \alpha \beta \gamma^3 \rangle, \quad \mathcal{F}_3/\langle (1,2,3) \rangle$$

Proof. The existence of dense sets of CM fibers follows, since the VHS of a quotient family of \mathcal{F}_3 is a sub-VHS of \mathcal{F}_3 .

Chapter 10 Examples of *CMCY* families of 3-manifolds and their invariants

In this chapter we collect all examples of CMCY-families from the previous chapters, determine the *length* of their Yukawa couplings and compute the Hodge numbers of their fibers. In Section 10.4 we will also give an outlook to the possible construction methods of Calabi-Yau manifolds by using other Calabi-Yau manifolds in lower dimensions and cyclic automorphism groups. We recall the definition of the *length* of the Yukawa coupling and its computation methods in Section 10.1. Since there are equations for the Hodge numbers of the Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds obtained from the Borcea-Voisin method, we only need to list them in Section 10.2. In Section 10.3 we need to calculate a little bit to get the Hodge numbers of Calabi-yau 3-manifolds obtained from K3 surfaces with a degree 3 automorphism and Fermat curve of degree 3.

10.1 The *length* of the Yukawa coupling

First let us construct the Yukawa coupling. A little bit later in this short section we will give a motivation to consider it and describe how to calculate its *length* for our examples of CMCY families of 3-manifolds. For this section we refer [57], [58] and [59].

Construction 10.1.1. Assume that U is a quasi projective variety and \mathcal{V} is a complex polarized variation of Hodge structures of weight n on U. It is a well-known fact that there exists a suitable finite cover of U such that the pullback of \mathcal{V} has local unipotent monodromy. We replace U by this finite cover. There exists a smooth projective compactification Y of U such that $S := Y \setminus U$ is a normal crossing divisor. Then one can construct the Deligne extension \mathcal{H} of $\mathcal{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_U$ (i.e., the unique extension such that the Gauß-Manin connection yields the structure of a logarithmic Higgs bundle (F, θ) on the associated graded bundle and the real components of eigenvalues of the residues are contained in [0, 1)). The graduation gives a decomposition of

F into locally free sheaves $E^{p,n-p}$ and the Gauß-Manin connection induces an $\mathcal{O}_Y\text{-linear morphism}$

$$E^{p,n-p} \to E^{n-1,n-p+1} \otimes \Omega^1_V(\log S),$$

called Higgs field. The Yukawa coupling θ_i (for $i \leq n$) is defined by the composition

$$\theta_i: E^{n,0} \xrightarrow{\theta_{n,0}} E^{n-1,1} \otimes \Omega^1_Y(\log S) \xrightarrow{\theta_{n-1,1}} E^{n-2,2} \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^2 \Omega^1_Y(\log S) \xrightarrow{\theta_{n-2,2}} \dots$$
$$\xrightarrow{\theta_{n-i+1,i-1}} E^{n-i,i} \otimes \operatorname{Sym}^i \Omega^1_Y(\log S).$$

Definition 10.1.2. Let $f: V \to U$ be a family with fibers of dimension n as in Construction 10.1.1. The length $\zeta(f)$ of the Yukawa coupling is given by

 $\zeta(f) := \min\{i \ge 1; \theta_i = 0\} - 1.$

We say that the Yukawa coupling has maximal length, if $\zeta(f) = n$.

The family $f: V \to U$ is rigid, if there does not exist a non-trivial deformation of f over a nonsingular quasi-projective curve T.

The following proposition yields our motivation to consider the *length* of the Yukawa coupling:

Proposition 10.1.3. If the Yukawa coupling has maximal length, the family is rigid.

Proof. (see [57], Section 8)

The statements of the following lemma, which allow the computation of *length* of the Yukawa couplings of our examples of CMCY families of 3-manifolds by their construction, are well-known:

Lemma 10.1.4. For two variations of Hodge structures V and W on a holomorphic manifold one has

$$\zeta(\mathbb{V}\otimes\mathbb{W})=\zeta(\mathbb{V})+\zeta(\mathbb{W}) \quad and \quad \zeta(\mathbb{V}\oplus\mathbb{W})=\max\{\zeta(\mathbb{V}),\zeta(\mathbb{W})\}.$$

10.2 Examples obtained by degree 2 quotients

Let $Z_1 \to \mathcal{M}$ be one of the examples of a *CMCY* family of 2-manifolds, which we have constructed in the preceding chapters, with a suitable involution ι such that it satisfies the assumptions for Z_1 in the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower. Here we list all examples of *CMCY* families Z_2 of 3-manifolds obtained by the Borcea-Voisin tower starting with such a family

 \mathcal{Z}_1 and Σ_2 given by the family $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{M}_1$ of elliptic curves endowed with its natural involution. By the definition of Calabi-Yau manifolds, Serre duality and Hodge symmetry, all Hodge numbers of the fibers of the resulting CMCY family \mathcal{Z}_2 of 3-manifolds are determined by $h^{1,1}$ and $h^{2,1}$.

Claim 10.2.1. Keep the assumptions above. Let $(\mathcal{Z}_1)_p \to (\mathcal{Z}_1)_p / \iota$ be ramified over N curves with genus g_1, \ldots, g_N for all $p \in \mathcal{M}$. Then the fibers of \mathcal{Z}_2 have the Hodge numbers

$$h^{1,1} = 11 + 5N - N'$$
 and $h^{2,1} = 11 + 5N' - N$, where $N' = \sum g_i$.

Proof. (see [60], Corollaire 1.8)

Hence for our examples of CMCY families of 3-manifolds obtained by using the Borcea-Voisin tower and CMCY families of 2-manifolds with suitable involutions, we have the following table:

family \mathcal{Z}_1	basis \mathcal{M}	involution ι	N	N'	$h^{1,1}$	$h^{2,1}$	ζ	reference
C_2	\mathcal{M}_1	ι_1	1	3	13	25	2	7.4.8
\mathcal{C}_2	\mathcal{M}_1	ι_4	1	3	13	25	2	7.4.8
\mathcal{C}_2	\mathcal{M}_1	$\gamma_{\sqrt{\lambda}}, \gamma_{\sqrt{-\lambda}}$	1	3	13	25	2	9.5.2
$\mathcal{C}_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$	\mathcal{M}_1	ι_1	2	2	19	19	2	9.4.2
$\mathcal{C}_{\langle \iota_3 \rangle}$	\mathcal{M}_1	ι_4	2	2	19	19	2	9.4.3
$\mathcal{C}_{\langle\epsilon\rangle}$	\mathcal{M}_1	ι_1	8	0	51	3	2	9.4.5
$\mathcal{C}_{\langle\epsilon\rangle}$	\mathcal{M}_1	ι_4	2	2	19	19	2	9.4.6
$\mathcal{C}_{\langle \delta \rangle}$	\mathcal{M}_1	$\iota_1 = \iota_4$	2	2	19	19	2	9.4.7
$\mathcal{C}_{\langle \delta \rangle}$	\mathcal{M}_1	ι_5	8	0	51	3	2	9.4.8
W	\mathcal{M}_3	γ	2	4	17	29	2	8.3.4, 8.3.5
\mathcal{Y}	\mathcal{M}_3	γ	2	4	17	29	2	9.1.3, 9.1.4

10.3 Examples obtained by degree 3 quotients

In this section we determine the Hodge numbers of the CMCY family \mathcal{Q} of 3-manifolds obtained by Proposition 9.2.10 and the Hodge numbers of the CMCY family \mathcal{R} of 3-manifolds obtained by Proposition 9.2.5.

Remark 10.3.1. In the case of the *CMCY* families Q and \mathcal{R} one has $\zeta = 1$ for the *length* of the Yukawa coupling as one concludes by their constructions and using Lemma 10.1.4.

Let X be a complex manifold and γ an automorphism of X of order m. Then $H^k(X, \mathbb{C})_\ell$ denotes the eigenspace of $H^k(X, \mathbb{C})$, on which γ acts via

pullback by the character $e^{2\pi i \frac{\ell}{m}}$. For the computation of the Hodge numbers of the fibers of \mathcal{Q} and \mathcal{R} we will need the following proposition:

Proposition 10.3.2. Let X be a Kähler manifold of dimension 3. Moreover let φ be an automorphism of X fixing a finite set of some isolated points Z_0 and a finite set Z_1 of disjoint curves such that $\varphi^m = \text{id for some } m \in \mathbb{N}$. Then one has the following eigenspaces:

$$H^{2}(\tilde{X}_{Z_{1}\cup Z_{0}}, \mathbb{Z})_{0} \cong H^{2}(X, \mathbb{Z})_{0} \oplus H^{0}(Z_{1}, \mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^{0}(Z_{0}, \mathbb{Z}),$$
$$H^{3}(\tilde{X}_{Z_{1}\cup Z_{0}}, \mathbb{Z})_{0} \cong H^{3}(X, \mathbb{Z})_{0} \oplus H^{1}(Z_{1}, \mathbb{Z})$$

Proof. Let Y be a Kähler manifold and Z be a submanifold of codimension r. Then the Hodge structure of the blowing up \tilde{Y}_Z along Z is given by

$$H^{k}(Y,Z) \oplus \bigoplus_{i=0}^{r-2} H^{k-2i-2}(Z,\mathbb{Z}) \cong H^{k}(\tilde{Y}_{Z},\mathbb{Z}),$$

where $H^{k-2i-2}(Z,\mathbb{Z})$ shifted by (i+1,i+1) in bi-degree (see [61], Théorème 7.31).

Thus one has:

$$H^{2}(\tilde{X}_{Z_{1}\cup Z_{0}},\mathbb{Z}) \cong H^{2}(X,\mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^{0}(Z_{1},\mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^{0}(Z_{0},\mathbb{Z}),$$
$$H^{3}(\tilde{X}_{Z_{1}\cup Z_{0}},\mathbb{Z}) \cong H^{3}(X,\mathbb{Z}) \oplus H^{1}(Z_{1},\mathbb{Z})$$

Hence it remains to show that $H^0(Z_1, \mathbb{Z})$, $H^0(Z_0, \mathbb{Z})$ and $H^1(Z_1, \mathbb{Z})$ are invariant as sub-Hodge structures by φ . Therefore one considers the proof of [61], Théorème 7.31. These sub-Hodge structures are given by the image of $j_* \circ (\pi|_{Z_1 \cup Z_0})^* (H^0(Z_1 \cup Z_0, \mathbb{Z}))$ and $j_* \circ (\pi|_{Z_1 \cup Z_0})^* (H^1(Z_1 \cup Z_0, \mathbb{Z}))$, where j denotes the embedding of the exceptional divisor E of the blowing up morphism $\pi : \tilde{X}_{Z_1 \cup Z_0} \to X$.¹ One has the following commutative diagram:



¹ In general one has $\bigoplus_{i=0}^{r-2} j_* \circ h^i \circ (\pi|_{Z_1 \cup Z_0})^*$ instead of $j_* \circ (\pi|_{Z_1 \cup Z_0})^*$ for $i = 0, \ldots, r-2$ in [61], Théorème 7.31, where h denotes the cup-product with $c_1(\mathcal{O}_E(1))$ and the sheaf $\mathcal{O}_E(1)$ of the projective bundle E is described in [61], Subsection 3.3.2. But here the weight of the Hodge structures is to small for i > 0.

Since φ acts as the identity on $Z_1 \cup Z_0$, the same holds true for the Hodge structures on $Z_1 \cup Z_0$. Hence by the commutative diagram, the same holds true for the sub-Hodge structures on \tilde{X} given by $j_* \circ (\pi|_{Z_1 \cup Z_0})^*$.

Proposition 10.3.3. For all $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$ the action of the cyclic group $\langle \alpha \beta \rangle$ on \mathcal{W} yields an eigenspace decomposition of $H^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)$ of the dimensions

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_0 = 14, \quad h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = 3, \quad h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 = 3.$$

Proof. Let $\tilde{\mathcal{W}} \to \mathcal{W}$ be the blowing up of the six sections fixed by $\alpha\beta$. By the same arguments as in the proof of the preceding proposition, each fiber $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_q$ has the Hodge numbers

$$h^{2,0} = 1, h^{1,1} = 26, h^{0,2} = 1.$$

Let $M := \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_q / \langle \alpha \beta \rangle$. Now we consider the quotient morphism $\varphi : \tilde{\mathcal{W}}_q \to M$. By the Hurwitz formula, one concludes that

$$\varphi^*(K_M) = -2E - E^{(2)},$$

where E is the exceptional divisor of $\mathcal{W}_q \to \mathcal{W}_q$ given by three -2 curves and $E^{(2)}$ is the exceptional divisor of $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_q \to \mathcal{W}_q$. From [61], Proposition 21.14, we have that $3 \cdot K_M^2 = (\varphi^*(K_M))^2$. Since

$$(\varphi^*(K_M))^2 = (-2E - E^{(2)})^2 = 4 \cdot (-6) - 6 = -30$$

and $c_1(M)^2 = K_M^2$ (see [26], Appendix A, Example 4.1.2), one obtains

$$c_1(M)^2 = K_M^2 = -10.$$

By the Noether formula (compare to [26], Appendix A, Example 4.1.2 and [61], Remarque 23.6), one has

$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_M) = \frac{1}{12}(c_1(M)^2 + c_2(M))$$
 with $c_2(M) - 2 = b_2(M)$

in our case. From the fact that $\chi(\mathcal{O}_M) = 1$, one calculates that

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_0 = b_2(M) = 20.$$

By the fact that the blowing up morphism $\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_q \to \mathcal{W}_q$ has an exceptional divisor consisting of 6 rational curves, we conclude similar to Proposition 10.3.2 that

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_0 = h^{1,1}(\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_q)_0 - 6 = 20 - 6 = 14.$$

Since the K3 surface \mathcal{W}_q has the Hodge number

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q) = 20$$
 and $h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2$,

one concludes that

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 = 3.$$

Proposition 10.3.4. For all $q \in \mathcal{M}_3$ the action of the cyclic group $\langle \alpha \rangle$ on \mathcal{W} yields an eigenspace decomposition of $H^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)$ of the dimensions

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_0 = 2, \quad h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = 9, \quad h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 = 9$$

Proof. Recall that

$$\mathcal{W}_q/\langle \alpha \rangle = R^1.$$

Since $-2V(z_4)$ is the canonical divisor of R^1 (see Corollary 8.1.7), one obtains

$$c_1(R^1)^2 = K_{R^1}^2 = 8.$$

By the Noether formula, one has

$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_{R^1}) = \frac{1}{12}(c_1(R^1)^2 + c_2(R^1))$$
 with $c_2(R^1) - 2 = b_2(R^1).$

From the fact that $\chi(\mathcal{O}_{R^1}) = 1$, one calculates that

$$h^{1,1}(\tilde{\mathcal{W}}_q)_0 = b_2(R^1) = 2.$$

Since the K3 surface \mathcal{W}_q has the Hodge number

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q) = 20$$
 and $h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2$,

one concludes that

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 = 9.$$

Proposition 10.3.5. *For all* $q \in M_3$ *one has*

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{Q}_q) = 51.$$

Proof. Since

$$h^{0,0}(\mathcal{W}_q)_0 = h^{0,0}(\mathbb{F}_3)_0 = h^{1,1}(\mathbb{F}_3)_0 = 1, \ b_1(\mathcal{W}_q) = 0$$

and Proposition 10.3.3 tells us that

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_0 = 14,$$

one concludes that $h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3)_0 = 15$. Note that α_2 fixes $6 \cdot 3 = 18$ points. Moreover we have an additional exceptional divisor consisting of $3 \cdot 3 \cdot 3 = 27$ rational ruled surfaces. In the construction of \mathcal{Q} we blow down 9 of these families of ruled surfaces. Hence by Proposition 10.3.2,

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{Q}_q) = 15 + 18 + 27 - 9 = 51.$$

Proposition 10.3.6. For all $q \in M_3$ one has

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{R}_q) = 9.$$

Proof. Since

$$h^{0,0}(\mathcal{W}_q)_0 = h^{0,0}(\mathbb{F}_3)_0 = h^{1,1}(\mathbb{F}_3)_0 = 1, \ b_1(\mathcal{W}_q) = 0$$

and Proposition 10.3.4 tells us that

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_0 = 2,$$

one concludes that $h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3)_0 = 3$. Note that α_2 fixes 3 copies of the genus 4 curve \mathcal{C}_q . Each of these copies yields 3 blowing ups of a copy of \mathcal{C}_q and one blowing down to a copy of \mathcal{C}_q . Hence by Proposition 10.3.2,

$$h^{1,1}(\mathcal{R}_q) = 3 + 9 - 3 = 9.$$

Proposition 10.3.7. For all $q \in M_3$ one has

$$h^{1,2}(\mathcal{Q}_q) = h^{2,1}(\mathcal{Q}_q) = 3.$$

Proof. Recall that $\alpha\beta$ acts by the character $e^{2\pi i \frac{2}{3}}$ on the global sections of $\omega_{\mathcal{W}_q}$ for all $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$ and $\alpha_{\mathbb{F}_3}$ acts by the character $e^{2\pi i \frac{1}{3}}$ on the global sections of $\omega_{\mathbb{F}_3}$. Hence one obtains

$$h^{1,0}(\mathbb{F}_3)_1 = h^{0,1}(\mathbb{F}_3)_2 = h^{2,0}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 = h^{0,2}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = 1$$

and

$$h^{1,0}(\mathbb{F}_3)_2 = h^{0,1}(\mathbb{F}_3)_1 = h^{2,0}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = h^{0,2}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 = 0.$$

Note that $b_1(\mathcal{W}_q) = b_3(\mathcal{W}_q) = 0$, $h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_0 = 14$ and $h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 = 3$. Recall that

$$H^{3}(\mathcal{W}_{q} \times \mathbb{F}_{3}, \mathbb{C})_{0} = \bigoplus_{t=0}^{2} H^{2}(\mathcal{W}_{q}, \mathbb{C})_{t} \otimes H^{1}(\mathbb{F}_{3}, \mathbb{C})_{[3-t]_{3}}.$$

Hence one concludes that

$$H^{3}(\mathcal{W}_{q} \times \mathbb{F}_{3}, \mathbb{C})_{0} = (H^{2,0}(\mathcal{W}_{q})_{2} \oplus H^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_{q})_{2}) \otimes H^{1,0}(\mathbb{F}_{3})_{1}$$
$$\oplus (H^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_{q})_{1} \oplus H^{0,2}(\mathcal{W}_{q})_{1}) \otimes H^{0,1}(\mathbb{F}_{3})_{2}.$$

This implies that

$$H^{2,1}(\mathcal{W}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3)_0 = H^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 \otimes H^{1,0}(\mathbb{F}_3)_1 \text{ such that } h^{2,1}(\mathcal{W}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3)_0 = 3.$$

Hence by Proposition 10.3.2 and the fact that $b_1(\mathbb{P}^1) = 0$, one obtains the statement. \Box

Proposition 10.3.8. *For all* $q \in M_3$ *one has*

$$h^{1,2}(\mathcal{R}_q) = h^{2,1}(\mathcal{R}_q) = 33.$$

Proof. The automorphism α acts by the character $e^{2\pi i \frac{1}{3}}$ on the global sections of $\omega_{\mathcal{W}_q}$ for all $q \in \mathcal{P}_n$ and $\alpha_{\mathbb{F}_3}^2$ acts by the character $e^{2\pi i \frac{2}{3}}$ on the global sections of $\omega_{\mathbb{F}_3}$. Hence one obtains

$$h^{1,0}(\mathbb{F}_3)_1 = h^{0,1}(\mathbb{F}_3)_2 = h^{2,0}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 = h^{0,2}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = 0$$

and

$$h^{1,0}(\mathbb{F}_3)_2 = h^{0,1}(\mathbb{F}_3)_1 = h^{2,0}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = h^{0,2}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 = 1.$$

Note that $b_1(\mathcal{W}_q) = b_3(\mathcal{W}_q) = 0$, $h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_0 = 2$ and $h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_1 = h^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 = 9$. Recall that

$$H^{3}(\mathcal{W}_{q} \times \mathbb{F}_{3}, \mathbb{C})_{0} = \bigoplus_{t=0}^{2} H^{2}(\mathcal{W}_{q}, \mathbb{C})_{t} \otimes H^{1}(\mathbb{F}_{3}, \mathbb{C})_{[3-t]_{3}}.$$

Hence one concludes that

$$H^{3}(\mathcal{W}_{q} \times \mathbb{F}_{3}, \mathbb{C})_{0} = (H^{2,0}(\mathcal{W}_{q})_{1} \oplus H^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_{q})_{1}) \otimes H^{1,0}(\mathbb{F}_{3})_{2}$$
$$\oplus (H^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_{q})_{2} \oplus H^{0,2}(\mathcal{W}_{q})_{2}) \otimes H^{0,1}(\mathbb{F}_{3})_{1}.$$

This implies that

$$H^{2,1}(\mathcal{W}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3)_0 = H^{1,1}(\mathcal{W}_q)_2 \otimes H^{1,0}(\mathbb{F}_3)_1 \text{ such that } h^{2,1}(\mathcal{W}_q \times \mathbb{F}_3)_0 = 9.$$

Hence by Proposition 10.3.2 and the fact that we have 6 copies of C_q with $H^{1,0}(C_q) = 4$, one obtains the statement.

Next we show that Q is a maximal family of Calabi-Yau manifolds. First let us define maximality. For this definition recall:

Proposition 10.3.9. Each Calabi-Yau manifold X has a local universal deformation $\mathcal{X} \to B$, where

$$\dim(B) = h^{2,1}(X).$$

Proof. (see [61], 10.3.2)

Definition 10.3.10. A family $\mathcal{F} \to Y$ of Calabi-Yau manifolds is maximal in $0 \in Y$, if the universal property of the local universal deformation $\mathcal{X} \to B$ of \mathcal{F}_0 yields a surjection of a neighborhood of 0 onto B. The family $\mathcal{F} \to Y$ is maximal, if it is maximal in all $0 \in Y$.

Remark 10.3.11. If the family $\mathcal{F} \to Y$ of Calabi-Yau manifolds is maximal in some $0 \in Y$, its restriction to the complement of a closed analytic subvariety of Y is maximal.

Remark 10.3.12. Since W_q is birationally equivalent to $\mathbb{F}_3 \times C_q / \langle (1,1) \rangle$ (see Proposition 8.2.4), one has

$$H^{2,0}(\mathcal{W}_q) = H^{1,0}(\mathbb{F}_3)_1 \otimes H^{1,0}(\mathcal{C}_q)_2,$$

where C denotes the family of degree 3 covers with a pure (1,3) - VHS. Thus by our former notation with respect to the push forward action, the VHSof W depends uniquely on the fractional VHS of the eigenspace \mathcal{L}_1 of the VHS of C.

In Section 9.2 we have seen that Q is birationally equivalent to a quotient of $\mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{F}_3$. It differs by some blowing up morphism with respect to some families of rational curves and some isolated sections. Thus by similar arguments, the VHS of Q depends on the VHS of \mathcal{W} . Hence the VHS of Q depends uniquely on the fractional VHS of \mathcal{L}_1 . Thus the period map of Q can be considered as a multivalued map to the ball \mathbb{B}_3 .

The preceding remark tells us the period map of the family $\mathcal{Q} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ is locally injective. Hence by the Torelli theorem for Calabi-Yau manifolds, one concludes:

Theorem 10.3.13. The family $\mathcal{Q} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ is maximal.

10.4 Outlook onto quotients by cyclic groups of high order

Recall that we used K3 surfaces S and elliptic curves E with cyclic degree m covers $S \to R$ and $E \to \mathbb{P}^1$ to construct Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds by a quotient, where m = 2, 3. In this chapter we give an outlook on the possibilities to use of cyclic groups of higher order for the construction of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds by an elliptic curve and a K3-surface.

First the following Lemma shows that there are only finitely many elliptic curves with an action of a cyclic group with order m > 2, which could be suitable:

Lemma 10.4.1. Let E be an elliptic curve, and $f : E \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be a cyclic cover. Then one obtains

$$m := deg(f) = 2, 3, 4 \text{ or } 6.$$

For each m > 2 there is at most only one elliptic curve having a cyclic cover $f: E \to \mathbb{P}^1$ of degree m^2 .

Proof. We use Proposition 2.3.4 and Corollary 2.3.5. Let $f : E \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be be a cyclic cover of degree m > 2. Moreover if f has n branch points, then \mathbb{L}_1 is of type (p,q) with p+q=n-2. Thus there must be at least 2 branch points. If there are only 2 branch points, we are in the case of the cover $\mathbb{P}^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1$ given by $x \to x^m$. Since \mathbb{L}_1 is of type (p,q) with p+q=n-2, the curve C can be an elliptic curve for m > 2, only if n = 3.

For n = 3 and m > 2 we have that \mathbb{L}_1 is of type (p,q) with p + q = 1. Without loss of generality we assume that p = 0 and q = 1. Hence by Proposition 2.3.4, one concludes that

$$\mu_1 + \mu_2 + \mu_3 = 1.$$

If m = 3, one has only the case of the Fermat curve of degree 3 given by

$$\mu_1 = \mu_2 = \mu_3 = \frac{1}{3}.$$

If m > 3, \mathbb{L}_2 must be of type (0,0), which implies without loss of generality that $\mu_1 = \frac{1}{2}$. Hence for m = 4 we have only the case of the cover given by

$$\mu_1 = \frac{1}{2}, \ \ \mu_2 = \mu_3 = \frac{1}{4}.$$

 $^{^{2}}$ The well-educated reader knows the automorphism group of the abelian variety given by one elliptic curve. But the quotient map by a cyclic subgroup of this automorphism group is fully ramified at the zero-point. There could be cyclic covers, which are not fully ramified over all branch points. Hence for the proof of this lemma, it is not sufficient to know the automorphism group of this abelian variety.

If m > 4, \mathbb{L}_2 and \mathbb{L}_3 must be of type (0,0), which implies without loss of generality that $\mu_1 = \frac{1}{2}$ and $\mu_2 = \frac{1}{3}$. Hence we obtain the only additional case given by the degree 6 cover with the local monodromy data

$$\mu_1 = \frac{1}{2}, \quad \mu_2 = \frac{1}{3}, \quad \mu_3 = \frac{1}{6}.$$

Let S be a K3-surface, E be an elliptic curve and the cyclic groups $\langle \gamma_S \rangle$ and $\langle \gamma_E \rangle$ of order m > 1 acting on S and E with the ramification loci F_S and F_E such that γ_S and γ_E act by -1 on the global sections of the respective canonical sheaves. The aim is the construction of a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold by a desingularization of $S \times E / \langle (\gamma_S, \gamma_E) \rangle$. The following proposition tells us that there are singularities on $S \times E / \langle (\gamma_S, \gamma_E) \rangle$, if m > 2. Thus one has to find a suitable desingularization in these cases.

Proposition 10.4.2. Let m > 2. Then γ_S must have ramification.

Proof. If γ_S does not have ramification, one concludes by the Hurwitz formula $\varphi_S^* \omega = \mathcal{O}$. Thus the quotient has a canonical sheaf ω with $\omega^{\otimes m} = \mathcal{O}$ for m > 2. Moreover it has the Betti number $b_1 = 0$. In addition it must be a minimal model, since a rational -1 curve would lie in the support of the canonical divisor K and forbid any torsion of K. But by the Enriques-Kodaira classification (compare to [6], **VI**.), such a minimal model does not exist. \Box

In the cases of Calabi-Yau manifolds with degree 3 and 4 automorphisms S. Cynk and K. Hulek [13] have given general methods to obtain Calabi-Yau manifolds in higher dimension. These methods are written down in the following two propositions. Note that in the examples of the constructions of the CMCY families Q and \mathcal{R} of 3-manifolds we have already used the general method of S. Cynk and K. Hulek for the degree 3 case. In the degree 6 case no method is known to the author.

Proposition 10.4.3. Let X_1 and X_2 be Calabi-Yau manifolds and ξ be a primitive cubic root of unity. Assume that for i = 1, 2 the Calabi-Yau manifold X_i has an automorphism η_i of order 3 such that η_i acts via pullback by the character ξ^i on $H^0(X_i, \omega_{X_i})$. Moreover assume that the fixed point set on X_1 is a smooth divisor and that the fixed point set on X_2 consists of a disjoint union of a smooth divisor and a smooth submanifold of codimension 2. Assume that η_1 is locally given by $(\xi, 1, \ldots, 1)$ near the divisor of fixed points and η_2 is locally given by $(\xi^2, 1, \ldots, 1)$ near the divisor of fixed points and $(\xi, \xi, 1, \ldots, 1)$ near the submanifold of fixed points of codimension 2.

Then $X_1 \times X_2/\langle (\eta_1, \eta_2) \rangle$ has a resolution X of singularities, which is a Calabi-Yau manifold. The Calabi-Yau manifold X admits an action of $\mathbb{Z}/(3)$, which satisfies the same assumptions as for X_2 .

Proof. (see [13], Proposition 3.1)

Proposition 10.4.4. Let X_1 and X_2 be Calabi-Yau manifolds. Assume that X_1 has an automorphism η_1 of order 4 such that η_1 acts via pullback by the character i on $H^0(X_1, \omega_{X_1})$ and X_2 has a automorphism η_2 of order 4 such that η_2 acts via pullback by the character -i on $H^0(X_2, \omega_{X_2})$. Moreover assume that the fixed point set on X_1 is a smooth divisor and that the fixed point set on X_2 consists of a disjoint union of smooth submanifolds of codimension one, two or three. Assume that η_1 is locally given by $(i, 1, \ldots, 1)$ near the divisor of fixed points and η_2 is locally given by $(-i, 1, \ldots, 1)$, $(-1, i, 1, \ldots, 1)$ or $(i, i, i, 1, \ldots, 1)$ near the respective submanifolds of fixed points.

Then $X_1 \times X_2/\langle (\eta_1, \eta_2) \rangle$ has a resolution X of singularities, which is a Calabi-Yau manifold. The Calabi-Yau manifold X admits an action of $\mathbb{Z}/(4)$, which satisfies the same assumptions as for X_2 .

Proof. (see [13], Proposition 4.1)

Chapter 11 Maximal families of *CMCY* type

In this chapter we use the classification of involutions on K3 surfaces S by V. V. Nikulin [51], which act by -1 on $H^0(S, \omega_S)$. If the divisor of fixed points consists at most of rational curves, the Borcea-Voisin construction yields a maximal holomorphic CMCY family of 3-manifolds.

After we have recalled some basic facts in Section 11.1, we define a Shimura datum by using involutions on the integral lattice in Section 11.2. Each of the points of a dense open subset of the bounded symmetric domain obtained from this Shimura datum represents a marked K3 surface with involution. By using this fact, we obtain our examples of maximal holomorphic CMCY families of 3-manifolds in Section 11.3. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ with $n \leq 11$ there is a holomorphic maximal CMCY family over a basis of dimension n.

11.1 Facts about involutions and quotients of K3-surfaces

In this section we collect some known facts about K3 surfaces and their involutions, which we will need in the sequel.

11.1.1. The integral cohomology $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$ is a lattice of rank 22. We have the cup-product (\cdot, \cdot) on $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$, which yields a symmetric bilinear form. Let $L := (H^2(S, \mathbb{Z}), (\cdot, \cdot))$. One has the orthogonal direct sum decomposition

$$L \cong (-E_8) \oplus (-E_8) \oplus H \oplus H \oplus H,$$

where $-E_8$ consists of \mathbb{Z}^8 endowed with a negative definite integral bilinear form given by the matrix

(-2)	0	1	0	0	0	0	0 \
0	-2	0	1	0	0	0	0
1	0	-2	1	0	0	0	0
0	1	1	-2	1	0	0	0
0	0	0	1	-2	1	0	0
0	0	0	0	1	-2	1	0
0	0	0	0	0	1	-2	1
0	0	0	0	0	0	1	-2 /

and H denotes the hyperbolic plane, i. e. $H = (\mathbb{Z}^2, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle)$, where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is given by the matrix

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

(see [6], **VIII**. Proposition 3.3 and the notation in [6], **VIII**. Section 1 and also [6], **I**. Examples 2.7 for details).

Remark 11.1.2. Let S be a K3-surface and $L = H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$, where L is endowed with an involution ι . Assume that ι corresponds to an involution on S, which acts by the character -1 on $\Gamma(\omega_S)$. Then the involution induces a degree 2 cover $\gamma : S \to R$ onto a smooth surface R. Moreover the divisor of fixed points, which yields the ramification divisor of γ , consists of a disjoint union of smooth curves or it is the zero-divisor. The involution ι yields integral sub-Hodge structures $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})_0$ and $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})_1$ of $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})$ such that ι acts by $(-1)^i$ on $H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})_i$. Since ι acts by -1 on $\Gamma(\omega_S)$ and

$$H^2(R,\mathbb{Q}) = H^2(S,\mathbb{Q})_0,$$

one has that

$$H^{2,0}(S), H^{0,2}(S) \subset H^2(S, \mathbb{C})_1.$$

Moreover the intersection form has the signature (2, r) on $H^2(S, \mathbb{Q})_1$ (compare to [60], §1 and [60], 2.1).

Remark 11.1.3. Let

$$D = \{ [\omega] \in \mathbb{P}(H^2(S, \mathbb{C})_1) | (\omega, \omega) = 0, (\omega, \bar{\omega}) > 0 \}.$$

By the Torelli theorem, each marked K3 surface $(S', \phi_{S'})$ endowed with an involution, which yields the the same involution ι on his cohomology lattice, yields a unique one dimensional vector space $H^{2,0}(S') \subset H^2(S, \mathbb{C})_1$ corresponding to some $p \in D$.

11.2 The associated Shimura datum

The Hodge structure of a K3 surface S with a cyclic degree 2 cover onto a rational surface resp., Enriques surface R has a decomposition into two rational Hodge structures $H^2(S, \mathbb{Q})_1$ and $H^2(S, \mathbb{Q})_0$. We consider $H^2(S, \mathbb{Q})_1$, since the variation of Hodge structures given by $H^2(S, \mathbb{Q})_0$ is trivial.

The Hodge decomposition of $H^2(S, \mathbb{C})$ is orthogonal with respect to the Hermitian form $(\cdot, \bar{\cdot})$. Therefore the corresponding embedding

$$h: S^1 \to \mathrm{SL}(H^2(S, \mathbb{R})_1)$$

factors trough the special orthogonal group $SO(H^2(S, \mathbb{R})_1)$ with respect to the symmetric form given by the cup product pairing, where $SO(H^2(S, \mathbb{R})_1)$ is isomorphic to $SO(2, r)_{\mathbb{R}}$. Let $\omega \in \omega_S \setminus \{0\}$,

$$\Re\omega := \frac{1}{2}(\omega + \bar{\omega}), \quad \Im\omega := \frac{i}{2}(\omega - \bar{\omega})$$

and $\{v_1, \ldots, v_r\}$ be a basis of $H^{1,1}(X, \mathbb{R})_1$. One has the basis

$$\{\Re\omega,\Im\omega,v_1,\ldots,v_r\}$$

of $H^1(X,\mathbb{R})_1$ such that the intersection form is without loss of generality given by the matrix diag $(1, 1, -1, \ldots, -1)$ with respect to this basis. The subgroup, whose elements are invariant under

$$g \to h(i)gh(i^{-1}),$$

is given by $S(O(2) \times O(r))$, where

$$h(i) = h(i^{-1}) = \text{diag}(-1, -1, 1, \dots, 1).$$

Since $h^2(i) = h(-1) = \text{diag}(1, \ldots, 1)$, the action of i is an involution. This implies that one has a decomposition of $\mathfrak{so}_{2,r}(\mathbb{R})$ into 2 eigenspaces with respect to the eigenvalues 1 and -1. Hence $h(\sqrt{i})$ yields a complex structure on the eigenspace with eigenvalue -1. The eigenspace for the eigenvalue 1 is given by the Lie algebra of $S(O(2) \times O(r))$. Thus we have a decomposition

$$\mathfrak{so}_{2,r}(\mathbb{C})=\mathfrak{h}_+\oplus\mathfrak{h}_0\oplus\mathfrak{h}_-$$

such that S^1 acts by the characters z/\bar{z} , 1 and \bar{z}/z on the respective complex sub-vector spaces.

We continue our consideration of the involution ι given by

$$\iota(g) = h(i)gh^{-1}(i).$$

The matrices $M_1 \in SO(2, r)(\mathbb{C})$ with $\overline{M}_1 = \iota(M_1)$ satisfy that

$$\bar{M}_1 = \text{diag}(-1, -1, 1, \dots, 1) \cdot M_1 \cdot \text{diag}(-1, -1, 1, \dots, 1)$$

$$= \operatorname{diag}(1, 1, -1, \dots, -1) \cdot M_1 \cdot \operatorname{diag}(1, 1, -1, \dots, -1).$$

Since $SO(2, r)(\mathbb{C})$ is given by the matrices M satisfying

$$M^{t} \cdot \operatorname{diag}(1, 1, -1, \dots, -1) \cdot M = \operatorname{diag}(1, 1, -1, \dots, -1)$$

$$\Leftrightarrow M^{-1} = \operatorname{diag}(1, 1, -1, \dots, -1) \cdot M^t \cdot \operatorname{diag}(1, 1, -1, \dots, -1),$$

each matrix M_1 satisfies

$$M_1^{-1} = \bar{M}_1^t.$$

Thus M_1 is contained in the compact group SU(2+r), and one concludes:

Proposition 11.2.1. Our morphism

$$h: S^1 \to \mathrm{SO}(H^2(S, \mathbb{Q})_1)_{\mathbb{R}}$$

yields a Shimura datum.¹

Remark 11.2.2. Note that the simple Lie group $SO(2, r)(\mathbb{R})$ consists of two connected components (see [21], Exercise 7.2). Since the Lie group $SO(2+r)(\mathbb{C}) \cong SO(H^2(S,\mathbb{R})_1)(\mathbb{C})$ is connected (see [27], **IX**. Lemma 4.2), the algebraic group $SO(H^2(S,\mathbb{R})_1)$ is connected, too. Recall that all Cartan involutions of the simple algebraic group $SO(H^2(S,\mathbb{R})_1)$ are conjugate. The action of S^1 on $H^2(S,\mathbb{R})_1$ is given by its action on $\langle \Re \omega, \Im \omega \rangle$ and S^1 fixes all vectors of $H^{1,1}(S,\mathbb{R})_1$. This implies that all morphisms

$$h: S^1 \to \mathrm{SO}(H^2(S, \mathbb{R})_1),$$

which yields the Hodge structure of a K3 surface, satisfy that their images $h(S^1)$ are conjugate. The definition of the Hodge structure on $H^2(S, \mathbb{R})_1$ implies that the \mathbb{R} -valued points of the kernel of h are given by $\{1, -1\} \in S^1(\mathbb{R})$. Let $\iota_{S^1} : S^1 \to S^1$ be the involution given by $x \to x^{-1}$. For each morphism h_1 in the conjugacy class of h, there exists exactly one other morphism h_2

$$h: \mathbb{S} \to \mathrm{GO}(H^2(S, \mathbb{Q})_1)_{\mathbb{R}},$$

¹ This Shimura datum is not a Shimura datum in the sense of Definition 1.3.22. Let $\mathrm{GO}(H^2(S,\mathbb{Q})_1)$ denote the general orthogonal group, which preserves the symmetric bilinear form up to a scalar. The Hodge structure defines a corresponding homomorphism

which is a Shimura datum in the sense of Definition 1.3.22 and whose restriction to S^1 is the morphism of the proposition. By arguments analogous to the arguments in Remark 1.4.13, we can consider this restricted morphism as Shimura datum, too.

with $h_1(S^1) = h_2(S^1)$ and kernel given by $\{1, -1\} \in S^1(\mathbb{R})$, which is given by $h_2 = h_1 \circ \iota_{S^1}$. The conjugation by diag $(-1, 1, -1, 1, \ldots, 1)$ yields an inner automorphism φ of SO $(H^2(S, \mathbb{R})_1)$ such that $h_2 = \varphi \circ h_1$. Thus each Hodge structure of a K3 surface obtained by some $p \in D$ is obtained by some element of the conjugacy class of our morphism $h : S^1 \to \text{SO}(H^2(S, \mathbb{R})_1)$. Moreover note that the holomorphic VHS over the bounded symmetric domain associated with $\text{SO}(H^2(S, \mathbb{R})_1)(\mathbb{R})^+/K$, which is induced by the natural embedding $\text{SO}(H^2(S, \mathbb{Q})_1) \to \text{GL}(H^2(S, \mathbb{Q})_1)$, is uniquely determined by the variation of the subbundle of rank 1 given by $H^{2,0}$. Since

$$r = \dim(D) = \dim(\mathrm{SO}(H^2(S, \mathbb{R})_1)(\mathbb{R})/K),$$

this VHS yields a biholomorphic map from the bounded symmetric domain associated with $SO(H^2(S, \mathbb{R})_1)(\mathbb{R})^+/K)$ onto D^+ .

The preceding remark and Theorem 1.7.2 imply:

Theorem 11.2.3. There is a dense set of CM points on D with respect to the VHS on D obtained by Remark 11.2.2.

11.3 The examples

First we construct a holomorphic family of marked K3-surfaces with a global involution over its basis:

Construction 11.3.1. There exists a universal family $u: \mathcal{X} \to B$ of marked analytic K3-surfaces, whose basis is not Hausdorff (see [6], **VIII**. Section 12). Let ϕ denote the global marking of the family $\mathcal{X} \to B$. We consider an involution ι on a marked K3 surface (S, ϕ) , which acts by -1 on $H^{2,0}(S)$. This involution yields an involutive isometry ι on the lattice L. Thus the involution ι endows $\mathcal{X} \to B$ with a new marking $\iota \circ \phi$. By the universal property of the universal family, this new marking yields an involution of the family:



Let $\Delta: B \to B \times B$ denote the diagonal embedding. We define

$$B_{\iota} = \operatorname{Graph}(\iota_B) \cap \Delta(B) \subset B \times B.$$

Note that each point $b \in B_{\iota}$ has an analytic neighborhood $U \subset B$ such that $\mathcal{X}_U \to U$ is given by the Kuranishi family and yields an injective period map for U. Thus on $U \times U$ the diagonal $\Delta(U)$ and $\operatorname{Graph}(\iota_B|_U)$ are closed analytic submanifolds. Hence B_{ι} has the structure of an analytic variety, which is not

necessarily Hausdorff, and can have singularities. The composition $\Delta \circ u$ allows to consider $\Delta(B)$ as basis of the universal family of the marked K3 surfaces. By the restricted family $\mathcal{X}_{B_{\iota}} \to B_{\iota}$, we obtain a holomorphic family with a global involution over the basis B_{ι} . For simplicity we write $\mathcal{X}_{\iota} \to B_{\iota}$ instead of $\mathcal{X}_{B_{\iota}} \to B_{\iota}$.

Remark 11.3.2. The fibers of $\mathcal{X}_{\iota} \to B_{\iota}$ have by the involution ι a cyclic covering onto a projective surface (compare to [60], 2.1). Thus the fibers of $\mathcal{X}_{\iota} \to B_{\iota}$ are algebraic.

Proposition 11.3.3. Assume that for all $b \in B_{\iota}$ the involution $\iota_{\mathcal{X}_b}$ on \mathcal{X}_b has a locus of fixed points consisting of rational curves. Then the holomorphic family $\mathcal{X}_{\iota} \to B_{\iota}$ is due to its global involution suitable for the construction of a holomorphic Borcea-Voisin tower.

Proof. Let $b_0 \in B_\iota$ and $U \subset B_\iota$ be a small open neighborhood of b_0 . The eigenspace decomposition with respect to ι yields a variation of Hodge structures on the eigenspace with respect to -1. The corresponding period map yields an open injection of U into D. By the fact that D has a dense set of CM points, the family $\mathcal{X}_\iota \to B_\iota$ has a dense set of CM fibers. Since the locus of fixed points with respect to $\iota_{\mathcal{X}_b}$ consists of rational curves, this locus of fixed points has complex multiplication, too. Hence $\mathcal{X}_\iota \to B_\iota$ can be used for the construction of a holomorphic Borcea-Voisin tower. □

Assume that $\mathcal{X}_{\iota} \to B_{\iota}$ satisfies the assumptions of Proposition 11.3.3. Then let $\mathfrak{X}_{\iota} \to B_{\iota} \times \mathcal{M}_1$ denote the family obtained by the holomorphic Borcea-Voisin tower from $\mathcal{X}_{\iota} \to B_{\iota}$ and $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{M}_1$ denote the family of elliptic curves.

Definition 11.3.4. A family $\mathcal{F} \to Y$ of Calabi-Yau manifolds is maximal in $0 \in Y$, if the universal property of the local universal deformation $\mathcal{X} \to B$ of \mathcal{F}_0 yields a surjection of a neighborhood of 0 onto B. The family $\mathcal{F} \to Y$ is maximal, if it is maximal in all $0 \in Y$.

Theorem 11.3.5. The family \mathfrak{X}_{ι} is maximal.

Proof. By the following lemma, we start to prove Theorem 11.3.5:

Lemma 11.3.6.

$$H^{3}((\mathfrak{X}_{\iota})_{p \times q}) = H^{2}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_{p}, \mathbb{Q})_{1} \otimes H^{1}(\mathcal{E}_{q}, \mathbb{Q})$$

Proof. Due to Proposition 10.3.2 and the fact that the exceptional divisors consist of some rational curves, one only needs to determine $H^3((\mathcal{X}_\iota)_p \times \mathcal{E}_q, \mathbb{Q})_0$. Since $b_1((\mathcal{X}_\iota)_p) = b_3((\mathcal{X}_\iota)_p) = 0$ and $H^1(\mathcal{E}_q, \mathbb{Q}) = H^1(\mathcal{E}_q, \mathbb{Q})_1$, we are done.

By using the preceding lemma, we prove the following proposition.

Proposition 11.3.7. One has that $\dim(B_{\iota} \times \mathbb{B}_1)$ and $h^{2,1}((\mathfrak{X}_{\iota})_{p \times q})$ coincide. *Proof.* By Proposition 11.3.6,

$$H^{3}((\mathfrak{X}_{\iota})_{p\times q}) = H^{2}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_{p}, \mathbb{Q})_{1} \otimes H^{1,0}(\mathcal{E}_{q}, \mathbb{Q}) \oplus H^{2}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_{p}, \mathbb{Q})_{1} \otimes H^{0,1}(\mathcal{E}_{q}, \mathbb{Q})$$

Therefore

$$\begin{aligned} h^{2,1}((\mathfrak{X}_{\iota})_{p\times q}) &= h^{1,1}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_{p}, \mathbb{Q})_{1} \cdot h^{1,0}(\mathcal{E}_{q}, \mathbb{Q}) + h^{2,0}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_{p}, \mathbb{Q})_{1} \cdot h^{0,1}(\mathcal{E}_{q}, \mathbb{Q}) \\ &= h^{1,1}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_{p}, \mathbb{Q})_{1} + h^{2,0}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_{p}, \mathbb{Q})_{1} = h^{1,1}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_{p}, \mathbb{Q})_{1} + 1. \end{aligned}$$

Recall that D^+ is the bounded symmetric domain obtained by $\mathrm{SO}(2, r)^+(\mathbb{R})$, where $r = h^{1,1}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_p, \mathbb{R})_1$. By [27], **IX**. Table **II**, the domain D has the complex dimension r.² Since the period map $p : B_{\iota} \to D$ of $\mathcal{X}_{\iota} \to B_{\iota}$ is locally bijective, one concludes

$$h^{1,1}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_p, \mathbb{Q})_1 = r = \dim(D) = \dim(B_{\iota}),$$

which yields the result.

By the following proposition, we finish the proof of Theorem 11.3.5: \Box

Proposition 11.3.8. The period map yields a multivalued map from $\mathcal{M}_1 \times B_\iota$ to the period domain, which is locally injective.

Proof. Let \mathbb{B} be a small open subset of $\mathcal{M}_1 \times B_\iota$ and let $x_1, x_2 \in \mathbb{B}$. Note that the period map p on $\mathcal{M}_1 \times B_\iota$ yields different image points $p(x_1)$ and $p(x_2)$, if the classes of $H^{3,0}((\mathfrak{X}_\iota)_{x_1})$ and $H^{3,0}((\mathfrak{X}_\iota)_{x_2})$ in $\mathbb{P}(H^3((\mathfrak{X}_\iota)_{x_1},\mathbb{C}))$ do not coincide. The respective period maps on B_ι and \mathcal{M}_1 are locally injective and depend only on $\omega_{\mathcal{E}_q}$ and $\omega_{(\mathcal{X}_\iota)_p}$. Since

$$H^{3,0}((\mathfrak{X}_{\iota})_{p\times q}) \subset H^{3}((\mathfrak{X}_{\iota})_{p\times q}) = H^{2}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_{p}, \mathbb{Q})_{1} \otimes H^{1}(\mathcal{E}_{q}, \mathbb{Q})$$

is given by $H^{2,0}((\mathcal{X}_{\iota})_p) \otimes H^{1,0}(\mathcal{E}_q)$, the period map concerning \mathfrak{X}_{ι} is locally injective, too.

It remains to classify the involutions ι on L, which provide our families $\mathcal{X}_{\iota} \to B_{\iota}$ with a global involution.

Remark 11.3.9. The involutions on L, which yields involutions on certain K3 surfaces, are characterized by the triples of the following integers (compare to [51]):

• The integer t is the rank of the sublattice $\operatorname{Pic}(S)_0$ of the Picard lattice of an arbitrary fiber S of \mathcal{X}_{ι} , which is invariant under the global involution.

² By [27], **IX**. Table **II**, the domain D has the dimension 2r as real manifold.

• By the intersection pairing, one obtains a homomorphism $\operatorname{Pic}(S)_0 \to \operatorname{Pic}(S)_0^{\vee}$. The integer *a* is given by

$$(\mathbb{Z}/(2))^a \cong \operatorname{Pic}(S)_0^{\vee}/\operatorname{Pic}(S)_0.$$

By the morphism Pic(S)₀ → Pic(S)₀[∨], the intersection form on Pic(S)₀ yields a quadratic form q on Pic(S)₀[∨] with values in Q. The integer δ is 0, if q has only values in Z and 1 otherwise.

For a fixed triple (t, a, δ) we write $\mathcal{X}_{(t,a,\delta)} \to B_{(t,a,\delta)}$ instead of $\mathcal{X}_{\iota} \to B_{\iota}$ and $\mathfrak{X}_{(t,a,\delta)}$ instead of \mathfrak{X}_{ι} .

Remark 11.3.10. The ramification locus of the fibers with respect to the involution on $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{B}_{t,a,\delta}$ is given by two elliptic curves, if $(t, a, \delta) = (10, 8, 0)$, is empty, if $(t, a, \delta) = (10, 10, 0)$, and otherwise given by $C_{N'} + E_1 + \ldots + E_{N-1}$, where $C_{N'}$ is a curve of genus

$$N' = \frac{1}{2}(22 - t - a)$$
, and $N = \frac{1}{2}(t - a) + 1$.

(compare to [51]).

Therefore the triples

$$(t, a, \delta) = (10, 10, 0)$$
 and (t, a, δ) with $t + a = 22$

yield the examples of families $\mathcal{X}_{(t,a,\delta)} \to B_{(t,a,\delta)}$ with global involutions over the basis, whose locus of fixed points consists at most of families of rational curves. Hence by Proposition 11.3.3, these triples yield maximal holomorphic CMCY families of 3-manifolds.

11.3.11. By [51], Figure 2, one gets the following complete list of holomorphic maximal CMCY families $\mathfrak{X}_{(t,a,\delta)} \to B_{(t,a,\delta)} \times \mathcal{M}_1$ of 3-manifolds obtained by this method. By Claim 10.2.1, we obtain the Hodge numbers $h^{1,1}$ and $h^{2,1}$ of the fibers of $\mathfrak{X}_{(t,a,\delta)}$.

t	a	δ	N	$h^{1,1}$	$h^{2,1}$
10	10	0	0	11	11
11	11	1	1	16	10
12	10	1	2	21	9
13	9	1	3	26	8
14	8	1	4	31	7
15	7	1	5	36	6
16	6	1	6	41	5
17	5	1	7	46	4
18	4	1	8	51	3
18	4	0	8	51	3
19	3	1	9	56	2
20	2	1	10	61	1

Remark 11.3.12. C. Borcea [8] has constructed Calabi-Yau manifolds of dimension 3 with CM by using 3 elliptic curves with involutions. This construction yields a CMCY family of 3-manifolds over $\mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_1$. The fibers have the Hodge numbers $h^{1,1} = 51$ and $h^{2,1} = 3$. By similar arguments as in Theorem 11.3.5, this family is maximal. The associated period domain is given by $\mathbb{B}_1 \times \mathbb{B}_1 \times \mathbb{B}_1$.

As we have seen in Section 10.3, the family $\mathcal{Q} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ is a maximal CMCY family of 3-manifolds, whose fibers have the same Hodge numbers $h^{1,1} = 51$ and $h^{2,1} = 3$. The associated period domain is given by \mathbb{B}_3 .

Moreover by Theorem 11.3.5 and the preceding point, we have two additional holomorphic maximal CMCY families of 3-manifolds, whose fibers have the same Hodge numbers $h^{1,1} = 51$ and $h^{2,1} = 3$. The associated period domain is given by $\mathbb{B}_1 \times D$, where D denotes the bounded domain given by $SO(2,2)(\mathbb{R})/K$.

Hence there exist 4 maximal CMCY families of 3-manifolds, whose fibers have the Hodge numbers $h^{1,1} = 51$ and $h^{2,1} = 3$. One can easily check that the example of [8] has a Yukawa coupling of *length* 3, where the Yukawa coupling of the family $\mathcal{Q} \to \mathcal{M}_3$ constructed in Section 9.2 has the *length* 1. Hence there are not any open sets of the respective bases, which allow a local identification of these two families.

By using the involutions on elliptic curves, one gets a local identification between $\mathcal{E} \times \mathcal{E}/\langle (\iota_{\mathcal{E}}, \iota_{\mathcal{E}}) \rangle \to \mathcal{M}_1 \times \mathcal{M}_1$, which yields the example of [8], with one of our examples $\mathcal{X}_{(t,a,\delta)} \to B_{(t,a,\delta)}$ with t = 18 and a = 4. This implies a local identification between the resulting *CMCY* families of 3-manifolds obtained by the Borcea-Voisin tower.

Remark 11.3.13. By Example 7.4.5, there are 13 explicit examples of elliptic curves with CM. Thus for the CMCY family of C. Borcea [8], which we have discussed in the preceding remark, one obtains up to birational equivalence 455 different examples of CM fibers. For 6 of these 13 elliptic curves, we have an explicitly given involution. Thus we can at least describe the 56 Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds, which are obtained by some of the latter 6 elliptic curves, by local equations.

Remark 11.3.14. It would be interesting to consider the following question: Is the maximal *CMCY* family $\mathfrak{X}_{(10,10,0)}$ its own mirror family?

Let S denote a K3 surface with an involution, which acts by -1 on $\Gamma(\omega_S)$. In [60] the triples (t, a, δ) , which yield our families $\mathcal{X}_{(t,a,\delta)} \to B_{(t,a,\delta)}$ satisfying the assumptions of Proposition 11.3.3, do not satisfy the assumptions of the technical Lemma [60], Lemme 2.5. This Lemma guarantees the existence of a hyperbolic plane $H \subset H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})_1$, which is needed for the mirror construction in [60]. Hence these triples (t, a, δ) do not satisfy the assumptions of the Mirror Theorem [60], Théorème 2.17. But by [12], Lemma 4.4.4, there is a hyperbolic plane $H \subset H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})_1$ for these triples. Moreover by [6], **VIII**. 19, one has a description of the corresponding involution on the cohomology lattice, which yields the existence of a hyperbolic plane $H \subset H^2(S, \mathbb{Z})_1$. In her construction of a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold ([60], Lemme 1.3) C. Voisin assumes that the involution on the K3 surface is not given by the triple (10, 10, 0), since it is easy to see that the resulting 3-manifold is not simply connected in this case. But by Proposition 7.2.5 the resulting 3-manifold satisfies our definition of a Calabi-Yau manifold (Definition 7.2.1) in this case, too.

The mirror of a fiber of $\mathfrak{X}_{(10,10,0)}$ must have the same Hodge numbers $h^{1,1} = h^{2,1} = 11$. By Claim 10.2.1, this implies for an involution on a K3 surface:

$$5N - N' = 5N' - N = 0$$

Hence one calculates easily that N = N' = 0. Thus by V. V. Nikulins [51] classification of involutions on K3 surfaces, the Voisin-Borcea Mirror (in the notation of [12]) of a fiber of $\mathfrak{X}_{(10,10,0)}$ should be obtained by the triple (10, 10, 0), too. Hence the author has the impression that one can consider the maximal *CMCY* family $\mathfrak{X}_{(10,10,0)}$ of 3-manifolds as its own mirror family, but one must check the details.

Appendix A Examples of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with complex multiplication

Introduction

The previous examples of Calabi-Yau manifolds with CM occur as fibers of a family over a Shimura variety, which has a dense set of complex multiplication fibers. Here we give some examples, which are not necessarily fibers of a non-trivial family with a dense set of complex multiplication fibers.

The first two sections give two different classes of examples by using involutions on K3 surfaces. In each of the both Sections we will use a modified version of the construction of Viehweg and Zuo to obtain K3 surfaces, which are suitable for the construction of a Borcea-Voisin tower.

In the third section we will prove that a K3 surface with a degree 3 automorphism has complex multiplication. By using methods, which has been introduced in Section 9.1 and Section 9.2, we will use this automorphism and the Fermat curve of degree 3 for the construction of a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold with complex multiplication.

A.1 Construction by degree 2 coverings of a ruled surface

We start by finding curves with complex multiplication. The following proposition yields some examples:

Proposition A.1.1. Let $0 < d_1, d < m$, and ξ_k denote a primitive k-th. root of unity for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then the curve C, which is locally given by

$$y^m = x^{d_1} \prod_{i=1}^{n-2} (x - \xi_{n-2}^i)^d,$$

is covered by the Fermat curve $\mathbb{F}_{(n-2)m}$ locally given by

$$y^{(n-2)m} + x^{(n-2)m} + 1 = 0$$

and has complex multiplication.

Proof. (see Theorem 2.4.4)

Example A.1.2. By the preceding proposition, the curves locally given by

$$y^4 = x_1^8 + x_0^8, \ y^4 = x_1(x_1^7 + x_0^7), \ y^4 = x_1(x_1^6 + x_0^6)x_0$$

have complex multiplication. These curves are degree 4 covers of the projective line and have the genus 9 as one can easily calculate by the Hurwitz formula.

The curves of the preceding example have a natural interpretation as cyclic covers of \mathbb{P}^1 of degree 4. One can identify these covers with the set of their 8 branch points in \mathbb{P}^1 . Thus let \mathcal{P}_8 denote the configuration space of 8 different points in \mathbb{P}^1 . We use a modified version of the construction in [58], Section 5 to construct K3 surfaces with complex multiplication by Example A.1.2 in a first step. This method is nearly the same method as in Section 8.2.

For our application, it is sufficient to work with \mathbb{P}^1 -bundles over \mathbb{P}^1 resp., with rational ruled surfaces. Let $\pi_n : \mathbb{P}_n \to \mathbb{P}^1$ denote the rational ruled surface given by $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(n))$ and σ denote a non-trivial global section of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(8)$, which has the 8 different zero points represented by a point $q \in \mathcal{P}_8$. The sections E_{σ} , E_0 and E_{∞} of $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(8))$ are induced by

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{id} \oplus \sigma : \mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(8), \quad \mathrm{id} \oplus 0 : \mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(8) \\ \mathrm{and} \quad 0 \oplus \mathrm{id} : \mathcal{O}(8) \to \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(8) \end{split}$$

resp., by the corresponding surjections onto the cokernels of these embeddings as described in [26], **II**. Proposition 7.12.

Remark A.1.3. The divisors E_{σ} and E_0 intersect each other transversally over the 8 zero points of σ . Recall that $\operatorname{Pic}(\mathbb{P}_8)$ has a basis given by a fiber and an arbitrary section. Hence by the fact that E_{σ} and E_0 do not intersect E_{∞} , one concludes that they are linearly equivalent with self-intersection number 8. Since E_{∞} is a section, it intersects each fiber transversally. Thus one has that $E_{\infty} \sim E_0 - (E_0 \cdot E_0)F$, where F denotes a fiber. Therefore one concludes

$$E_{\infty} \cdot E_{\infty} = E_{\infty} \cdot (E_0 - (E_0 \cdot E_0)F) = -(E_0 \cdot E_0) = -8.$$

Next we establish a morphism $\mu : \mathbb{P}_2 \to \mathbb{P}_8$ over \mathbb{P}^1 . By [26], **II**. Proposition 7.12., this is the same as to give a surjection $\pi_2^*(\mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(8)) \to \mathcal{L}$, where \mathcal{L} is an invertible sheaf on \mathbb{P}_2 . By the composition

$$\pi_2^*(\mathcal{O}\oplus\mathcal{O}(8)) = \pi_2^*(\mathcal{O})\oplus\pi_2^*\mathcal{O}(8) \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{i=0}^4 \pi_2^*\mathcal{O}(2i) = Sym^4(\pi_2^*(\mathcal{O}\oplus\mathcal{O}(8))) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_2}(4),$$

where the last morphism is induced by the natural surjection $\pi_2^*(\mathcal{O}\oplus\mathcal{O}(2)) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_2}(1)$ (see [26], **II**. Proposition 7.11), we obtain a morphism μ^* of sheaves. This morphism μ^* is not a surjection onto $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_2}(4)$, but onto its image $\mathcal{L} \subset \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_2}(4)$. Over $\mathbb{A}^1 \subset \mathbb{P}^1$ all rational ruled surfaces are locally given by $\operatorname{Proj}(\mathbb{C}[x])[y_1, y_2]$, where x has the weight 0. Hence we have locally that $\pi_2^*(\mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(8)) = \mathcal{O}_{e_1} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{e_2}$. Over \mathbb{A}^1 the morphism μ^* is given by

$$e_1 \to y_1^4, e_2 \to y_2^4$$

such that the sheaf $\mathcal{L} = im(\mu^*) \subset \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_2}(4)$ is invertible. Thus the morphism $\mu : \mathbb{P}_2 \to \mathbb{P}_8$ corresponding to μ^* is locally given by the ring homomorphism

 $(\mathbb{C}[x])[y_1, y_2] \to (\mathbb{C}[x])[y_1, y_2] \quad \text{via} \quad y_1 \to y_1^8 \quad \text{and} \quad y_2 \to y_2^8.$

Construction A.1.4. One has a commutative diagram



of morphisms between normal varieties with:

(a) δ , δ_2 , δ_8 , ρ , ρ_2 and ρ_8 are birational.

(b) π is a family of curves, π_2 and π_8 are \mathbb{P}^1 -bundles.

Proof. One must only explain δ_8 and ρ_8 . Recall that E_{σ} is a section of $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(8))$, which intersects E_0 transversally in exactly 8 points. The morphism ρ_8 is the blowing up of the 8 intersection points of $E_0 \cap E_{\sigma}$. The preimage of the 8 points given by $q \in \mathcal{P}_8$ with respect to $\pi_8 \circ \rho_8$ consists of the exceptional divisor \hat{D}_1 and the proper transform \tilde{D}_2 of the preimage of these 8 points with respect to ρ_8 given by 8 rational curves with self-intersection number -1. The morphism δ_8 is obtained by blowing down \tilde{D}_2 .

Remark A.1.5. The section σ has the zero divisor given by some $q \in \mathcal{P}_8$. Hence one obtains $\mu^*(E_{\sigma}) \cong C$, where $C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is a cyclic cover of degree 4 as in Example A.1.2 ramified over the 8 points given by σ . The surface \mathcal{Y} is a cyclic degree 2 cover of \mathbb{P}_2 ramified over C. Thus it has an involution. It is given by the invertible sheaf

$$\mathcal{L} = \omega_{\mathbb{P}_2}^{-1}$$

and the divisor

$$B = \mu^*(E_\sigma)$$
, where $\mathcal{O}(B) \cong \mathcal{L}^2$,

with the notation of [6] I. Section 17. Thus [6] I. Lemma 17.1 implies that \mathcal{Y} is a K3 surface.

By Lemma 10.4.1, there is only one elliptic curve with a cyclic degree 4 cover onto \mathbb{P}^1 . Let \mathbb{E} denote this curve, which is locally given by

$$y^4 = x(x-1)^2.$$

One can easily see that $\mathbb E$ has the j invariant 1728. Thus $\mathbb E$ has complex multiplication.

We fix some notation. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let ξ be a fixed primitive *n*-th. root of unity and let C_1 and C_2 be curves locally given by

$$y^n = f_1(x)$$
 and $y^n = f_2(x)$,

where $f_1, f_2 \in \mathbb{C}[x]$. By $(x, y) \to (x, \xi y)$, one can define an automorphism γ_i on C_i for i = 1, 2. The surface $C_1 \times C_2 / \langle (1, 1) \rangle$ is the quotient of $C_1 \times C_2$ by $\langle (\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \rangle$.

Proposition A.1.6. The surface \mathcal{Y} is birationally equivalent to $C \times \mathbb{E}/\langle (1,1) \rangle$.¹

Proof. Let \tilde{E}_{\bullet} denote the proper transform of the section E_{\bullet} with respect to ρ_8 . Then $\hat{\mu}$ is the Kummer covering given by

$$\sqrt[4]{\frac{\tilde{E}_{\infty} + 8 \cdot F}{\tilde{E}_0 + \hat{D}_1}},$$

where \hat{D}_1 denotes the exceptional divisor of ρ_8 . Thus the morphism μ' is the Kummer covering

$$\sqrt[4]{\frac{(\delta_8)_*\tilde{E}_{\infty} + 8\cdot(\delta_8)_*F}{(\delta_8)_*\tilde{E}_0 + (\delta_8)_*\hat{D}_1}} = \sqrt[4]{\frac{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{\infty\} + 8\cdot(P \times \mathbb{P}^1)}{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{0\} + \Delta \times \mathbb{P}^1}},$$

¹Similarly to [58], Construction 5.2, we show that \mathcal{Y}' is birationally equivalent to $C \times \mathbb{E}/\langle (1,1) \rangle$.

where Δ is the divisor of the 8 different points in \mathbb{P}^1 given by $q \in \mathcal{P}_8$ and $P \in \mathbb{P}^1$ is the point with the fiber F. Since $E_0 + E_\sigma$ is a normal crossing divisor, \tilde{E}_σ neither meets \tilde{E}_0 nor \tilde{D}_2 , where \tilde{D}_2 is the proper transform of $\pi_8^*(\Delta)$. Therefore $(\delta_8)_*\tilde{E}_\sigma$ neither meets

$$(\delta_8)_* \tilde{E}_0 = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \{0\} \text{ nor } (\delta_8)_* \tilde{E}_\infty = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \{\infty\}.$$

Hence one can choose coordinates in \mathbb{P}^1 such that $(\delta_8)_* \tilde{E}_\sigma = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \{1\}$.

By the definition of τ , we obtain that $\hat{\tau}$ is given by

$$\sqrt[2]{\frac{\rho_2^*\mu^*(E_{\sigma})}{\rho_2^*\mu^*(E_0)}} = \sqrt[2]{\frac{\hat{\mu}^*(\tilde{E}_{\sigma})}{\hat{\mu}^*(\tilde{E}_0)}},$$

and τ' is given by

$$\sqrt[2]{\frac{\mu'^*(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{1\})}{\mu'^*(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{0\})}}$$

By the fact that the last function is the root of the pullback of a function on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ with respect to μ' , it is possible to reverse the order of the field extensions corresponding to τ' and μ' such that the resulting varieties obtained by Kummer coverings are birationally equivalent. Hence we have the composition of $\beta : \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ given by

$$\sqrt[2]{\frac{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{1\}}{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{0\}}}$$

with

$$\sqrt[4]{\frac{\beta^*(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{\infty\}) + 8 \cdot (P \times \mathbb{P}^1)}{\beta^*(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{0\}) + (\Delta \times \mathbb{P}^1)}},$$

which yields the covering variety isomorphic to $\mathbb{E} \times C/\langle (1,1) \rangle$.

As in Section 8.2 we conclude:

Corollary A.1.7. If the curve C has complex multiplication, the K3-surface \mathcal{Y} has complex multiplication, too.

By the the preceding corollary, our Example A.1.2 yields 3 different K3 surfaces with complex multiplication locally given by

$$y_2^2 + y_1^4 + x_1^8 + x_0^8$$
, $y_2^2 + y_1^4 + x_1(x_1^7 + x_0^7)$, $y_2^2 + y_1^4 + x_1(x_1^6 + x_0^6)x_0$.

Proposition A.1.8. For i = 1, 2 assume that C_i is a Calabi-Yau *i*-manifold with complex multiplication endowed with the involution ι_i such that ι_i acts by -1 on $\Gamma(\omega_{C_i})$. By blowing up the singular locus of $C_1 \times C_2/\langle (\iota_1, \iota_2) \rangle$, one obtains a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold with complex multiplication.

Proof. It is well-known that an involution on a Calabi-Yau 2-manifold resp., a K3 surface, which acts by -1 on $\Gamma(\omega)$, has a smooth divisor of fixed points or it has not any fixed point. Thus the proof follows from the same methods as in Section 7.2.

Now we need some elliptic curves with complex multiplication:

Example A.1.9. Elliptic curves with CM has been well studied by number theorists. Some examples of elliptic curves with complex multiplication are given by the following list:

equation	j invariant
$y_1^2 x_0 = x_1^3 - x_0^3$	0
$y_1^2 x_0 = x_1 (x_1 - x_0) (x_1 - 2x_0)$	1728
$y^2 x_0 = x_1 (x_1 - x_0) (x_1 - (1 + \sqrt{2})^2 x_0)$	8000
$y^{2}x_{0} = x_{1}(x_{1} - x_{0})(x_{1} - \frac{1}{4}(3 + i\sqrt{7})^{2}x_{0})$	-3375
$y^2 x_0 = x_1^3 - 15x_1 x_0^2 + 22x_0^3$	54000
$y^2 x_0 = x^3 - 595x_1 x_0^2 + 5586x_0^3$	16581375

Note that the equations allow an explicit definition of an involution on these elliptic curves. (see Section 7.4)

A.1.10. By combining our 3 examples of K3 surfaces and the 6 elliptic curves and using Proposition A.1.8, we have 18 examples of Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with complex multiplication. By [60], one has equations to determine the Hodge numbers of these examples. Let C_2 be a K3 surface satisfying the assumptions of Proposition A.1.8, let N be the number of curves in the ramification locus of the quotient map $C_2 \rightarrow C_2/\iota_2$ and let N' be given by

$$N' = g_1 + \ldots + g_N,$$

where g_i denotes the genus of the *i*-th. curve in the ramification locus. Then one has for the Calabi-Yau 3-manifold, which results by Proposition A.1.8:

$$h^{1,1} = 11 + 5N - N'$$
$$h^{2,1} = 11 + 5N' - N$$

In our case the ramification locus of $C_2 \rightarrow C_2/\iota_2$ is given by one genus 9 curve. Thus in our case the Hodge numbers are given by

$$h^{1,1} = 7$$
 and $h^{2,1} = 55$

A.2 Construction by degree 2 coverings of \mathbb{P}^2

Example A.2.1. By Proposition A.1.1, the projective curves given by
A.2 Construction by degree 2 coverings of \mathbb{P}^2

$$y^6 = x_1^6 + x_0^6, \ y^6 = x_1(x_1^5 + x_0^5), \ y^6 = x_1(x_1^4 + x_0^4)x_0$$

have complex multiplication. These curves have the genus 10 as one can easily calculate by the Hurwitz formula.

Let \mathcal{P}_6 denote the configuration space of 6 different points in \mathbb{P}^1 . Again we use a modified version of the construction in [58], Section 5. Let σ denote a non-trivial global section of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}^1}(6)$, which has the 6 different zero points represented by a point $q \in \mathcal{P}_6$.

Here the sections E_{σ} , E_0 and E_{∞} of $\mathbb{P}(\mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(6))$ are induced by

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{id} \oplus \sigma : \mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(6), \quad \mathrm{id} \oplus 0 : \mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(6) \\ & \text{and} \quad 0 \oplus \mathrm{id} : \mathcal{O}(6) \to \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(6) \end{split}$$

resp., by the corresponding surjections onto the cokernels of these embeddings as described in [26], **II**. Proposition 7.12.

One concludes similarly to the preceding section that

$$E_{\infty} \cdot E_{\infty} = E_{\infty} \cdot (E_0 - (E_0 \cdot E_0)F) = -(E_0 \cdot E_0) = -6$$

By the composition

$$\pi_1^*(\mathcal{O}\oplus\mathcal{O}(6)) = \pi_1^*(\mathcal{O})\oplus\pi_1^*\mathcal{O}(6) \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{i=0}^6 \pi_1^*\mathcal{O}(i) = Sym^6(\pi_1^*(\mathcal{O}\oplus\mathcal{O}(6))) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_1}(6),$$

where the last morphism is induced by the natural surjection $\pi_2^*(\mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{O}(1)) \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathbb{P}_1}(1)$ (see [26], **II**. Proposition 7.11), we obtain a morphism μ^* of sheaves as in the preceding section. The morphism $\mu : \mathbb{P}_1 \to \mathbb{P}_6$ corresponding to μ^* is locally given by the ring homomorphism

 $(\mathbb{C}[x])[y_1,y_2] \to (\mathbb{C}[x])[y_1,y_2] \quad \text{via} \quad y_1 \to y_1^6 \quad \text{and} \quad y_2 \to y_2^6.$

Construction A.2.2. One has a commutative diagram



of morphisms between normal varieties with:

(a) δ , δ_1 , δ_1 , ρ , ρ_1 and ρ_6 are birational.

(b) π is a family of curves, π_1 and π_6 are \mathbb{P}^1 -bundles.

Proof. One must only explain δ_6 and ρ_6 . These morphisms are given by blowing up morphisms similar to the preceding section.

Remark A.2.3. The section σ has the zero divisor given by some $q \in \mathcal{P}_6$. Hence one obtains $\mu^*(E_{\sigma}) \cong C$, where $C \to \mathbb{P}^1$ is a cyclic cover of degree 6 as in Example A.2.1 ramified over the 6 points given by σ . The surface \mathcal{Y} is a cyclic degree 2 cover of \mathbb{P}_1 ramified over C. Thus it is birationally equivalent to the K3 surface given the degree 2 cover of \mathbb{P}^2 ramified over C.

Let C' denote the projective smooth curve locally given by

$$y^6 = x(x-1).$$

By Proposition A.1.1, it has complex multiplication.

Proposition A.2.4. The surface \mathcal{Y} is birationally equivalent to $C \times C'/\langle (1,1) \rangle$.

Proof. Let \tilde{E}_{\bullet} denote the proper transform of the section E_{\bullet} with respect to ρ_6 . Then $\hat{\mu}$ is the Kummer covering given by

$$\sqrt[6]{\frac{\tilde{E}_{\infty}+6\cdot F}{\tilde{E}_{0}+\hat{D}_{1}}},$$

where \hat{D}_1 denotes the exceptional divisor of ρ_6 . Thus the morphism μ' is the Kummer covering

$$\sqrt[6]{\frac{(\delta_6)_*\tilde{E}_{\infty}+6\cdot(\delta_6)_*F}{(\delta_6)_*\tilde{E}_0+(\delta_6)_*\hat{D}_1}} = \sqrt[6]{\frac{\mathbb{P}^1\times\{\infty\}+6\cdot(P\times\mathbb{P}^1)}{\mathbb{P}^1\times\{0\}+\Delta\times\mathbb{P}^1}},$$

where Δ is the divisor of the 6 different points in \mathbb{P}^1 given by $q \in \mathcal{P}_6$ and $P \in \mathbb{P}^1$ is the point with the fiber F. Since $E_0 + E_{\sigma}$ is a normal crossing divisor, \tilde{E}_{σ} neither meets \tilde{E}_0 nor \tilde{D}_2 , where \tilde{D}_2 is the proper transform of $\pi_6^*(\Delta)$. Therefore $(\delta_6)_*\tilde{E}_{\sigma}$ neither meets

$$(\delta_6)_* \tilde{E}_0 = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \{0\} \text{ nor } (\delta_6)_* \tilde{E}_\infty = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \{\infty\}.$$

Hence one can choose coordinates in \mathbb{P}^1 such that $(\delta_6)_* \tilde{E}_\sigma = \mathbb{P}^1 \times \{1\}$.

By the definition of τ , we obtain that $\hat{\tau}$ is given by

$$\sqrt[2]{\frac{\rho_1^*\mu^*(E_{\sigma})}{\rho_1^*\mu^*(E_0)}} = \sqrt[2]{\frac{\hat{\mu}^*(\tilde{E}_{\sigma})}{\hat{\mu}^*(\tilde{E}_0)}},$$

and τ' is given by

$$\sqrt[2]{\frac{\mu'^*(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{1\})}{\mu'^*(\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{0\})}}$$

By the fact that the last function is the root of the pullback of a function on $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ with respect to μ' , it is possible to reverse the order of the field extensions corresponding to τ' and μ' such that the resulting varieties obtained by Kummer coverings are birationally equivalent. Hence we have the composition of $\beta : \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1 \to \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{P}^1$ given by

$$\sqrt[2]{\frac{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{1\}}{\mathbb{P}^1 \times \{0\}}}$$

with

$$\sqrt[6]{\frac{\beta^*(\mathbb{P}^1\times\{\infty\})+6\cdot(P\times\mathbb{P}^1)}{\beta^*(\mathbb{P}^1\times\{0\})+(\Delta\times\mathbb{P}^1)}},$$

which yields the covering variety isomorphic to $C' \times C/\langle (1,1) \rangle$.

Hence $\mathcal Y$ is birationally equivalent to $C'\times C/\langle (1,1)\rangle.$ As in Section 8.2 we conclude:

Corollary A.2.5. If the curve C has complex multiplication, the K3-surface \mathcal{Y} has complex multiplication, too.

A.2.6. By the preceding corollary, our Example A.2.1 yields 3 different K3 surfaces with complex multiplication as degree 2 covers of \mathbb{P}^2 , which are locally given by

$$y_2^2 + y_1^6 = x_1^6 + x_0^6, \quad y_2^2 + y_1^6 = x_1(x_1^5 + x_0^5), \quad y_2^2 + y_1^6 = x_1(x_1^4 + x_0^4)x_0.$$

By an elliptic curve with complex multiplication, these K3 surfaces yield Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with complex multiplication. We obtain 18 Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds with complex multiplication by using Example A.1.9. By the same methods as in A.1.10, one calculates easily that the resulting Calabi-Yau 3-manifolds have the Hodge numbers

$$h^{1,1} = 6$$
 and $h^{2,1} = 60$.

A.3 Construction by a degree 3 quotient

Consider the K3 surface

$$S = V((y_2^3 - y_1^3)y_1 + (x_1^3 - x_0^3)x_0) \subset \mathbb{P}^3.$$

 \Box

By using the partial derivatives of the defining equation, one can easily verify that S is smooth. First we prove that this surface has complex multiplication. In a second step we consider an automorphism of degree 3 on this surface, which allows the construction of a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold with complex multiplication.

Proposition A.3.1. The K3 surface S has complex multiplication.

Proof. Consider the isomorphic curves

$$C_1 = V(z_1^4 - (y_2^3 - y_1^3)y_1) \subset \mathbb{P}^2,$$

$$C_2 = V(z_2^4 - (x_1^3 - x_0^3)x_0) \subset \mathbb{P}^2.$$

Since the elliptic curve with j invariant 0 given by

$$V(y^{2}x_{0} + x_{1}^{3} + x_{0}^{3}) \subset \mathbb{P}^{2}$$

has complex multiplication, one concludes as in Remark 7.4.2 that C_1 and C_2 have complex multiplication, too. The K3 surface S is birationally equivalent to

$$T = C_1 \times C_2 / \langle (1,1) \rangle$$

This follows from the rational map $C_1 \times C_2 \to S$ given by

$$((z_1:y_2:y_1),(z_2:x_1:x_0)) \to (\frac{z_2}{z_1}y_2:\frac{z_2}{z_1}y_1:x_1:x_0).^2$$

There exists a suitable sequence of blowing ups turning $C_1 \times C_2$ into $C_1 \times C_2$ such that

$$\widetilde{T} = \widetilde{C_1 \times C_2} / \langle (1,1) \rangle$$

is smooth. Since we only blow up points, $C_1 \times C_2$ has CM, too (see Corollary 7.1.6). Thus the quotient has CM. Since \tilde{T} is birationally equivalent to S, there exists a sequence of blowing ups of smooth points and blowing downs to smooth points, which turns \tilde{T} into S. By Corollary 7.1.6, the fact that \tilde{T} has CM implies that S has CM.

A.3.2. Let ξ denote $e^{\frac{2\pi i}{3}}$. The K3 surface S has an automorphism γ of degree 3 given by

$$(y_2: y_1: x_1: x_0) \to (\xi y_2: y_1: \xi x_1: x_0).$$

On $\{x_0 = 1\}$ we have the 4 fixed points given by

$$(0:\sqrt[4]{-1}:0:1).$$

 $^{^{2}}$ In [9], Section 5 one finds a similar rational map.

Now assume $x_0 = 0$. By the equation of S, this yields

$$(y_2^3 - y_1^3)y_1 = 0$$

Thus in addition the line given by $y_1 = x_0 = 0$ is fixed.

Proposition A.3.3. The automorphism γ acts via pullback by ξ^2 on $\Gamma(\omega_S)$.

Proof. By the multiplication of i with z_1 and z_2 , one defines an action of the group of the 4-th. roots of unity on the curves C_1 and C_2 given by

 $V(z_1^4 - (y_2^3 - y_1^3)y_1) \subset \mathbb{P}^2$ and $C_2 = V(z_2^4 - (x_1^3 - x_0^3)x_0) \subset \mathbb{P}^2$.

The -1 eigenspace in $\Gamma(\omega_{C_1})$ and $\Gamma(\omega_{C_2})$ with respect to the action of *i* comes from the cohomology of the elliptic curve E_0 given by

$$y^2 x_0 = x_1^3 - x_0^3$$

(see Section 4.2). Note that the action of $\langle (1,1) \rangle$ on $\omega_{C_1 \times C_2}$ fixes exactly the tensor product of the -1 eigenspaces in $\Gamma(\omega_{C_1})$ and $\Gamma(\omega_{C_2})$. Thus one concludes that $\Gamma(\omega_S)$ is given by the tensor product of the -1 eigenspaces in $\Gamma(\omega_{C_1})$ and $\Gamma(\omega_{C_2})$.

The automorphism $\gamma_{\mathbb{F}_3} : E_0 \to E_0$ given by $x_1 \to \xi x_1$ is the generator of the Galois group of the degree 3 cover, which allows an identification of E_0 with the Fermat curve \mathbb{F}_3 of degree 3. It acts via pullback by ξ on $\Gamma(\omega_{\mathbb{F}_3})$. Thus the corresponding automorphisms $\varphi_{C_1} : C_1 \to C_1$ and $\varphi_{C_2} : C_2 \to C_2$ act by ξ on the -1 eigenspace with respect to $H^0(\omega_{C_1})$ and $H^0(\omega_{C_2})$. Note that $(\varphi_{C_1}, \varphi_{C_2})$ yields an automorphism of $C_1 \times C_2/\langle (1, 1) \rangle$. By the birational map to S, this automorphism corresponds to γ and one verifies easily that γ acts via pullback by ξ^2 on $\Gamma(\omega_S)$.

A.3.4. Consider the blowing up $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}^3$ of \mathbb{P}^3 with respect to $\{y_2 = x_1 = 0\}$. Let \tilde{S} denote the proper transform of the blowing up of S with respect to the latter blowing up, which has the exceptional divisor E consisting of four -1 curves over the 4 points given by $(0: \sqrt[4]{-1}: 0: 1)$. Consider the projection

$$p: S \setminus \{y_2 = x_1 = 0\} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}^3 \setminus \{y_2 = x_1 = 0\} \to \mathbb{P}^1 \text{ given by } (y_2: y_1: x_1: x_0) \to (y_2: x_1).$$

Over $\{x_0 = 1\}$ one has an embedding of an open subset of $\tilde{\mathbb{P}}^3$ into $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{A}^3$, which yields an open embedding e of an open subset U of \tilde{S} into $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{A}^3$. Note that $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{A}^3$ is endowed with a natural projection $pr_1 : \mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathbb{A}^3 \to \mathbb{P}^1$. Over $U \setminus \{y_2 = x_1 = 0\}$ one has

$$p = pr_1 \circ e.$$

Thus by gluing, p extends to a morphism $\tilde{S} \to \mathbb{P}^1$, which is a family of projective curves of degree 4. This family has a section $D = \{y_1 = x_0 = 0\}$.

One checks easily the singular loci of the fibers do not meet D (since $y_2 \neq 0$ or $x_1 \neq 0$). By $\tilde{S} \times \mathbb{F}_3 \to \mathbb{P}^1$, we have a family of surfaces. Let denote the generator of the Galois group of $\mathbb{F}_3 \to \mathbb{P}^1$, which acts via pullback by ξ on $\omega_{\mathbb{F}_3}$. The quotient map onto $\tilde{S} \times \mathbb{F}_3 / \langle (\gamma, \gamma_{\mathbb{F}_3}) \rangle$ yields three quotient singularities of type $A_{3,2}$ with the notation of [6], **III**. Section 5. As in Section 9.2 described one must blow up the three corresponding sections obtained from D and in a second step one blows up the fixed locus of the exceptional divisor over D. Now we blow down the image of the proper transform of the exceptional divisor over D and obtain the orbifold X_1 . Note that the exceptional divisor E of the blowing up $\tilde{S} \to S$ and the 3 points on \mathbb{F}_3 fixed by $\gamma_{\mathbb{F}_3}$ yield a singular locus consisting of 12 curves.

On $S \times \mathbb{F}_3$ we blow up the 12 points given by the product of $\{(0: \sqrt[4]{-1}: 0: 1)\}$ with the three points fixed by $\gamma_{\mathbb{F}_3}$. Since $(\gamma, \gamma_{\mathbb{F}_3})$ acts by ξ on all local parameters of each of these points, the exceptional divisor over these points is contained in the ramification locus of the quotient map onto

$$X_2 = \widetilde{S \times \mathbb{F}_3} / \langle (\gamma, \gamma_{\mathbb{F}_3}) \rangle.$$

 X_2 is a orbifold with three $A_{3,2}$ singularities obtained from D. By gluing the complements of the singular loci of X_1 and X_2 , one obtains a Calabi-Yau 3-manifold X. By the same arguments as in Section 9.2, the Calabi-Yau manifold X has obviously complex multiplication.

Thus the Calabi-Yau manifold X is obtained by the method of S. Cynk and K. Hulek [13], which we have written down in Proposition 10.4.3.

A.3.5. For the computation of the Hodge numbers we use the same methods as in Section 10.3. During Section 10.3 these methods are explained in-depth. The automorphism γ of S acts on \tilde{S} , too. The quotient map φ onto $M = \tilde{S}/\gamma$ is ramified over E and $D = \{y_1 = x_0 = 0\}$. Since D is a rational curve on a K3 surface, the adjunction formula implies that D.D = -2. By the Hurwitz formula, one has

$$\varphi^* K_M \sim -2D - E.$$

Since

$$3 \cdot K_M^2 = (\varphi^* K_M)^2,$$

one concludes that

$$c_1(M)^2 = K_M^2 = -4.$$

Thus the Noether formula

$$\chi(\mathcal{O}_M) = \frac{1}{12}(c_1(M)^2 + c_2(M))$$
 and $c_2(M) - 2 = b_2(M)$

tell us that $b_2(M) = 14$. Since we have blown up 4 points, one obtains $h_0^{1,1}(S) = 10$. Thus

$$h_1^{1,1}(S) = h_2^{1,1}(S) = 5.$$

By the fact that one has an exceptional divisor consisting of 12 copies of \mathbb{P}^2 and 6 rational ruled surfaces and $b_1(S) = 0$, one obtains as in Section 10.3:

$$h^{1,1}(X) = h_0^{0,0}(\mathbb{F}_3) \cdot h_0^{1,1}(S) + h_0^{0,0}(S) \cdot h_0^{1,1}(\mathbb{F}_3) + 18 = 10 + 1 + 18 = 29$$
$$h^{2,1}(X) = h_1^{1,0}(\mathbb{F}_3) \cdot h_2^{1,1}(S) = 5$$

References

- Abramenko, P.: Lineare Algebraische Gruppen: Eine elementare Einführung. Univ. Bielefeld, Sonderforschungsbereich 343 (1994) preprint.
- André, Y.: Mumford-Tate groups of mixed Hodge structures and the theorem of the fixed part. Comp. Math. 82 (1992) 1-24.
- André, Y.: Distribution des points CM sur les sous-variétés des variétés de modules de variétés abéliennes. (1997) preprint.
- Artin, M.: Some numerical criteria for contractibility of curves on algebraic surfaces. Am. J. Math. 84 (1962) 485-496.
- Baily, W. L., Borel, A.: Compactification of arithmetic quotients of bounded symmetric domains. Ann. of Math. 84 (1966) 442-528.
- Barth, W., Hulek, K., Peters, C., Van de Ven, A.: Compact Complex Surfaces. Second Enlarged Edition, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete 3, Vol. 4, Springer-Verlag (2004) Berlin Heidelberg New York Tokyo.
- Birkenhake, C., Lange, H.: Complex abelian varieties. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften **302**, Springer-Verlag (1980) Berlin Heidelberg New York.
- Borcea, C.: Calabi-Yau Threefolds and Complex Multiplication. In: Essays on Mirror Manifolds, Internat. Press, Hong Kong (1992) 489-502.
- Borcea, C.: K3 surfaces with Involution and Mirror Pairs of Calabi-Yau Manifolds. In: Mirror Symmetry II, Studies in Advanced Mathematics 1, AMS/Internat. Press, Providence, RI (1997) 717-743.
- Borel, A.: Linear Algebraic Groups. Second Enlarged Edition, Graduate Texts in Mathematics 126, Springer-Verlag (1991) New York Berlin Heidelberg.
- Coleman, R.: Torsion points on curves. In: Galois representations and arithmetic algebraic geometry, Advanced Studies in Pure Mathematics 12, Amsterdam (1987) 235-247.
- Cox, D., Katz, S.: Mirror Symmetry and Algebraic Geometry. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs 68, AMS (1999) USA.
- Cynk, S., Hulek, K.: Construction and examples of higher-dimensional modular Calabi-Yau manifolds. Canad. Math. Bull. 50, (2007) 486-503.
- Deligne, P., Mumford, D.: The irreducibility of the space of curves of given genus. IHES 36 (1969) 75-110.
- Deligne, P.: Travaux de Shimura. In: Seminaire Bourbaki, 389 (1970/71), Lecture Notes in Mathematics 244, Springer-Verlag, Berlin (1971) 123-165.
- Deligne, P.: Variétés de Shimura: interprétation modulaire, et techniques de construction de modèles canoniques. In: Automorphic forms, representations and L-functions (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Oregon State Univ., Corvalis, Ore., 1977), Part 2, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., XXXIII, AMS, Providence, R.I. (1979) 247-289.

- Deligne, P.: Hodge cycles on Abelian varieties. In: Hodge Cycles, Motives, and Shimura Varieties, Lecture Notes in Mathematics 900, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg New York (1982) 9-100.
- Deligne, P., Mostow, G. D.: Monodromy of hypergeometric functions and non-lattice integral monodromy. IHES 63 (1986) 5-89.
- Doran, B.: Hurwitz Spaces and Moduli Spaces as Ball Quotients via Pull-Back. (2004) arXiv math.AG/0404363v1.
- Esnault, H., Viehweg, E.: Lectures on Vanishing Theorems. DMV-Seminar 20, Birkhäuser (1992) Basel Boston Berlin.
- Fulton, W., Harris, J.: Representation Theory: A First Course. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, Readings in Mathematics 129, Springer-Verlag (1991) Berlin Heidelberg New York.
- Gross, B.: On the Periods of Abelian Integrals and a Formula of Chowla and Selberg. Invent. Math. 45 (1978) 193-211.
- Gukov, S., Vafa, C.: Rational Conformal Field Theories and Complex Multiplication. Communications in Mathematical Physics 246 (2004) 181-210.
- Hansen, V. L.: Braids and Coverings. London Mathematical Society Student Texts 18, Cambridge University Press (1990) Cambridge.
- Harris, J., Morrison, I.: Moduli of Curves. Graduate Texts in Mathematics 187, Springer-Verlag (1998) Berlin Heidelberg New-York.
- Hartshorne, R.: Algebraic Geometry. Graduate Texts in Mathematics 52, Springer-Verlag (1977) Berlin Heidelberg New York.
- Helgason, S.: Differential Geometry, Lie Groups, and Symmetric Spaces. Graduate Studies in Mathematics 34, AMS (2001) Providence, RI.
- Herrlich, F., Schmithüsen, G.: An extraordinary origami curve. (2005) arXiv math.AG/ 0509195v1.
- de Jong, J., Noot, R.: Jacobians with complex multiplication. In: Arithmetic Algebraic Geometry (Texel, 1989), Progress in Math. 89, Birkhäuser, Boston (1991) 177-192.
- Jost, J.: Compact Riemann Surfaces. Second Edition, An Introduction to Contemporary Mathematics, Springer-Verlag (2002) Berlin Heidelberg New York.
- Kobayashi, S., Nomizu, K.: Foundations of Differential Geometry. I. and II, Interscience Publishers, a division of John Wiley & Sons (1963) New York London.
- Koblitz, N., Rohrlich, D.: Simple factors in the Jacobian of a Fermat curve. Canadian J. Math. 20 (1978) 1183-1205.
- Kowalsky, H.-J., Michler, G.: Lineare Algebra. Walter de Gruyter (1995) Berlin New York.
- Krazer, A., Wirtinger, W.: Abelsche Funktionen und allgemeine Thetafunktionen. Enzykl. Math. Wiss. II. B. 7 (1920) 604-873.
- Lang, S.: Complex Multiplication. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften 255, Springer-Verlag (1983) Berlin Heidelberg New York.
- Looijenga, E.: Uniformization by Lauricella functions an overview of the theory of Deligne-Mostow. (2005) arXiv math.CV/0507534v1.
- Lynker, M., Periwal, V., Schimmrigk, R.: Black Hole Attractor Varieties and Complex Multiplication. In: Proceedings of the Field's Institute Workshop "Arithmetic, Geometry and Physics around Calabi-Yau Varieties and Mirror Symmetry" 2001, Fields Inst. Commun. 38, AMS, Providence, RI (2003).
- Lynker, M., Schimmrigk, R., Stewart, S.: Complex Multiplication of Exactly Solvable Calabi-Yau Varieties. (2003) arXiv hep-th/0312319v1.
- Milne, J. S.: Jacobian Varieties. In: Arithmetic Geometry, Springer-Verlag, New York Berlin Heidelberg (1986) 167-212.
- 40. Milne, J. S.: Introduction to Shimura Varieties. (2004) preprint.
- 41. Möller, M.: Shimura- and Teichmüller curves. (2005) arXiv math.AG/0501333v1.
- Möller, M., Viehweg, E., Zuo K.: Stability of Hodge bundles and a numerical characterization of Shimura varieties. (2007) arXiv math.AG:/0706.3462v1.

- Moonen, B.: Linearity properties of Shimura varieties. Part I, J. Algebraic Geom. 7 (1998) 539-567.
- Mostow, G.: Generalized Picard lattices arising from half-integral conditions. IHES 63 (1986) 91-106.
- Mostow, G.: On discontinuous action of monodromy groups on the complex *n*-ball. J. AMS. 1 (1988) 555-586.
- Mumford, D.: Families of Abelian Varieties. Proc. Sympos. Pure Math. 9, AMS (1966) 347-351.
- Mumford, D.: A note of Shimura's paper "Discontinuous Groups and Abelian Varieties". Math. Ann. 181 (1969) 345-351.
- Mumford, D.: Abelian Varieties. Oxford University Press (1970) Glasgow New York Tokyo.
- Narasimhan, R.: Introduction to the Theory of Analytic Spaces. Lecture Notes in Mathematics 25, Springer-Verlag (1966) Berlin Heidelberg New York.
- Newlander, A., Nirenberg, L.: Complex analytic coordinates in almost complex manifolds. Ann. of Math. 65 (1957) 391-404.
- Nikulin, V. V.: Discrete Reflection Groups in Lobachevsky Spaces and Algebraic Surfaces. In: Proc. Intern. Cong. Math., Berkeley (1986) 654-669.
- Oort, F.: Canonical liftings and dense sets of CM points. In: Arithmetic Geometry. Proc Cortona Symp., Symposia Math. XXXVII, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1997) 228-234.
- Platonov, V., Rapinchuk, A.: Algebraic Groups and Number Theory. Academic Press (1994) New York London Tokyo.
- 54. Satake, I.: Algebraic structures of symmetric domains. Kanô Memorial Lectures 4, Iwanami Shoten, Princeton University Press (1980) USA.
- 55. Silverman, J.: Advanced Topics in the Arithmetic of Elliptic Curves. Graduate Texts in Mathematics 151, Springer-Verlag (1994) Berlin Heidelberg New York.
- Viehweg, E., Zuo K.: Families over curves with a strictly maximal Higgs field. Asian J. Math. 7 (2003) 575-598.
- Viehweg, E., Zuo, K.: Discreteness of minimal models of Kodaira dimension zero and subvarieties of moduli stacks. In: Surveys in differential geometry VIII, Internat. Press, Somerville, MA (2003) 337-356.
- Viehweg, E., Zuo K.: Complex multiplication, Griffiths-Yukawa couplings, and rigidity for families of hypersurfaces. J. Alg. Geom. 14 (2005) 481-528.
- Viehweg, E., Zuo K.: Arakelov inequalities and the uniformization of certain rigid Shimura varieties. J. Diff. Geom. 77 (2007) 291-352.
- 60. Voisin, C.: Miroirs et involutions sur les surfaces K3. Journées de géométrie algébrique d'Orsay, Astérisque **218** (1993) 273-323.
- Voisin, C.: Théorie de Hodge et géométrie algébrique complexe. Cours spécialisés 10, SMF (2002) France.
- 62. Völklein, H.: Groups as Galois Groups: An introduction. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics 53, Cambridge University Press (1996) Cambridge.
- Zarhin, Y.: Very simple 2-adic representations and hyperelliptic jacobians. Moscow Math. J. 2 (2002) 403-431.
- Zhang, Y. Mumford-Tate Groups, families of Calabi-Yau varieties and analogue André-Oort problems I. (2005) preprint.

Index

 $C(\psi), 86$ CM point, 50 CMCY family of n-manifolds, 4, 143, 147 $C_r, 65$ $C_r(\psi), 86$ D, 200 $G^+(\mathbb{R}), 35$ $G^0, 26$ $H^{1}_{i}(C, \mathbb{C}), 67$ $H_j^{0,1}(C), \, 67$ $H_{i}^{1,0}(C), \, 67$ $N^1(C_r, \mathbb{Q}), 80$ $Q^n, 158$ $R^n, 159$ SINT, 122 $S^1, 13$ $S_{i}, 66$ $[d]_m, 62$ $[q]_1, 66$ S, 12 \mathbb{L}_i -valued path, 76 $Mon^{0}(\Re \mathcal{V}(j_{1}, j_{2})_{\mathbb{R}}), 101$ $\operatorname{Mon}_{\mathbb{D}}^{0}(\mathcal{V}_{r}), 99$ $\mathbb{Q}(\xi^r)^+, 83$ $\Re \mathbb{V}(j), 83$ $\iota_{a,b,c}, 88$ $\mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{P}_n, 73$ $C_r, 74$ $\mathcal{L}_{j}, 75, 76$ $\mathcal{M}_n, 88$ $\mathcal{N}^1(\mathcal{C}_r, \mathbb{Q}), 85$ $\mathcal{P}_n, 73$ $\mathcal{P}_n^{(a_k)}, 94$ $\mathcal{X}_{\iota} \to B_{\iota}, 204$ $\zeta(f), 188$

Abel-Jacobi map, 20
adjoint group, 26, 27
almost complex manifold, 36
almost complex structure, 36
integrable, 36
André-Oort conjecture, 53
arithmetic subgroup, 43

ball, 54 ball quotient, 54 Borcea-Voisin tower, 148 bounded symmetric domain, 40 branch index, 62

Calabi-Yau manifold, 14 Cartan involution, 28 Coleman conjecture, 54, 137 collision of points, 95 complex multiplication, 49 complex multiplication field, 45 congruence subgroup, 44 cyclic cover of \mathbb{P}^1 , 60

Dehn twist, 76 semisimple, 102 Deligne torus, 12 derived group, 26 direct summand, see $\mathcal{N}^1(\mathcal{C}_r, \mathbb{Q})$ exceptional, 105 complex, 106 separated, 106 general, 87 special, 87 very general, 105

equivalence of coverings, 60

general symplectic group, 27

Hermitian structure, 38
Hermitian symmetric domain, 39
Hermitian symmetric space, 39
higher direct image sheaf, 15
Hodge diamond, 14
Hodge group, 15 generic, 72
Hodge structure, 12 of weight k, 13 polarized, 14 pure, 13 type of, 23

intermediate Jacobian, 47 Griffiths, 47 Weil, 47

local monodromy datum, 61 local system, 15

maximal family, 195, 204 middle part, 110 Mumford-Tate group, 15 generic, 72

period domain, 19 period map, 19 polarization, 22 pure (1, n) - VHS, 88 derived, 122 primitive, 122

reductive group, 26 Riemann conditions, 25 Riemannian structure, 37

semisimple group, 26
Shimura datum, 33

embedding, 56
of Hodge type, 34

Shimura variety, 44

Hodge type, 34

Siegel's upper half plane, 32
simple group, 26
stable partition, 77

Torelli theorem for curves, 25 type of \mathcal{L}_j , 76

variation of Hodge structures, 17 Viehweg-Zuo tower, 4, 150

Yukawa coupling, 187 length of the, see $\zeta(f)$

Lecture Notes in Mathematics

For information about earlier volumes please contact your bookseller or Springer LNM Online archive: springerlink.com

Vol. 1791: M. Knebusch, D. Zhang, Manis Valuations and Prüfer Extensions I: A new Chapter in Commutative Algebra (2002)

Vol. 1792: D. D. Ang, R. Gorenflo, V. K. Le, D. D. Trong, Moment Theory and Some Inverse Problems in Potential Theory and Heat Conduction (2002)

Vol. 1793: J. Cortés Monforte, Geometric, Control and Numerical Aspects of Nonholonomic Systems (2002)

Vol. 1794: N. Pytheas Fogg, Substitution in Dynamics, Arithmetics and Combinatorics. Editors: V. Berthé, S. Ferenczi, C. Mauduit, A. Siegel (2002)

Vol. 1795: H. Li, Filtered-Graded Transfer in Using Noncommutative Gröbner Bases (2002)

Vol. 1796: J.M. Melenk, hp-Finite Element Methods for Singular Perturbations (2002)

Vol. 1797: B. Schmidt, Characters and Cyclotomic Fields in Finite Geometry (2002)

Vol. 1798: W.M. Oliva, Geometric Mechanics (2002)

Vol. 1799: H. Pajot, Analytic Capacity, Rectifiability, Menger Curvature and the Cauchy Integral (2002)

Vol. 1800: O. Gabber, L. Ramero, Almost Ring Theory (2003)

Vol. 1801: J. Azéma, M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XXXVI (2003)

Vol. 1802: V. Capasso, E. Merzbach, B. G. Ivanoff, M. Dozzi, R. Dalang, T. Mountford, Topics in Spatial Stochastic Processes. Martina Franca, Italy 2001. Editor: E. Merzbach (2003)

Vol. 1803: G. Dolzmann, Variational Methods for Crystalline Microstructure – Analysis and Computation (2003)

Vol. 1804: I. Cherednik, Ya. Markov, R. Howe, G. Lusztig, Iwahori-Hecke Algebras and their Representation Theory. Martina Franca, Italy 1999. Editors: V. Baldoni, D. Barbasch (2003)

Vol. 1805: F. Cao, Geometric Curve Evolution and Image Processing (2003)

Vol. 1806: H. Broer, I. Hoveijn. G. Lunther, G. Vegter, Bifurcations in Hamiltonian Systems. Computing Singularities by Gröbner Bases (2003)

Vol. 1807: V. D. Milman, G. Schechtman (Eds.), Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis. Israel Seminar 2000-2002 (2003)

Vol. 1808: W. Schindler, Measures with Symmetry Properties (2003)

Vol. 1809: O. Steinbach, Stability Estimates for Hybrid Coupled Domain Decomposition Methods (2003)

Vol. 1810: J. Wengenroth, Derived Functors in Functional Analysis (2003)

Vol. 1811: J. Stevens, Deformations of Singularities (2003)

Vol. 1812: L. Ambrosio, K. Deckelnick, G. Dziuk, M. Mimura, V. A. Solonnikov, H. M. Soner, Mathematical Aspects of Evolving Interfaces. Madeira, Funchal, Portugal 2000. Editors: P. Colli, J. F. Rodrigues (2003) Vol. 1813: L. Ambrosio, L. A. Caffarelli, Y. Brenier, G. Buttazzo, C. Villani, Optimal Transportation and its Applications. Martina Franca, Italy 2001. Editors: L. A. Caffarelli, S. Salsa (2003)

Vol. 1814: P. Bank, F. Baudoin, H. Föllmer, L.C.G. Rogers, M. Soner, N. Touzi, Paris-Princeton Lectures on Mathematical Finance 2002 (2003)

Vol. 1815: A. M. Vershik (Ed.), Asymptotic Combinatorics with Applications to Mathematical Physics. St. Petersburg, Russia 2001 (2003)

Vol. 1816: S. Albeverio, W. Schachermayer, M. Talagrand, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXX-2000. Editor: P. Bernard (2003)

 Vol. 1817: E. Koelink, W. Van Assche (Eds.), Orthogonal Polynomials and Special Functions. Leuven 2002 (2003)
 Vol. 1818: M. Bildhauer, Convex Variational Problems with Linear, nearly Linear and/or Anisotropic Growth Conditions (2003)

Vol. 1819: D. Masser, Yu. V. Nesterenko, H. P. Schlickewei, W. M. Schmidt, M. Waldschmidt, Diophantine Approximation. Cetraro, Italy 2000. Editors: F. Amoroso, U. Zannier (2003)

Vol. 1820: F. Hiai, H. Kosaki, Means of Hilbert Space Operators (2003)

Vol. 1821: S. Teufel, Adiabatic Perturbation Theory in Quantum Dynamics (2003)

Vol. 1822: S.-N. Chow, R. Conti, R. Johnson, J. Mallet-Paret, R. Nussbaum, Dynamical Systems. Cetraro, Italy 2000. Editors: J. W. Macki, P. Zecca (2003)

Vol. 1823: A. M. Anile, W. Allegretto, C. Ringhofer, Mathematical Problems in Semiconductor Physics. Cetraro, Italy 1998. Editor: A. M. Anile (2003)

Vol. 1824: J. A. Navarro González, J. B. Sancho de Salas, \mathscr{C}^{∞} – Differentiable Spaces (2003)

Vol. 1825: J. H. Bramble, A. Cohen, W. Dahmen, Multiscale Problems and Methods in Numerical Simulations, Martina Franca, Italy 2001. Editor: C. Canuto (2003)

Vol. 1826: K. Dohmen, Improved Bonferroni Inequalities via Abstract Tubes. Inequalities and Identities of Inclusion-Exclusion Type. VIII, 113 p, 2003.

Vol. 1827: K. M. Pilgrim, Combinations of Complex Dynamical Systems. IX, 118 p, 2003.

Vol. 1828: D. J. Green, Gröbner Bases and the Computation of Group Cohomology. XII, 138 p, 2003.

Vol. 1829: E. Altman, B. Gaujal, A. Hordijk, Discrete-Event Control of Stochastic Networks: Multimodularity and Regularity. XIV, 313 p, 2003.

Vol. 1830: M. I. Gil', Operator Functions and Localization of Spectra. XIV, 256 p, 2003.

Vol. 1831: A. Connes, J. Cuntz, E. Guentner, N. Higson, J. E. Kaminker, Noncommutative Geometry, Martina Franca, Italy 2002. Editors: S. Doplicher, L. Longo (2004) Vol. 1832: J. Azéma, M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XXXVII (2003)

Vol. 1833: D.-Q. Jiang, M. Qian, M.-P. Qian, Mathematical Theory of Nonequilibrium Steady States. On the Frontier of Probability and Dynamical Systems. IX, 280 p, 2004.

Vol. 1834: Yo. Yomdin, G. Comte, Tame Geometry with Application in Smooth Analysis. VIII, 186 p, 2004.

Vol. 1835: O.T. Izhboldin, B. Kahn, N.A. Karpenko, A. Vishik, Geometric Methods in the Algebraic Theory of Quadratic Forms. Summer School, Lens, 2000. Editor: J.-P. Tignol (2004)

Vol. 1836: C. Năstăsescu, F. Van Oystaeyen, Methods of Graded Rings. XIII, 304 p, 2004.

Vol. 1837: S. Tavaré, O. Zeitouni, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXI-2001. Editor: J. Picard (2004)

Vol. 1838: A.J. Ganesh, N.W. O'Connell, D.J. Wischik, Big Queues. XII, 254 p, 2004.

Vol. 1839: R. Gohm, Noncommutative Stationary Processes. VIII, 170 p, 2004.

Vol. 1840: B. Tsirelson, W. Werner, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXII-2002. Editor: J. Picard (2004)

Vol. 1841: W. Reichel, Uniqueness Theorems for Variational Problems by the Method of Transformation Groups (2004)

Vol. 1842: T. Johnsen, A. L. Knutsen, K₃ Projective Models in Scrolls (2004)

Vol. 1843: B. Jefferies, Spectral Properties of Noncommuting Operators (2004)

Vol. 1844: K.F. Siburg, The Principle of Least Action in Geometry and Dynamics (2004)

Vol. 1845: Min Ho Lee, Mixed Automorphic Forms, Torus Bundles, and Jacobi Forms (2004)

Vol. 1846: H. Ammari, H. Kang, Reconstruction of Small Inhomogeneities from Boundary Measurements (2004)

Vol. 1847: T.R. Bielecki, T. Björk, M. Jeanblanc, M. Rutkowski, J.A. Scheinkman, W. Xiong, Paris-Princeton Lectures on Mathematical Finance 2003 (2004)

Vol. 1848: M. Abate, J. E. Fornaess, X. Huang, J. P. Rosay, A. Tumanov, Real Methods in Complex and CR Geometry, Martina Franca, Italy 2002. Editors: D. Zaitsev, G. Zampieri (2004)

Vol. 1849: Martin L. Brown, Heegner Modules and Elliptic Curves (2004)

Vol. 1850: V. D. Milman, G. Schechtman (Eds.), Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis. Israel Seminar 2002-2003 (2004)

Vol. 1851: O. Catoni, Statistical Learning Theory and Stochastic Optimization (2004)

Vol. 1852: A.S. Kechris, B.D. Miller, Topics in Orbit Equivalence (2004)

Vol. 1853: Ch. Favre, M. Jonsson, The Valuative Tree (2004)

Vol. 1854: O. Saeki, Topology of Singular Fibers of Differential Maps (2004)

Vol. 1855: G. Da Prato, P.C. Kunstmann, I. Lasiecka, A. Lunardi, R. Schnaubelt, L. Weis, Functional Analytic Methods for Evolution Equations. Editors: M. Iannelli, R. Nagel, S. Piazzera (2004)

Vol. 1856: K. Back, T.R. Bielecki, C. Hipp, S. Peng, W. Schachermayer, Stochastic Methods in Finance, Bressanone/Brixen, Italy, 2003. Editors: M. Fritelli, W. Runggaldier (2004)

Vol. 1857: M. Émery, M. Ledoux, M. Yor (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XXXVIII (2005) Vol. 1858: A.S. Cherny, H.-J. Engelbert, Singular Stochastic Differential Equations (2005)

Vol. 1859: E. Letellier, Fourier Transforms of Invariant Functions on Finite Reductive Lie Algebras (2005)

Vol. 1860: A. Borisyuk, G.B. Ermentrout, A. Friedman, D. Terman, Tutorials in Mathematical Biosciences I. Mathematical Neurosciences (2005)

Vol. 1861: G. Benettin, J. Henrard, S. Kuksin, Hamiltonian Dynamics – Theory and Applications, Cetraro, Italy, 1999. Editor: A. Giorgilli (2005)

Vol. 1862: B. Helffer, F. Nier, Hypoelliptic Estimates and Spectral Theory for Fokker-Planck Operators and Witten Laplacians (2005)

Vol. 1863: H. Führ, Abstract Harmonic Analysis of Continuous Wavelet Transforms (2005)

Vol. 1864: K. Efstathiou, Metamorphoses of Hamiltonian Systems with Symmetries (2005)

Vol. 1865: D. Applebaum, B.V. R. Bhat, J. Kustermans, J. M. Lindsay, Quantum Independent Increment Processes I. From Classical Probability to Quantum Stochastic Calculus. Editors: M. Schürmann, U. Franz (2005)

Vol. 1866: O.E. Barndorff-Nielsen, U. Franz, R. Gohm, B. Kümmerer, S. Thorbjønsen, Quantum Independent Increment Processes II. Structure of Quantum Lévy Processes, Classical Probability, and Physics. Editors: M. Schürmann, U. Franz, (2005)

Vol. 1867: J. Sneyd (Ed.), Tutorials in Mathematical Biosciences II. Mathematical Modeling of Calcium Dynamics and Signal Transduction. (2005)

Vol. 1868: J. Jorgenson, S. Lang, $Pos_n(R)$ and Eisenstein Series. (2005)

Vol. 1869: A. Dembo, T. Funaki, Lectures on Probability Theory and Statistics. Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIII-2003. Editor: J. Picard (2005)

Vol. 1870: V.I. Gurariy, W. Lusky, Geometry of Müntz Spaces and Related Questions. (2005)

Vol. 1871: P. Constantin, G. Gallavotti, A.V. Kazhikhov, Y. Meyer, S. Ukai, Mathematical Foundation of Turbulent Viscous Flows, Martina Franca, Italy, 2003. Editors: M. Cannone, T. Miyakawa (2006)

Vol. 1872: A. Friedman (Ed.), Tutorials in Mathematical Biosciences III. Cell Cycle, Proliferation, and Cancer (2006)

Vol. 1873: R. Mansuy, M. Yor, Random Times and Enlargements of Filtrations in a Brownian Setting (2006)

 Vol. 1874: M. Yor, M. Émery (Eds.), In Memoriam Paul-André Meyer - Séminaire de Probabilités XXXIX (2006)
 Vol. 1875: J. Pitman, Combinatorial Stochastic Processes.
 Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXII-2002.

Editor: J. Picard (2006) Vol. 1876: H. Herrlich, Axiom of Choice (2006)

Vol. 1877: J. Steuding, Value Distributions of *L*-Functions (2007)

Vol. 1878: R. Cerf, The Wulff Crystal in Ising and Percolation Models, Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIV-2004. Editor: Jean Picard (2006)

Vol. 1879: G. Slade, The Lace Expansion and its Applications, Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIV-2004. Editor: Jean Picard (2006)

Vol. 1880: S. Attal, A. Joye, C.-A. Pillet, Open Quantum Systems I, The Hamiltonian Approach (2006)

Vol. 1881: S. Attal, A. Joye, C.-A. Pillet, Open Quantum Systems II, The Markovian Approach (2006)

Vol. 1882: S. Attal, A. Joye, C.-A. Pillet, Open Quantum Systems III, Recent Developments (2006)

Vol. 1883: W. Van Assche, F. Marcellàn (Eds.), Orthogonal Polynomials and Special Functions, Computation and Application (2006)

Vol. 1884: N. Hayashi, E.I. Kaikina, P.I. Naumkin, I.A. Shishmarev, Asymptotics for Dissipative Nonlinear Equations (2006)

Vol. 1885: A. Telcs, The Art of Random Walks (2006) Vol. 1886: S. Takamura, Splitting Deformations of Dege-

nerations of Complex Curves (2006) Vol. 1887: K. Habermann, L. Habermann, Introduction to Symplectic Dirac Operators (2006)

Vol. 1888: J. van der Hoeven, Transseries and Real Differential Algebra (2006)

Vol. 1889: G. Osipenko, Dynamical Systems, Graphs, and Algorithms (2006)

Vol. 1890: M. Bunge, J. Funk, Singular Coverings of Toposes (2006)

Vol. 1891: J.B. Friedlander, D.R. Heath-Brown, H. Iwaniec, J. Kaczorowski, Analytic Number Theory, Cetraro, Italy, 2002. Editors: A. Perelli, C. Viola (2006)

Vol. 1892: A. Baddeley, I. Bárány, R. Schneider, W. Weil, Stochastic Geometry, Martina Franca, Italy, 2004. Editor: W. Weil (2007)

Vol. 1893: H. Hanßmann, Local and Semi-Local Bifurcations in Hamiltonian Dynamical Systems, Results and Examples (2007)

Vol. 1894: C.W. Groetsch, Stable Approximate Evaluation of Unbounded Operators (2007)

Vol. 1895: L. Molnár, Selected Preserver Problems on Algebraic Structures of Linear Operators and on Function Spaces (2007)

Vol. 1896: P. Massart, Concentration Inequalities and Model Selection, Ecole d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIII-2003. Editor: J. Picard (2007)

Vol. 1897: R. Doney, Fluctuation Theory for Lévy Processes, Ecole d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXV-2005. Editor: J. Picard (2007)

Vol. 1898: H.R. Beyer, Beyond Partial Differential Equations, On linear and Quasi-Linear Abstract Hyperbolic Evolution Equations (2007)

Vol. 1899: Séminaire de Probabilités XL. Editors: C. Donati-Martin, M. Émery, A. Rouault, C. Stricker (2007)

Vol. 1900: E. Bolthausen, A. Bovier (Eds.), Spin Glasses (2007)

Vol. 1901: O. Wittenberg, Intersections de deux quadriques et pinceaux de courbes de genre 1, Intersections of Two Quadrics and Pencils of Curves of Genus 1 (2007)

Vol. 1902: A. Isaev, Lectures on the Automorphism Groups of Kobayashi-Hyperbolic Manifolds (2007)

Vol. 1903: G. Kresin, V. Maz'ya, Sharp Real-Part Theorems (2007)

Vol. 1904: P. Giesl, Construction of Global Lyapunov Functions Using Radial Basis Functions (2007)

Vol. 1905: C. Prévôt, M. Röckner, A Concise Course on Stochastic Partial Differential Equations (2007)

Vol. 1906: T. Schuster, The Method of Approximate Inverse: Theory and Applications (2007)

Vol. 1907: M. Rasmussen, Attractivity and Bifurcation for Nonautonomous Dynamical Systems (2007)

Vol. 1908: T.J. Lyons, M. Caruana, T. Lévy, Differential Equations Driven by Rough Paths, Ecole d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXIV-2004 (2007)

Vol. 1909: H. Akiyoshi, M. Sakuma, M. Wada, Y. Yamashita, Punctured Torus Groups and 2-Bridge Knot Groups (I) (2007) Vol. 1910: V.D. Milman, G. Schechtman (Eds.), Geometric Aspects of Functional Analysis. Israel Seminar 2004-2005 (2007)

Vol. 1911: A. Bressan, D. Serre, M. Williams, K. Zumbrun, Hyperbolic Systems of Balance Laws. Cetraro, Italy 2003. Editor: P. Marcati (2007)

Vol. 1912: V. Berinde, Iterative Approximation of Fixed Points (2007)

Vol. 1913: J.E. Marsden, G. Misiołek, J.-P. Ortega, M. Perlmutter, T.S. Ratiu, Hamiltonian Reduction by Stages (2007)

Vol. 1914: G. Kutyniok, Affine Density in Wavelet Analysis (2007)

Vol. 1915: T. B1y1koğlu, J. Leydold, P.F. Stadler, Laplacian Eigenvectors of Graphs. Perron-Frobenius and Faber-Krahn Type Theorems (2007)

Vol. 1916: C. Villani, F. Rezakhanlou, Entropy Methods for the Boltzmann Equation. Editors: F. Golse, S. Olla (2008)

Vol. 1917: I. Veselić, Existence and Regularity Properties of the Integrated Density of States of Random Schrödinger (2008)

Vol. 1918: B. Roberts, R. Schmidt, Local Newforms for GSp(4) (2007)

Vol. 1919: R.A. Carmona, I. Ekeland, A. Kohatsu-Higa, J.-M. Lasry, P.-L. Lions, H. Pham, E. Taflin, Paris-Princeton Lectures on Mathematical Finance 2004. Editors: R.A. Carmona, E. Çinlar, I. Ekeland, E. Jouini, J.A. Scheinkman, N. Touzi (2007)

Vol. 1920: S.N. Evans, Probability and Real Trees. Ecole d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXV-2005 (2008) Vol. 1921: J.P. Tian, Evolution Algebras and their Applications (2008)

Vol. 1922: A. Friedman (Ed.), Tutorials in Mathematical BioSciences IV. Evolution and Ecology (2008)

Vol. 1923: J.P.N. Bishwal, Parameter Estimation in Stochastic Differential Equations (2008)

Vol. 1924: M. Wilson, Littlewood-Paley Theory and Exponential-Square Integrability (2008)

Vol. 1925: M. du Sautoy, L. Woodward, Zeta Functions of Groups and Rings (2008)

Vol. 1926: L. Barreira, V. Claudia, Stability of Nonautonomous Differential Equations (2008)

Vol. 1927: L. Ambrosio, L. Caffarelli, M.G. Crandall, L.C. Evans, N. Fusco, Calculus of Variations and Non-Linear Partial Differential Equations. Cetraro, Italy 2005. Editors: B. Dacorogna, P. Marcellini (2008)

Vol. 1928: J. Jonsson, Simplicial Complexes of Graphs (2008)

Vol. 1929: Y. Mishura, Stochastic Calculus for Fractional Brownian Motion and Related Processes (2008)

Vol. 1930: J.M. Urbano, The Method of Intrinsic Scaling. A Systematic Approach to Regularity for Degenerate and Singular PDEs (2008)

Vol. 1931: M. Cowling, E. Frenkel, M. Kashiwara, A. Valette, D.A. Vogan, Jr., N.R. Wallach, Representation Theory and Complex Analysis. Venice, Italy 2004. Editors: E.C. Tarabusi, A. D'Agnolo, M. Picardello

(2008) Vol. 1932: A.A. Agrachev, A.S. Morse, E.D. Sontag,

H.J. Sussmann, V.I. Utkin, Nonlinear and Optimal Control Theory. Cetraro, Italy 2004. Editors: P. Nistri, G. Stefani (2008)

Vol. 1933: M. Petkovic, Point Estimation of Root Finding Methods (2008)

Vol. 1934: C. Donati-Martin, M. Émery, A. Rouault, C. Stricker (Eds.), Séminaire de Probabilités XLI (2008) Vol. 1935: A. Unterberger, Alternative Pseudodifferential Analysis (2008)

Vol. 1936: P. Magal, S. Ruan (Eds.), Structured Population Models in Biology and Epidemiology (2008)

Vol. 1937: G. Capriz, P. Giovine, P.M. Mariano (Eds.), Mathematical Models of Granular Matter (2008)

Vol. 1938: D. Auroux, F. Catanese, M. Manetti, P. Seidel, B. Siebert, I. Smith, G. Tian, Symplectic 4-Manifolds and Algebraic Surfaces. Cetraro, Italy 2003. Editors: F. Catanese, G. Tian (2008)

Vol. 1939: D. Boffi, F. Brezzi, L. Demkowicz, R.G. Durán, R.S. Falk, M. Fortin, Mixed Finite Elements, Compatibility Conditions, and Applications. Cetraro, Italy 2006. Editors: D. Boffi, L. Gastaldi (2008)

Vol. 1940: J. Banasiak, V. Capasso, M.A.J. Chaplain, M. Lachowicz, J. Miękisz, Multiscale Problems in the Life Sciences. From Microscopic to Macroscopic. Będlewo, Poland 2006. Editors: V. Capasso, M. Lachowicz (2008)

Vol. 1941: S.M.J. Haran, Arithmetical Investigations. Representation Theory, Orthogonal Polynomials, and Quantum Interpolations (2008)

Vol. 1942: S. Albeverio, F. Flandoli, Y.G. Sinai, SPDE in Hydrodynamic. Recent Progress and Prospects. Cetraro, Italy 2005. Editors: G. Da Prato, M. Röckner (2008)

Vol. 1943: L.L. Bonilla (Ed.), Inverse Problems and Imaging. Martina Franca, Italy 2002 (2008)

Vol. 1944: A. Di Bartolo, G. Falcone, P. Plaumann, K. Strambach, Algebraic Groups and Lie Groups with Few Factors (2008)

Vol. 1945: F. Brauer, P. van den Driessche, J. Wu (Eds.), Mathematical Epidemiology (2008)

Vol. 1946: G. Allaire, A. Arnold, P. Degond, T.Y. Hou, Quantum Transport. Modelling, Analysis and Asymptotics. Cetraro, Italy 2006. Editors: N.B. Abdallah, G. Frosali (2008)

Vol. 1947: D. Abramovich, M. Mariño, M. Thaddeus, R. Vakil, Enumerative Invariants in Algebraic Geometry and String Theory. Cetraro, Italy 2005. Editors: K. Behrend, M. Manetti (2008)

Vol. 1948: F. Cao, J-L. Lisani, J-M. Morel, P. Musé, F. Sur, A Theory of Shape Identification (2008)

Vol. 1949: H.G. Feichtinger, B. Helffer, M.P. Lamoureux, N. Lerner, J. Toft, Pseudo-Differential Operators. Quantization and Signals. Cetraro, Italy 2006. Editors: L. Rodino, M.W. Wong (2008)

Vol. 1950: M. Bramson, Stability of Queueing Networks, Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXVI-2006 (2008)

Vol. 1951: A. Moltó, J. Orihuela, S. Troyanski, M. Valdivia, A Non Linear Transfer Technique for Renorming (2009)

Vol. 1952: R. Mikhailov, I.B.S. Passi, Lower Central and Dimension Series of Groups (2009)

Vol. 1953: K. Arwini, C.T.J. Dodson, Information Geometry (2008)

Vol. 1954: P. Biane, L. Bouten, F. Cipriani, N. Konno, N. Privault, Q. Xu, Quantum Potential Theory. Editors: U. Franz, M. Schuermann (2008)

Vol. 1955: M. Bernot, V. Caselles, J.-M. Morel, Optimal Transportation Networks (2008)

Vol. 1956: C.H. Chu, Matrix Convolution Operators on Groups (2008)

Vol. 1957: A. Guionnet, On Random Matrices: Macroscopic Asymptotics, Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXVI-2006 (2009) Vol. 1958: M.C. Olsson, Compactifying Moduli Spaces for Abelian Varieties (2008)

Vol. 1959: Y. Nakkajima, A. Shiho, Weight Filtrations on Log Crystalline Cohomologies of Families of Open Smooth Varieties (2008)

Vol. 1960: J. Lipman, M. Hashimoto, Foundations of Grothendieck Duality for Diagrams of Schemes (2009)

Vol. 1961: G. Buttazzo, A. Pratelli, S. Solimini, E. Stepanov, Optimal Urban Networks via Mass Transportation (2009)

Vol. 1962: R. Dalang, D. Khoshnevisan, C. Mueller, D. Nualart, Y. Xiao, A Minicourse on Stochastic Partial Differential Equations (2009)

Vol. 1963: W. Siegert, Local Lyapunov Exponents (2009) Vol. 1964: W. Roth, Operator-valued Measures and Integrals for Cone-valued Functions and Integrals for Conevalued Functions (2009)

Vol. 1965: C. Chidume, Geometric Properties of Banach Spaces and Nonlinear Iterations (2009)

Vol. 1966: D. Deng, Y. Han, Harmonic Analysis on Spaces of Homogeneous Type (2009)

Vol. 1967: B. Fresse, Modules over Operads and Functors (2009)

Vol. 1968: R. Weissauer, Endoscopy for GSP(4) and the Cohomology of Siegel Modular Threefolds (2009)

Vol. 1969: B. Roynette, M. Yor, Penalising Brownian Paths (2009)

Vol. 1970: M. Biskup, A. Bovier, F. den Hollander, D. Ioffe, F. Martinelli, K. Netočný, F. Toninelli, Methods of Contemporary Mathematical Statistical Physics. Editor: R. Kotecký (2009)

Vol. 1971: L. Saint-Raymond, Hydrodynamic Limits of the Boltzmann Equation (2009)

Vol. 1972: T. Mochizuki, Donaldson Type Invariants for Algebraic Surfaces (2009)

Vol. 1973: M.A. Berger, L.H. Kauffmann, B. Khesin, H.K. Moffatt, R.L. Ricca, De W. Sumners, Lectures on Topological Fluid Mechanics. Editor: R.L. Ricca (2009) Vol. 1974: F. den Hollander, Random Polymers: École March 2007

d'Été de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XXXVII – 2007 (2009)

Vol. 1975: J.C. Rohde, Cyclic Coverings, Calabi-Yau Manifolds and Complex Multiplication (2009)

Recent Reprints and New Editions

Vol. 1702: J. Ma, J. Yong, Forward-Backward Stochastic Differential Equations and their Applications. 1999 – Corr. 3rd printing (2007)

Vol. 830: J.A. Green, Polynomial Representations of GL_n , with an Appendix on Schensted Correspondence and Littelmann Paths by K. Erdmann, J.A. Green and M. Schoker 1980 – 2nd corr. and augmented edition (2007)

Vol. 1693: S. Simons, From Hahn-Banach to Monotonicity (Minimax and Monotonicity 1998) – 2nd exp. edition (2008)

Vol. 470: R.E. Bowen, Equilibrium States and the Ergodic Theory of Anosov Diffeomorphisms. With a preface by D. Ruelle. Edited by J.-R. Chazottes. 1975 – 2nd rev. edition (2008)

Vol. 523: S.A. Albeverio, R.J. Høegh-Krohn, S. Mazzucchi, Mathematical Theory of Feynman Path Integral. 1976 – 2nd corr. and enlarged edition (2008)

Vol. 1764: A. Cannas da Silva, Lectures on Symplectic Geometry 2001 – Corr. 2nd printing (2008)

LECTURE NOTES IN MATHEMATICS



Edited by J.-M. Morel, F. Takens, B. Teissier, P.K. Maini

Editorial Policy (for the publication of monographs)

1. Lecture Notes aim to report new developments in all areas of mathematics and their applications - quickly, informally and at a high level. Mathematical texts analysing new developments in modelling and numerical simulation are welcome.

Monograph manuscripts should be reasonably self-contained and rounded off. Thus they may, and often will, present not only results of the author but also related work by other people. They may be based on specialised lecture courses. Furthermore, the manuscripts should provide sufficient motivation, examples and applications. This clearly distinguishes Lecture Notes from journal articles or technical reports which normally are very concise. Articles intended for a journal but too long to be accepted by most journals, usually do not have this "lecture notes" character. For similar reasons it is unusual for doctoral theses to be accepted for the Lecture Notes series, though habilitation theses may be appropriate.

2. Manuscripts should be submitted either online at www.editorialmanager.com/lnm to Springer's mathematics editorial in Heidelberg, or to one of the series editors. In general, manuscripts will be sent out to 2 external referees for evaluation. If a decision cannot yet be reached on the basis of the first 2 reports, further referees may be contacted: The author will be informed of this. A final decision to publish can be made only on the basis of the complete manuscript, however a refereeing process leading to a preliminary decision can be based on a pre-final or incomplete manuscript. The strict minimum amount of material that will be considered should include a detailed outline describing the planned contents of each chapter, a bibliography and several sample chapters.

Authors should be aware that incomplete or insufficiently close to final manuscripts almost always result in longer refereeing times and nevertheless unclear referees' recommendations, making further refereeing of a final draft necessary.

Authors should also be aware that parallel submission of their manuscript to another publisher while under consideration for LNM will in general lead to immediate rejection.

- 3. Manuscripts should in general be submitted in English. Final manuscripts should contain at least 100 pages of mathematical text and should always include
 - a table of contents;
 - an informative introduction, with adequate motivation and perhaps some historical remarks: it should be accessible to a reader not intimately familiar with the topic treated;
 - a subject index: as a rule this is genuinely helpful for the reader.

For evaluation purposes, manuscripts may be submitted in print or electronic form (print form is still preferred by most referees), in the latter case preferably as pdf- or zipped ps-files. Lecture Notes volumes are, as a rule, printed digitally from the authors' files. To ensure best results, authors are asked to use the LaTeX2e style files available from Springer's web-server at:

ftp://ftp.springer.de/pub/tex/latex/svmonot1/ (for monographs) and ftp://ftp.springer.de/pub/tex/latex/svmultt1/ (for summer schools/tutorials). Additional technical instructions, if necessary, are available on request from: lnm@springer.com.

4. Careful preparation of the manuscripts will help keep production time short besides ensuring satisfactory appearance of the finished book in print and online. After acceptance of the manuscript authors will be asked to prepare the final LaTeX source files and also the corresponding dvi-, pdf- or zipped ps-file. The LaTeX source files are essential for producing the full-text online version of the book (see http://www.essential.com/essential

http://www.springerlink.com/openurl.asp?genre=journal&issn=0075-8434 for the existing online volumes of LNM).

The actual production of a Lecture Notes volume takes approximately 12 weeks.

- 5. Authors receive a total of 50 free copies of their volume, but no royalties. They are entitled to a discount of 33.3% on the price of Springer books purchased for their personal use, if ordering directly from Springer.
- 6. Commitment to publish is made by letter of intent rather than by signing a formal contract. Springer-Verlag secures the copyright for each volume. Authors are free to reuse material contained in their LNM volumes in later publications: a brief written (or e-mail) request for formal permission is sufficient.

Addresses:

Professor J.-M. Morel, CMLA, École Normale Supérieure de Cachan, 61 Avenue du Président Wilson, 94235 Cachan Cedex, France E-mail: Jean-Michel.Morel@cmla.ens-cachan.fr

Professor F. Takens, Mathematisch Instituut, Rijksuniversiteit Groningen, Postbus 800, 9700 AV Groningen, The Netherlands E-mail: F.Takens@rug.nl

Professor B. Teissier, Institut Mathématique de Jussieu, UMR 7586 du CNRS, Équipe "Géométrie et Dynamique", 175 rue du Chevaleret, 75013 Paris, France E-mail: teissier@math.jussieu.fr

For the "Mathematical Biosciences Subseries" of LNM:

Professor P.K. Maini, Center for Mathematical Biology, Mathematical Institute, 24-29 St Giles, Oxford OX1 3LP, UK E-mail: maini@maths.ox.ac.uk

Springer, Mathematics Editorial, Tiergartenstr. 17, 69121 Heidelberg, Germany, Tel.: +49 (6221) 487-259 Fax: +49 (6221) 4876-8259 E-mail: lnm@springer.com